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STATEMENT BY THE GOVERNOR

lam very pleased to present the Annual Report of the Central bank of Nigeria (CBN) for the
year 2010. Viewed from a proper perspective, 2010 was a year not marked only by many
distinct successes, but also laced with continuing economic challenges.

The Bank withessed some changes at the governance level during the year with the exit of
some Board members. Dr. Ochi C. Achinivu was replaced on the Board following his
refirement from the public service, while lbrahim H. Dankwambo, former Accountant
General of the Federation resigned his appointment on 20th December, 2011.1commend
their invaluable contributions to the governance of the CBN during their tenure. | wish to
warmly welcome Danladil. Kifasi, Permanent Secretary, Federal Ministry of Finance to the
Board, and | have no doubt that he will bring his wealth of experience to bear on the
business of the Bank.

As the Bank continued to devote itself to enhancing tfransparency and strengthening the
framework for the supervision/regulation of the financial system, we are delighted that the
global economic recovery had impacted positively on the Nigerian economy, asithadin
many emerging markets.

During the year, the Bank remained focused and committed to the attainment of ifs
principal objectives, as contained in the CBN Act, 2007. Thus, without compromising the
principal goal of monetary and price stability, the Bank's monetary management
activities were anchored on improving the liquidity and efficiency of the financial system
through the adoption of measures to unlock the credit potentials of banks. Also, the efforts
aimed at stabilizing the banking sector and, indeed, the financial system and restore
public confidence was sustained. In that regard, a new banking regime that refocuses
banks to core banking activities by defining permissible activities was adopted. In
addition, the Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria (AMCON), which Act was signed
info Law by Mr. President on July 19, 2010, commenced operations during the last quarter
of the year. The AMCON is expected to ease the burden of non-performing loans on the
deposit money banks, strengthen the recovery of the financial system, enhance public
confidence and stimulate increased lending to the real sector.

In order to support government efforts at growing the real sector and rejuvenate critical
infrastructure of the economy, the CBN established a number of initiatives during the year.
These included aR500 billion intervention fund for the power, aviation and manufacturing
sectors as well as a 200 billion Small and Medium Enterprises Credit Guarantee Scheme
to fast frack the development of SMEs. It is gratifying to state that the implementation of
these initiatives is already yielding positive results, which we hope to consolidate in 2011.1n
collaboration with the Alliance for Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA) and the Bankers'
Committee, the Bank has also commenced work on the Nigerian Incentive Based Risk
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Sharing System for Agricultural Lending (NIRSAL), which is aimed at unlocking finance to
agriculture across the entire commodity value chains, by infroducing innovative risk
sharing and mitigation mechanisms and products.

Overall, despite the slow pace of global economic recovery, the domestic economy
remained vibrant and robust with a gross domestic product (GDP) growth rate of 7.9 per
cent, up from 7.0 per cent in 2009. The development was largely ascribed to sustained
growthin the non-oil sector, and the contfinued improvement in the contributions from the
oil sector arising from the continued peace in the Niger Delta, as well as the favorable
pricesin the international oilmarket.

Economic growth is expected to improve further in the near-to-medium term, as strong
and sound macroeconomic frameworks are put in place, coupled with the sustenance of
the economic reforms already initiated by government in the various sectors of the
economy. The continued improvement in financial sector performance and in critical
infrastructure, such as power, would enhance the international competitiveness of
domestic output, and further boost the economy.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Bank, let me conclude by expressing my
heartfelt gratitude to the staff of the Central Bank of Nigeria for their continued support,
dedication, hard work and loyalty, which contributed immensely to the Bank's successes
in 2010. My appreciation also goes to the Presidency, the leadership of the National
Assembly, Honorable Ministers, our development partners, organized private sector as
well as other stakeholders for their continued support and cooperation.

Sanusi Lamido Sanusi con

Governor

April 2011
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CENTRAL BANK OF NIGERIA
ANNUAL REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st DECEMBER 2010

SUMMARY

This Annual Report reviews the operations of the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN) and
appraises the macroeconomic policiesin 2010. The Report is structured into two parts. Part
| reviews the corporate operations of the Bank,
while Part Il evaluates the performance of the
economy against the challenges in both the
domestic and international environments. The
thrust of monetary policy and other financial
measures was to improve liquidity and enhance
the efficiency and stability of the financial system
without compromising the primary goal of
monetary and price stability. Consequently, the
Bank adopted measures to restore confidence in the financial system and unlock the
credit potentials of banks. The economy achieved modest growth, despite lingering
challenges.

The thrust of monetary policy and other
financial measures was to improve
liquidity and enhance the efficiency
and stability of the financial system,
without compromising the primary goal
of monetary and price stability.

CORPORATE ACTIVITIES

The CBN Board and Other Committees

The structure of the Board of Directors of the CBN remained unchanged in the year. The
Board comprised the Governor, Sanusi Lamido Sanusi (Chairman); four Deputy Governors,
namely; Suleiman A. Barau (Corporate Services), Sarah O. Alade (Economic Policy),
Kingsley C. Moghalu (Financial System Stability) and Tunde Lemo (Operations); and six
non-executive Directors. The non-executive Directors were Dahiru Muhammad, Samuel
O. Olofin, Joshua O. Omuya, Stephen O. Oronsaye and Danladi I. Kifasi (Permanent
Secretary, Federal Ministry of Finance) who replaced Dr. Ochi C. Achinivu, following his
retirement from the civil service, and lbrahim H. Dankwambo, former Accountant-
General of the Federation, who resigned his appointment on 20 December, 2010 and was
nofreplaced by the end of the year.

The Board held six (6) regular meetings, and the Committee of Governors held fifteen (15)
regular and three (3) emergency meetings. The Governors' Consultative Committee held
two (2) regular meetings. The Committee of Departmental Directors held thirteen (13)
regular and six (6) extraordinary meetings, the Audit Committee held five (5) meetings,
while the Investment Committee of the Board held three (3) meetings. The Monetary
Policy Committee (MPC) held six (6) regular meetings and one (1) extraordinary meeting.
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MONETARY POLICY, SURVEILLANCE ACTIVITIES AND THE OPERATIONS OF THE CBN
Monetary management was directed towards improving liquidity and the efficiency of
the financial system, without compromising the primary goal of monetary and price
stability. The Bank adopted measures to restore confidence in the financial system and
unlock the credit potentials of banks. The
measures included the continuation of
guarantees on infer-bank transactions and the
promotion of fthe activities of the Asset
Management Corporation, AMCON, which
culminated in the purchase of some non-
performing loans from the banks. In order to manage the liquidity conditions in the
financial system, the Bank continued the use of the open market operations (OMO),
complemented by macro prudential requirements, standing facilities, the policy rate and
foreign exchange marketinterventions, among others.

The Bank adopted measures to restore
confidence in the financial system and
unlock the credit pofentials of banks.

Despite the liquidity easing stance of the Bank, base money M, was below the indicative
benchmark for fiscal 2010. Similarly, broad money, M,, was below the target for the year.
Aggregate bank credit (net) to the domestic economy grew by 13.4 per cent, compared
with 59.6 per cent at the end of the preceding year. Net credit to the Federal Government
grew by 64.2 per cent, while credit to the private sector declined by 4.1 percent.

The structure of the financial system changed with the take-off of AMCON, in the last
quarter of 2010. Other institutions included the CBN, the Nigeria Deposit Insurance
Corporation (NDIC), the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the National
Insurance Commission (NAICOM), the National Pension Commission (PENCOM), 24
deposit money banks, five (5) discount houses, 866 microfinance banks, 108 finance
companies, 690 security brokerage firms, 13 pension fund administrators, five (5) pension
fund custodians, 1,959 Bureaux-de-Change, one (1) stock exchange, one (1) commodity
and security exchange, 101 primary mortgage institutions, five (5) development finance
institutions and 73 insurance companies.

The Bank adopted various approaches in its supervisory and surveillance activities,
including regular appraisal of banks' periodic returns, spot checks, monitoring, special
investigation and risk-based supervision, among others. The Bank also embarked on the

development of a new supervisory framework in

An assessment of the health of the order to provide an early warning signal fo
banking sector indicated that supervisors on the condition of banks. In addition, a

sixteen (16) banks met the stipulated pilot exa mino’rion, .L.Jnder the ris_k—
minimum CAR and the assets quality based/consolidated supervision framework, which

of the banks substantially improved commenced with two deposit money banks in
December 2009, was completed in February 2010.
The assessment of the health of the banking sector

atend-December2010.
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indicated that sixteen (16) out of the twenty-four (24) banks met the stipulated minimum
Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 10.0 per cent. The asset quality of the banks, measured
as the ratio of non-performing loans to industry total, improved substantially as it declined
from 32.8 per cent at end-December 2009 to 15.5 per cent at end-December 2010. This
was below the international threshold of 20.0 per cent and the maximum prescribed by
the Contingency Plan for Systemic Distress. All the twenty-four (24) banks met the minimum
prescribed liquidity ratio of 25.0 per cent. In furtherance of the CBN directive on the
mandatory adopftion of the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) by January
1,2012, the CBN, in conjunction with the NDIC set up a committee to review the approved
IFRS Implementation Framework.

The Wholesale Dutch Auction System (WDAS) was sustained as the mechanism for
exchange rate management throughout the year. However, the two-tier structure of the
BDC segment of the market wasreduced to one, with the withdrawal of all the 132 class 'A'
licencesin November 2010. The policy review was to curb abuses and excessive demand
in the foreign exchange market. The average exchange rate at the WDAS and inter-bank
segments of the market depreciated by 0.9 and 0.5 per cent to &150.3/US$ and
R151.09/US$, respectively, relative to theirlevels in 2009. However, the naira strengthened
against the US dollar by 5.6 per cent to :153.06/US$ at the BDC segment. The end-period
exchangerate at the WDAS segment of the foreign exchange market depreciated by 0.7
percenttoi150.66/US$, relative to the level at end-2009.

End-period Exchange Rate of the Naira per US Dollar
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Exchange Rate of the Naira Vis-a-vis the US Dollar
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The stock of external reserves declined by 23.7 per cent, from US$42.4 billion at end-
December 2009 to US$32.34 billion, and could support 7.2 months of imports, as against
the 3 months requirement under the convergence criteria of the West African Monetary
Zone (WAMZ).

Nigeria's Gross External Reserves Position (USSbillion) and
Months of Import Equivalent
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Under the Agricultural Credit Guarantee Scheme Fund (ACGSF), a total of 50,849 loans,
valued at N7.74 billion, were guaranteed in 2010, bringing the total loans guaranteed
since the inception of the Scheme in 1978 to 698,200, valued at &42.15 billion. The Bank
signed one (1) MoU under the Trust Fund Model (TFM), bringing the total number signed
and the total sum pledged under the Scheme to fifty-six (56) and5.52 billion, respectively,
at end-December 2010. The CBN established the #200 Bilion Refinancing and
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Restructuring Fund (RRF) to restructure banks'
existing loan portfolios to manufacturers and SMEs.
Also, a 200.0 Billion Small and Medium Enterprise
Credit Guarantee Scheme was established to fast-
track the development of manufacturing and
SMEs, by providing guarantee for credit from banks
to promoters. In addition, the Bank established a
300.0 Bilion Power and Aviation Fund to provide
long-term financing forinfrastructure development.

The CBN established a #200.0 billion
Small and Medium Enterprise Credit
Guarantee Scheme to fast-tfrack the
development of manufacturing and
SMEs by providing guarantee for
credit from banks by promoters.

The audited financial statements of the CBN for the year ended 31st December, 2010
indicated that total income was :)]562.2 billion, a decline of 26.1 per cent from the level in
2009. The decline in income largely reflected the fall in interest income, specifically from
realized gains on foreign currency. Operating costincreased by 16.3 per centin 2010, thus,
bringing the operating surplus before provisions to &46.5 billion, compared with &43.9
billionin 2009. In accordance with the provisions of Part I, Section 5 (3) of the CBN Act, 2007
(as amended), the sum of &34.9 billion was due to the Federal Government, while the
balance accrued to generalreserve.

The size of CBN's balance sheet decreased in 2010 as total assets/liabilities declined by
15.6 per cent toRé6.7 trillion. The assets position reflected the decrease in external reserves
(-20.0 per cent) and loans and advances (-17.4 per cent), which more than offset the
growth of 9.2,2.4,30.8 and 21.0 per centin Holdings of Special Drawing Rights, other assefts,
and fixed assets and investments, respectively. The decline in total assets was
compensated for on the liability side by the fall in deposits (-18.5 per cent), IMF allocation
of Special Drawing Rights (-1.1 per cent) and other financial liabilities (-22.7 per cent).
However, Central Bank of Nigeria Instruments grew by 108.4 per cent and, notes and coins

in circulation by 16.4 per cent over end-December 2009. The paid-up capital of the Bank
remained ati5.0 billion while the generalreserve fundincreased by 16.2 per cent foR83.5
billion.

The CBN confinued the deployment of Information Technology (IT) infrastructure to
improve its operational efficiency. In this regard, the Bank upgraded the two major
enterprise applications, Temenos 124 and Oracle e-Business Suite to Release 9 and 11,
respectively. In addition, the Bank continued the
enhancement of the electronic Financial Analysis
and Surveillance System (e-FASS) to support its risk-
based, consolidated and cross-border supervision
framework. Furthermore, to support monetary
policy implementation, a more robust Real Time
Gross Settlement (RTGS) system was considered. Other initiatives included the
strengthening of the interface between the Bank and the NIBSS forimproved efficiency.

The CBN confinued the deployment
of Information Technology (IT) to
improve its operational efficiency.
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The Bank recruited six hundred and ninety-eight (698) personnel, which comprised of two
(2) executive, five hundred and twenty-nine (529) senior, one hundred and sixty-two (162)
junior, and five (5) contract staff. However, the Bank lost the services of twenty-three (23)
staff through death, thirty-seven (37) through voluntary retirement, sixty-one (61) through
mandatory retirement, and one (1) through resignation. Furthermore, four (4) staff had
their appointments terminated and ten (10) were dismissed. Also, one (1) staff was
compulsorily retired, two (2) withdrew their services and the tenure of one (1) contfract staff
expired. The staff strength of the Bank increased to 5,568 in 2010, from 5,010 at end-
December2009.

As part of the incentives to boost staff morale and enhance performance, the Bank
promoted seven hundred and fifty-seven (757)
_ members of staff, of which two hundred and sixty-eight
Th? f3cml<'s effort at capacity (268) were executive, three hundred and eighty-seven
bu:ldn?g anc‘j‘sfcxff developmer)f (387) senior and one hundred and two (102) junior staff.
was mfens:fleg through - skills A total of one hundred and twenty-eight (128)
enhancementin2010. employees were upgraded/converted to various
grades, consisting of one (1) executive, ninety-three
(93) senior and thirty-four (34) junior staff, while fifty-six (56) appointments were confirmed,
comprised of three (3) executive, thirteen (13) senior and forty (40) junior staff. Efforts at
capacity building, through staff development and skills enhancement were intensified.
Thus, the Bank sponsored staff training programmes, including seminars, workshops,
conferences and courses within and outside Nigeria. Staff benefited from a total of six
thousand and seventeen (6,017) training slots covering specialized and generic
programmes.

ECONOMIC REPORT

The Global Economy

Global output, which confracted in 2009, resumed growth in 2010, although with
uncertainties about its sustainability. Global output increased by 5.0 per cent, from a 0.6
per cent decline in 2009. The development was largely due to higher performance in
many emerging economies, strong domestic
demand from developing countries, as well as the
combined effects of fiscal and monetary
interventions adopted in the advanced
economies. Global inflation rose in 2010, driven
largely by the substantial increase in commodity
prices, especially food and oil prices. Generally,
commodity prices rose, and global frade which had confracted in 2009 rebounded. The
international financial markets which had earlierrecovered experienced some instability.

Global output, which contracted in
2009, resumed growth in 2010,
although with uncertainties about its
sustainability.

The IMF/World Bank Spring and Annual Meetings as well as the discussion of the Group of
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Twenty-Four Countries (G-24) centred on global economic and financial developments,
trade, reforms of the Bretton Woods Institutions, and financing for developing countries.
The IMF/World Bank meetings deliberated on outcome of multilateral surveillance and
mobilization of resources for the Fund's operations. Members observed that the pace of
global economic recovery had weakened and become uncertain, due to Euro area
sovereign debft problems. It noted the steps taken to enhance the IMF's lending toolkit as
part of efforts to strengthen global financial safety nets, and the establishment of the
Precautionary Creditf Line (PCL) to meet the needs of member countries. The Meeting also
constituted a 3rd Constituency for Africa at the World Bank comprised of South Africa,
Nigeria and Angola.

The CBN and Bank Negara Malaysia resolved to share expertise and exchange relevant
information in the areas of banking supervision, SMEs and microfinance, Non-interest
finance and monetary policy, among others. Several bilateral meetings involving Nigeria
and several countries, including Cameroun and Namibia were also held in 2010. Nigeria
and Cameroun agreed to implement the various recommendations adopted in October
2009 on posts, telecommunications and funds transfers. Nigeria and Namibia signed
agreements forregular consultationsin order to exchange views on bilateral, regional and
internationalissues of mutualinterest.

The Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) reviewed progress reports on
the Single Currency Programme for West Africa by
2020. The need for inter-agency collaboration
among institutions in ECOWAS, such as WAMI,
WAMA, BCEAO, WABA, etc, to undertake and
conclude necessary studies and other activities for
the achievement of the Programme, was noted.
The need to reduce public expenditure by
member states was also encouraged. However, it
was emphasised that reduced public expenditure
must not be done to the detriment of capital outlays, due to its implications on output and
employment.

The need for inter-agency
collaboration among institutions in
ECOWAS to undertake and
conclude necessary studies and
other activities for the achievement
ofthe programme, was noted.

The Domestic Economy

Fiscal Operations of Government

The consolidated expenditure of the three tiers of government was#8,370.9 billionin 2010,
while the revenue was §7,135.8 billion. Consequently, the combined fiscal operations
resultedin an overall notional deficit of 8:1,235.0 billion, or 4.2 per cent of GDP.

At 7,303.7 billion, or 24.8 per cent of the GDP, the federally-collected revenue (gross)
grew by 50.8 per cent above the level in 2009. The development was attributed to
enhanced receipts from oil and non-oil revenue sources. The impressive oil receipts
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reflected improved domestic oil production, sustained demand and favourable prices in
the international market. Similarly, non-oilrevenue rose by 15.4 per cent above the levelin
the preceding yearto1,907.6 billion, or 6.5 per cent of GDP.

The sum of :13,865.9 billion was transferred to the Federation Accountin 2010, indicating an
increase of 36.5 per cent above the level in the preceding year. In order o stimulate
economic recovery, the amount was augmented with substantial drawdown on the
excess crude account. Thus, the total distributable revenue to the three fiers of
government amounted to &5,231.2 bilion and was shared as follows: Federal
Government, including Special Funds, #&2,335.0 billion; state governments, #&1,241.8 billion;
local governments, &1,086.6 billion, and 13% Derivation Fund amounting to &567.8 billion.
Similarly, the VAT revenue of i8540.3 billion was shared among the federal, state and local
governmentsin the ratios of 15, 50 and 35 per cent, respectively.

The fiscal operations of the Federal Government was implemented under the revised
Medium Term Fiscal Framework (MTFF) which incorporated elements of performance-
based budgeting. At &3,089.2 billion, the Federal Government-retained revenue rose by
16.9 per cent, while aggregate expenditure was 84,194.6 billion. The fiscal operations of
the Federal Governmentresulted in an overall notional deficit of &1,105.4 billion, or 3.7 per
cent of GDP. Provisional data on state government financesindicated an overall deficit of
R132.1 billion, or 0.4 per cent of GDP), while that of the local governments revealed a
surplus of 2.5 billion, or0.0Tper cent of GDP.

The consolidated Federal Government debft stock, as at December 31, 2010 was 85,241.7
billion, or 17.8 percent of GDP, compared with#3,818.5 billion, or 15.1 per cent of GDP in
2009. External debt stock rose by US$0.63 billion to US$4.6 billion, following the additional
disbursement of concessional loans from multilateral institutions. Domestic debt grew
significantly by 41.0 per cent to &4,551.8 billion as a result of substantial borrowing to
finance criticalinfrastructure in 2010.

Consolidated Public Debt Stock (per cent of GDP)
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The Real Sector

The real Gross Domestic Product (GDP), measured in 1990 constant basic prices, grew by
7.9 per cent, compared with 7.0 per cent in 2009
and an average annual growth rate of 6.7 per
cent for the period 2006 - 2010. The growth was
largely accounted for by the performance of the
non-oil sector, which grew by 8.5 per cent, and
was attributed to sound economic management
policies. The performance of the non-oil sector
was complemented by a significant increase in oil
output and prices. Within the non-oil sector, the
agricultural sub-sector contributed 2.4 percentage points to total growth, followed by
services with 2.1 percentage points, while wholesale and retail frade, and building and
construction accounted for 2.0 and 0.2

percentage points, respectively. Accelerated 1he output growth was driven mainly
implementation of the Federal Government by the non-oil sector, which grew by
amnesty programme ushered in relative peace in g 5 per cent and complemented by
the Niger Delta. The resultant increase in crude oil 4 significantincrease in oil output.
production and funding of critical infrastructure

boosted industrial output. Poor infrastructure,

however, remained a challenge in the real sector, particularly, inadequate power supply.

The real Gross Domestic Product
(GDP), measured in 1990 basic prices,
grew by 7.9 per cent, compared with
7.0 per cent in 2009 and an average
annual growth rate of 6.7 per cent for
the period 2006-2010.

Sectoral Share in GDP
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Growth Rate of Major Sectors of Non-oil GDP
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Inflationary pressure moderated in 2010, though the rate remained above single digit at
11.8 per cent at end-December, compared with
13.9 per cent at end December 2009. The
development was largely attributed to increased
agricultural production and relative stability in the
supply and prices of petroleum products. The
composite Consumer Price Index (CPI) was revised
based on the Nigeria Living Standard Survey (NLSS)
2003/04, the new base period being November 2009. The weight assigned to food in the
CPlbasketwasreduced from 63.8t0 50.7 percent.

Inflationary pressure moderated in
2010, but remained above single
digit. The CPI was revised with a new
base period as November 2009
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Trends in Inflation (Composite, Core and Food) in 2010
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The External Sector

The external sector was under pressure in 2010, as reflected in huge import bills, a large
drawdown on external reserves and a declining foreign direct investment (FDI). The

overall BOP deficit represented 6.0 per cent of
GDP, while the current account surplus narrowed
from 7.9 per cent of GDP in 2009 to 1.5 per cent. The
drop in the current account surplus reflected the
growth in import bills, deteriorating services and
income accounts, and current fransfers. The stock
of externalreserves fell by 23.7 per cent to US$32.34
bilion at end-December 2010, representing 7.2
months of imports, which was above the 3 months
of imports requirement under the convergence
criteria of the West African Monetary Zone (WAMZ).

The external sector came under
pressure in 2010, as reflected in the
huge imports bills, a drawdown on
external reserves and a declining
foreign direct investment (FDI). The
overall BOP deficit increased, while
the current account surplus
narrowedin2010.

The challenge of the sectorremained the overdependence on the oil sector and the un-

competitiveness of the non-oil sector.
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Selected Macroeconomic and Social Indicators

Indicator 2006 2007 1/ 2008 1/ 20091/ 20102/

Domestic Output and Prices

GDP at Current Mkt Prices (&' billion) 3/ 18,709.8 20,940.9 24,6653 = 25225.1  29,498.0

GDP at Current Mkt Prices (US$' billion) 3/ 144.49 176.77 191.80 170.31 196.2

GDP per Capita (N) 3/ 132,604.3 = 144,4745 170,515.0 165,633.9 185,759.5

GDP per Capita (USS) 3/ 1,030.34 1,223.49 128629 1,106.77 1,235.92

Real GDP Growth (%) 3/ 6.0 6.5 6.0 7.0 7.9
Oil Sector -4.2 -4.5 -6.2 0.5 4.6
Non-oil Sector 9.4 9.5 9.0 8.3 8.5

Sectoral GDP Growth (%)
Agriculture 7.4 7.2 6.3 59 5.7
Industry 4/ -2.5 2.2 -3.4 2.0 53
Services 5/ 9.2 9.9 10.4 10.8 11.9

Oil Production (mbd) 2.2 2.2 2.0 1.8 2.1

Manufacturing Capacity Utilisation (%) 53.3 585 54.7 55.4 55.5

GDP Deflator Growth (%) 6/ 20.2 17.7 -1-5 -4.6 8.9

Inflation Rate (%) (Dec-over-Dec) 8.5 6.6 15.1 13.9 11.8

Inflation Rate (%) (12-month moving average) 8.2 5.4 11.6 12.5 13.7

Core Inflation Rate (%) (Dec-over-Dec) 7/ 17.3 3.6 10.4 11.2 10.9

Core Inflation Rate (%) (12-month moving average) 7/ 12.8 9.2 5.1 9.2 12.4

Aggregate Demand and Savings (% of GDP) 8/

Aggregate Demand 78.4 96.6 84.9 99.6 87.5
Private Final Consumption Expenditure 63.3 71.8 59.4 71.7 58.9
Government Final Consumption Expenditure 6.9 12.5 12.7 12.7 13.1
Gross Fixed Capital Formation 8.3 9.2 8.3 12.1 11.2
Increase in Stock 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01

Net Export of Goods and Non-factor Services 21.6 6.5 19.6 35 16.8
Export of Goods and Non-factor Services 43.1 33.7 39.7 30.5 40.8
Import of Goods and Non-factor Services 21.5 27.2 20.2 27.0 24.0

Domestic Saving 34.1 18.1 30.5 22.0 31.1

Gross National Saving 29.9 15.8 27.9 15.6 28.0

Federal Government Finance (% of GDP)

Retained Revenue 104 11.2 13.3 10.7 10.5

Total Expenditure 10.9 11.8 13.5 14.0 14.2
Recurrent Expenditure 7.4 7.6 8.8 8.6 10.5

Of which: Interest Payments 1.3 1.0 1.6 1.0 1.4
Foreign 0.6 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.1

Domestic 0.7 0.5 1.3 0.9 1.3

Capital Expenditure and Net Lending 3.0 3.6 4.0 4.7 3.0
Transfers 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.7 0.7

Current Balance (Deficit(-)/Surplus(+)) 29 3.6 4.5 2.1 (0.1)

Primary Balance (Deficit(-)/Surplus(+)) 0.8 0.5 1.4 (2.3) (2.3)

Overall Fiscal Balance (Deficit(-)/Surplus(+)) (0.5) (0.6) (0.2) (3.3) (3.7)

Financing 0.5 0.6 0.2 33 3.7
Foreign X ok 0.3 0.4 0.3
Domestic 0.2 1.0 0.6 2.9 3.8

Banking System ok 0.8 0.1 0.5 2.5
Non-bank Public 0.2 0.2 0.5 3.2 1.2
Other Funds 0.3 (0.4) (0.7) (0.8) (0.3)

Federal Government Debt Stock 12/ 11.8 12.5 11.7 15.4 17.7

External 2.4 2.1 2.0 2.4 2.3

Domestic 9.4 10.4 9.7 13.0 15.4
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Selected Macroeconomic and Social Indicators (Cont...)

Indicator 2006 20071/ 20081/ 20092/ 20102/
Money and Credit (Growth Rate %)
Reserve Money 27.8 22.6 58.9 6.7 9.1
Narrow Money (M) 32.2 36.6 55.9 3.0 10.6
Broad Money (M2) 43.1 44.2 57.8 17.5 6.7
Net Foreign Assets 53.9 15.2 17.7 (11.2) (17.0)
Net Domestic Assets 77.6 -36.1 -142.3 414.6 63.4
Net Domestic Credit -69.1 276.4 84.3 59.6 13.4
Net Credit to Government -498.7 -22.3 -31.2 25.9 64.2
Credit to Private Sector 32.1 90.8 59.4 26.6 -4.1
Money Multiplier for M2 4.1 4.9 5.9 6.5 6.4
Income Velocity of M2 4.6 3.6 2.7 2.3 2.6
Financial Development Indicators ( %)
M2/GDP 21.5 27.7 37.2 42.7 38.9
CIC/M: 19.3 16.5 12.6 11.0 12.0
COB/M: 16.2 12.7 9.7 8.6 9.4
QM/M: 43.4 46.4 47.0 53.5 51.8
CIC/GDP 4.2 4.6 4.7 4.7 4.7
Credit to Private Sector (CP)/GDP 14.3 24.1 32.7 40.5 59.8
Credit to Core Private Sector (CCP)/GDP 13.7 237 32.1 39.2 31.6
CP/Non-Oil GDP 22.9 38.5 55.4 67.2 49.6
DMBs Assets/GDP 13/ 38.3 52.4 64.5 69.5 58.8
23.6 47.9 35.2 40.5 30.2
Banking System’s Assets/GDP 92.0 93.9 105.9 109.9 88.9
Interest Rates (% per annum)
Monetary Policy Rate (MPR) (end period) 9/ 10.0 9.5 9.75 6.0 6.25
Repurchase Rate (Average %) 23.0 9.5 13.34 9.0 9.25
Treasury Bill Rate
91-day 8.3 6.54 8.20 3.8 3.6
182-day 10/ 9.22 7.35 8.77 4.98 4.9
364-day 10/ 10.71 8.12 9.00 5.87 5.6
Inter-bank Call Rate (end-period) 8.98 8.99 12.17 4.68 8.03
Deposit Rates (end-period)
Savings Rate 3.25 3.19 2.92 3318 1.51
3-months Fixed 10.25 10.29 12.26 13.15 4.63
6-months Fixed 9.93 9.53 12.45 13.34 3.5
12-months Fixed 7.45 7.92 12.41 12.17 3.53
Prime Lending Rate (end period) 17.33 16.46 15.26 19.55 15.74
Maximum Lending Rate (end period) 18.66 18.21 21.15 23.77 21.86
Government Bond (Average coupon) 11/
3-year 12.71 8.82 10.13 8.03 8.03
5-year 13.50 11.05 10.16 11.04 11.04
7-year 13.34 9.73 o 11.99 11.99
10-year ok 9.60 12.13 - 9.23
20-year ok ok 15.00 11.5 11.5
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Selected Macroeconomic and Social Indicators (Cont...)

Indicator 2006 2007 1/ 2008 1/ 2009 2/ 2010 2/
External Sector
Current Account Balance (% of GDP) 25.3 16.8 13.7 7.9 1.5
Goods Account 24.0 22.7 22.1 15.0 10.3
Services Account (net) - 8.0 -10.2 -10.6 -9.7 -9.8
Income Account (net) -3.2 - 7.1 -7.2 -8.5 -9.5
Current Transfers 12.2 11.1 9.3 11.0 10.2
Capital and Financial Account Balance (% of
i ( 13.4 6.6 4. 7.9 1.8
Overall Balance (% of GDP) 9.6 5.5 0.8 7.7 -6.0
External Reserves (US $ million) 42,298.0 51,333.2 53,000.4  42,382.5 32,339.3
Number of Months of Import Equivalent 22.9 21.6 15.9 16.3 7.2
Average Crude Oil Price (USS/barrel) 66.4 7496 101.15 62.08 80.81
Average WDAS Rate (2/$1.00) 128.65 125.83 118.5 148.90 150.30
End of Period WDAS Rate (2/$1.00) 128.27 117.97 132.56 149.58 150.66
&’/‘;')"ge LEED el EEEE BErEiEe L EE 137.10 127.41 120.81 161.64  153.01
ERnd of Period Bureau de Change Exchange 1295 121.00 139.00 155.00 156.00
ate (2/$)
Capital Market
All Share Value Index (1984=100) 33,358.3 57,990.2 31,450.8 20,827.2 24,770.5
Value of Stocks Traded (Billion Naira) 470.3 2,100.3 2,400.0 685.7 797.6
Value of Stocks/GDP (%) 2.6 8.9 10.0 10.0 2.7
Market Capitalization (Billion Naira) 5,120.9 13,294.8 9,535.8 7,032.1 9.918.2
Of which: Banking Sector (Billion Naira) 2,142.7 6,432.2 3,715.5 2,238.1 2,710.2
Market Capitalization/GDP (%) 28.1 56.0 39.7 28.5 33.6
Of which: Banking Sector/GDP (%) 11.8 27.1 15.5 9.1 9.2
Insurance Sector/GDP (%) 0.3 2.0 1.3 0.8 0.5
(B;;\king Sector Cap./Market Capitalization 418 48.4 390 318 273
(-]
I(l;s)urance Sector Cap./Market Capitalization 10 3.2 33 27 15
Social Indicators
Population (million) 140.0 144.5 149.1 153.9 158.8
Population Growth Rate (%) 2.9 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2
Unemployment Rate (%) 12.3 12.7 14.9 19.7 21.1
Life Expectancy at Birth (Years) 54.0 54.0 54.0 54.0 54.0
Adult Literacy Rate (%) 57.2 66.9 66.9 66.9 66.9
Incidence of Poverty 54.0 54.0 54.0 54.0 54.0
1/ Revised

2/ Provisional

3/ Revised based on National Accounts of Nigeria 1981 to 2005 harmonised series

4/ Includes Building and Construction.

5/ Includes Wholesale and Retail Services

6/ Based on GDP at purchasers' value (GDP at market prices)

7/ Core Inflation is measured as the rate of change of alkitermm Consumer Price Index (CPI) less farm produce.
8/ Based on GDP at Current Purchasers' Value (Current Market Price).

9/ MPR replaced MRR with effect frorn December 11, 2006

10/ The 182-day and the 364-day bills were introduced with effect from

11/ Financial Datahouse Limited.
12/Includes State Government Debts
13/From Analytical Balance Sheet

M2 = Broad Money; GDP = Gross Domestic Product; CIC = Currency in Circulation
COB = Currency Outside Bank; QM = Quasi-Money; CP = Credit to Private Sector, CcP = Credit to core Private Sector
*** indicates not available.

Sources: Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN), Federal Ministry of Finance (FMF), National Bureau of Statistics (NBS),
Nigeria National Petroleum Corporation (NNPC), Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE)



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

CHAPTER ONE

CORPORATE ACTIVITIES OF THE
CENTRAL BANK OF NIGERIA

he Bank continued its strategic initiatives with the review of its enterprise mission,

vision and value statements, the corporate performance management process,

as well as the sfrategic themes and priorities. It also developed enterprise strategy
maps and scorecards for all the directorates. In order to expand banking infrasfructure
and ensure easy access to banking services nationwide, the development of branch
buildings and currency centres in all the state capitals was sustained. Furthermore, fo
improve its operational efficiency, the two major enterprise applications of the Bank:
Temenos T24 and Oracle e-business Suite were upgraded. The interface between the
Nigerian Inter-bank Settlements System (NIBSS) and the Bank was enhanced forimproved
efficiency of data fransfers. The Bank and its staff continued to render corporate and
socialservices to organizations and the less privileged in society.

1.1 ADMINISTRATION

1.1.1 Board of Directors and Board Committees

The structure of the Board of Directors of the Cenfral Bank of Nigeria (CBN) remained
unchanged. Consequently, the Board comprised the Governor, Sanusi Lamido Sanusi
(Chairman); four Deputy Governors, namely: Suleiman A. Barau (Corporate Services),
Sarah O. Alade (Economic Policy), Kingsley C. Moghalu (Financial System Stability) and
Tunde Lemo (Operations); and six non-executive Directors. The non-executive Directors
were Danladi I. Kifasi, (Permanent Secretary, Federal Ministry of Finance) who joined the
Board on July 8, 2010 to replace Dr. Ochi C. Achinivu, following his refirement on June 28,
2010, Dahiru Muhammad, Samuel O. Olofin, Joshua O. Omuya and Stephen O. Oronsaye,
lorahim H. Dankwambo, Accountant-General of the Federation, who resigned his
appointment on December 20, 2010 was yet to be replaced.

The Board held six (6) regular meetings in 2010. The Committee of Governors held fifteen
(15) regular and three (3) extraordinary meetings, while the Governors' Consultative
Committee held two (2) regular meetings. The Committee of Departmental Directors held
thirfeen (13) regular meetings and six (6) extraordinary meetings, while the Audit and
Investment Committees of the Board held five (5) and three (3) meetings, respectively.

1.1.2 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC)
The MPC held six (6) regular meetings and one (1) extra-ordinary meeting at which major
domestic and international economic developments were reviewed and appropriate
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monetary policy decisions taken. The Monetary Policy Rate (MPR) was reviewed upward
once in 2010, in line with the prevailing macroeconomic conditions. The decisions of the
Committee were promptly communicated to the public via press briefings by the
Governorand a communiqué issued at the end of each meeting.

<

E Table 1.1: List of Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) Members and the Number
) of Times Members Attended Meetings in 2010
= N/S Name Number of MPC Meetings Attended
B 1. | Sanusi Lamido Sanusi 7
§ 2. Suleiman Barau 6
g 3. Sarah O. Alade 7
—l

< 4, Kingsley Moghalu 4
oz

E 5. Tunde Lemo 6
i

O 6. Sam O. Olofin 7
w

.J_: 7 Ochi O. Achinivu/Danladi Kfasi 5
(19

(@) 8. | Adedoyin Salami 7
(%)

g 9. John Oshilaja 5
E 10.  Chibuike C. Uche 6
2 11.  Shehu Yahaya 3
E 12. | Abdul-Ganiyu Garba 7
oz

o

o

oz

o
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Table 1.2: MPC Decisions in 2010

Date Rate ' Decision

(%)
January 4-5,2010 | 6.00 - CBN to extend guarantee on interbank transactions up = Corridor
(Communiqué No. fill December 31, 2010 with the discretion to terminate +200/-400
67) the guarantee on a case-by-case basis

- Approved the Monetary Programme and Monetary,
Credit, Foreign Trade & Exchange Guidelines for fiscal
years 2010/2011

March 1 -2, 2010 6.00 - Lowered the Standing Deposit Facility rate by 100 basis = Corridor
(Communiqué No. points, from 2.0 to 1.0 per cent +200/-500
68) - Granted liquidity status to state government bonds,

subject to their meeting specified eligibility criteria

- Approved the use of N500 bilion quantitative easing
facility forinvestment in debentures issued by the Bank
of Industry (BOI)

April 15,2010 6.00 - Approved recommendations on the modalities for Corridor
(Communiqué No. refinancing/restructuring DMBs’ facilities to +200/-500
69) manufacturers, with N1.0 bilion as maximum loan size

to be refinanced

- Directed banks to submit an individual risk-b ased
interest rate pricing model, on a monthly basis

- Endorsed complementary pdlicies by the Board of the
CBN with respect to revised guidelines for loan loss
provisioning, M200 bilion guarantee for real sector
credit andregulations concerning margin lending

May 10-11, 2010 6.00 - Extendedto June 30, 2011 the CBN guarantee for all Corridor
(Communiqué No. intferbank transactions, foreign credit lines to banks, +200/-500
70) and pension funds' placements

July 5, 2010 6.00 - Retained MPR at 6.0 per cent Corridor
(Communiqué No. +200/-500
71)

September 21, 2010 | 6.25 - Approved the resumption of active Open Market Corridor
(Communiqué No. Operations for the purpose of targeted liquidity +200/-300
72) management

- Increased the interest payable on standing deposits
with the CBN by 225 basis points, from 1.0 to 3.25 per
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cent
November 22-23 6.25 - Adjusted the Standing Lending Facility (SLF) rate to Corridor
(Communiqué No. 8.25 per cent, and the Standing Deposit Facility (SDF) +/-200
73) rate fo 4.25 per cent.

1.1.3 Development of CBN Branch Offices

The CBN sustained the development of branches and currency centres in all the state
capitals in order to expand banking infrastructure and ensure easy access to banking
services nationwide. The construction of nine (?) new branch buildings at Dutse, Birnin-
Kebbi, Lafia, Damaturu, Jalingo, Yenagoa, Abakaliki, Ado-Ekiti and Gusau commenced.
The renovation of buildings to serve as currency centres for these locations was
completed and operations commenced. In addition, the extensive renovation of the
branch buildings in Kaduna, Benin and the Learning Centre in Lagos was completed,
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while that of Ibadan branch continued. Contracts for the renovation of branch buildings
in Sokoto, llorin, Jos, Calabar, Abeokuta, Bauchi, Abuja, Minna, Yola and Akure were also
awarded. The rebuilding of the Lagos Office Complex project continued. Furthermore,
subsisting Total Facilities Management contracts were renewed for those facilities
managers with satisfactory performance, while contfracts for the maintenance of facilities
inthe newly opened branches were awarded.

1.1.4 The Computerisation Programme

The deployment of information technology (IT) infrastructure in the Bank continued in an
effort to further improve operational efficiency. The two major enterprise applications of
the Bank: Temenos 724 Release 5 and Oracle e-Business Suite were upgraded to Release 9
and 11, respectively. In support of the implementation of the Bank's monetary policy, a
new Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) system was considered. Furthermore, the
enhancement of the electronic-Financial Analysis and Surveillance System (e-FASS) to
support the risk-based, consolidated and cross-border supervisory framework continued.
In addition, the interface between NIBSS and the Bank was strengthened for improved
efficiency of data transfer. In order to improve internal and external communication, the
e-mail enhancement project commenced. An IT Assessment and Vulnerabilities Test was
conducted as part of efforts to get the operations of the Bank's IT certified.

1.1.5 Library Operations

The total volume of books in the Bank's library system, after old titles were weeded out, was
95,236, compared with 93,003 in 2009. Furthermore, the volume of books, journals and
periodicals consulted by users increased by 10.0 per cent to 6,990, from 6,355 in 2009. The
Library contfinued to subscribe to electronic journals.

1.1.6 LegalServices

The Bank was involved in a number of activities and projects aimed at strengthening its
legal and regulatory framework, as well as enhancing the overall effectiveness of the
financial system. These activities included: intensification of efforts for the re-enactment of
the BOFI Act; the establishment of the Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria
(AMCON); collaboration with stakeholders for the passage of some “Quick-win-Bills” to
actualize the Financial System Strategy (FSS) 2020 initiatives; and a review of draft
agreements to ensure the effective management and investment of Nigeria's external
reserves. Others were the proposed bill for an Act to establish the Banking Sector
Resolution Cost Sinking Fund; the prosecution of cases involving the Bank; and the
gazetting of the revocation of the licences of microfinance banks. On the prosecution of
cases involving the Bank and other parties, out of seventy-two (72) cases decided, sixty-
seven (67) werein favour of the Bank, four (4) against and one partly in favour of the Bank.

1.1.7 Security Services
The Bank took measures to enhance and sustain corporate security in its workplace,
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especially in the areas of asset protection, personnel safety and operational resilience. It
upgraded security equipment with the aim of ensuring homogeneity and best practice,
and infensified collaborative efforts and synergy with all the security agencies in the
country to address security concerns.

1.1.8 Internal Audit

All the twenty-five (25) departments of the Bank and twenty-eight (28) of the thirty-seven
(37) branches and currency centres were audited. Fifty (50) spot checks and process-
based audit of high-risk activities, as well as critical investigations on the pension scheme,
the Entrepreneurial Development Centres and the Nigeria Security Printing and Minting,
Plc, were conducted. Also, eighty (80) currency disposal operations requiring audit
witnesses were completed. In the absence of any material or significant irregularities or
cases of fraud uncovered, a reasonable assurance opinion was expressed by the Banks
internal auditors to the effect that no major weaknesses in the overall systems of risk control
and governance existedin the Bank.

Box 1: ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK IN THE CBN

Risk Management

Over the years, weak risk management practices and poor corporate
governance have been cited among the major causes of bank failures and
financial system crises worldwide. The global financial crisis, which started in
2007, not only underscored the importance of risk management, it also brought
to the fore the changing risk landscape faced by financial systems and the
resultant need for effective enterprise-wide risk management.

In light of the above, the Committee of Governors (COG) of the Central Bank of
Nigeria (CBN) approved the establishment of an independent risk management
function within the Bank to drive/lead the implementation of an enterprise risk
management framework that conforms to international standards, such as the
recommendations by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and
Committee of Sponsoring Organisations (COSO) on Enterprise Risk
Management. The Bank took a number of steps to strengthen its risk governance
structure to ensure that risk management and internal control activities received
adequate attention at Board level. The Bank commenced the development of
new Enterprise Risk Management Frameworks that would meet international
benchmarks, such as the COSO Enterprise Management Framework and the
International Standard Organisation (ISO) 31000.

Risk Governance Structure
The Board of Directors of the Bank is responsible for risk management across the
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Bank. The Board has delegated its oversight functions for risk management to the
COG and the reconstituted Audit and Risk Management Committee of the
Board. The COG is the Executive Management Committee. It is chaired by the
Governor, with the four Deputy Governors as members. It has responsibility for the
day-to-day management of risk in the Bank and meets regularly to discuss various
issues.

The Board Audit and Risk Management Committee meets quarterly and have
three Non-Executive Directors, the Accountant General of the Federation and
the Deputy Governors in charge of Corporate Services and Operations as its
members. The Committee is charged with the following responsibilities:

To protect the interest of the Bank as a going concern;
To ensure fransparency and accountability across the Bank;
To examine and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal
control systems and make recommendations;

. To review the application and effectiveness of risk management
procedures andrisk assessment methodologiesin the Bank's operations;

. Toreview the accuracy and reliability of the Bank's accounting records and
financial statements;

. Evaluate compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and
approved policies and procedures; and

U Carry out specialinvestigations, spot checks and other ad-hoc assignments
as directed by the Governor.

Risk Policy

It is a policy of the Bank that risk management be embedded within the Bank's
critical business activities, functions and processes. The framework for managing
risk involves identifying and assessing risk, as well as implementing and reviewing
the effectiveness of controls on aregular basis.
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Risk Culture

The Management also promotes an active risk management culture that
emphasises the careful analysis and mitigation of risk as a vital part of business
decisions across the Bank and, by extension, the financial services sector. As a
result, risk management within the Bank has been organised to conform to the
three lines of defence concept with the aim of ensuring effectiveness and
consistency.

The first line of defence is derived from the involvement of the 25 Departments in
risk management activities. The second line of defence is the Risk Management
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Department with the responsibility for formulating, monitoring and enforcing
compliance with the Bank's risk management framework. The third line of defense
is provided by the audit functions which provide independent assurance that the
risk management arrangements are working effectively.

The Enterprise Risk Management Framework

Prior to March 2010, risk management in the Bank was decentralised and
fragmented. The new framework provides an overarching structure formanaging
risk in order to ensure the application of a consistent and fransparent approach to
risk management. It clearly defines the roles and responsibilities of key parties in
the risk management process, the policies to guide how risks are managed, the
tools and processes used, and the reporting outputs that are generated.

The main objective of the Enterprise Risk Management Framework is to ensure
that at any given time, the Bank would able to identify, assess, mitigate and
manage therisks that itis exposed to, particularly those that may impede its ability
to atftain its mandate. The framework provides for an end-to-end and front-to-
backreview of the risks facing the Bank and the financial services sector to ensure
that both existing and emerging risks are captured and managed in a consistent
manner. The framework provides for both bottom-up and top-down assessments
of risks. From the bottom-up dimension, risks are articulated in terms of their
potential impact on the achievement of the objectives of the various
Departments. From a top-down perspective, risks are articulated in terms of their
potentialimpact on the achievement of the Bank's mandate.

Within the Bank, risk is divided into four high-level categories, although there can
be overlap between them:
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1. Policy and Reputational Risk: Policy risks, governance issues or external
factors which directly impact the Bank's ability to fulfilits mandate.

2. Operational Risk (including IT and Payments System Risk) and Business
Continuity: Risks arising as a result of weaknesses in business processes, IT
systems, or through staff or third-party actions which have animpact on the
delivery of the Bank's key business functions or onits reputation.

3. CBN Financial Risk: Risks to the Bank's capital that may arise through the
crystallisation of market, credit or liquidity risks in the Bank's balance sheet.

4, Financial System Risk: Risks that threaten the stability of the Nigeria's
financial system.

1.1.9 Strategic Initiatives and Business Process Management

The Bank continued its strategic initiatives with the review of its enterprise mission, vision
and value statements, the corporate performance management process, as well as ifs
strategic themes and priorities. It also developed enterprise strategy maps and
scorecards for all the directorates: Corporate Services (CS), Economic Policy (EP),
Financial System Stability (FSS), Operations and Governors. Furthermore, it aligned
budgeting and training processes to strategy, and institutionalized a strategic
management system.

The Bank, under its business process managementimplementation framework, facilitated
the restructuring and implementation of 'Project ACE' which resulted in five directorates
and twenty five (25) business units. It documented and mapped the business processes of
SBUsinvolved in finance, procurement and support services, human resources, trade and
exchange, banking and payments system, strategy and performance, regulatory and
supervisory, as well as branch processes. Others were: the review of existing internal
policies to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of business processes and the
proposed creation of Currency Processing Support Office.

As part of efforts fo institutionalise the sharing of knowledge, the Bank validated its
Knowledge Management (KM) strategy document. In addition, it commenced the
process of developing a corporate taxonomy and continued with the migration of the
Enterprise Programme Management (EPM) solution to the Bank's domain. In order fo
facilitate the aftainment of its mandates, the Bank signed a Memorandum of
Understanding (MoU) with the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) to ensure the availability
of timely, accurate and reliable data. It also continued its collaboration with the Nigerian
Postal Services (NIPOST) to enhance the effective implementation of the microfinance
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policy of the Federal Government. Other alliances involved the SERVICOM Integrated
charter forthe Bank thatrequires the ratification of the SERVICOM office.

1.1.10 Communications

The Bank sustained its efforts at improving fransparency in the conduct of monetary
policy, through regular interaction with stakeholders and the general public. The
Management of the Bank routinely briefed the Presidency, the National Assembly, the
Federal Executive Council and the National Economic Council on the performance of the
economy. In addition, it held discussions with other regulators in the financial sector and
provided advice to state governments on the management of the economy. A 'Seminar
for Finance Correspondents and Business Editors' was held in Benin, Edo State, from July 28
to 30, 2010 with the theme, “The Blueprint for Banking Reforms in Nigeria: Issues, Challenges
and Prospects”. The seminar was to foster learning and strengthen the capacity of media
practitioners to appropriately report the Bank's policies, programmes, and contemporary
financialand economicissues.

1.1.10.1 Anti-Corruption and Ethicallssues

The Bank collaborated effectively with the anfi-corruption agencies and other
stakeholders, including the Economic and Financial Crimes Commission (EFCC), the
Independent Corrupt Practices and Other Related Offences Commission (ICPC), and the
Nigeria Postal Services (NIPOST), as well as deposit money banks, in preventing corrupt
practices and apprehending fraudsters. It received and processed 9,765 e-mails on
various financial crimes, particularly advance fee fraud, and duly reported identified
issues to the law enforcement agencies. The Bank organised retreats for counsellors and
change champions to review the draft Code of Business Ethics and Compliance (COBEC)
document. It also conducted awareness programmes for SBUs on the new ethical
framework and continued the publication of its “Transparency” journal. This whistle-
blowing facility was activated during the review period, with increasing usage by CBN
staff. The Bank hosted the United Nations Sanctions Monitoring Team, participated in the
'‘Anfi-corruption Day' activities under the aegis of the Inter- Agency Task Team and the
preparation of the draft National Strategy to Combat Corruption.

1.1.11  Staff

The Bank recruited six hundred and ninety-eight (698) personnel, comprised of two (2)
executive, five hundred and twenty-nine (529) senior, one hundred and sixty-two (162)
junior, and five (5) contract staff. The Bank, however, lost the services of twenty-three (23)
staff through death, thirty-seven (37) through voluntary retirement, sixty-one (61) through
mandatory retirement, and one (1) through resignation. Furthermore, four (4) staff had
their appointments terminated and ten (10) were dismissed. Also, one (1) staff was
compulsorily retired, two (2) withdrew their service and the tenure of one (1) contract staff
expired. The staff strength at end-December, 2010 stood at 5,568, compared with 5,010in
the previous year. As part of the incentives to boost morale and enhance performance,
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the Bank promoted seven hundred and fifty-seven (757) members of staff, of which two
hundred and sixty-eight (268) were executive, three hundred and eighty-seven (387)
senior, and one hundred and two (102) junior staff. The Bank also honoured a total of eight
hundred and thirty-two (832) staff with various Long Service Awards. A total of one
hundred and twenty-eight (128) employees were upgraded/converted to various
grades, consisting of one (1) executive, ninety-three (93) senior and thirty-four (34) junior,
while fifty-six (56) appointments were confirmed, comprising of three (3) executive,
thirteen (13) senior and forty (40) junior staff.

1.1.12 Medical Services

In order to sustain a healthy workforce, the CBN undertook various medical interventions.
Atotal of seventy-six thousand, seven hundred and fifty-three (76,753) cases involving staff
and their dependants were attended to at the staff clinics. Three thousand, nine hundred
and seventy-six (3,976) members of staff were treated at the head office sick bay. In
addition, twelve thousand, five hundred and forty-four (12,544) cases were referred to the
standby hospitals, while one hundred and five (105) staff and their dependants were sent
on overseas medical freatment. Six thousand, two hundred and twenty-six (6,226) adults
were vaccinated against cerebro-spinal meningitis and cervical cancer. Other
interventions included the successful immunisation of one thousand and twenty- five
(1,025) babies against the major childhood diseases. A 'Healthy Lifestyle Seminar' was
organized for all staff, while pre-employment medical screening was carried out on eight
hundred and six (806) newly recruited staff. Also, medical screening for the “at risk” was
carried out on staff working in *hazardous areas”, such as Treasury and Currency Offices,
Drivers, etc. Inspection and certification were carried out in standby hospitals with a view
to improving the quality of medical services offered to staff and their registered
dependants. Furthermore, the Bank sponsored medical screening for four hundred and
eighty-eight (488) executives. Overall, a significant cure rate was achieved for staff,
resultingin animproved employee health status.

1.1.13 Training

Efforts at capacity building, through staff development and skills enhancement, were
infensified. As a result, the Bank sponsored staff fraining programmes, including
workshops, conferences, seminars and courses, within and outside Nigeria. Staff benefited
from six thousand and seventeen (6,017) training slotfs involving one thousand, four
hundred and ten (1,410) executive, three thousand nine hundred and twenty-one (3,921)
senior, and six hundred and eighty-six (686) junior. The fraining programs covered
emergingissues and generalmanagement.

1.1.14 Recreational Activities

The CBN sponsored various sporting competitions to sustain the development of sporting
activities in Nigeria. These included lawn tennis, golf and football. The fourth edition of the
CBN Junior Tennis Championship took place at the Lagos Lawn Tennis Court, from
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February 22 to 28, 2010. In addition, the 32™ edition of the CBN Senior Open Tennis
Championship was held at the National Stadium, Lagos from May 27 to June 5, 2010. The
Union Bank Football Club won the final of the All Financial Institutions Football Competition
played at the Aper Aku Stadium, Markudi, Benue State on November 27, 2010. The final of
the 31 edition of the Governor's Cup Football Competition for all CBN branches was
played at the Sani Abacha Stadium, Kano on October 164, 2010, won by the Sokoto
Branch. The Bank also sponsored the fourth edition of the CBN Governor's Golf Cup
Tournament, which took place at the IBB International Golf and Country Club, Abuja from
November 19 to 21, 2010. In addition, the workplace gymnasium at the Bank's Corporate
Head Office continued to be patronised by staff.

1.1.15 Corporate Social Responsibility

The CBN continued to performits corporate social responsibility function by promoting the
acquisition of relevant knowledge, through the provision of financial and other forms of
assistance to organizations and activity groups for the hosting of conferences, seminars,
workshops, etc, which were of strategic nationalinterest.

1.1.16 Staff Social Responsibility

Staff of the CBN sustained their support for the less privileged in society through regular
contributions to the Alms Collection Scheme. The contribution for 2010 stood at N13.8
million.

1.2 RESEARCH AND COLLABORATIVE ACTIVITIES

The CBN conducted research, in line with its core mandates/functions, and disseminated
information on key research issues relating to the
management of the economy. The CBN was also
involved in a number of empirical studies which
culminated in published works, notable among
which were the following “Inflation Forecasting
Model in Nigeria”, “Estimating a Small Scale
Macroeconometric Model (SSMM) for Nigeria: A
Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE)
Approach”, *“Is the Phillips Curve Useful for
Monetary Policy in Nigeriag2”, “*Monetary Policy Transmission Mechanism in Nigeria” and
“Towards a Sustainable Microfinance Developmentin Nigeria”.

The CBN conducted research and
disseminatedinformation on key issues
relating to the management of the
economy. The CBN was also involved
in a number of empirical studies which
culminatedin published works.

The regular publications of the CBN in 2010 included: the 2009 Annual Report; the 2010
Half-Year Economic Report, the CBN Economic and Financial Review, Statistical Bulletin
and the Bullion. The Bank also infroduced the Financial Stability Report and the Monetary
Policy Review. Furthermore, seminar papers on topical issues were presented, some of
which were published in the CBN Economic and Financial Review. Other papers at various
stages of being published included the following: “The Asymmetric Effects of Oil Price

11

<
oz
L]
O
Z
1S
@)
p 4
Z
<
o
—
<
oz
[
Z
Ll
)
Ll
XL
—
L.
@)
(%)
L]
=
>
—
(@)
<
L]
—
<
oz
@)
o.
oz
o)
@)



<
oz
(15}
O
Z
1S
®)
b4
Z
<
(-]
—l
<
oz
[
Z
w
O
(18]
XL
—
(1
®)
(72
(18]
=
=
—
(@)
<
(18]
—
<
oz
O
o
oz
O
@)

12

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Shocks on Output and Prices in Nigeria, using a Structural Vector Autoregressive (SVAR)
Model”; “Stock Market Developments Indicators and Economic Growth In Nigeria
(19902009): Empirical Investigations”; “The Quantity Theory of Money: Evidence from
Nigeria”; "“External Reserve Accumulation and the Adequacy Level for Nigeria”;
“Investment Climate Reform in Nigeria: Challenges and Prospects”; “Capital Flows and
Financial Crises: Policy Issues and Challenges in Nigeria”; and “An Examination of the
Relationship Between Government Revenue and Government Expenditure in Nigeria: A
Cointegration and Causality Approach”. The public educational series on “Inflation” was
also published.

The Bank organized the 18" Annual Executive Seminar with the theme, “Banking Sector
Reforms and Real Sector Development in Nigeria™. An infrastructure finance conference
was held at the Sheraton Hotel, Abuja on December 6 to 7, 2010. The Bank continued to
collaborate with the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) to generate a series of economic
indicators, through the conduct of the 2009 National Economic Survey.

During the year, four visiting scholars, engaged under the Diaspora/Visiting Scholar
Programme inifiated by the Bank, concluded their work. Following these efforts, the
scholars presented papers on the following issues: “The Nigeria's Sovereign Bond Yield
Curve: lis Features, Relevance and Monetary Policy Applications”, “*Monetary Policy
Transmission Mechanism and Nigeria's Real Economy”, “*Macroeconomic Modeling for
Monetary Policy analysis in Nigeria”, and “Transition to Full-Fledged Inflation Targeting
(FFIT): A Proposed Programme of Implementation by the CBN". In recognition of the
existence of a pool of experts in various disciplines in the CBN, the Bank received and
honoured requests for the delivery of lectures from various institutions, including sub-
regional and regional organizations, such as the West African Institute for Financial and
Economic Management (WAIFEM) and the African Economic Research Consortium
(AERC). Staff papers were also presented at international and local professional
conferences and workshops, including those of the Macroeconomic and Financial
Management Institute of Eastern and Southern Africa (MEFMI), the Joint Partnership for
Africa, the Nigerian Economic Society (NES), the Nigerian Stafistical Association (NSA),
and the Farm Management Association of Nigeria (FAMAN).
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Box 2: MILESTONE IN MODEL BUILDING AT THE CBN

For the Bank to effectively deliver on its mandates and improve on its policy
formulation and analysis, the need for adequate and up-to-date knowledge of
the workings and linkages in the economy becomes critical. With this in view, the
Management of the Bank, in April, 2008, inaugurated an inter-agency team to
build a macroeconometric model that would be capable of informing decision-
making at the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meetings. The team comprised
representatives of the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN), the African Institute of
Applied Economics (AIAE), the Centre for Econometric and Allied Research
(CEAR), and the Nigerian Institute of Social and Economic Research (NISER). This
multi-institutional approach was infended to harvest ideas from the technical
knowledge of the institutions involved, and ensure the robustness of the model, as
well as its continuity and sustenance.

In order to achieve this milestone, in 2008, the team set off to build a
macroeconometric model of the Nigerian economy, taking into consideration its
peculiarities. The model was medium-sized and designed for policy analysis
(simulation and policy scenarios). It comprised 20 behavioural equations and 16
identities, and was divided into six blocks, with particular emphasis on the
monetary sector. The behavioural equations were specified according to
economic theory and estimated within the eclectic macroeconomic framework,
using recent econometric techniques. The linkages of the blocks were identified
and the model was solved simultaneously to incorporate the linkages. The
complete model was then simulated over the historical period and standard
evaluation tests were performed. A single-equation analysis indicated that the
behavioural equations were well specified and the forecasting performance was
good. The results of the dynamic simulation indicated that the simulated data
reproduced most of the turning points of the actual time series and showed that
the economic variables behaved according to a priori expectations. The model
was being managed by the Research Department of the Bank.
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Several seminars were organized to harvest expert opinions on the model from
within and outside the Bank. In addition, a number of presentations were made to
the Management of the Bank and stakeholders. Furthermore, in order to make the
model meet international standards and best practice, the team undertook study
tours to the central banks of selected developing countries with similar economic
structures and significant experiences in modelling to benefit from their technical
expertise. The interactions, views and comments garnered during the
presentations and study ftours served as invaluable inputs for the revision of the
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model. In addifion, the study tourrevealed that the CBN needed a suite of models
to effectively aid its policy-making operations. While some models are best suited
for simulations and policy scenarios, others have excellent forecasting
performance. Indeed, no single model can handle the complexities involved in
carrying out the differentroles and responsibilities of the CBN.

Thus, the CBN commenced preliminary work on building a complementary
structural model known as the Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE).
The model, when operationalised, would enable the Bank to have sufficient
information for determining, among others, its monetary policy rate, the output
gap, the exchange rate pass-through to price, the sacrifice ratio, and the inflation
threshold.

1.3 THE CBN BALANCE SHEET

1.3.1 Income and Appropriation

The audited financial statements of the CBN for the year ended 31st December, 2010
indicated that totalincome was :)]562.2 billion, a decline of 26.1 per cent from the level in
2009. The decline in income largely reflected the fall in interest income, specifically from
realized gains on foreign currency. Operating costincreased by 16.3 per centin 2010, thus,
bringing the operating surplus before provisions to #&46.5 billion, compared with §43.9
billionin 2009.

In accordance with the provisions of Part Il, Section 5 (3) of the CBN Act, 2007 (as
amended), the sum of N34.9 bilion was due to the Federal Government, while the
balance accruedto generalreserve.

1.3.2 Assets and Liabilities

The size of CBN's balance sheet decreased in 2010 as total assets/liabilities declined by
15.6 per cent to N6.7 trillion. The assets position reflected the decrease in external reserves
(-20.0 per cent) and loans and advances (-17.4 per cent), which more than offset the
growth of 9.2,2.4,30.8 and 21.0 per centin Holdings of Special Drawing Rights, other assets,
fixed assets, and investments, respectively. The decline in total assets was compensated
for on the liability side by the fall in deposits (-18.5 per cent), IMF allocation of Special
Drawing Rights (-1.1 per cent), and other financial liabilities (-22.7 per cent). However,
Central Bank of Nigeria Instruments increased by 108.4 per cent and, notes and coins in

circulation by 16.4 per cent over end-December 2009. The paid-up capital of the Bank

remained at &5.0 billion, while the general reserve fund increased by 16.2 per cent to
N83.5 billion.
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CHAPTER TWO

MONETARY POLICY, SURVEILLANCE
ACTIVITIES AND OPERATIONS OF THE CBN

onetary management in 2010 was conducted within the framework of
Mmonefory targeting. The major instrument of monetary policy remained open

market operations (OMQ), complemented by the discount window
operations and foreign exchange market interventions. Reflecting largely internal
conditfions and developments in the external sector, the growth of the key monetary
aggregate at end-December 2010 was substantially lower than the indicative
benchmark and the level attained at the end of the preceding year, despite the huge
fiscal injections and other measures taken to ease credit squeeze. In line with the liquidity
conditions in the economy, the Monetary Policy Rate (MPR) was reviewed upward only
once towards the end of the year; and interest rates were generally lower than in the
preceding year. The yields on fixed income securifies across various maturities were also
lower than in 2009.The implementation of risk-based supervision continued, while the
Assets Management Corporation of Nigeria (AMCON), which commenced operations
during the year, bought off some non-performing loans of the banks in order to ensure
stability in the banking sector.

The Wholesale Dutch Auction System (WDAS) was sustained in the foreign exchange
market, while the naira exchange rate remained generally stable in 2010. The payments
and setftlement landscape improved with increased numbers of ATMs and Points of Sale
(POS) terminals. Furthermore, the CBN continued its 'clean naira note' policy and
outsourced the maintenance of currency processing machines fo equipment
manufacturers, for greater efficiency and cost effectiveness. The Bank sustained ifs
developmental functions through the Agricultural Credit Guarantee Scheme Fund
(ACGSF) andinfrastructural financing, among other programmes.

2.1 MONETARY OPERATIONS

2.1.1 Monetary and Credit Developments

Monetary growth was sluggish in 2010, despite the

monetary easing policy maintained by the Bank. Monetfary growth was slow in 2010,
The stance of monetary policy was toinject liquidity despite the monefary easing policy
into the economy and restore confidence in the ©f the bank. The stance of monetary
Nigerian financial system. The measures taken Policy was fo inject liquidity info the
included the contfinuation of guarantees on inter- €conomy and restore confidence in
bank fransactions and towards the end of the year, fhe Nigerian financialsystem.

15
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the purchase of non-performing loans from the DMBs by AMCON. The growth of the key
monetary aggregate at end-December 2010 was below the indicative benchmark for
fiscal 2010 and the growth rate attained at the end of the preceding year. Broad money
(M,) grew by 6.7 per cent, compared with 17.5 per cent at end-December 2009 and the
indicative benchmark of 29.3 per cent for fiscal 2010. The rather slow growth in money
stock was driven by the increase in domestic credit (net) and other assets (net) of the
banking system. Narrow money (M,) grew by 10.6 per cent at end-December 2010,
compared with the growth of 3.0 per cent at the end of the preceding year. Aggregate
bank credit to the domestic economy (net) grew by 13.4 per cent, compared with the
growth of 59.6 per cent at end-December 2009. The development was attributed, largely,
to the 64.2 per cent growth in net credit to the Federal Government. Claims on the private
sector, however, declined by 4.1 per cent, in contrast fo the growth of 26.6 per cent
recorded atend-December 2009.

Base money, the Bank's operating target for monetary policy, which stood at 1,803.9

billion, grew by 9.1 per cent, but was lower than the indicative benchmark for the year by
25.9 percentage points.

Table 2.1: Key Policy Targets and Outcomes, 2006-2010 (per cent)

2006 2007 2008 2009 1/ 2010 2/
[J] (] (] (] (]
= | § | = E |« | § |« |5 = | §
2 o 2 (o) 2 o 2 o 2 (o)
Growth in base 75 278 33 226 208 589 3.6 67 @ 350 9.1
money
Growth in broad 27.0 431 241 | 442 450 578 208 17.5 293 6.7
money (Mz2)
Growth in narrow na. 322 - 366 - | 559 322 30 224 104
money (M)
Growth in 276
aggregate bank -72.3 | -69.1 -29.9 4 T 66.0 84.2 87.0 59.6 514 134
credit
Growth in bank
credit to private 300 321 300 @ 90.8 547 59.4 450 266 31.5 -4.1
sector
Inflation rate 9.0 8.5 9.0 6.6 9.0 15.1 9.0 13.9 11.2) 11.8

Growth in real GDP 7.0 6.0 10.0 6.5 7.5 6.0 5.0 7.0 6.1 7.9

1/ Revised
2/ Provisional
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Table 2.2: WAMIZ Convergence Criteria, 2006 - 2010

Target Achievement
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Inflation rate Single digit 8.5 6.6 15.1 13.9 11.8
Ways & Means < 10.0 per cent of
Advances retained revenue of | Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

the Government
Deﬁc“ to GDP < 40 per CenT 3.3 3.7
Ratio 0.6 0.5 0.2
Gross Official >3 Months of import
Reserve cover 229 21.6 15.9 16.6 7.2

Overall, Nigeria met WAMZ convergence criteria,

except for the rate of inflation, despite the impact A.Aeasu.res faken wer.e. also fo ensure
of the uncertainties surrounding the global fmcmc:olsys.femsfabilifyandczsfegdy
economicrecovery. flow of credit to the realeconomyin a

sound and stable financial system.

2.1.2 liquidity Management

Monetary policy in 2010, as in the preceding year, was conducted against the
background of the lingering effects of a liquidity crunch in the domestic economy, arising
from the global financial and economic crises of 2007/2008 and internal problems in some
deposit money banks in Nigeria. Liquidity management was, therefore, geared towards
improving the liquidity and efficiency of the financial market, without compromising the
primary objective of monetary and price stability. The Bank made use of open market
operations (OMO), complemented by macro prudential cash and liquidity rafios,
standing facilities, tenored repurchased transactions, sale of tfreasury instruments at the
primary segment of the market, and foreign exchange market interventions.

The monetary easing policy that commenced in late 2009, which was aimed at improving
banking system liquidity, ensuring financial system
stability, and a steady flow of credit to the real
sector of the economy continued. To that end, a
number of measures were taken by the Monetary
Policy Committee (MPC) including: the extension
of guarantee on inter-bank ftransactions from i -
March 2010 to December 2010, and further to June of monetary and price stability.
2011, and a reduction of the Standing Deposit

Facility (SDF) rate from 2.0 to 1.0 per cent. Others were: the approval of a &500.00 billion
intervention fund (the &200.00 billion for refinancing and restructuring of DMBs' facilities to
manufacturing enterprises; the N300.00 bilion for Power and Aviation sectors) and
commencement of the operations of the Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria
(AMCON) in November 2010. By December 2010, AMCON had purchased toxic assets of
21 banks worth &1,036.3 billion, at the price of &770.6 billion, in order to strengthen the

Liquidity management was geared
towards improving the liquidity and
efficiency of the financial market,
without compromising the objective
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balance sheets of the banks and facilitate their ability to extend credit to the domestic
economy. Other policy measures included the retention of the Cash Reserve and Liquidity
ratio at 1.0 per cent and 25.0 per cent, respectively, throughout the year. The Monetary
Policy Rate (MPR) was also retained at 6.00 per cent until September 21, 2010 when it was
raised by 25 basis points to 6.25 per cent, and the asymmetric corridor was adjusted to 200
basis points above the MPR for the Standing Lending Facility (SLF), and 300 basis points
below the MPR for the Standing Deposit Facility (SDF). The domestic money market
instruments were supplemented by foreign exchange market interventions at both the
wholesale Dutch Auction System (WDAS) and the inter-bank markets. The licences of all
existing Class 'A'BDCs were revoked, with effect from November 8, 2010. The measure was
designed to prevent money laundering and curtail speculative activities in the foreign
exchange market.

The monetary policy measures implemented in 2010 substantially improved liquidity
conditionsin the banking system, thereby ameliorating, o alarge extent, the challenge of
the credit crunch in the banking system. The sustenance of banking reforms, unrestricted
access to the discount window, and the guarantee of inter-bank fransactions increased
the level of confidence in the banking system. However, despite the improvement in
banking system liquidity, the under-performance of reserve money and monetary
aggregates persisted, asreflected by the lower-than-optimal benchmark levels in reserve
money, broad money supply (M,) and private credit. Reserve money, which stood at
1,803.91 billionin December 2010, was about &420.53 billion, or 25.9 percentage points
below the indicative benchmark of :82,232.44 billion for the year. This contrasted with the
reserve money figure of 1,653.86 billion in December 2009, which was about 849.06 billion
or 3.1 percentage points above the indicative benchmark of &1,604.8 billion for the year.
The inter-bankratesremainedrelatively stable in early 2010, but fluctuated thereafter.

2.1.3 InterestRate Policy and Developments

Developments in interest rates reflected the credit and liquidity conditions in the banking
system. Interest rates in all segments of the market
were generally lower than their levels in 2009.
However, with the upward review of the MPR from
6.00 per cent to 6.25 per cent, after the September
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) meeting, rates
in all segments of the market increased. The huge
liguidity injections, through the fiscal operations of government, however, moderated the
increaseinrates.

Interest rates in all segments of the
market were generally lower than
theirlevelsin 2009.

2.1.3.1 Money MarketRates

As aresult of the inter-bank guarantees, rates in all segments of the money market were
low during most of 2010. The weighted average inter-bank call rate and open-buy-back
(OBB) rate fell from their respective levels of 4.68 and 3.62 per cent in December, 2009 to
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1.50 and 1.28 per cent, respectively, in March, 2010 and 2.73 and 1.80 per cent,
respectively, in June, 2010. The rates stood at 2.71 and 1.92 per cent, respectively, in
September, 2010. With the upward review of the MPR in September, 2010, however, the
weighted average inter-bank call rate and open-buy-back rate trended upwards in the
last quarter of the year, rising to 8.03 and 6.93 per cent, respectively, in December, 2010.
The weighted average inter-bank call rate and OBB rate were 4.02 and 3.42 per cent,
respectively, in 2010, compared with 11.86 and 6.76 per cent, respectively, in 2009. The
Nigerian Inter-bank Offered Rate (NIBOR) for 7-day and 30-day tenors, averaged 5.38 and
8.13 percent, respectively, in 2010, from 13.80 and 16.40 per cent, respectively, in 2009.

Table 2.3: Money Market Rates (per cent)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE

NIBOR

Month MPR Call Rate = OBB 7-days NIBOR 30-days
Dec-09 6.00 4.68 3.62 7.62 13.18
Jan-10 6.00 2.61 2.59 6.39 12.42
Feb-10 6.00 2.27 2.20 5.11 10.60
Mar-10 6.00 1.50 1.28 2.79 5.74
Apr-10 6.00 1.27 1.24 2.46 5.10
May-10 6.00 4.94 4.39 6.16 8.03
Jun-10 6.00 2.73 1.80 3.35 571

Jul-10 6.00 3.59 2.98 4.45 6.57
Aug-10 6.00 1.26 1.20 2.05 4.66
Sep-10 6.00 2.71 1.92 3.81 5.48
Oct-10 6.25 8.50 7.48 9.67 11.10
Nov-10 6.25 8.79 7.19 9.13 11.67
Dec-10 6.25 8.03 6.93 9.31 11.50
Average 2010 6.06 4.02 3.42 5.38 8.13
Average 2009 7.44 11.86 6.76 13.80 16.40

30 Figure 2.1: Money Market Rates in 2010
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2.1.3.2 DepositRates

Available data showed that, in general, DMBs' deposit and lending rates fell in 2010. The
average savings deposit rate fell slightly by 0.8 percentage point to 2.2 per cent. Similarly,
other rates on deposits of various maturities fell to a range of 2.47 6.93 per cent, from a
range of 6.73 13.40 per cent in 2009. The average term deposit rate fell by 6.45
percentage points to 5.60 per cent. The lower rates reflected the liquidity condition in the
banking system.

2.1.3.3 LendingRates

The weighted average prime and maximum lending rates fell by 1.03 and 0.29
percentage pointsto 17.59 and 22.51 per cent, respectively, in 2010.

Figure 2.2 Savings and Lending Rates (Prime and Maximum)
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With the year-on-year inflation rate at 11.8 per cent
in December 2010, most deposit rates were
negative in real terms, while lending rates were
positive in real terms. The spread between the
average term deposits and maximum lending rates
widened to 16.91, from 10.74 percentage points in
2009.

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

The spread between the average
term deposits and maximum lending
rates widened fo 16.9 percentage
points, from 10.7 percentage points
in 2009.

Figure 2.4: Real Interest Rates
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2.1.3.4 ReturnonFixed Income Securities - The Yield Curve

Analysis of the return on fixed income securities showed that the average yield was
generally lowerin 2010 thanin the preceding year. The paryield curve and the theoretical
spof rate curve (TSR-curve), as in the preceding year, remained upward-sloping in the
short and long end of the curve. The mid-segment of the curve was near flat, indicating
investors'indifference to tenors (mafturity periods). The slope of the yield curve waslowerin
2010 than in 2009, as the yield spread (the difference between the longest and shortest
maturities) stood at 5.5 percentage points, compared with 7.2 percentage points

recordedin the precedingyear.

Figure 2.5 Government Bonds and Average Yield
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A plot of the price of the 6-month maturity and weighted average inter-bank tenored rate
showed that the bond price andinterest rates typically moved in opposite directions.

Figure 2.6 Interest Rate & Price of 6-month Maturity
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2.1.4 Payments, Clearing and Settlement Developments

The implementation of Payments System Vision 2020a subset of the Financial System

Strategy 2020 (FSS 2020) was sustained in 2010. Within the period, the Bank took the

following measures:

[0 Infroduced N10 million as the maximum cap for cheque payment by the banks in
January 2010, thereby increasing the patronage of electronic paymentsin Nigeria;

. Directed banks to migrate all their cards, with effect from October 1, 2010, from
magnetic stripe technology to chip+PIN, otherwise known as EMV, due to the
weaknesses of the former;

. Directed banks to set up effective help desks for handling card-related complaints;
the CBN equally set up a help desk for receiving public complaints on card
transactions with a view to fast-tracking resolutions and monitoring compliance with
the 72-hour timeline;

¢+ Directed all banks and private switches to connect with the National Central Switch
on or before December 2010 to address the issue of inferconnectivity of different
networks;

* Approved sixteen mobile payments schemes to launch mobile payments servicesin
Nigeria under Bank-led, Bank-focused and Non-bank-led models;
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. Established a Payments System Policy and Oversight Office for effective monitoring
of existing and planned payments systemsin the yearunderreview;
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Issued the Standards and Guidelines on ATM Operations in Nigeria by the COG in
April 2010 to guide the conduct of ATM operationsin Nigeria. The guidelines covered
issues on liability shifts in the event of fraud on ATM tfransactions and is expected o
restore public confidence on the use of ATM's.

Advised banks to remove their ATMs from public places effective April 1, 2010,
following the appointment of three (3) ATM Consortia, effective April 1, 2009 for the
deployment of ATM'sin places other than bank premises; and

Issued circularsto cover the following:

o The infroduction of a second-level authentication for cards not presented for
payment;

Real-time online monitoring tools for PIN entry attempfs;

Automatic blocking of a card after three unsuccessful PIN attempts;

Imposition of alimit for card-to-card transfers, POS and web payments;

Need for banks to segregate the process of PIN handling and card activation;
Proper due diligence on all merchants before POSis given to them; and
Enlightenment campaign on the protection of PIN/card details for
cardholders.

O 0O 0O 0 0O

Furthermore, the Bank:

¢

Approved the Direct Debit Rule to facilitate widespread use of electronic consumer
bills payments methods;

Drafted a guideline on electronic payment of taxes in Nigeria which is undergoing
approval processes;

Developed guidelines for electronic payment of salaries for both private and public
employers with notless than 50 staff in theiremployment;

Completed the guidelines on securities settlement in Nigeria covering procedures
and timelines for settlement of all the Exchange-tfraded securities (equities and
bonds), government securities (NTB and bonds), OTC equities and commodities and
the integration work between the Central Securities Clearing System (CSCS) and
CBNT24 system;

Approved guidelines on transaction switching and stored value/prepaid cards; and
Reviewed the Nigeria Bankers Clearing House Rule in compliance with the West

Africa Monetary Zone (WAMZ) standards and approved the Nigeria Uniform Bank
AccountNumber (NUBAN).
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2.2 CURRENCY OPERATIONS

2.2.1 IssueoflegalTender

In satisfying the currency needs of the economy in 2010, the Bank, through the Nigerian
Security Printing and Minting (NSPM) Plc, printed 2.8 billion pieces of bank notes. To
augment the supply from the NSPM Plc, 900 milion pieces of &500 and #1000
denomination banknotes were also ordered from
overseas suppliers. In addition, 600 million pieces of
R50 commemorative polymer banknotes were
printed as part of the contributions of the Bank to
Nigeria's 50th independence anniversary. The
CBN's 'clean notes' policy was sustained in 2010
through the processing of dirty notfes, the
withdrawal of unfit/soiled banknotes and issuance
of clean and fit notes. To that end, currency notes valued at &1,871.45 billion were issued
by the Bank for circulation during the review period, compared with the &1,592.02 billion
issued in the preceding year. Furthermore, the Bank approved outsourcing the
maintenance of currency processing machines in order to improve efficiency. The Bank
also granted approval-in-principle to two cash-in-fransit service providers as sorting
companiesin November 2010in order to enhance efficiencyin currency processing.

The CBN's clean notes policy was
sustained in 2010 through processing
of dirty notes, the withdrawal of
unfit/soiled banknotes and issuance
of mintand fit notes.

2.2.2 CurrencyinCirculation (CIC)

Currency-in-circulation grew by 16.4 per cent to #&1,378.2 billion at end-December 2010.
The growth in CIC was attributable to the developments in economic activity and the
positive impact of various government initiatives to cushion the effects of the global
economic meltdown, as well as seasonal factors.

The President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria launched the commemorative =50

polymer banknote and the non-circulating gold and gold-plated silver coins on
September 29,2010 to mark the country's 50th independence anniversary.

Figure 2.7: Ratio of Currency in Circulation to M,
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Table 2.4: Currency Structure 2007 - 2010

2007 2008 2009 2010
Coins Vo!u_me Value Volume Value Volume Value Volume Value
(million) '\ bilion) = (milion) = (N billion) | (milion) (N billon) | (million) | (N billion)
N2 81.9 0.16 104.5 0.21 114.5 228.90 107.83 0.22
N1 615.4 0.62 532.2 0.53 490.6 490.65 530.11 0.53
50k 738.3 0.37 463.1 0.23 454.5 227.26 434.48 0.22
25k 19.0 0.01 240.6 0.06 212.0 53.00 196.53 0.049
10k 2.2 0.0002 235.1 0.02 228.3 228.82 212.82 0.021
Tk 0.0 0.0 51.2 0.0005 57.4 0.57 48.74 0.0048
Sub Total 1,456.8 1.15 1,629.7 1.06 1,557.3 1,023.20 1,530.51 1.04
Notes
1000 | 264.4 264.40 572.9 57291 | 584.4 584.39 663.76 663.70
MN500 707.2 353.60 801.9 400.93 852.8 426.40 1,027.78 513.89
N200 1,256.0 251.30 571.6 114.32 491.9 98.38 501.27 100.25
N100 494.9 49.50 323.6 32.36 350.0 35.00 341.12 34.11
N50 351.3 17.60 228.0 11.40 344.9 17.25 78227 39.11
N20 823.0 16.50 827.3 16.55 769.5 15.39 752.65 15.10
NI10 355.9 3.60 283.2 2.83 285.5 2.85 680.61 6.81
N5 579.0 2.90 533.1 2.67 720.5 3.60 837.93 4.19
Sub-Total @ 4,831.7 959.40 4141.6 1,153.97 4,399.5 1,183.27 5,587.39 1,377.16
Total 6,288.5 960.55 5,768.3 1,155.03 5,956.8 1,184.30 7.117.90 1,378.20

23 FOREIGN EXCHANGE MANAGEMENT

The Wholesale Dutch Auction System (WDAS) was sustained as the mechanism for
exchange rate management throughout 2010. A policy shift to phase out the two-tier
structure of class “A” and “B"” Bureaux-De-Change (BDCs) infroduced in February 2009
resulted in the withdrawal of 132 Class “A" licences in November 2010. They were,
however, eligible to apply for conversion to Class “B” BDCs provided the stipulated
licensing requirements were met. The policy change was due to gross abuse of the
enhanced official funding of the Class *A” BDC window. The withdrawal was also part of
the measures taken to curb excessive demand in the foreign exchange market. In the last
quarter of 2010, a new policy was infroduced to
recognize the Chinese Yuan (RMB) as a currency of
fransaction in the Nigerian foreign exchange
market.

The inflow and outflow of foreign
exchange through the economy
amounted to US$88.15 billion and
US$39.16 billion, respectively,
representing anincrease of 30.1 and
7.2 percentoverthelevelsin 2009.

2.3.1 Foreign Exchange Flows
Aggregate foreign exchange inflow and outflow
through the economy stood at US$88.15 billion and
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US$39.16 billion, representing an increase of 30.1 and 7.2 per cent, respectively, over the
levelsin 2009. The net flow through the economy increased by 56.8 per cent over the level
in 2009 to $48.99 billion, while the net flow through the CBN recorded a deficit of US$10.1
billion, althoughitimproved by 6.3 per cent compared with the previous year.

Analysis of aggregate inflow showed that receipts through the CBN increased by 11.2 per
cent over the level in 2009 to US$27.8 billion. Further analysis showed that oil receipts
through the Bank increased by 50.7 per cent over
the level in 2009 to US$26.2 billion, and accounted
for 94.0 per cent, compared with 69.5 per cent of
the total in 2009. The development was attributed
fo an increase in the price of crude oil at the
international market. In confrast, non-oil inflow
(comprised WDAS purchases, inferest income on reserves and investments, and other
officialreceipts) fell by 78.0 per cent, to US$1.7 billion.

The development was due largely to
the increase in the price of crude oil
atthe international market.

The inflow through autonomous sources rose by 41.2 per cent above the level in 2009 to
US$60.3 billion. Of this, receipts from non-oil exports, capital inflow and invisibles (inflow to
domiciliary accounts and foreign exchange sales by oil companies) increased by 12.3,

27.1 and 42.6 per cent over the level in 2009, to US$2.2 billion, US$0.06 billion and US$58.0
billion, respectively.

The outflow through the CBN increased by 6.0 per cent to US$37.9 billion. Outflow through
the Bank comprised WDAS utilization, drawings on letters of credit, external debt service,

national priority projects and other official payments.

Figure 2.8: Foreign Exchange Flows through the CBN
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WDAS utilization increased by 1.3 per cent to US$30.17 billion. Sales to WDAS and BDCs
increased by 10.5and 13.6 percent to US$24.8 billion and US$5.34 billion, respectively.

Outflow through drawings on letters of credit and external debt service fell by 2.9 and 4.2
per cent below the levels in 2009 to US$0.97 bilion and US$0.39 billion, respectively. The
sum of US$0.02 billion was paid to finance national priority projects that commenced in
2010.

Other official paymentsincreased by 38.6 per cent over the levelin 2009 to US$6.37 billion.
Within this sub-category, out-payments to international organizations and embassies, and
NNPC/JV Cash Cadlls, increased by 11.4 and 26.5 per cent to US$0.55 billion and US$3.88
billion, respectively. In addition, contributions and grants (ESAF-HIPC) amounted to
US$0.47 billion; parastatals and estacode dropped by 10.4 per cent to US$0.88 billion,
while miscellaneousincreased from US$0.06 billion to US$0.59 billion.

Outflow through autonomous sourcesincreased by 88.6 per cent to US$1.24 billion. Of this
amount, imports of merchandise accounted for US$1.23 billion, while invisibles fell from
US$0.017 billionto US$0.01 billionin the yearunderreview.

Fig. 2.9: Foreign Exchange Disbursements in 2010

National Priority
Project
0.001%

Other Official
Payments
16.8%

External Debt
Service
1.0%

2.3.2 Developmentsinthe Foreign Exchange Market

The foreign exchange market in 2010 recorded ninety-six (96) frading sessions, compared
with one hundred and twenty-two sessions (122) in the previous year. Total demand at the
market declined by 18.0 per cent to US$35.06 billion as a result of the closure of the class
“A” BDC window in the last quarter of the year.
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Aggregate supply to the market increased by 9.6 per cent to US$30.17 billion, accounted
for by sales to WDAS and BDC segments of the market which increased by 8.9 and 12.7 per
centto US$24.83 billion and US$5.34 billion, respectively.

E Figure 2.10: Developments in the Foreign Exchange Market
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> 2.3.3 Sectoral Utilization of Foreign Exchange
g Provisional data showed that the utilization of foreign exchange by the DMBs for
ransactions through the valid for foreign exchange) increased by 2.9 per cent over
t tions th h the CBN lid for forei h i dby2.9 t
o the level in 2009 to US$33.91 billion. Analysis by category showed that visible import
E (goods) increased by 0.8 per cent to US$24.25 billion in 2010 and accounted for 71.6 per
I<_i cent of total. Under this category, industrial and transport sectors' imports declined by 15.4
E and 4.9 per cent to US$6.23 billion and US$1.50 billion, respectively. Importation of other
o) manufactured products also declined by 12.6 per cent to US$5.37 billion. However,
b imports under oil, the agriculture sector, food products, and minerals increased by 23.3,

15.8, 27.4 and 16.7 per cent to US$6.12 billion, US$0.32 billion, US$4.47 billion and US$0.18
billion, respectively,in 2010.
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The import of invisibles (services) at US$9.66 billion, or 28.4 per cent of total, increased by
8.8 per cent over the level in the preceding year. Under this category, financial,
construction, and transport services increased by 13.4, 204.9 and 10.3 per cent to US$6.69
billion, US$0.13 bilion and US$0.79 bilion, respectively. The import of business,
communications and educational services, however, declined by 6.4, 17.2 and 16.4 per
centto US$1.4 billion, US$0.29 billion and US$0.16 billion, respectively.

Figure 2.12: Sectoral Utilization of Foreign Exchange in 2010

Agriculture
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2.3.4 ExternalRReserves Management

Nigeria's gross externalreserves at end-December 2010 stood at US$32.34 billion, a decline
of 23.7 per cent when compared with the level at end-December 2009. The development
arose from increased funding of WDAS and BDC:s; official payments, drawings on L/Cs,
national priority projects and the notional changesin the value of third currencies.

Figure 2.13: Nigeria's Gross External Reserves Position (USS$billion) and
Months of Import Cover
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At thislevel, the externalreserves could support 7.2 months of imports, compared with 16.6
monthsin 2009.

The composition of external reserves holdings showed that Federation reserves
accounted for US$2.17 billion, or 6.7 per cent of total; Federal Government reserves stood
at US$2.56 billion or 7.9 per cent; and CBN reserves accounted for US$27.61 billion, or 85.4
percent of the total.

Figure 2.14: Holdings of External Reserves as at end-December 2010

FGN .
79%——— Federation
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The fotal earnings from the investment of the external reserves amounted to US$0.43
billion, 10.4 per cent lower than the level in 2009. The development resulted from low
interest rates and lax monetary policy across the globe, which were meant to boost
recovery from the recent global economic crisis. The Bank's Investment Committee
approved the appointment of Messrs Russels Investment Limited of the United Kingdom to
serve as consultant on external reserves management. Their mandate would cover a
comprehensive review of the external reserves portfolio to improve returns and overall
performance.

2.4 SURVEILLANCE REPORT ON THE ACTIVITIES OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

241 BankingSupervision
The effects of the global financial crisis, which lingered in 2010, posed enormous
challenges to the operations and performance of

To further improve the efficiency of Panks. Consequently, the CBN adopted various
supervision, the Bank embarked on aPproaches in its supervisory and surveillance
the development of a supervisory Activities, including regular appraisal and review of
framework aimed at providing an ©anks' periodic returns, spot checks, monitoring,
early wamning signal to supervisors SPecialinvestigations and risk-based/consolidated

about the condition of banks and supervision. To further improve the efficiency of
supervision, the Bank embarked on the
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development of a supervisory framework aimed at providing an early warning signal to
supervisors about the condition of banks for prompt corrective actions. The pilot
examination on two deposit money banks under the risk-based/consolidated supervision
framework, which commenced in December 2009, was completed in February 2010. The
exercise led to a more effective assessment of banks' risk profile.

The CBN Credit Risk Management System (CRMS) infrastructure recorded remarkable
improvements in the management of basic credit information on customers during the
period under review. The database as at December 31, 2010 had a total of 73,189
registered borrowers. Out of this, 26,367 borrowers had 32,557 facilities with total
outstanding balance of i#5.24 trillion. This represents an increase of i1.34 trillion or 34.4 per
cent compared with 3.9 trillion to 63,451 borrowers at the end of the preceding year. The
development was attributed largely to increased co-operation among stakeholders in
the industry.

Table 2.5: Borrowers from the Banking Sector

Description 2009 2010 Absolute Change | % Change
Total No. of Borrowers 63,451 | 73,189 14,967 15.3
No. of Borrowers with outstanding credits 21,542 | 26,367 4,825 22.4
No. of Credits/facilities 26,599 32,557 5,958 22.4
Total outstanding balance (N'000 bn) 3,900 | 5,240 25,790 34.4

Derived from the Bank’s CRMS

Following the directive of the Federal Government of Nigeria on the mandatory adoption
of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) by January 1, 2012, the CBN, in
conjunction with the NDIC, in October 2010, set up a committee to review the earlier
approved IFRS Implementation Framework. In that regard, a circular was issued to the
DMBs on December 29, 2010, requesting them to submit their approved action plans for
the implementation of IFRS to the CBN, not later than end-March 2011. The Bank also
strengthened its collaborative efforts with other stakeholders, under the aegis of the
Roadmap Committee of Stakeholders on the Adoption of IFRS in Nigeria, the main goal of
which was to ensure a phased transition to IFRS over a three-year period, beginning with
the 2012reporting date for alllisted companies and major public entities. All banks were to
commence full IFRS reporting in 2012. The adoption of IFRS would facilitate the
implementation of Basel llrequirements by banks in Nigeria.

In order to ensure a more comprehensive supervision and surveillance of the banking
sector, the CBN signed additional Memoranda of Understanding (MoU's) for cooperation
and information sharing in cross-border supervision with regulators in otherjurisdictions. The
Bank, thus, signed an MoU with five countries under the aegis of the West African Monetary
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Zone (WAMZ), bringing the total number of MoUs
on cooperation and information-sharing to eight.
; o Discussions were ongoing with twelve (12) other
comprehensive supervision and cqoyntries (individually) and the Banking
surveillance of the banking secior, the - commission of the West African Monetary Union
CBN signed addifional Memoranda of 4 the signing of additional Memoranda of
Understanding (MoUs) for ynderstanding. Also, work on the draft framework
cooperafion and information-sharing for cross-border supervision of Nigerian banks
incross-border supervision With reqched an advanced stage during the year
regulatorsin other jurisdictions. and would be concluded in 2011. At end-

December 2010, twelve (12) Nigerian banks had
representative offices, subsidiaries and/or branches in twenty-seven (27) other countries,
while four (4) foreign banks were operating in Nigeria.

In order to ensure a more

The CBN promoted the establishment of the College of Supervisors of West African
Monetary Zone (CSWAMIZ) and hosted its inaugural meeting in August 2010. The College
was established to promote greater cooperation between supervisors in the West African
sub-region; reduce regulatory duplication; improve information-sharing; and promote
common understanding of the risk profile of large banking groups, among others.

The Bank, in partnership with other foreign regulatory agencies, resolved a number of
cross-border issues, including divestment of some Nigerian banks' investments in The
Gambia; a dispute between Nigerian-owned banks in Sierra Leone and their local staff;
and the closure of the representative offices of Nigerian banks and the fair treatment of
localstaffin China.

Following the review and comments on the exposure draft of the Framework for the
Regulation and Supervision of Institutions Offering Non-Interest Financial Services in
Nigeria, earlierissued in 2009, the document was finalised and issued forimplementationin
December 2010. Consequently, two documents, the Guidelines on Shariah Governance
for Non-Interest Financial Institutions in Nigeria, and the Non-Interest Window and Branch
Operations of Conventional Banks and Other Financial Institutions were also issued. In
addition, the CBN became a member of the International Islamic Liquidity Management
Corporation (IILMC) and subscribed US$5.0 million to five (5) units of the Corporation’s
share capital. Also, the Bank participated in meetings organized by the Islamic Financial
Services Board (IFB), including its Council Meeting as well as meetings of the council's
working groups on stress testing and liquidity risk management. In addition, capacity
building initiatives aimed at enhancing examiners' understanding of non-interest banking
were carried out at both the local and internationallevels.

The Bank issued a number of circulars/guidelines to the DMBs, as part of its efforts to
promote asafe and sound financial system.
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Table 2.6: Circulars and Guidelines to DMBs in 2010
* Regulation on the Scope of Banking Activities and Ancillary Matters, No. 3,
2010
. Circulars on the Review of the Universal Banking Model
CBN Scope, Conditions and Minimum Standards for Merchant Banks
Regulations No. 02
* CBN Scope, Conditions and Minimum Standards for Commercial Banks
Regulations
Review of Guidelines for Specialised Institutions
Prudential Guidelines for Deposit Money Banks
Re: Monthly Submission of Credit Portfolio Classification by Banks
The Need for Banks to Develop and Implement a Risk-Based Pricing Model
Data Exchange Agreements with at least two Licensed Credit Bureaux in
Nigeria
Disbursement of the proceeds of Foreign Funds Transfer
. Minimum Information to be Disclosed in Financial Statements for the Year
Ended December31, 2009,
. Re: Publication of Interest Rates

* & & o o

*

BOX 3: THE NEW BANKING MODEL IN NIGERIA

As part of ongoing reform in the Nigerian banking sector, the Central Bank of
Nigeriareviewed the universal banking model, which encouraged banks to act as
financial supermarkets. The new banking model re-intfroduced the categorisation
of banks info commercial, merchant and specialized banks (non-interest banks,
microfinance banks, development banks and mortgage banks). Generally, the
model was designed to ensure the evolution of a financial landscape that would
be capable of providing the platform for sustainable economic growth and
development.

The classification of banks under the new banking modelincluded:

Commercial Banks:

o Commercial banks to be licensed under different categories namely,
regional, national and international;

<
[a}
O
L
XL
[
L
®)
(7%
<
o
-
<
oz
L
(-
0
(o]
Z
<
(%)
L
=
>
-
O
<
LLl
O
<
<
=
1]
>
oz
=
(72}
5
O
—l
O
0.
>
oz
<
i
prd
@)
=

o Minimum capital requirements:
o Regional - &10.0billion
o National - 25 .0 billion
o International - 50 .0 billion
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o Regional banks are entitled to carry on banking business within a minimum
of 6 and a maximum of 12 contiguous states lying within not more than 2
geo-political zones of the Federation and the Federal Capital Territory;

o National banks are authorised to carry on banking business in every state of

the Federation;

o International banks are allowed to carry on banking operations in all states
of the Federation as well as establish offshore subsidiaries;

Merchant Banks:

o Merchant banks require a minimum capital of i415.0 billion and are restricted
toinvestment and wholesale banking.

Specialised Banks:

o Non-interest banks are authorised to carry on banking business on aregional

or national basis;

o Minimum capital of specialised banks:

o Regional non-interest banks - 5.0 billion
o National non-interestbanks - K10 .0billion
o Primary mortgage institutions - 5.0 billion.

2.4.2 Prudential Examinations

Available datarevealed that all the twenty-four (24) banks met the minimum prescribed

All the 24 DMBs met the minimum
prescribed liquidity ratio of 25.0 per
cent at end-December 2010, as
against three (3) that failed to meet
the prescribed minimum ratio at
end-December 2009.

liguidity ratio (LR) of 25.0 per cent at end-
December 2010, as against three (3) that failed to
meet the prescribed minimum ratio at end-
December 2009. However, eight (8) banks failed to
meet the statutory minimum Capital Adequacy
Rafio (CAR) of 10.0 per cent at end-December
2010, compared with eleven (11) at end-
December, 2009. The banksinvolved were the ones
in which the CBN intervened following the findings

of the joint special examination conducted by the CBN and the NDIC in 2009.

Prudential examination conducted on eight hundred and twenty (820) MFBs that had
operated for a minimum of six (6) months revealed that two hundred and ninety-one (291)
met the prescribed minimum shareholders' fund of :20.0 million, six hundred and thirty-four
(634) met the prescribed minimum liquidity ratio of 20.0 per cent, while five hundred and
thirty-eight (538) satisfied the required minimum capital adequacy ratio (CAR) of 10.0 per
cent. Consequently, the examined MFBs were rated sound, marginal, unsound,
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technically insolvent, or terminally distressed, using the CAMEL rating, depending on the
severity of non-compliance with the prescribed minimum prudential ratios. Some of the
major regulatory concerns included: poor corporate governance, a high level of non-
performing loans, undercapitalization, significant investment in the capital market, and
operating losses sustained as aresult of high expenditure on staff cost and overheads. The
erring institutions were appropriately sanctioned, ranging from revocation of licences to
reclassification of operations.

24.3 Compliance with the Provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance for Banks in
Nigeria

Following the outcome of the special examination carried out on the DMBs in 2009, which
revealed severe weak corporate governance in some banks, the CBN reviewed the
existing code of corporate governance for banks, including the limitation of the tenure of
managing directors of banks to a maximum of ten years. In compliance with the directive,
UBA Plc, Zenith Bank Plc and Skye Bank Plc replaced their managing directors in July 2010.
Also, the Governor and Deputy Governors of the CBN, and the Managing Director and
Executive Directors of the NDIC shall not be eligible for appointment in any bank until after
the expiration of five (5) years from the date of their exit. In addition, the Departmental
Directors of the two institutions shall not be eligible for appointment in any bank until after
three (3) years from the date of their exit.

2.44 Financial Crime Surveillance/Money Laundering

In order to ensure that financial institutions comply with CBN's Anti-Money
Laundering/Combating Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) regulation, the CBN created a
unit solely responsible for handling AML/CFT issues. The unit also interfaces with the
Nigerian Financial Intelligence Unit (NFIU) and other stakeholders at both domestic and
infernational levels on AML/CFT issues, as well as ensuring the coordination of
enforcement of the regulation among the relevant departments of the Bank. In that
regard, the CBN and the NFIU carried out a joint AML/CFT examination/inspection of the
twenty-four (24) DMBs during the review year. The exercise revealed violations of various
provisions of the Money Laundering (Prohibition) Act (MLPA) of 2004 and the AML/CFT
Regulation 2009. A total of seventeen (17), out of the twenty-four (24) DMBs, were fined to
the tune of &85.0 million for various infractions. In addition, the CBN coordinated the
verification of two hundred and twenty-four (224) account balances owned by one
hundred and thirty-nine (139) suspected illegal fund managers (“wonder banks”)
nationwide.

Also, the International Monetary Fund's approval of Technical Assistance (TA) to Nigeriain
2010 furtherstrengthened the level of international cooperation and partnership between
the Fund and Nigeria in the area of money laundering and tferrorism financing. On
completion, the TA would be expected to further enhance the capacity of targeted
institutions, including the NFIU, the SEC, NAICOM, the CBN's Special Control Unit Against
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Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing, as well as address some systemic weaknesses.

Furthermore, the CBN, in conjunction with the NFIU and the United Nations Office of Drugs
and Crime (UNODC), coordinated a public awareness/sensitisation campaign of the
general public to highlight the need to update customer information on various bank
accounts (individual and corporate). The aim of the update exercise was to enhance the
vital customer identification process and deepen the implementation of the AML/CFT
regime. Also, the CBN conducted a training programme for directors of banks and
discount houses to enhance their awareness and commitment to the implementation of
the AML/CFT programmes in their various institutions.

2.4.5 The Special/Target Examination

The CBN, in conjunction with the NDIC, conducted
target examination on the twenty-four (24) DMBs in
2010. The exercise was aimed at reviewing the
quality of risk assets of the banks, in line with the
prudential guidelines, and applying the
recommended provisions for the
appraisal/approval of the annual accounts of the
banks for the yearended December 31, 2009.

The exercise was aimed at
reviewing the quality of risk assets of
the banks in line with the prudential
guidelines and applying the
recommended provisions.

2.4.6 BankingSectorSoundness

The computed average CAR of the banks indicated that sixteen (16) met the stipulated
minimum ratio of 10.0 per cent, compared with thirteen (13) at end-December 2009. The
asset quality of the banks, as measured by the ratio of non-performing loans to industry
total, improved substantially as it declined from 32.8 per cent at end-December 2009 to
15.5 per cent at end-December 2010. The ratio was below the industry threshold of 20.0
per cent maximum prescribed in the Contingency Plan for Systemic Distress. The
development was attributed to the acquisition of non-performing loans in the industry by
the newly established Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria (AMCON]). The average
industry liquidity ratio stood at 47.5 per cent and was above the 25.0 per cent minimum
requirement. All the banks met the stipulated ratio, compared with twenty-one (21) in the
preceding year. The development indicated that the overall health of the industry had
improved.
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Figure 2.15: Banks' Non-Performing Loans (% Total Credit)
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BOX 4: THE ASSET MANAGEMENT CORPORATION OF NIGERIA (AMCON)

The incidence of high non-performing loans in the industry, as well as the erosion of
capital in some banks, informed the need to set up the Asset Management
Corporation of Nigeria (AMCON) which would relieve banks of the burden of toxic
assets. Specifically, AMCON was designed as a multipurpose
resolution/recapitalisation vehicle that is empowered to purchase toxic assets
from banks, as well as inject needed capital through the issuance of appropriate
securifies. For the troubled banks in which the CBN had intervened, AMCON s
expected to facilitate mergers, acquisitions or capital injections by new investors.
AMCON was therefore established in the second half of 2010 by an act of
parliament with a &10.0 bilion capital, fully subscribed to by the Federal
Government, and held in trust by the CBN and the Federal Ministry of Finance in
equal proportions.

AMCON was created for:
o Acquiring non-performing loans (NPLs) from banks;
o Injecting needed funds torecapitalise the intervened banks;

o Stimulating the recovery of the financial system by providing liquidity;

o Facilitating M&A transactions and strategic partnerships;

o Attracting institutionalinvestorsinto the intervened banks; and

o Increasing access to restructuring/refinancing opportunities for distressed
borrowers.

Its activities would be funded largely by bonds guaranteed by the Federal
Government. The twenty-four (24) DMBs (participating Banks) and the CBN are to
provide a total of &1.50 ftrilion, over the next ten years as a Banking Sector
Resolution Cost Sinking Fund to augment any shortfall between the funds raised
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through the realization of bank assets acquired by AMCON and the resolution
costs of ensuring financial stability. To achieve this, the CBN pledged to contribute
R50.0 billion annually over the next ten (10) years to the Fund, while each of the
participating banks would contribute an amount equivalent to 30 basis points (0.3
per cent) of its total assets as at the date of its audited financial statement for the
immediately preceding financial year over the next ten (10) years.

The bases of valuation of the NPLs, as announced by AMCON, were:

o Loans secured by shares would be valued at 60.0 per cent premium over the
60-day moving average prices of the shares, as at November 15, 2010;

o Other secured loans of the banks were to be acquired, withrecourse, af the
banks' valuation; and

o Unsecuredloans would be valued at 5.0 per cent of the principal value.

Since its commencement of operations, AMCON has acquired non-performing
loans from 21 DMBs, valued at N2.165 trillion at end-December 2010. In return, it
issued 3-yearzero coupon bonds, valued at#1.036 trillion.

2.4.7 Examination of Other Financial Institutions

On-site examination was conducted on one thousand and sixty-eight (1,068) other
financial institutions (OFIs). The exercise included the target examination of eight hundred
and twenty (820) microfinance banks (MFBs) and routine examinations of one hundred
(100) primary mortgage institutions (PMiIs), seventy-four (74) finance companies (FCs), and
five (5) development finance institutions (DFIs). Spot checks were also carried out on sixty-
nine (69) bureaux-de-change (BDCs).

Target examination was conducted by the CBN/NDIC on eight hundred and twenty (820)
MFBs that had operated for a minimum of six (6) months. An assessment of the health of the
affected MFBs, using CAMEL parameters, indicated that two hundred and twenty-four
(224) were technically insolvent and terminally distressed and, therefore, had their
licences revoked by the CBN. Of this number, one hundred and twenty-one (121) were
later granted provisional licences, following the injection of fresh capital and the recovery
of bad loans. Others rated either 'marginal’ or 'unsound' were required o inject additional
capital and liquid assets to shore up their prudential ratios to the acceptable limits, within
six (6) and three (3) months, respectively. The observed weak financial performance of the
MFBs was attributed to a number of factors, including a high level of non-performing loans,
gross under-capitalization relative to the levels of operations, poor corporate
governance, heavy investments in the capital market, poor asset-liability management
(asset mismatch), high overheads, and weak management.
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On-site examination conducted on one hundred (100) PMIs confirmed that seventy-six
(76) PMIs were active, seven (7) were undergoing restructuring, while seventeen (17) had
closed shop. The exercise further revealed that sixty-eight (68) PMIs met the prescribed
minimum adjusted capital of N100.0 million; forty-five (45) met the prescribed minimum
liguidity ratfio of 20.0 per cent; while forty-nine (49) met the prescribed minimum capital
adequacy ratio of 10.0 per cent. The major regulatory issues of concern included, lack of
focus demonstrated by the relatively low level of investment in the core area of mortgage
assets creation, dearth of long-term funds, weak capitalization, poor corporate
governance, and weak risk management. The erring institutions were sanctioned
according to severity of their non-compliance with the prescribed minimum prudential
ratios.

Routine examinations conducted on seventy-four (74) FCs indicated that fifty (50) were
active, while the remaining twenty-four (24) were undergoing restructuring. The exercise
further revealed that thirty-eight (38) FCs had adjusted capital above the prescribed
minimum of &20.0 million. Sixty (60.0) per cent of the active institutions were more into
capitalmarket activities, while six (6) were active playersin the leasing business.

Routine examinations were carried out on the five (5) DFls, namely, the Bank of Agriculture
(BOA), the Federal Mortgage Bank of Nigeria (FMBN), the Bank of Industry (BOI), the
Nigerian Export-Import Bank (NEXIM) and the Urban Development Bank of Nigeria (UDBN).
The exercise showed that, following the restructuring programme embarked upon since
2007, the dominance of government in the shareholding structure of the UDBN had been
reversed. The UDBN had become a private entity and Messrs Investment and Credit
Holdings Limited (ICHL) had emerged as the dominant shareholder. However, it was
noted that the desired re-focus of the institution's business model on infrastructure
financing was yet to be achieved. The examination of BOA, BOI, the FMBN and NEXIM
revealed, among other things, a continued high level of deterioration in asset quality,
under-capitalization, dearth of funding sources, and continued undue influence by the
supervising ministries.

Spot checks conducted on sixty-nine (69) Class “A” BDCs revealed that most of the
institutions breached their operational guidelines, particularly in the areas of utilization of
foreign exchange for ineligible transactions or without records of fransactions, non-
compliance with documentation requirements and suspected document forgery. The
withdrawal of the operating licences of the one hundred and thirty-two Class “A” BDCs,
effective November8, 2010, was the fallout from these observed infractions.

2.5 DEVELOPMENTAL FUNCTIONS OF THE CBN

2.5.1 The Agricultural Credit Guarantee Scheme Fund (ACGSF)
The CBN guaranteed a total of 50,849 loans, valued N7.74 billion in 2010, bringing the
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cumulative loans guaranteed from the inception of the scheme in 1978 to 698,200, valued
R42.15 billion.

Analysis of loans guaranteed by states showed that Katsina state had the highest volume
with 7,375 loans (14.5 per cent), valued at &0.81 billion (10.5 per cent), followed by Kebbi
state with 5,512 loans (10.8 per cent), valued at &0.36 billion (4.7 per cent). Sokoto State
came third with 3,623 loans (8.4 per cent) valued atNH0.29 billion (3.7 per cent) of the total.
A breakdown of the guaranteed loans by bank showed that eleven DMBs granted 42,171
loans valued at N)6.98 bilion, while the microfinance banks that participated in the
Scheme granted 8,678 loans, valued at R0.76 billion. A sub-sectoral analysis of the loans
guaranteed indicated that food crops got the highest volume of 41,451 loans, valued at
R5.42 billion, followed by livestock with 3,544 loans valued at#&1.31 billion, and fisheries with
1,426 loans, valued at 0.46 billion. Cash crops had 507 loans, valued at#0.09 billion, while
mixed farming and 'others' had 189 and 3,732 loans, valued at :0.06 billion and #+0.40
billion, respectively.

The volume and value of recovered loans in 2010 stood at 50,119 loans, valued at &5.85
billion, thus bringing the cumulative volume and value of fully repaid loans since the
inception of the Scheme to 492,845 and N24.05 billion, respectively. Analysis of repaid
loans on state basis showed that Katsina state had the highest volume with 7,184 (14.3 per
cent), valued at |]667.21 million (11.4 per cent). Kebbi State came second and Sokoto
state third with 6,887 repaid loans (13.7 per cent) and 5,618 repaid loans (11.2 per cent)
valued at &8182.86 million (3.1 per cent) and R345.41million (5.9 per cent), respectively. In
terms of claims settlement, 303 claims valued at &30.93 million were settled, compared
with 38 claims valued atiR14.23 millionin 2009.

Table 2.7: Distribution of Loans under the ACGSF by Volume and Value of
Loans in 2010

Category Volume Value in N’ million
M5,000 and below 25 0.12
N5,001- N20,000 4,075 68.22
N20,001 —N50,000 16,061 644.03
N50,001 —N 100,000 13,029 1,109.00
N100,001 and above 17,659 5,918.00
Total 50,849 7,739.37
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2.5.2 TheTrust Fund Model (TFM)

The Bank signed one (1) MoU under the TFM in 2010, bringing the total number of MoUs
signed under the model, as at end-December 2010, to fifty-six (56). The total sum pledged
as atend-December2010 was5.52 billion, compared with&5.51 billion in 2009.

Table 2.8: Funds Placement under the Trust Fund Model (TFM) at end-December, 2010

S/No Type of Stakeholder Amount (N) Number Remarks
A5 million less

Multinationals/Qil - s due to
] Companies M0.444pillion 4 Multinationals suspension of
MISCAD
e - 18 States/17 LGAs/3
2 SGs/LGAs/Ministries N2 .438billion Govt. Ministries
3 Federal Govt. Agencies | N2.000billion 1 Federal Govt. Agency
. - - 13
4 Individuals/Organizafions  MN0.634billion Individuals/Organisations
N5 million less
o due to
TOTAL N5.516 billion | 56 Stake Holders suspension of
MISCAD

2.5.3 Operations ofthe Agricultural Credit Support Scheme (ACSS)

Claims valued at#&119.0 million were seftled by the Bank under the Scheme as 6.0 per cent
rebate to deposit money banks in 2010. This cumulated to & 844.3 million as the value of
rebate paid to 42 projectssince 2006.

Table 2.9: Performance of the Agricultural Credit Support Scheme (ACSS)

Performance Parameter Jan-December, 2006—-December, Jan-December,
2009 2010 2010
Value Value Value
No: ' Ny miion  N® (N)bilion  N% | (N) million
Application Received by
banks 5 167.0 196 37.878.8 2 1,100.0
Approval by banks 5 147.5 149 28,658.3 2 1,100.0
Project submitted to CBN for
verification 5 147.5 105 21,353.3 2 1,100.0
Project verified 5 147.5 101 18,893.3 - -
Disbursement by banks 5 147.5 103 19.,427.3 2 1,100.0
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2.5.4 The Commercial Agriculture CreditScheme (CACS)

The sum of &96.81 billion has been disbursed so far, to eleven DMBs in respect of 104
projects, including 18 state governments and the FCT. A breakdown showed that UBA Plc
received & 35.16 billion for 32 projects, including 6 state governments and the FCT; Zenith
Bank Plc received #&13.84 billion for 10 projects, including 4 state governments; Skye Bank
Plc received®6.00 billion for 3 projects; FBN Pic received N9.14 billion for 25 projects. Others
were GTBank Plc#+4.25 billion for 6 projects, UBN Plc#&10.90 billion for 12 projects and 3 state
governments and the FCT; Fidelity Bank Plc &3.50 billion for 4 projects and 3 state
governments; Oceanic Bank Plc & 2.0 billion for 1 project; Access Bank Plc&5.18 billion for 5
projects and one state government; Unity Bank Plc 5.5 billion for 3 projects; and Stanbic-
IBTC, &1.35 billion for 3 projects.

Figure 2.16: Banks’ Lending under the Commercial Agriculture Credit Scheme (CACS)
as at December 2010 (Per cent)

Access Bank Plc
5%

Fidelity Bank Plc
4%

First Bank of Nigeria Plc

Unity Bank Plc
6% \

GTBank Plc
4%

Oceanic Bank Plc
2%

Skye Bank Plc
6%

Stanbic-IBTC
2%

2.5.5 The SME/Manufacturing Refinancing and Restructuring Fund

The Bank established the &200.0 billion Refinancing and Restructuring Fund (RRF) to
restructure banks' existing loan portfolios to manufacturers and SMEs. The scheme was
meant to address the huge financing gap in Nigeria with a view to boosting the operations
of manufacturers and SMEs to achieve a double-digit growth rate over the next decade.
The sum of ]199.67 billion had been released by the CBN to BOI, out of which the sum of
&197.59 bilion had been disbursed to the participating banks for restructuring the loans for
539 projects.

2.5.6 The Smalland Medium Enterprises Credit Guarantee Scheme

The Bank also established the #&200.0 bilion Small and Medium Enterprises Credit
Guarantee Scheme (SMECGS). The objectives of the Scheme include fast-tracking the
development of the manufacturing and SME sectors of the economy by providing
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guarantees for credit from banks to manufactures and SME promoters. The activities
covered under the Scheme include manufacturing, the agricultural value chain,
educationalinstitutions, and any other activity as may be specified by the CBN. As at end-
December 2010, two applications, valued at 7.5 million and &100.0 million, had been
processed under the Scheme. The applications were awaiting Management's approval.

2.5.7 ThePowerand Aviation Intervention Fund

The N300.0 bilion Power and Aviation Intervention Fund was established by the CBN to
provide long-term financing for infrastructure development, with emphasis on the power
sector. The framework for the take-off of the Scheme has been put in place and this
includes the modalities for accessing the Fund.

2.5.7 Entrepreneurship Development Centres (EDCs)

The Bank engaged three (3) consultants to evaluate the pilot phase of EDCs, covering the
period April 2008 to June 2010. The report has been submitted to Management for
consideration. Meanwhile, the centres have so far, tfrained and counselled 49,697
graduates; created 1,825 jobs; and 595 trainees have accessed loans for their businesses.
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CHAPTER THREE

THE GLOBAL ECONOMY

lobal output, which confracted in 2009, resumed growth in 2010 although with
ncertainties about its sustainability. Global output increased by 5.0 per cent, up
from a 0.6 per cent decline in 2009. The development was largely due to higher
performance in many emerging economies, strong domestic demand in developing
countries, as well as the combined effects of the fiscal and monetary interventions
adopted in the advanced economies. Global inflation rose in 2010, driven by rise in
commodity prices, especially food and oil prices. Generally, commodity prices rose and
global trade, which contracted in 2009, rebounded. The international financial markets
which had earlierrecovered, experienced some instability

3.1 OUTPUT AND GROWTH

Global output, which confracted in 2009, resumed growth in 2010 although with
uncertainties about its sustainability in the world's three biggest markets: the United States,
Europe; and China. Global output increased by

5.0 per cent in 2010, up from the 0.6 per cent Global output, which contrasted in
. . 1 . .

decline in 2009". The increase in growth of global 2009, resumed growth in 2010. Global

output was due largely to the stronger-than- output increased by 5.0 per cent, up

expected activity in many emerging economiesin from a 0.6 per cent decline in 2009
the second half of 2010; strong domestic

aggregate demand in developing countries,

especially Africa; and the new policy initiatives implemented in the United States of
America. However, the sovereign debt crisis in Europe and the policy responses it
generated triggered alarm ininternational financial markets. In addition, the tightening of
monetary policy and efforts to douse the overheated property markets in China, raised
concerns about the growth trajectory.

The economies of Developing Asia enjoyed a The development was largely due to
sfrong rebound of 8.2 per cent in 2010, due fo higher performance in many
significant growth in frade, driven by the large emerging economies, strong
manufacturing sector. Public infrastructure domestic demand in developing
procurement, financed by China's considerable countries as well as the combined
fiscal stimulus, confributed largely to growth in the effects of fiscal and monetary
region, while difficulties with  monsoon rains jnterventions adopted in the
affectedIndia's agricultural output. advanced economies.

'World Economic Outlook, WEO, January 25, 2011

45



5>
=
®)
Z
O
O
L
<
(<]
Q
)
Ll
XL
[

46

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Russia remained the engine of growth among countries of the Commonwealth of
Independent States (CIS). The 4.1 per cent output growth in the region in 2010 was higher
than the 7.0 per cent decline of 2009. Economic performance was driven by commodity
exports. The best growth performers were Uzbekistan, Turkmenistan, and Georgia at 8.0,
6.0 and 6.0 per cent, respectively. The key challenge for the CIS economies was the
concentration of the economic base, with the attendant threat of external vulnerability of
the financial sector.

Developing and emerging countries as a group recorded significant improvement in
output performance in 2010. Outputincreased by 7.1 per cent, compared with the 2.6 per
cent declinein 2009. The high level of growth was due to improved output performance in
commodity-exporting countries, as well as countries that were relatively unaffected by
the global financial crisis.

Table 3.1: Changes in World Output and Prices (per cent) 2006 - 2010

Output Consumer Prices
Region/Country 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Advanced Economies 3 2.7 0.2 -3.4 3 2.2 2.3 2 0.7 1.1
United States 2.7 1.9 - -2.6 2.8 3.3 2.9 2.2 0.9 0.9
Japan 2 2.4 -1.2 -6.3 4.3 -0.9 -0.7 -0.8 -0.9 -2.1
European Union 3.5 3.2 0.8 -4.1 1.8 2.3 2.4 3.7 0.9 1.9
Germany 3.4 2.7 I -4.7 3.6 1.8 2.3 2.8 0.2 1.3
France 24 2.3 0.1 -2.5 1.6 1.9 1.6 3.2 0.1 1.6
ltaly 2 1.5 -1.3 -5.- ] 2.2 2 3.5 0.8 1.6
United Kingdom 2.8 2.7 -0.1 -4.9 1.7 2.3 2.3 3.6 2.1 3.1
Euro Area 3 2.9 0.5 4.1 1.8 2.2 2.1 3.3 0.3 1.6
Other Advanced Economies 3.9 4 I -1.2 5.6 2.2 2.7 3.1 0.8 2.7
Newly Industrialized 59 5.8 1.8 -0.9 8.2 1.6 2.2 4.5 1.3 2.6
Asian Economies
Other Emerging Markets 8.2 8.7 6 -2.6 7.1 5.6 6.5 9.2 5.2 6.2
and Developing Countries
Regional Groups
Central and Eastern Europel 6.5 5.5 3 -3.6 4.2 5.9 6 8.1 4.7 5.2
Russia 8.2 8.5 5.2 -7.9 3.7 9.7 9 14.1 11.7 6.6
Africa 6.4 7 5.5 2.8 5 6.9 6.9 11.7 10.4 7.5
Asia 10.4 11.4 7.7 7 9.3 4.2 5.4 7.5 3.1 6.1
Middle East 5.8 6 5 1.8 3.9 7.5 10 13.5 6.7 6.8
Western Hemisphere 5.5 5.6 4.6 -1.7 57 5.3 5.4 7.9 5 6.8
China 12.7 14.2 9.6 9.2 10.3 1.5 4.8 59 -0.7 3.5

Source: World Economic: Outlook, January 2011
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In Africa, output grew by 5.0 per cent, compared with 2.8 per cent in 2009. The
development was attributed to improved commodity prices, export frade especially in
the oil exporting countries, as well as improved agricultural performance. Five (5) African
countries - South Africa, Nigeria, Angola, Ethiopia, and Kenya - accounted for two thirds of
the economic output of the region. In 2010, the output growth from these countries was
led by Nigeria with 7.0 per cent, while South Africa, whose economy was in recession in
2009, recorded the least growth of 3.1 percent.

3.2 GLOBALINFLATION

Global consumer prices rose generally in 2010 except in Japan, Russia and Africa. Rising
commodity prices, especially food and oil prices, contributed to the general price
increase which was highest in emerging market economies. The price of agricultural
products moved upward significantly, as a result of supply shortages due to adverse
weather conditions. Industrial metal prices continued fo soar on strong Chinese demand.
Precious metal prices reached their peak, relative to recent year experiences, under the
influence of expectations of continued quantitative easing measures by major central
banks. Another source of inflationary pressure was loose monetary policy maintained in
the hope that consumer demand would be rekindled. Qil prices picked up on the weak
United States dollar, especially from September 2010.

In advanced economies inflation averaged 1.1 per cent, compared with 0.7 per cent in
2009. CPlinflation decreased marginally, while the

downtrendin core inflation paused. The stability of Global consumer prices rose
core inflation, at 0.7 per cent, kepft alive the fear of generally in 2010 except in Japan,
deflation. The low levels of capacity utilization and  Russia and Africa. Rising commodity
well-anchored inflation expectations helped to prices especially food and oil prices
contain inflationary pressures. Headline inflation contributed to the general price
moved from zero in 2009 to 1.3 per cent in 2010, as increase which was highest in
rebounding energy prices more than offset the emerging market economies.
slowing labour costs. In the US, the average inflation

rateremained 0.9 per cent asin 2009.

Japan experienced price deflation of negative 2.1 per cent for most parts of 2010, a
higher magnitude than the minus 0.9 per cent recorded in 2009. On a year-by-year basis,
core consumer prices declined by 0.4 per cent at end-December. The price was driven by
education, which declined by 13.0 per cent, furniture by minus 3.5 per cent, and
recreatfion and clothing, which both declined by 0.8 per cent on ayear-by-year basis.

In the Euro areaq, price inflation averaged 1.6 per cent, higher than the rate of 0.3 per cent
recorded in 2009. Transportation, housing, and alcohol and tobacco were the major
components that drove the price spiral in Europe. An additional factor that stimulated
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inflation in the region was increase in VAT as a means of cutting down on public sector
deficits.

Countries of the Western Hemisphere recorded inflation of 6.8 per cent, compared with
5.0 per cent in 2009. In Venezuela, price inflation was as high as 28.5 per cent, Argentina
and Trinidad and Tobago had inflation rates of 11.0 and 10.4 per cent, respectively.
Mexico, Brazil, and Nicaragua experienced single-digit inflation at 4.5, 5.2 and 7.0 per
cent, respectively. Only Anfigua and Barbuda had deflations of -1.1 per cent, each. Rising
fuel cost was largely the reason for price increases. In Canada, inflation rose by 2.4 per
cent, compared with negative 0.9 per centrecordedin 2009.

Inflation threatened Central and Eastern European economic recovery as it dampened
consumer spending and prompted interest rate increases. At an average of 5.2 per cent
in 2010, inflation was 0.5 percentage point higher than in 2009. Some countries in the
region, such as Armenia (8.1 per cent), Romania (6.1 per cent); and Serbia (5.9 per cent)
experienced persistent higher than average inflation throughout the year owing to higher
food prices. Therelatively better performers were Macedonia (-0.4 per cent); Estonia (-0.1
per cent); Slovenia (0.9 per cent); and Slovakia (1.6per cent). Consumer price in
developing Asia picked up in 2010, but mostly within the targetrange set by central banks.
Average inflation in the region rose from a low of minus 0.7 per cent in 2009 to positive 8.2
per centin 2010. Most of the consumer price increase was attributed to higher food prices
and adverse weather conditions. In China, food prices rose by over 6.0 per cent, resulting
inoverallinflation of 10.3 per cent, compared with 9.2 per centrecorded for 2009. Inflation
accelerated in Thailand, Indonesia and South Korea, putting pressure on central banks to
further raise interest rates, despite concerns about slowing Western demand for Asian
exports.

In the CIS, inflation continued its 2009 decline in early 2010, despite the economic
rebound, the delayed pass-through of currency devaluation carried outin 2009 and loose
monetary policy. By mid-2010, however, prices had risen as a result of a number of supply
shocks, including droughts in the Russian Federation and Ukraine which caused food
prices to rise sharply. Ukraine and Belarus experienced double-digit inflation rates of 15.9
and 13.0 percentrespectively.

In emerging market economies and developing countries, inflation rose by one
percentage point to 6.2 per centrelative to the rate in 2009. Average core inflation fell by
0.2 percentage pointto 2.9 per cent. It, however, varied among emerging economies. In
many of the countries, food and energy prices had considerable impact on overall
inflation as these commodities attracted a larger share of household expenditures. Other
contributory factors were bad weather (which pushed up the price of agricultural
products), fiscal stimulus measures that created liquidity surfeit, higher commodity costs
and increased labour costs. In Africa, inflation moderated to 7.5 per cent, from 10.4 per
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centin 2009. South Africa's price inflation came down to 3.5 per centin 2010, from 6.3 per
centin 2009. In Nigeria, the inflation rate was down to 11.8 per cent in 2010, compared
with13.9 percentayearearlier. In Egypt, Angolaand Ghanag, inflationremainedrelatively
high, ranging between 10.0to 18.0 percent.

3.3 GLOBAL COMMODITY DEMAND AND PRICES

The U.S. dollar price of commodities continued to rebound in 2010 from the post-financial
crisis lows, with prices varying from a relatively small increase in energy to larger gains in
metals and agriculture. In 2010, the average basket

price of crude oil was US $77.39 per barrel. The US dollar price of commodities
compared to US $72.91in 2009. The rise in price Was  ~ontinued to rebound in 2010 from
aftributable toincreased demand atthe end of the  the post financial crisis lows.

global recession, especially from China. Af an

average of 87.8 million barrels per day in 2010,

global oildemand rose by 2.8 million barrels per day over the position in 2009. Base metals
price index rose significantly by 43.0 per cent over the December 2009 level of 144.3 to
206.4, supported by a relatively strong demand in emerging markets, as well as the
recovering economies of developed countries.

Although the downturninindustrial productionin 2010 caused the demand momentum to
slow, dollar-denominated commodity prices were given a boost in the fourth quarter by
the strengthening demand from China and expectations of tightening supplies in the
medium term. Agricultural prices were up 17.0 per centin 2010, with some commodities
rising much higher on extreme weather conditions. For example, severe drought in Russia
and surrounding countries led to a sharp rise in wheat prices. Corn and soybeans prices
followed, in part, due to expected competition for acreage. Heavy rainsin Asia as well as
droughtin South America affected several fropical commodities. Africa, however, faced
the least weather-related problems during the year.

3.4 WORLD TRADE

Global frade, which contracted by 15.1 per centin 2009, in value terms, increased by 11.9
per centin 2010, but remained below the pre-crisis level. The increase in world trade was
aftributed to the rebound in industrial activity in most advanced economies and the
higher growth levelsin emerging and developing economies, which contributed to higher
exportlevels.

In the advanced economies, both volume of exports and imports improved from
negative of 12.1 and 12.2 per cent in 2009 to increases of 11.4 and 11.1 per cent, in 2009
and 2010, respectively. The terms of frade, however, worsened from a surplus of 2.8 per
centin 2009 to a deficit of 0.6 per cent in 2010. The development was in sharp confrast to
the average annual changes in frade volumes in emerging and developing economies,
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where both exports and imports increased by 12.8 and 13.8 per cent in 2010 respectively,
resultingin a terms of trade surplus of 1.2 percent.

Table 3.2: World Trade Volumes (Average Annual Percentage Change in Trade in Goods and Services)

2006 - 2010
Advanced Emerging and Developing
Volume of Trade 2006 2007 2008 | 2009 @ 2010 2006 @ 2007 2008 2009 2010
Exports 8.7 6.6 1.9 -12.1 11.4 10.3 | 9.9 4.4 11.7 | 12.8
Imports 7.7 5.0 0.4 -12.2 | 11.1 10.9 | 13.0 9.0 13.5 13.8
Terms of Trade -1.1 0.3 -1.8 2.8 -0.6 2.9 0.0 3.4 -4.2 1.2

Source: World Economic Outlook, October 2010 (2010 figures are projections)

3.5 INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL MARKETS

The global financial markets which had recovered appreciably by the end of 2009,
suffered a major setback during the second
quarter of 2010. Concerns about the sustainability
of the sovereign debt of Greece, Italy, Spain,
Portugal, Belgium, and Ireland triggered financial
market worries. Consequently, market volatility
increased and risk appetite declined during the
period, thereby reducing confidence among
banks and generating a systemic crisis as funding stress spread. By the end of the year, a
measure of stability had returned to the financial markets.

The global financial market which
had appreciably recovered by end
of 2009 suffered a major setback
during the second quarterof2010.

3.5.1 Money Markets

The sovereign debt crisis in the Euro Area increased the problem of liquidity squeeze that
arose with the global financial crisis. In addition, the fear that countries with debt
problems might not be able to honour their obligations as at when due and increased risk
and uncertainties in financial markets, have all contfributed to higher interest. Also, the
exiting strategies of some cenfral banks from the quantitative easing measures put
additional pressures oninterest rates.

3.5.2 Capital Markets

Financial stability suffered a major setback in mid-2010, as market volatility increased and
risk appetite declined. This followed heavy selling of the sovereign debt of vulnerable Euro
area economies, an action that rattled banking systems and triggered a systemic crisis,
with funding stress spreading to banks. These measures, added to existing worries about
the sustainability of economic recovery, caused a broader decline in stocks. As a result,
most equity markets surrendered part of their large gains of 2009, as volatility rose during
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the year. The losses were first felt by financial stocks in Europe. However, as concerns about
sustainability of the recovery grew, these losses broadened to otherregions.

In China, India, Vietnam, and developing Asia, capital markets were particularly active in

support of the respective countries' growth. The International Financial Corporation (IFC) >

launched a pioneering programme of Chinese renminbi-denominated bonds in Hong CE)

Kong, SAR, the proceeds of which would be applied to private sector projectsin the areas >

of rural development and a cleaner production. In the US and Western Europe, capital (@)

markets were more cautious as players awaited regulatory changes that governments 8

had promised. The situationin Africa was similar due to lack of appetite forrisk by investors. -
<
(2

Table 3.3: International Stock Market Indices, 2009 - 2010 (@)

Country Index 31-Dec-09 31-Mar-10 | 30-Jun-10 30-Sep-10 31-Dec-10 6

AFRICA w

Nigeria ASI 20,827.17 | 26,411.97 | 25/409.00 = 23,050.59 | 24,770.50 ,:E

South Africa JSE African ASI 27,775.58 | 28,747.56 | 26,258.82 @ 29,456.04 | 32,296.50

Kenya Nairobi NSE 20 3.247.77 4,072.80 4,339.28 = 4,636.18 4,495.41

Egypt EGX CSE 30 6,272.00 6,806.11 6,033.09 6,634.27 7,073.12

Ghana GSE All Share 5,572.34 6,014.34 6,591.10 6,835.71 7,369.21

NORTH AMERICA

us S&P 500 1,115.10 1,173.27 1,030.71 1,146.24 1,271.89

Canada S&P/TSX Composite 11,746.11 12,044.21 11,294.42  12,363.08 = 13,443.20

Mexico Bolsa 32,120.47 | 33,399.46  31,156.97 @ 33,807.48 @ 38,605.80

SOUTH AMERICA

Brazil Bovespa Stock 68,588.41 | 69,959.58 | 60,935.90 | 70,229.35 @ 69,962.30

Argentina Merval 2,320.73 2,404.77 2,185.01 2,652.29 3,628.48

Columbia IGBC General 11,602.14 | 12,042.19  12,449.90 | 14,697.55 = 15,368.30

EUROPE

UK FTSE 100 5,452.35 5,693.50 4,858.69 5,5658.59 5,899.94

France CAC 40 3,982.49 3,995.78 3,388.15 | 3,647.80 3,900.86

Germany DAX 6,000.75 6,157.12 5,894.13 6,141.10 6,989.74

Russia MICEX 1,370.01 1,461.32 1,287.47 1,461.50 1,687.99

ASIA

Japan NIKKEI 225 10,654.79 | 11,089.94 | 9,191.60 = 9,381.06 | 10,398.10

China Shanghai SE A 3,402.31 3,260.00 2,488.30 @ 2,782.02 2,987.03

India BSE Sensex 17,567,20 | 17,562.15  17,459.70 = 20,533.73 | 20,610.20

Source: Bloomberg
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Overall, the average major equity market index gained 15.3 per cent in 2010. Sri Lanka's
stock market gained the most at 96.1 per cent, while Bermuda had the highest decline of
44.9 per cent. Among the G-7 countries, Germany was the best performer at 16.1 per cent,
followed by Canada at 14.5 per cent, the United States at 12.8 per cent, and the United
Kingdom at 9.0 per cent. France, Japan, and Italy all declined at negatives 3.3, 3.0, and
13.2 per cent, respectively. Among the BRIC countries, Russia performed best at 22.7 per
cent, followed by India at 17.4 per cent and Brazil at 1.0 per cent. China, however,
experienced a decline at negative 14.3 percent.

In Africa, the South African JSE All-Share, the Kenyan Nairobi: NSE 20, the Egyptian EGX
CASE 30 and Ghana's GSE indices increased by 23, 3.6, 17.2 and 11.8 per cent,
respectively, while the Nigerian NSE ASlindex decreased by 2.5 per cent.

3.5.3 Thelnternational Foreign Exchange Market

The 2010 triennial survey by the Bank for International Settlements showed that the global
foreign exchange market, since 2007, remained resilient. It grew by 20.0 per cent from its
2007 level, with a daily average turnover of $4.0 trillion (from US$3.3 trillion in 2007 to US$4.0
trillionin 2010). The report attributed the growth to the 48.0 per centincrease in turnover of
spot fransactions, which represented 37.0 per cent of total foreign exchange furnover.
The performance of major world currencies in 2010 against the US dollar showed that the
euro and British pounds depreciated by 9.95 and 3.33 per cent, respectively. However, the
Japanese yen, the Canadian dollar, the Australian dollar, the Swiss franc, the Chinese
yuan, the South African rand and the Mexican peso appreciated against the US dollar by
14.82,4.79,13.94,10.65,3.33, 11.33and 6.01 per cent, respectively.

The US dollar depreciated against other currencies for most parts of 2010 to the extent
that, on August 01, 2010, the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) of the US Federal
Reserve System put in place a temporary US dollar liquidity swap arrangement with the
central banks of England, Canada, Japan, Switzerland and the European Central Bank.
The development was in response to the re-emergence of strains in short-term US dollar
funding markets.

China's fight pegging of the renminbi to the US dollar, at a rate that encouraged a large
bilateral surplus with the United States, continued for most of 2010. However, the impact of
the FOMCs decision prompted China to move out of the dollar zone to avoid asset
depreciation, and torevalue the Yuanin 2010.

The Japanese yen fell after Standard & Poor's down grade the country's sovereign credit
rating, even though the Bank of Japan intfervened aggressively which made China buy

into the yen.

The euro depreciated considerably against other fradable currencies, following
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sovereign debt problems. At astage in the crisis, when Germany was reluctant to bail out
distressed EU economies, the survival of the euro was in doubt as fears that countries which
could not meet the currency's stringent macroeconomic convergence requirements
might opt out of the currency grew. A flight from the euro followed, and it caused the
dollartorebound.

A comparison of the exchange rate of the naira against major international currencies in
2010indicated that the naira appreciated against the pound sterling by 1.89 per cent, the
euro by 5.50 per cent and the CFA francs by 5.11 per cent. However, it depreciated
against the US dollarby 0.94 per cent, then Swiss franc by 11.24 per cent, the Japanese yen

by 11.23 percent, the Saudiriyal by 0.59 per cent and the WAUA by 0.16 percent.

Figure 3.1: Annual Percentage Change in the Average Unit of Naira
Per Foreign Currency
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3.5.4 Ceniral Bank Interest Rate Policies
Monetary policy remained supportive in many economies throughout 2010. The globall
economic crisis saw cenfral banks responding differently depending on how the crisis
affected their economies. For example, while many centfral banks in advanced
economies kept the main policy rate near the zero bound in 2010, those in emerging
economies raised their policy rates, while a number of central banks in developing
economies cut their policy rates in 2010. For instance, the Bank of Japan kept its policy
rate at 0.1 per cent; the US Federal Reserve at
0.25 per cent; the ECB at 1.0 per cent; the Many Cenfral Banks in advanced
Central Bank of Russia between 7.75 - 8.75 per economies kept the main policy rafe
cent; the Bank of England at 0.5 per cent. near zero, those in emerging
economies raised policy rates, while a
Central banks in emerging and some numberof Cenfral Banksin developing
developing economies, however, eased economiescufihe policyrafe.
monetary policy by reducing or cutting their
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policyrates. These included the Reserve Bank of South Africa, whichreduced itsrate from
6.5to 5.5 percentand the Bank of Ghana from 15.0to 13.5 per cent. Several central banks
in a number of emerging economies had effected monetary tightening with rate hikes;
increased cashreserve requirements and/orimposed direct limits on credit growth. Some
of these included the Reserve Bank of Australia, from 4.5t0 4.75 per cent; the Peoples Bank
of China from 5.31 to 5.81 per cent; the Bank of Norway from 5.5 to 6.5 per cent; the
Swedish National Bank from 0.75 to 1.25 per cent; and the Central Bank of Nigeria from 6.0
percentto 6.25 percent.

Table 3.4: Monetary Policy Rates of Selected Countries, 2007 - 2010

China Russia India Korea | Australia = Brazil FED USA ' BOJJapan ECBEU = BOEUK SARB South BOG Ghana ' CBN Nigeria | Norway = Sweden

Africa

2007 531 10.21 525 473 64 11.98 425 05 4 55 1 135 9 438 346
2008 531 10.94 525 479 6.69 12.54 1 0.1 25 2 1.5 7 9.75 532 414
2009 531 11.21 525 204 327 992 025 0.1 1.23 0.63 8.13 1829 7.44 175 065
Jan-10 531 875 475 2 375 875 025 0.1 1 05 7 18 6 175 025
February 531 85 475 2 375 875 025 0.1 1 05 7 16 6 175 025
March 531 825 5 2 4 875 025 0.1 1 05 65 16 6 175 025
April 531 8 525 2 425 9.5 0.25 0.1 1 0.5 8.5 15 6 1.75 0.25
May 531 8 525 2 45 9.5 025 0.1 1 05 65 15 6 196 025
June 531 7.75 55 2 45 10.25 025 0.1 1 05 65 15 6 2 0.5
July 531 775 575 225 45 10.5 025 0.1 1 05 6.5 135 6 2 0.5
August 531 7.75 575 225 45 10.75 025 0.1 1 05 65 135 6 2 05
September 531 7.75 6 225 45 10.75 025 0.1 1 05 6 135 625 2 075
October 5.56 7.75 6 225 45 10.75 025 0.1 1 05 6 135 625 2 1

November  5.56 7.75 825 2.5 475 10.75 0.25 0.1 1 0.5 5.5 13.5 6.25 2 1

December 581 7.75 6.25 25 475 10.75 025 0.1 1 05 55 135 625 2 125

Sources: FED US Federal Reserve, BOJ - Bank of Japan, ECB - European
SARB - South Africa Reserve Bank, BOG - Bank of Ghana, CBN

In 2010, central banks worldwide infroduced quantitative easing to address problems
associated with the global financial crisis. There was, therefore, increased liquidity
available for short-term speculation which impacted the oil and other commodity
markets. Indeed, quantitative easing was adopted as a strategy to expand money supply
in many jurisdictions. The growth in liquidity prompted the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision to review, in September 2010, details of the Basel lll principles, which included
global regulatory standards on capital adequacy and liquidity. In November, the
framework was endorsed by the G-20 leaders at their meeting in Seoul, South Korea. On
their part, central banks began to increase policy rates and, in Europe, the European
Central Bank started to drain liquidity from the banking system.

3.6 The Impact of the Global Economic Developments onthe Nigerian Economy

The global economic recovery, relative stability achieved in international financial
markets, and the continuing rebound in commodity prices, had helped in supporting
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growth in commodity-producing regions, including Nigeria. The development impacted
positively on the Nigerian economy, through recovery in export and commodity prices,
arising largely from increased demand by emerging economies and improved capital
market activities. However, the general rise in food prices, worldwide, impacted
negatively on Nigerid's inflation rate, efforts at achieving food security, and attaining the
Millennium Development Goals.

In addition, the global counter-cyclical policy environmentin 2010, asrepresented by the
actions of the US FOMC and the Bank of China, had also influenced Nigeria's policy
options. Owing to the fiscal space afttributed to increased oil receipts and the earlier debt
relief, Nigeria was able to continue its major public spending programmesin 2010. The crisis
also paved the way for monetary easing and intervention in key sectors of the economy,
through a reduction in the key policy rate. Specifically, it helped Nigeria to adopt a
stimulus package and to target real sector programmes, aimed at mitigating the effects
of the crisis on the rural poor.

The global economic recovery
impacted positively on the Nigerian
economy, through recovery in export
and commodity prices, arising largely
from increased demand by
emerging economies and improved
capitalmarket activities.

External financial flows to Nigeria were partly
subduedin 2010 due to the slow economic growth
in most of Nigeria's frading partners. Although, the
Nigerian government implemented investment-
friendly measures to attract foreign direct
investment in all sectors, most foreign investment
into the country were in the extractive industries.
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CHAPTER FOUR

FINANCIAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS

he effects of the global financial crisis lingered in 2010 as money supply was

sluggish and remained substantially below the target. Moreover, the credit crunch

persisted as net domestic credit grew at a rate far below fthe indicative
benchmark. Notwithstanding, the Nigerian financial sector remained relatively resilient
and stable. In order to restore confidence in the system, measures were taken to unlock
the credit potentials of banks, including a review of the monetary policy rate, the
promotion of activities of AMCON, and the continued guarantee of infer-bank
fransactions.

The oufcome of financial developments was mixed in 2010. The ratio of broad money
supply (M,) to nominal GDP, at 38.9 per cent, was lower than the ratio of 42.7 per cent
recorded at the end of the preceding year. The banking system's capacity to finance
economic activities weakened as the ratio of claims on the core private sector to non-oil
GDP declined by 17.0 percentage points to 48.1 per cent. Also, the efficiency of
intermediation declined slightly as the proportion of currency outside banks to M, rose to
9.4 percent.

The thrust of monetary policy in 2010 was to ease the tight liquidity condition in the banking
system and ensure financial stability, without compromising the primary goal of price
stability. The monetary policy actions of the Bank produced modest oufcomes. Broad
money (M,) grew by 6.7 per cent at the end of the year, and was significantly below both
the indicative target for the year and the outcome in the preceding year. Reserve money,
the Bank's operating target, also fell below the indicative benchmark for the year.

Total money market assets outstanding at end-December 2010, increased by 35.9 per
cent, compared with 19.1 per cent at end-December 2009, due largely to the rise in the
value of FGN Bonds, Treasury Bills (NTBs) and Bankers' Acceptances (BAs). The risk-free yield
curve for treasury securities (treasury bills and bonds) remained upward-sloping. with
steeper slopes at the short and long segments than at the middle. Furthermore, the yields
for all the maturities were lower than in 2009. The capital market was bullish, owing to the
restoration of confidence as the All-Share Index at the Nigerian Stock Exchange rose by
18.9 per cent, as against the decline of 33.8 per cent in the preceding year. Furthermore,
the ratio of total market capitalisation to GDP increased by 33.6 per cent.

At end-December 2010, the Nigerian financial system comprised the CBN, the Nigerian
Deposit Insurance Corporation (NDIC), the Securifies and Exchange Commission (SEC),
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the National Insurance Commission (NAICOM), the National Pension Commission
(PENCOM), 24 deposit money banks, 5 discount houses, 866 microfinance banks, 108
finance companies, 101 primary mortgage institutions, 5 development finance institutions,
1,959 bureaux-de-change, 690 security brokerage firms, 13 pension fund administrators, 5
pension fund custodians, 1 asset management corporation, 1 stock exchange, 1
commodity and securities exchange, and 73 insurance companies.

4.1 INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENTS

4.1.1 Growthand Structural Changes

The structure of the Nigerian financial sector changed with the establishment of the Asset
Management Corporation of Nigeria (AMCON). However, the number of banks in the
industry remained at twenty-four (24), asin the preceding year, while the number of banks'
branchesincreased from 5,565in 2009 to 5,799, indicating anincrease of 4.2 per cent. Asin
the preceding year, no bank was offered for sale through the purchase and assumption
(P&A) option for distressed bank resolution, as the cases of the remaining two (2) banks in
liguidation, were sfill pending in the courts. The CBN had, however, at end-December
2010, issued a total of &47.7 billion promissory notes to cover the shortfall between the
assumed deposit liabilities and the cherry-picked assets of the eleven (11) failed banks
thathad beenliquidated, in accordance with the terms of the P&A contract.

In the other financial institutions (OFls) sub-sector, two (2) finance companies (FCs) wound
down and the licences of two hundred and twenty-four (224) MFBs were revoked. Also,
the operating licences of one hundred and thirty-two (132) Class “*A” bureaux-de-change
(BDCs) were withdrawn, while the licences of fifty-nine (59) new MFBs and four hundred
and ninety (490) new BDCs were approved. However, one hundred and twenty-one (121)
MFBs, whose licences had beenrevoked, were subsequently granted provisional licences
following the injection of fresh capital and the recovery of substancial loans. The
revocation of MFB licences was based on the report of the examination of eight hundred
and twenty (820) microfinance banks (MFBs), which rated the affected MFBs as
‘technically insolvent' or 'terminally distressed'. As part of measures to ensure enhanced
access to financial services by the active poor, the CBN embarked on the review of the
Regulatory and Supervisory Guidelines for MFBsin 2010.

The re-structuring of the Nigerian Agricultural Credit and Rural Development Bank
(NACRDB) commenced during the year with the re-constitution of the Board of Directors
and a change of name to 'Bank of Agriculture (BOA)'. Similarly, the Urban Development
Bank (UDB) was privatized and restructured to enable it attract the desired funding for
infrastructure financing and other related development activities. Under the auspices of
the Association of African Development Finance Institutions (AADFI), new prudential
requirements/standards were drawn up to deepen the operations and ensure the
sustainability of all reporting DFIs. Also, the CBN injected the sum of &18.28 billion as
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additional capitalinto the Nigeria Export-Import Bank (NEXIM), aimed at restructuring and
repositioning the bank forimproved efficiency and effectiveness. Furthermore, the Board
of Directors of the Federal Mortgage Bank of Nigeria (FMBN) was re-constituted, while the
erstwhile Suburban Savings & Loans was acquired by Alliance and General Insurance Co.
Ltd andrenamed Alliance and General Savings & Loans.

4.1.2 Fraud and Forgery

The number of reported cases of attempted or successful fraud and/or forgery in the
banking industry increased in 2010. There were a total of 5,960 cases of attempted fraud or
forgery, involving #&19.7 billion and US$19.2 million, compared with 3,852 reported cases
involving &33.3 billion, US$1.0095 million, €11,000.0 and £2,800.0in 2009. Out of this amount,
the actuallosses to the banks were #11.4 billion and US$10.98 million.

As in the preceding year, most of the successful fraud cases were perpetuated via the
electronic system, reflecting weaknessesin the internal control systems of banks in Nigeria.

4.1.3 The Public Complaints Desk

The Bankers Committee ceded the functions of handling complaints between and
among banks, hitherto performed by the Sub-Committee on Ethics and Professionalism, to
the CBN in March 2010. Since its inception, the Bank had processed one thousand, five
hundred and twenty-six (1,526) complaints resulting in the refund of over 2.2 billion by
banks to various customers. As in previous years, most of the complaints bordered on
excess charges by banks, staff matters, manipulation and fraudulent practices on
customers' accounts, conversion of invested funds, and non-refund of wrong debits to
customers' accounts, among others.

4.1.4 Cheque Clearing

The developmentsin the cheque clearing system indicated mixed developmentsin 2010.
The total volume of cheques cleared increased by 16.5 per cent to 33.99 million,
compared with 29.16 million in 2009, while the value declined by 33.0 per cent to &819.7
billion. The relative rise in volume was attributed to the increased use of cheques in the
system, while the fallin value was attributed to the Federal Government directive to effect
the payment of staff salaries and contractors' payments through electronic means, as well
as the public's adoption of other payment modes, such as the Real Time Gross Settlement
(RTGS) system, the NIBSS Inter-bank Funds Transfer (NEFT), Automated Teller Machines
(ATM's), Mobile/phone payments, and Infernet payments.
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Table 4.1: Volume and Value of Cheques Cleared in 2008 - 2010
2008 2009 2010
Value

Volume  Value (N'million) | Volume | Value (N'million) | Volume = (N'million)
Clearing System 30,172,925 43,357,416.23 29,159,780 29,390,852 33,986,062 19,687,864
Lagos Clearing

Figures in parentheses are percentages
na = not applicable

(72}

[ 4

Z

— House 12,686,663 19.313,680.69 119,151,133 14,279,926.24 24,187,391 13,567,260.08

E (42.0) (44.5) (65.7) (48.6) (72.2) (68.9)

o. X .

0 Abuja Clearing

] House 1,658,042 4,454,888.77 1,983,280 2,914,092.91 2,714,917 1 1,717,371.03

g (5.5) (10.3) (6.8) (9.9) (8.1) (8.7)

I Port Harcourt

o Clearing House 1,158,566 2,800,798.08 1,220,389 2,348,677.27 1,089,432 610,779.32

[ 4 (4.0) (6.0) (4.2) (8.0) (3.2) (3.1)

9 Kano Clearing

3 House 349,460 992,940.98 717,718 | 579,718.12

w na na (1.2) (3.4) (2.1) (2.9)

:: Others 6,292,471 9.680,400.00 6,455,518 8.855,314.74 4,897,074 | 3,212,735.00
(21.0) (22.0) (22.1) (30.1) (14.4) (16.3)

<

)

Z

<

Z
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Figure 4.1a: Volume of Cheques Cleared in 2008 - 2010

Number (million)

2008 2009 2010

B Lagos Clearing House B Abuja Clearing House B Port Harcourt Clearing House

Kano Clearing House Others

4.1.5 Inter-bank Funds Transfer (IFT)

The volume and value of inter-bank funds transfer, through the RTGS system (Central Bank
Interbank Funds Transfer System - CIFTS) increased significantly by 28.9 and 44.5 per cent to
373,248 and N92,955.0 billion, compared with 289,535 and &64,351.0 billion, respectively, in
2009.
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Figure 4.1b: Value of Cheques Cleared in 2008 - 2010

N'billion

2008 2009 2010
m Lagos Clearing House B Abuja Clearing House ¥ Port Harcourt Clearing House
Kano Clearing House Others

4.1.6 Useofe-Money Products

The volume and value of e-card fransactions

increased by 70.6 per cent and 66.3 per cent to The use of the various forms of e-
195,525,568 and &1, 072.88 billion, compared with pqymenfgrewsigniﬁcanﬂy_
114,592,669 and645.0 billion, respectively, in 2009.

Available data on various e-payment channels indicated that Automated Teller
Machines (ATMs) remained the most patronized, accounting for 95.2 per cent of the total
e-payment fransactions in volume terms, while the Point-of-sale (POS) terminal was the
least with 0.8 per cent:

The volume and value of ATM fransactions stood at 186,153,142 and ~954.04 billion,
respectively, at end-December 2010. That

reflected anincrease of 70.5 percentand 73.9 per The development reflected
cent, respectively, over the levelsrecorded in 2009. increased public confidence in the
The development reflected increased public system after the adoption of various
confidence in the system after the adoption of measuresfo combatcard frauds.
various measures to combat card fraud.

The use of mobile payments was still atitsinfancy as the mobile payment service operators
were only recently licensed. The use of mobile telephones for payments declined in
volume by 36.1 per cent to close af 1,156.533, while the value increased by 429.1 per cent
foN6.65 billion.
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Table 4.2: Market Share in the e-Payment Market in 2008 - 2010

Volume (Millions) Value ( N’ Billion)
e-Payment
Segment 2008 2009 2010 2008 2009 2010
60.1 109.6 186.2 399.7 548.6 954.0
ATM (921.0) (95.3) (95.2) (20.5) (85.1) (88.9)
1.6 2.7 7.2 25.1 84.2 99.5
Web (Internet) (2.4) (2.3) (3.7) (5.7) (13.0) (9.3)
1.2 0.9 1.1 16.1 11.0 12.7
POS (1.8) (0.8) (0.5) (3.7) (1.7) (1.2)
3.2 1.8 1.2 0.7 1.3 6.7
Mobile (4.8) (1.6) (0.6) (0.1) (0.2) (0.6)

Figures in brackets are percentage share of total

Figure 4.2a: Volume of Electronic Card-based Transactions in 2010

Mobile
0.6%

(%]
(4
Z
L
=
O.
®)
m
>
L
(a]
[ 4
(®)
—_
)
L
(%2
—l
<
O
<
<
=
L.

POS
0.5%

Web (internet) /

3.7%

ATM
95.2%

4.1.7 Institutional Savings

Aggregate financial savings rose by NR90.7 billion or 1.4 per cent to &6,430.6 billion,
compared with §&6,339.9 bilion at the end of the preceding year. The ratio of financial
savings to GDP was 32.9 per cent, compared with 22.8 per cent in 2009. The DMBs
remained the dominant depository institution within the financial system and accounted
for 92.6 per cent of the total financial savings, compared with 90.9 per cent in the
preceding year. Other savings institutions, namely, the PMIs, life insurance funds, the
pension funds, the Nigerian Social Insurance Trust Fund, and microfinance banks
accountedforthe balance of 7.4 percent.

62



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Figure 4.2b: Value of Electronic Card-based Transactions in 2010
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4.2 MONETARY AND CREDIT DEVELOPMENTS

4.2.1 Reserve Money (RM)

At &1, 803.9 billion, RM grew by 9.1 per cent, relative to the level at end-December 2009
and was 25.9 percentage points below the indicative benchmark of :2,232.4 billion for
fiscal 2010. The increase in the sources of base money was accounted for, largely, by the
rise in the net domestic assets of the CBN, particularly claims on government and the
private sector, which more than offset the decline in net foreign assets of the Bank.

On the uses side, the currency component increased by 16.4 per centrelative to the level
atend-December 2009, while DMBs'reserves, however, declined by 9.8 percent.

Figure 4.3a: Reserve Money and its Components
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Figure 4.3b: Reserve Money Targets and Outcomes (Naira billion)
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4.2.2 BroadMoney(M,)

Broad money supply (M,) grew by 6.7 per cent to#11,488.7 billion at end-December 2010,
compared with the indicative benchmark growth rate of 29.3 per cent for fiscal 2010 and
the growth of 17.5 per cent at the end of the preceding year. The sub-optimal growthin M,
was largely driven by the expansion in domestic credit (net) and other assets (net) of the
banking system. Correspondingly, the growth in total monetary liabilities was driven by the
expansionin both narrow and quasi-money.

The analysis of the composition of the total monetary liabilities (M,) showed that the
distribution was skewed towards the liquid component M,, especially in the last quarter of
the year, due to seasonal factors. Currency outside bank increased by 16.7 per cent,
compared with 3.9 per cent at end-December 2009. As a ratio of the total monetary
liabilities, it rose to 9.4 per cent, from 8.6 per cent at end-December 2009. As in the
preceding year, foreign currency deposits remained a significant component of M, at
13.1 percent, slightly down by 0.6 percentage point from the ratio at end-2009.

Figure 4.4: Ratio of Currency in Circulation to M,
20

18
The movement in M, was \
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4.2.3  Drivers of Growthin Broad Money

4.2.3.1 NetForeign Assets (NFAs)

The net foreign assets of the banking system stood at :6,303.63 billion, representing a
decline of 17.0 per cent at end-December 2010, compared with the decline of 11.2 per
cent at the end of the preceding year. The development reflected, wholly, the decline in
the net foreign asset holdings of the CBN, which stood at &5,169.3 billion at the end of the
review period, compared with &6,522.2 bilion at end-December 2009. This was
accounted for by the reductionin demand deposits with foreign banks, as well as holdings
of bills of foreign governments. As a share of M,, NFA was 54.9 per cent at end-December
2010, compared with 70.5 per cent at end-December 2009, but sfill maintained its
dominance inthe last five years.

4.2.3.2 NetDomestic Credit(NDC)

Credit to the domestic economy (net) grew by 13.4 per cent at end-December 2010, but
was lower than the indicative benchmark of 51.4 per cent for the year, and the growth
rate of 59.6 per cent at end-December 2009. The development reflected, wholly, the
growth of 64.2 per cent in credit to the Federal Government (issuance of freasury
securities). Credit to the private sector declined by 4.1 per cent, as against the growth of
26.6 per cent at end-December 2009. Net domestic credit to the economy constituted
78.0 per cent of the totalmonetary assets (M,) at end-December 2010.

4.2.3.3 Credittothe Government(CG)

Net credit to the Federal Government (CG) rose by 64.2 per cent, compared with 25.9 per
cent atend-December 2009 and the indicative benchmark of 25.1 per cent for fiscal 2010.
Notwithstanding, the Federal Government remained a net creditor o the banking system
in2010, asinthe preceding year.

Figure 4.5: Growth in M, and its Sources (per cent)
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Figure 4.6: Share of NFA and NDC in M2 (per cent)
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4.2.3.4 Credittothe Private Sector (CP)

Credit to the private sector (including the states and local governments and non-financial
public enterprises), declined by 4.1 per cent, in contrast to the increase of 26.6 per cent
recorded at end-December 2009. Credit to the core private sector (excluding states and
local governments), declined by 4.8 per cent. The development reflected, largely, the
crowding-out effect of the banking system's claims on the Federal Government.

Figure 4.7: Growth in Domestic Credit (per cent)
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4.2.3.5 OtherAssets (Net) (OAN)
Ofther Assets (net) of the banking system increased by 20.1 per cent, in contrast to a
decline of 9.1 per cent at end-December 2009. OAN confributed 8.8 percentage points to
the growth in M, at end-December 2010, as against a negative confribution of 4.3
percentage points ayear earlier.
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Table 4.3: Contribution to the Growth in M2 (per cent) 2006 - 2010

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Net Foreign Assets (NFA) 78.5 23.8 22.1 -10.4 -12.0
Net Domestic Credit (NDC) -56.9 49.0 39.0 32.2 9.8
Ofther Assets (net) (OAN) 21.4 -28.6 -3.3 -4.3 8.8
M; 43.1 44.2 57.8 175 6.7
Narrow Money (M1 19.7 20.7 30.0 1.6 49
Quasi Money 23.4 23.5 27.8 15.9 1.8
M: 43.1 44.2 57.8 175 6.7

4.2.3.6 Narrow Money (M,)

Narrow money supply (M,) grew by 10.6 per cent at end-December 2010, compared with
3.0 per cent at end-December 2009. The currency component, (COB) rose by 16.7 per
cent, while demand deposits grew by 9.2 per cent, compared with their respective
growth rates of 3.0 and 2.8 per cent at the end of the preceding year. As a proportion of
M,, COBrose by 19.6 percent at end-December 2010, from 18.5 per cent ayear earlier.

Figure 4.8: Growth in Monetary Aggregate (per cent)
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Figure 4.9: Growth in the Components of Broad Money (M,) (per cent)
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Table 4.4: Composition of Total Monetary Aggregate (M2) (per cent)

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Net Foreign Assets 156.6 125.1 93.3 70.5 54.9
Net Domestic Credit 17.7 46.3 54.0 73.4 78.0
Net Credit to Government -48.1 -40.8 -33.9 -21.4 -6.4
Credit to Private Sector 65.8 87.0 87.9 94.8 84.5
Other Assets (Net) -74.3 -71.0 -47.3 -43.9 -32.9
Total Monetary Assets 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Money Supply (M1) 56.6 53.6 53.0 46.5 48.2
Currency Outside Banks 16.2 12.7 9.7 8.6 9.4
Demand Deposit 40.5 40.9 43.3 37.9 38.8
Quasi Money 43.4 46.4 47.0 53.5 51.8
Time & Savings Deposit 43.4 46.4 47.0 53.5 51.8
Foreign Currency Deposit 7.5 8.2 10.1 13.4 13.1
(FCD)
Total Monetary Liabilities 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
(M2)

4.2.3.7 Quasi-Money

Quasi-Money grew by 3.3 per cent, compared with 33.7 per cent at end-December 2009.
The development reflected the respective growth of 3.3 and 4.3 per cent in time and
foreign currency deposits with deposit money banks.

4.2.4 Maturity Structure of DMBs Loans and Advances and Deposit Liabilities

Analysis of the structure of DMBs' outstanding credit at end-December2010indicated that
short-term maturity remained dominant in the credit market. However, there was an
improvement in the share of long-term maturity. Outstanding loans and advances
maturing one year and below accounted for 65.3
per cent of the total, compared with 70.3 percent
at end-December 2009, while the medium-term
(between 1-3 years) and long-term (3-year and
above) accounted for 14.6 and 20.1 per cent,
respectively, compared with 14.3 and 15.3 per
cent, at end-December 2009. Analysis of DMBs'
deposit liabilities showed a similar trend, with short-term deposits of below one year
maturity constituting 96.9 per cent of the total. The share of deposits of less than 30-day
maturity was 76.3 per cent, while long-term deposits of more than three (3) years had a
share of 1.0 per cent at end-December 2010, compared with 0.1 per cent at end-
December 2009. The structure of DMBs' deposit liabilities explains banks' preference for
short-term claims onthe economy.

Analysis of DMBs' outstanding credits
and deposit liabilities showed that
short-term maturities dominated
both the credit and deposit markets.
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Table 4.5: Maturity Structure of DMBs, Loans and Advances and Deposit Liabilities (per cent)

Loans and Advances Deposits

Tenor/Period 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
0-30 days 54.4 492 | 46.6 50.1 46.1 66.6  74.1 72.7 73.3 76.3
31-90 days 11 11.3 13.4 6.4 10 16.6 12.3 13.1 15 14.4
91-181 days 6.3 5.8 7.8 7.3 3.9 3.5 4.3 6.2 4.7 3.4
181-365 days 6.4 9.5 7.5 6.5 5.3 1.4 2.6 2.7 2.7 2.8
Short term 78.02 7583 754 70.3 653 88.1 93.3  94.8 95.7 96.87
Medium term(above 1 year

and below 3 years 8.3 13.5 14.5 14.3 14.6 5.4 3.3 5.2 4.1 2.06

Long term (3 years and above)  13.7 10.7 10.1 15.3 20.1 6.5 3.3 0.03 0.069 1.005
Total 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

Figure 4.10a: Maturity Structure of DMBs Loans and Advances at
end-December 2010
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Figure 4.10b: Maturity Structure of DMBs Deposits at
end-December 2010
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4.2.5 Sectoral Distribution of Credit

At end-December 2010, credit to the core private sector by the DMBs declined by 4.8 per
cent, in contrast to the growth of 25.1 per cent at end-December 2009. Of the amount
outstanding, DMBs' credit to priority sectors constituted 30.4 per cent, of which agriculture,
solid minerals, exports and manufacturing received 1.7, 15.3, 0.6 and 12.8 per cent,
respectively. The less priority sectors accounted for 47.8 per cent of outstanding credit,
compared with 46.9 per cent at end-December 2009, while unclassified sectors
accountedforthe balance of 21.8 per cent.

Table 4.6: Credit to the Core Private Sector, 2006 - 2010

Share in Outstanding (per cent)
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2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

1. Priority Sectors 30.3 25.9 26.2 25.2 30.4
Agriculture 2.2 3.2 1.4 1.4 1.7
Solid Minerals 10.1 10.7 11.3 12.7 15.3
Exports 1.2 1.4 1 0.5 0.6
Manufacturing 16.9 10.4 12.5 10.6 12.8

2. Less Preferred Sectors 46 41.2 42 46.9 47.8
Real Estate 5.9 6.2 6.2 8.3 8.7
Public Utilities 0.9 0.6 0.6 0.8 0.7
Transp. & Comm. 7.6 6.8 7.2 8.3 10.7
Finance & Insurance 4.6 9.4 9.5 13.1 11.3
Government 4.5 3.7 1.9 3.7 4.9
Imports & Dom. Trade 22.5 14.5 16.4 12.8 1.7

3. Unclassified 23.7 32.9 31.8 27.9 21.8
Total (1+2+3) 100 100 100 100 100

Figure 4.11a: Share in Outstanding Credit to the Core Private Sector in 2010
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Figure 4.11b: Share in Outstanding Credit to the Core Private Sector
(2006-2010)
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4.2.6 Financial/Banking System Developments

The depth of the financial sector, as measured by the ratio of M, to GDP, stood at 38.9 per
cent at end-December 2010, which was lower than the 42.7 per cent at end-December
2009. Thus, the capacity of the banking system to provide liquidity for economic activities
weakened during the year. Furthermore, the intermediation efficiency indicator, as
measured by the ratio of currency outside banks to broad money supply was 9.4 per cent
atend-December 2010, compared with 8.6 per cent at end-December 2009.
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Figure 4.12a: Ratio of Broad Money (M,) to GDP, Credit to Private Sector (CPS)
to GDP and Currency Outside Bank (COB) to M, (per cent)
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The ratio of financial savings to GDP increased to 32.9 per cent, from 22.8 per cent in the
preceding year. The moniness of the economy, as measured by the ratio of CIC to GDP,
remained at 4.7 per cent, the same as in the preceding year. The size of the banking
system, relative to the size of the economy, indicated by the ratio of DMBs assets to GDP,
declined from 69.6 per cent at end-December 2009 to 58.8 per cent in 2010. Similarly, the
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ratio of the CBN assets to GDP declined from 40.5 per cent at end-December 2009 to 30.2
percentatend-December2010.

Per cent

Per cent

Figure 4.12b: Ratio of Banking System's Total Assets to GDP
(per cent)
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Figure 4.12c: Ratio of Deposit Money Banks' Assets to GDP (per cent)
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Table 4.7: Monetary Aggregates and Measures of Financial/Banking Development

Aggregates (N’ billion) 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Nominal GDP 18,709.60 20,940.90 24,665.20 25,225.10 29,498.60
Broad Money (M2) 4,027.90 5,809.80 9,166.80 10,767.40 11,488.70
Quasi Money (Savings) 1,747.30 2,693.60 4,309.50 5,763.50 5,954.30
Currency in Circulation 779.3 960.8 1,155.30 1,181.50 1378.02
Currency Outside Banks 650.9 737.9 892.8 927.2 1082.2
Credit to Private Sector 2,650.80 5,056.70 8,059.50 10,206.10 9,787.10
Credit to core private sector (CPcore) 2,556.90 4,968.90 7,909.70 9,895.70 9,417.30
DMBs Assets 7,172.90 10,981.70 15,919.60 15,522.90 17,331.60
CBN Assets 10,034.50 8,689.00 10,204.00 8,898.40 8,591.00
Banking System Assets 17,207.40 19.670.70 26,123.50 27,726.80 26,223.00

Monetary Ratio (per cent)
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M 2/GDP 21.5 27.7 37.2 427 38.9
CIC/ M2 19.3 16.5 12.6 11.0 12.0
COB/ M2 16.2 12.7 9.7 8.6 9.4

Quasi Money/M:2 43.4 46.4 47.0 53.5 51.8
CIC/GDP 4.2 4.6 4.7 4.7 4.7

Cp/GDP 14.3 24.1 32.7 40.5 58.9
Cp core/GDP 13.7 23.7 32.1 39.2 30.2
Cp core/Non-Oil GDP 22.1 39.7 54.4 65.1 48.1
DMBs Assets/GDP 38.3 52.4 64.5 69.5 58.8
CBN'’s Assets/GDP 23.6 47.9 35.2 40.5 30.2
Banking System's Assets/GDP 92 93.9 105.9 109.9 88.9

4.2.7 Money Multiplier and Velocity of Money

The broad money multiplier at end-December 2010 stood at 6.4, compared with the 6.0
programmed for the year and 6.5 at end-December 2009. The slight decline in the
multiplier reflected the increase in currency deposit ratio, which rose from 10.1 per cent at
end-December 2009 to 11.1 per cent at end-December 2010, arising from the increase in
the total deposit liabilities of the DMBs. Reserve-to-deposit ratio declined from 5.2 per cent
atend-December 2009 to 4.4 per cent at end-December2010.

Table 4.8: Money Multiplier and Velocity of M,

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Currency Ratio 20.1 14.8 11.2 10.1 11.1
Reserve Ratio 6.0 4.7 4.9 52 4.4
M:2 Multiplier 4.1 4.9 5.9 6.5 6.4
Velocity of M, 4.6 3.6 2.7 2.3 2.6
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Figure 4.13: Money Multiplier, Currency Ratio and Reserve Ratio
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The velocity of circulation of broad money remained relatively stable at end-December
2010.The M, velocity, which stood at 2.3 at end-December 2009 increased slightly to 2.6 at
the end-December2010. However, it showed a declining trend over the last five years.

Figure 4.14: The Velocity of Money

5.0
45 S
4.0
35
3.0

" v

2.0

Dec '06 Dec '07 Dec '08 Dec '09 Dec'10

4.3 OTHER FINANCIALINSTITUTIONS

4.3.1 DevelopmentFinance Institutions (DFls)

The total assets of the five (5) DFIs increased by 95.8 per cent to :316.2 billion, compared
with &®161.5 billion at the end of the preceding year. Analysis of the asset base of the five
institutions indicated that the Bank of Industry (BOI) accounted for 56.9 per cent of the
total. The Federal Mortgage Bank of Nigeria (FMBN), the Bank of Agriculture (BOA), the
Nigerian Export-Import Bank (NEXIM), and the Urban Development Bank of Nigeria (UDBN)
accountedfor24.9,12.0, 6.0and 0.2 percent of the total, respectively.

The combined paid-up share-capital of the DFIs was :&50.1 billion, while the combined
shareholders' fund was negative 3.0 bilion, compared with negative N25.1 billion
recordedin the preceding year. Cumulatively, the loan disbursed by the DFIsincreased by
23.2 percenttoN111.8billion. The percentage shares of FMBN, BOI, BOA, NEXIM and UDBN
in the total loan outstanding were 49.6, 23.2, 20.2, 6.8 and 0.2 per cent, respectively. The
improved loans portfolio of the DFIs, relative to the preceding year, was attributed, largely,



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

to the re-positioning and re-structuring of most of the institutions which enhanced their
capacity, efficiency and effectiveness.

4.3.2 Microfinance Banks (MFBs)

The total assets/liabilities of MFBs increased by 2.4 per cent to &170.6 billion at end-
December 2010. The paid-up capital also increased by 5.3 per cent to &40.4 billion, while
the shareholders' funds declined by 4.1 per cent to ]43.7 billion. Similarly, the loans and
advances, and deposits declined by 10.7 and 3.4 per cent, respectively. The
development was attributed, largely, to the revocation of the operating licences of one
hundred and three (103) MFBs by the CBN. Investible funds available to the sub-sector
totaled N22.1 billion, compared with &39.6 billion in the preceding year. The funds were
sourced mainly from an increase in placements from other financial institutions (10.7
billion), paid-up capital (K2.0 billion), a reduction in netloans/advances (6.5 billion), and
areductionin other assets (1.6 billion). The funds were used mainly to increase cash and
short-term funds (&12.1 billion) andreduce deposit liabilities (2.7 billion), among others.

4.3.3 Maturity Structure of Microfinance Banks' (MFBs) Loans and Advances and Deposit
Liabilities

Short-term investments remained dominant in the microfinance (MFBs) market in 2010,
reflecting developmentsin the banking system. Short-termloans, at end-December 2010,
accounted for 88.0 per cent of the total, while loans with maturity over 360 days
accounted for 12.0 per cent, from the respective levels of 77.2 and 22.8 per cent at end-
December 2009. Similarly, the short-term liabilities of these institutions remained dominant
as deposits of less than one year maturity accounted for 92.3 per cent, while deposits of
above one (1) year accounted for 7.7 per cent at end-December 2010. Indeed, deposits
of less than 30 days maturity constituted 60.3 per cent, compared with 58.6 per cent at
end-December2009.

Table 4.9: Maturity Structure of Assets and Liabilities of Microfinance Banks (MFBs)

(per cent)
2009 2010
Tenor/Period Loans and Deposits Loans and Deposits
Advances Advances
0-30 days 8.4 58.6 24.3 60.3
31-60 days 19.1 8.3 9.6 7.7
61-90 days 18.1 9.3 16.7 9.3
91-180 days 19.1 8.9 18.4 7.2
180 — 360 days 12.5 8.4 19 7.8
Short term 77.2 93.5 88 92.3
Above 180 days but below 1 year 17.2 6.5 19 7.8
Above 360 days 22.8 6.5 12 7.7
Total 100 100 100 100
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4.3.4 DiscountHouses (DHs)

Total assets/liabilities of the discount houses increased by 4.4 per cent to &361.1 billion,
compared with &346.0 billion in 2009. Total funds sourced amounted to &152.2 billion,
compared with N87.4 billion in the preceding year. The funds were sourced mainly from
money-at-call (K78.4 billion), claims on banks (&26.4 billion), and claims on others (:24.0
billion). The funds were utilized mainly for investment in Federal Government securities
(M110.2 billion) and repayment of borrowings (N28.4 billion), among others. Discount
houses' investments in Federal Government securities of less than 91 days maturity
amounted to &55.1 billion, representing 20.1 per cent of their total current liabilities. This
was 39.9 percentage points below the prescribed minimum of 60.0 per cent for fiscal 2010.

4.3.5 Finance Companies (FCs)

The total assets/liabilities of the FCs increased significantly by 53.5 per cent to&185.6 billion
at end-December 2010. Similarly, loans and advances, and fixed assets increased by 48.7
and 135.6 percent to N61.1 billion and #&17.6 billion, respectively, at end-December 2010.
Cash and short-term fundsincreased by 210.0 per cent to &77.2 billion. In addition, capital
and reserves and borrowings increased by 239.4 and 32.4 per cent to )48.3 billion and
&107.5 billion, respectively. Investible funds available to the sub-sector were H90.8 billion,
compared with :)68.4 billion in the preceding year. The funds were sourced mainly from
the increase in paid-up capital (N27.2 billion), borrowings (:26.3 billion) and reduction in
investments (N22.4 billion), among others. The funds were used mainly to increase cash
and short-term funds ()52.3 billion) and loans/advances (&20.0 billion).

4.3.6 Primary Mortgage Institutions (PMIs)

The total assets of the PMIs stood at :336.8 billion at end-December 2010, indicating an
increase of 1.0 per cent over the preceding year's level. Similarly, investments and
loans/advances increased by 8.1 and 2.4 per cent to &67.9 bilion and &124.2 billion,
respectively, at end-Decemlber 2010. Also, fixed assetsincreased by 20.3 percentto&18.9
billion. Investible funds available to the PMIs totalled #30.1 billion, compared with #&55.7
billion in 2009. The funds were sourced mainly from an increase in deposits (’17.5 billion)
and the injection of paid-up capital (X4.4 billion), and were utilized mainly to buffer the
reduction in reserves (&10.7 billion), repayment of other liabilities (6.5 bilion) and an
increase in fixed assets (N3.2 billion).

4.3.7 Bureaux-de-Change (BDCs)

A total of four hundred and ninety (490) BDCs were granted approval, while the licences
of one hundred and thirty-two (132) class 'A’, BDCs were revoked in 2010. Consequently,
the totalnumber of approved BDCsincreased to 1,959, from 1,601 in 2009.

4.4 MONEY MARKET DEVELOPMENTS

Activities in the money market in 2010 followed the swings in liquidity flows. Quantitative
easing measures were taken, along with the extension of the Bank's guarantees, to restore
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and sustain public confidence in the market, as well as encourage inter-bank activities.
The enactment of the Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria (AMCON) legislation
further boosted confidence in the system. Active Open Market Operations commenced
from October for the purpose of targeted liquidity management. Patronage at the
auctions of Federal Government securities remained significant as banks and discount
houses sought to take advantage of the instfruments, coupled with the improved vyield.

4.4.1 Inter-bank Funds Market

At the inter-bank funds market, the value of fransactions increased by 12.2 per cent to
)19,534.75 billion in 2010. The development was due to various measures taken, such as
the extension of the Bank's guarantee to restore confidence in the market. As a proportion
of the total value of fransactions, the inter-bank call and the open-buy-back segments
accounted for 59.6 and 40.4 per cent, respectively, compared with 25.8 and 74.2 per cent
in 2009.

Figure 4.15: Value of Inter-bank Funds Market Transactions
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4.4.2 Money Market Assets Outstanding

Total money market assets outstanding, as at end-December 2010, stood at &4, 447.3
billion, showing anincrease of 33.0 per cent, when compared with the increase of 19.1 per
centatend-December2009. The developmentwas attributed to the increase in the value
of FGN bonds, Treasury Bills (NTBs) and Bankers' Acceptances (BAs).

77

(7%
(4
Z
L
=
0o.
O
—l
L
>
L
(a]
oz
(®)
—
O
L
(%2
—
<
O
<
<
=
[* ™



(72}
—
Z
L
=
o
@)
m
>
L
o
oz
®)
—
)
[10]
(72}
—l
<
O
Z
<
=
L.

78

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Figure 4.16: Money Market Assets Outstanding
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Government remained the dominant player in the Nigerian money market, as
government securities constituted 94.0 per cent of money market assets outstanding, as
atend-December 2010, while private sector-issued
securities (certificates of deposits, commercial
papers and bankers' acceptances) accounted for
6.0 per cent. The depth of the money market, as
measured by the ratio of value of money market
assets outstanding to GDP, improved from 13.3 per
centin 2009 to 15.1 per centin 2010, reflecting the
effect of the issuance of the 7th FGN Bonds.
However, the size of this ratio, in relation to bank-
financing of the economy (credit to the core private sector/GDP), was 31.6 per cent and
underscored the short-term feature of financial markets in Nigeria.

Government remained the
dominant player in the Nigerian
money market, as government
securities constituted 94.0 per cent
of money market assets outstanding,
asatend-December2010.

Table 4.10: Composition of Money Market Assets Outstanding in 2010

Asset Share in Total (%) in 2009 Share in Total (%) in 2010
Treasury Bills 23.85 28.72
Treasury Certificates 0.00 0.00
Development Stocks 0.02 0.00
Certificates of Deposit 0.00 0.00
Commercial Papers 15.22 4.25
Bankers’ Acceptances 1.86 1.78
FGN Bonds 59.05 65.24
Total 100 100
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4.4.2.1 NigerianTreasury Bills (NTBs)

Auctions for Nigerian Treasury Bills of 91-, 182- and 364-day tenors were conductedin 2010.
NTBs worth #&2,004.0 billion were issued and allofted in 2010. The value allofted increased
by 43.9 per cent over the ]1,392.5 billion in 2009. The increase was accounted for by the
additionalissues during the period underreview.

Figure 4.17: NTB Issues, Subscriptions and Allotments
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A breakdown of the allotments showed that DMBs, Discount Houses, Mandate and
Internal Funds got &1, 478.7 billion (73.8%), &201.2 billion (10.0%) and 1324.1 billion (16.2%),
respectively. The average successful bid rates ranged from 1.04 and 10.5 per cent,
compared with the range of 1.9 and 7.3 per cent in the preceding year. The sum of
&1,526.0 bilion was repaid during the year, compared with the &1,049.8 billion repaid in
2009. Consequently, Nigerian Treasury Bills outstanding at end-December 2010 increased
by 60.1 percentto1, 277.1 billion.

Table 4.11: Allotment of NTBs (Naira billion)

2008 2009 2010
DMBs 383.7 838.8 1478.7
Mandate and Internal Fund 429.3 346.1 324.1
Discount Houses 69.1 71.1 201.2
MMD Take-up 23.4 5.0 0.0
CBN Take-up 7.6 0.0 0.0
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Figure 4.18: Nigerian Treasury Bills: Breakdown of Allotments in 2010
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Figure 4.20: Nigerian Treasury Bills: Classes of Holders in 2010
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4.4.2.2 Commercial Papers (CPs)

Investments in CPs as a supplement to bank credit to the private sector, fell in 2010. The
value of CPs held by DMBs declined by 62.8 per cent to &189.2 billion at end-December
2010, compared with the decline of 38.1 per cent at end-December 2009. Thus, CPs
constituted 4.3 per cent of the total value of money market assets outstanding, compared
with 15.2 per cent at the end of the preceding year.

4.4.2.3 Bankers' Acceptances (BAs)

Holdings of BAs by DMBs increased by 27.2 per cent to &79.2 billion, as against the decline
of 6.3 per cent at end-December 2009. The development reflected the increase in
investments in BAs by DMBs and discount houses. BAs, however, accounted for 1.8 per
cent of the total value of money market assets outstanding, down from 1.9 per cent at
end-December 2009.

4.4.2.4 Federal Republic of Nigeria Development Stocks (FRNDS)

Outstanding FRN Development Stocks stood at &0.22 billion at end-December 2010,as a
result of the redemption of &R0.30 billion 12.5 per cent FRN 23DS 2010. Of the amount
outstanding, holdings on the account of sinking funds stood at #0.18 billion, down from
)R0.29 billion in the previous year. Holdings by the non-bank public stood #&0.039 billion,
down from#0.1 billionin the preceding year.

Figure 4.21: Development Stock: Classes of Holders in 2010
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44.2.5 FGNBonds

At the FGN Bonds segment, the 4th, 5th, 6th and 7th FGN Bonds series were re-opened.
Total outstanding at the end of the year was &2, 901.6 bilion, compared with &1,974.9
billion at the end of the preceding year, representing an increase of 49.1 per cent. The
development was fraceable to the new issues to finance FGN's budget deficit and the
restructured NTBs. Of the total outstanding bonds, 0.02, 5.5, 14.9, 22.6, 26.7 and 30.3 per
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cent were for the 1st FGN Bond, 2nd FGN Bond, 3rd FGN Bond, 4th FGN Bond, 5th FGN
Bond, and éth FGN Bond, respectively, while the balance of 30.3 per cent was for the 7th
FGNBond.

Figure 4.22: Outstanding FGN Bonds
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A breakdown of the holdings of FGN Bonds showed that the banks and discount houses
held 68.8 per cent, parastatals 10.0 per cent, the pension fund 11.8 per cent, brokers 0.8
percent, and others 8.6 percent.

Figure 4.23: FGN Bonds by Holder
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443 OpenMarketOperations (OMO)

Open market operations were carried out using direct auction, tenored repurchase
agreements and Discount Window fransactions. OMO were complemented by the
Standing Facilities (lending and deposit) and Reserve Ratios. In order to boost the
availability of tradable bills at the inter-bank two-way quote trading, auctions of CBN
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securities were approved by the Bank. Thus, in line with that policy directive, the sum of
R162.0 billion was sold at the open market in the second quarter. The stop rates at the
auctions ranged from 1.1 3.04 per cent, for the various maturities offered. Government
securities worth 2.0 billion were traded through the two-way quote trading platform at
the offerratesof 1.1-1.2 percent.

Total subscription and sale of NTBs amounted to N616.3 bilion and &270.8 billion,
respectively, compared with &R471.6 bilion and &254.5 billion, respectively in 2009. The
substantial increase in volume of transactions in NTBs in the review year was attributed to
patronage by banks and discount houses of the risk-free Federal Government securities,
withimprovedyield.

Figure 4.24: OMO Issues and Sales
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444 DiscountWindow Operations

4.4.4.1 CBN Standing Facilities

The CBN standing facilities were accessible to deposit money banks and discount houses
throughout the year, with a view to meeting their short-term liquidity needs and providing
a window for investing their surpluses, while the applicable rates remained linked to the
monetary policy rate.

4.4.4.1.1 Deposit Facilities

Patronage of the standing deposit facilities remained relatively high in 2010 due largely, to
the effects of the Bank's quantitative easing policy. The adjustments of the standing facility
rates corridor, through Monetary Policy Committee decisions, were aimed at proactively
stemming inflation. The cumulative deposits placed by DMBs and discount houses in the
year was &53,173.02 billion, compared with the &8,628.9 billion recorded in 2009. The
average daily deposit stood afi#206.9 billion, compared with :89.41 billion in 2009. Interest
paid on the deposits also increased significantly to &3.07 billion, from#&15.97 million in 2009.
The SDF rate, which was 2.0 per cent at the beginning of the year, was reviewed
downwards to 1.0 per cent in March 2010 in order to encourage inter-bank trading. The
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rate was, however, increased to 3.3 per cent in September 2010 and to 4.25 per cent in
November as the Bank tightened monetary policy.

4.4.4.1.2 LendingFacilities

The cumulative transactions at the standing lending facilities stood at &3,768.8 billion,
compared with :432,533.6 billion in 2009. The average daily request for the SLFin 2010 was
R14.7 bilion, compared with &145.91 billion in 2009. The lending facility rate was
maintained at 200 basis points above the Monetary Policy Rate, which was 8.0 per cent
from January to September 20, 2010 and 8.25 per cent thereafter.

4442 Over-the-CounterTransactions (OTCs)

Over-the-counter trading in NTB Bonds worth&8,652.2 billion were tfradedin 34,542 deals at
the secondary market, compared with &10,694.3 billion in 42,769 deals in 2009. The
development reflected the 19.1 and 19.2 per cent decline in value and deals,
respectively, due to the fallin trading by the Primary Dealers and Market Makers (PDMMs).

4.44.3 Over-the-CounterTransactions (OTCs)in FGN Bonds

FGN Bonds worth #&18,962.7 billion were transacted in 197,406 deals compared with
R26,879.4 billion in 212,509 deals in the previous year. The decrease on OTC transactions
reflected the decline in frading by the Primary Dealers and Market Makers (PDMMs).

4.4.4.4 ForeignInvestment

During the yearunderreview, 1&132.5 billion and &109.4 billion respectively were investedin
NTBs and FGN Bonds, reflecting a sharp increase in foreign investment in the country, when
comparedwith the nilinvestmentin the preceding year.

4.4.4.5 Promissory Notes

Promissory notes worth 8:4.0 billion were issued in favour of some banks in respect of the
purchase and assumption of liquidated banks, compared with :6.7 billion issued in 2009.
There was no redemption during the period.

4.4.4.6 CBN Guarantees

In order to avoid perceived counter-party risks on inter-bank placements among deposit
money banks, the Bank continued its guarantee
of allinter-bank transactions and foreignlines, as
well as placements with banks by the Pension
Fundin 2010. The guarantee was meant to be a
stop-gap pending the establishment of a more
guarantee of allinter-bank transactions €NAUMNG  framework that could engender
and foreign lines as well as placements counter-party confidence and facilitate robust

with banks by Pension Fundin 2010 infer-bank activities. The guarantee of inter-
bank placements, which was initially approved

In order to avoid perceived
counterparty risks on inter-bank
placements among deposit money
banks, the Bank continued its
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for a period of nine (9) months, spanning July 2009 to March 31, 2010, was extended, first to
December 31,2010 and later to June 2011. The extension was intended to provide ample
fime for the conclusion of the banking sector restructuring and the publication of audited
accounts for the period up to December 2010. Moreover, it was expected that sufficient
information would be available for creditors and investors to make an independent
assessment of the risk of individual counter-parties by June 2011.

The Bank's guarantee of inter-bank transactions has helped to boost inter-bank activities
as counter-parties relate with more confidence and atrelatively stable rates. Outstanding
inter-bank guarantee as at December 2010 was N904.58 billion, compared with N958.87
billionin the corresponding period of 2009.

4447 Repurchase Agreement(Repo)

In line with the Bank's policy to engender a more efficient and effective intermediation
framework and to stabilise interest rates, especially at the short-end of the credit market,
the Bank's Repo window remained open to all market participants. However, requests for
repo's which had ceased in September 2009, resumed in October 2010. Moreover, the
applicable repo rates were considered less attractive as the rates were higher when
compared with that of overnight SLF. A total of :470.2 billion was approved in 2010, at
ratesranging from 9.3to 10.8 per cent, compared with 1.5 trillion in 2009.

4.4.4.8 Open-Buy-Back (OBB)Transactions

The total value of fransactions at the OBB stood at#18,845.02 billion in 2010, a decrease of
1.7 per cent from the &19,166.1 bilion recorded in 2009. The development was attributed
to the increased liquidity conditions in the banking system and the dearth of government
securities available for collaterals.

4.5 CAPITAL MARKET DEVELOPMENTS

4.5.1 Developmentsinthe Nigerian Capital Market

In an effort fo enhance investor confidence in the Nigerian capital market, a number of
reforms were carried out by the regulatory authorities. These included the reconstitution of
the board and management of the Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE), strengthening of the
NSE Arbitration Committee, and strict enforcement of the rules and regulations on
financial reports by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In order to improve
the efficiency and depth of the market, the daily trading hours on the floor of the
Exchange was extended by two (2).

Fiffeen (15) securities, consisting of three (3) dormant companies and twelve (12) fixed
income securities which had matured, were delisted from the Daily Official List, while
twelve (12) other companies were at the final stage of being delisted at end-December
2010. In an effort to ensure strict compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, and
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. engender confidence in the market, seventy-four
In Gf] effon‘. fo enhange mves.for (74) dealing member firms were suspended for
confidence in the Nigerian capital failure to submit audited accounts, forty-two (42)
marlfef, a number of reforms were companies were placed on technical suspension;
Cc’”’e‘?’, out by the regulatory 15 were placed on full suspension for various
authorities. infractions of listing rules, and seventeen (17)
others, which had previously been on suspension

forviolating listing rules; and reinstated.

Eight (8) new firms were given approval to commence frading on the floor of the NSE,
while six (6) others were given approval to establish and operate new branch offices. Also,
the NSE carried out inspections on two hundred and forty-two (242) dealing member firms,
while one hundred and thirty-five (135), out of three hundred and sixty-six (366) complaints
received by the NSE, were resolved.

4.5.2 The Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE)

Activities on the floor of the NSE indicated mixed developments. Aggregate volume of
fraded securities declined by 9.3 per cent, while the value increased by 16.3 per cent.
Also, aggregate market capitalization of the 264 listed securities rose by 41.0 per cent to
close at &9.9 trillion, compared with 7.0 frillion
recorded in 2009. The market capitalisation of the
217 listed equities increased from 5.0 frillion in 2009
to close at &7.9 trilion. The development was due,
largely, to the new listings and price appreciation
recorded by the highly capitalised equities. The top twenty (20) listed companies had a
market capitalisation of 6.2 trillion, representing 62.6 and 78.5 per cent of the aggregate
market capitalisation and equities market capitalisation, respectively.

Activities on the floor of the NSE
indicated mixed developments.

Figure 4.25: Trends in Market Capitalisation and NSE Value Index

e 100 4 ocmmiie e 1 50 =5
g 8.0 4cmmmmnn g 4 40 5
6 60 A mmm i mmm e - —— - 30 (]>_<)
E /o N T ——— 4 20 E
R —a—— 0
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
e Market Capitalisation (left axis) Banking Sector Market Capitalisation

e |ndex (right axis)



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Market capitalisation as a percentage of GDP was 33.6 per cent, compared with 28.5 per
cent in 2009. The ratio of the value of stocks traded to GDP stood at 2.7 per cent,
compared with 10.0 per cent in 2009, while the turnover value (measured as the ratio of
the total value of stocks tfraded to the total value of stocks listed on the domestic market)

was 8.0 per cent, compared with 9.8 per centin 2009. ‘,2
&
Table 4.12: Indicators of Capital Market Development in the Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE) S
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 8
Number of Listed Securities 288.0 309.0 299.0 266.0 264.0 d
Volume of Stocks Traded (Tumover Volume) (Billion) 36.5 138.1 193.1 102.9 93.3 >
Value of Stocks Traded (Turmover Value) (Billion Naira) 470.3 2100.0 | 2400.0 685.7 797.6 g
Value of Stocks/GDP (%) 2.6 8.9 10.0 10.0 2.7 oz
Total Market Capitalisation (Billion Naira) 5120.9 13294.6 = 9535.8 7032.1 9918.2 9
Of which: Banking Sector (Billion Naira) 2142.7 6432.2 3715.5 2238.1 2710.2 (@)
Total Market Capitalisation/GDP (%) 28.1 56.0 39.7 28.5 33.6 ‘I.}.I,
Of which: Banking Sector/GDP (%) 11.8 27.1 15.5 9.1 9.2 -
Banking Sec. Cap./Market Cap. (%) 41.8 48.4 39.0 31.8 27.3 5
Annual Turnover Volume/Value of Stock (%) 7.8 6.6 8.0 15.0 11.7 Z
Annual Turnover Value/ Total Market Capitalisation (%) 9.2 15.8 25.2 9.8 8.0 <
NSE Value Index (1984=100) 33358.3 57990.2 @ 31450.8 20827.2 24770.5 %
Growth (In percent)
Number of Listed Securities 0.0 7.6 -2.6 -11.0 -0.8
Volume of Stocks 36.8 278.4 39.8 -46.7 -9.3
Value of Stocks 78.9 346.5 14.3 -71.4 16.3
Total Market Capitalisation 76.6 159.6 -28.3 -26.3 41.0
Of which: Banking Sector 76.8 200.2 -42.2 -39.8 21.1
NSE Value Index 38.5 73.8 -45.8 -33.8 18.9
Share of Banks in the 20 Most Capitalised Stocks in the NSE (%) 55.0 65.0 70.0 59.0 80.0

Source: Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE).

4.5.2.1 The Secondary Market

The secondary market segment of the NSE recorded mixed performance in 2010. A

turnover volume of 93.3 billion shares wasrecorded,
indicating a decline of 9.3 per cent from the 102.9

The secondary market segment of
the NSE recorded mixed
performance as the bulk of the
transactions remained in equities
while industrial loans and
preference stocks sub-sector.

billion shares in 2009. However, a turnover value of
R797.6 bilion was recorded, representing an
increase of 16.3 per cent over the level in 2009. The
bulk of the fransactions remained in equities, which
accounted for 99.99 per cent of the turnover value,
the same share in total fransactions as in 2009. The
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banking sub- sector accounted for 53.1 per cent of the total volume of tfransactions. The
Industrial loan and preference stock sub-sectors remained inactive in the review period.
Of the top twenty (20) listed companies by turnover volume, the banking and insurance
sub-sectors accounted for sixteen (16), while conglomerates, maritime, alternative
securities exchange and market (ASEM), and information and communications
technology had one (1) or 5.0 per cent each. The share of banks in the twenty (20) most
capitalised stocksin the NSE was 80.0 per cent.

Figure 4.26: Share of Banks in the 20 Most Capitalized Stocks in

the NSE
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4.5.2.2 The NSE Value Index

The Nigerian Stock Exchange (NSE) All-Share Index rose significantly by 18.9 per cent to
close at 24,770.5, compared with 20,827.2 in the preceding year. The development
reflected therise in share prices of the listed stocks on the NSE.

The new NSE-30 Index rose by 30.7 per cent to close at its year-end level of 1,081.95.
Similarly, three of the four sectoralindices, namely, the NSE Food/Beverage Index, the NSE
Banking Index and the NSE Oil/Gas Index rose by 47.8, 17.6 and 17.6 per cent to close at
778.47,399.08 and 338.85, respectively, while the NSE Insurance Index depreciated by 32.4
percenttoclose at 168.34.

4.5.2.3 The New Issues Market

The primary marketrecorded improved activity as
indicated by therise in the number of applications
received and issues offered for public
subscription, reflecting a restoration of
confidence in the market with investors making
recourse to the stock market. The NSE considered
and approved thirty-one (31) applications for

The primary market recorded
improved activity as indicated by the
rise in the number of applications
received and issues offered for public
subscription, reflecting a restoration of
confidence in the market as investors
made recourse to the stock market.
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both new issues and mergers/acquisitions, valued at 12.44 trillion, compared with thirty
(30) applications valued at &279.3 bilion in 2009. The non-bank corporate issues
accounted for 58.2 per cent of the total new issues approved, with eighteen (18)
applications valued at &1.42 trillion, while the banking sub-sector accounted for 36.1 per
cent, with seven (7) applications valued at +0.88 ftrillion. The states’ Government bonds
issue constituted 19.3 per cent of the total with six (6) applications valued at#R0.14 trillion.

Further analysis of the approved new issues showed that the sum of i85.2 billion was raised
through initial public offerings (IPOs), &46.6 billion through rights issue, &2,091.8 billion
through mergers/acquisitions, and #&193.7 billion through bonds issue, including four states'
Government bonds. Listing by Introduction accounted for &17.7 billion, while share
placements accounted for&92.8 billion.

Figure 4.27: New Issues by Sector
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CHAPTER FIVE

FISCAL POLICY AND GOVERNMENT
FINANCE

implementing policy measures to ameliorate the challenges of the global

economic recession. At #7,303.7 billion or 24.8 per cent of GDP, the Federation
Account revenue (gross) increased by 50.8 per cent above the level in 2009. The
development was attributed to enhanced receipts from oil and non-oil revenue sources.
The sum of 83,865.9 billion was transferred to the Federation Account, reflecting an
increase of 36.5 percent above the levelin the preceding fiscal year.

Nigerio's fiscal policy thrust in 2010 was to stimulate economic recovery by

Fiscal interventions in the priority sectors resulted in a substantial drawdown of the excess
crude accountsavings, from US$6.54 billion at end-2009 to US$3. 10 billion.

A1#3,089.2 billion, Federal Government-retained revenue rose by 16.9 per cent above the
level in 2009 and aggregate expenditure grew by 21.5 per cent to #4,194.6 billion. The
fiscal operations of the Federal Government resulted in an overall deficit of #&1,105.4
billion, or 3.7 per cent of GDP. Provisional data on state government finances indicated an
overall deficit of 8#132.1 billion, while that of the local governments revealed a surplus of
2.5 billion.

Consequently, general government's consolidated expenditure was #8,370.9 billion, or
28.4 per cent of GDP, while aggregate revenue was #7,135.8 billion. This resulted in an
overall deficit of &#1,235.0 billion or 4.2 per cent of GDP, and financed largely from the
domestic financial market.

Federal Government debt stock was #5,24 1.7 billion, or 17.8 per cent of GDP, atend-2010,
compared with 83,818.5 billion, or 15.1 per cent of GDP, at end-2009. External debt stock
rose by US$0.63 billion to US$4.6 billion, following additional disbursement of concessional
loans from the multilateral institutions. Domestic debt grew significantly by 41.0 per cent fo
#&4,551.8 billion as a result of substantial borrowing to finance critical infrastructure in 2010
by the three fiers of government.

5.1 FISCALPOLICY THRUST

The fiscal policy thrust for the 2010 Budget was designed to stimulate economic recovery
from the negative effects of the global economic and financial crises. With increased
spending outlays, the budget was fto transform the socio-economic fortunes of the
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country by implementing relevant measures to ameliorate the challenges of the globall
economic recession. This was to be achieved
through targeted fiscal interventions in the priority
The fiscal policy thrust for 2010 sectors, particularly criticalinfrastructure, in order to
Budget was designed fo stimulate provide the enabling environment for the
economic recovery from the gcceleration of sustainable economic growth and
negative effects of the global development, driven by the private sector.
economic and financial crises. Therefore, consistent with the revised Medium-Term
Expenditure Framework which incorporated
results-oriented budgeting, the main thrust was targeted at achieving the following:

o Rafionalisation and prioritisation of capital expenditure by allocating about 0.0
per cent of MDAs' capital expenditure to five (5) key priority sectors, namely,
criticalinfrastructure, human capital development, land reform and food security,
physicalsecurity, law and order, and the Niger Delta;

o Enhancement of powerinfrastructure to deliver 10,000MW of electricity by 2011 by
completing ongoing projects in power generation, transmission and distribution,
expansion, management and maintenance of new/existing power plants to
further bridge critical infrastructural gaps and, thereby, reduce the cost of doing
businessin Nigeria;

o Establishment of special intervention funds fto provide credit facilities for
commercial farming and support necessary agro-processing linkages to
resuscitate industries;
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o Review existing tariffs and provide fiscal incentives to enhance productivity in the
real sectorin orderto facilitate rapid economic growth; and,

o Create gainful employment and increase disposable income as well as provide
alternative routes for the transportation of goods and services across the nation,
through investment in upgrading existing railway networks and dredging
waterways.

5.2 FEDERATION ACCOUNT OPERATIONS

5.2.1 Federally-Collected Revenue

Total federally-collected revenue increased by 50.8 per cent to 87,303.7 billion in 2010,
and constituted 24.8 per cent of GDP. The development was attributed to enhanced
receipts from both oiland non-oilrevenue sources.
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Figure 5.1: Oil and Non-Oil Revenue (per cent of GDP)
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Of the total receipts, oil revenue (gross) accounted for #&5,396.1 billion (18.3 per cent of
GDP), indicating anincrease 69.1 per cent above the levelin 2009. A breakdown showed
that revenue from crude oil and gas exports increased significantly by 88.9 per cent to
R1,696.2 billion. In the same vein, receipts from petroleum profit tax (PPT) and royalties
increased by 54.8 per cent to &1,944.7 billion, while
revenue from domestic crude oil salesincreased by
83.2 per cent to N1,746.3 billion. The development
reflected the increased crude oil production/
exports occasioned by the sustained demand and
favourable prices in the internafional market.
Furthermore, the amnesty programme of the
Federal Government ensured relative peace in the Niger Delta region which facilitated
improved crude oil production. The sum of )]962.9 billion was deducted from the gross oil
receipts for the Joint Venture Cash (JVC) calls, &1,430.8 billion in respect of excess
crude/PPT/royalty proceeds and “others”, leaving a balance of N3,002.4 billion for
distribution to the three tiers of government.

Total federally-collected revenue
increased by 50.8 per cent to #7,
303.7 billion in 2010, and constituted
24.8 percentof GDP.

Figure 5.2: Federation Account: Composition of Revenue
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Gross revenue from non-oil sources increased by 15.4 per cent to &1,907.6 billion or 6.5 per
cent of GDP. A breakdown indicated that Value Added Tax (VAT) increased by 20.2 per
cent to R562.9 billion, while company income tax (CIT) and customs/excise duties
increased by 15.7 and 3.9 per cent, toR657.3 billion and &309.2 billion, respectively. Other
components, the Independent Revenue of the Federal Government and custom levies
also increased by 109.9 and 5.0 per cent, to #&153.6 billion and &103.4 billion, respectively.
The increase in most of the components of the non-oil revenue reflected improved
economic activities, particularly in the first half of the year, resulting in enhanced
collection by the revenue-collecting agencies.

Figure 5.3: Composition of Non-oil Revenue in 2010
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The sum of &125.5 billion was deducted from the non-oil revenue as cost of collection,
leaving a distributable balance of 1,782.0 billion.

5.2.2 Federation Account Distribution

The sum of &4,784.5 billion accrued to the Federation Account, indicating an increase of
32.9 per cent over the levelin 2009. Of this amount, :540.3 billion, 1153.6 billion and &224.7
billion were transferred to the VAT Pool Account, the Independent Revenue, and 'other
transfers”, respectively. In addition, ¥439.0 billion, &886.5 bilion and &39.9 bilion were
drawn from the excess crude account for budget augmentation, excess crude revenue-
sharing and foreign exchange rate gains, respectively. These amounts were added to the
federally-collected revenue (net) to boost the distributable total to #5,231.2 billion.
Analysis of the distribution among the three tiers of government®, showed that the Federal
Government (including Special Funds) received the sum of §2,456.7 billion, state
governments &1,246.0 billion, and local governments 8960.7 billion, while the sum of
R567.8 bilion was shared among the oil-producing states as 13% Derivation Fund.

This includes the Education Tax, Customs Levies, and the National Information Technology Development Fund.
°The Federation Account revenue sharing formula is as follows: FG (52.68%), SGs (26.72%) and LGs (20.60%),
while 13.0% of net oil revenue is shared among oil-producing states.
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However, from their share of excess crude, the Federal and state governments refunded
the sum of )121.6 and &4.3 billion, respectively to the local governments. This resulted in
net balances of &2,335.0 billion, &1,241.8 billion and &1,086.6 billion for the Federal, state
andlocal governments, respectively.

5.2.3 VATPool Account Distribution

The sum of &540.3 bilion was transferred to the VAT Pool Account, representing an
increase of 20.2 per cent over the level in 2009. Analysis of the distribution among the three
tiers of government* showed that the Federal Government (including the FCT) received
R81.1 billion, state governments &8270.2 billion, and the local governments shared #=189.1
billion.

53 GENERAL GOVERNMENT FINANCES

5.3.1 Aggregate Revenue

At R7,135.8 bilion, the aggregate revenue of the three fiers of government in 2010
comprised N&3,865.9 bilion from the Federation Account, §438.9 bilion budget
augmentation, :)886.5 billion from excess crude revenue-sharing, :&39.9 billion from foreign
exchange rate gains, and &540.3 billion from VAT. Others were &153.6 bilion from the
Federal Government Independent Revenue, 8519.5 billion from 'other funds®, as well as
R446.7 billion, ®176.7 bilion, &55.1 bililon and &12.7 billion from internally-generated
revenue, grants, stabilisation fund and state allocation, respectively, for sub-national
governments.

5.3.2 Aggregate Expenditure

At 8370.9 billion, the aggregate expenditure of general government increased by 15.3
per cent from the level in 2009. As a proportion of GDP, it represented 28.4 per cent,
compared with 28.8 per cent in 2009. A breakdown
showed that the outlay on recurrent activities, at
]4,965.2 billion (16.8 % of GDP), accounted for 59.3
p_e.r cent and capital expenditure, at N2,755.9 govermnment rose by 15.3 per cent
billion (9.3 % of GDP), represented 32.9 per cent. trom the level in 2009

Transfers and 'others' at :554.3 billion (1.9 % of GDP) )

and N95.4 bilion (0.3 % of GDP) respectively

accountedfor 6.6 and 1.2 per cent of the aggregate expenditure.
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At #&8,370.9 billion, the aggregate
expenditure of the general

‘The VAT Pool Account revenue sharing formula is as follows: FG (15%), SGs (50%) and LGs (35%).
°This constitutes unspent balances from the Federal Government budget and other receipts by state and local
governments not classified elsewhere.
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Table 5.1: Sources of Funds for the three tiers of Government in 2010 (Naira billion)
Federal Government State Governments Local
FG's Sub- Sub- Governm Grand

SOURCE Share FCT Total States 13% Total ents Total
w .
O Snare from Federation 17962 | 348 | 1,830.9 | 9287 | 3903 | 1,319.0 7160 3,865.9
Z Augmentation 197.4 38 | 2012 | 1020 | 57.1 159.1 78.7 438.9
< gross share from Excess 3986 | 77 | 4063 | 2061 | 1152 | 321.3 158.9 886.5
Z Less Refund to FG - - - - - -
L Less Refund to SG - - - - - -
| Less Refund fo LG 121.6 _121.6 - 121.6
4 Add Refund from FG - - - - 121.6 121.6
— Add Refund from SG - - - o
E Add Refund from LG - - - - - - -
E folonce ofshare of Excess | 9769 | 7.8 2846 | 2061 | 1152 | 321.3 280.5 886.5
1T Exchange Gain 17.9 03 | 183 | 93 5.2 14.5 7.1 39.9

Share of VAT . 4 1 81 a0 . . . .

> 75.6 5.4 81.1 270.2 270.2 189.1 540.3
O FG Independent Revenue 153.6 _153.6 - 153.6
0 Privatisation Proceeds - - - -
a piernally-Generated . 420.5 420.5 26.2 4467
2 Grants and Others = 140.4 140.4 363 176.7
< State Allocation to LG - - 12.7 12.7
> Others 519.5 - 519.5 - - 519.5
8) TOTAL 3,037.1 | 52.1 | 3,089.2 | 2,119.6 | 567.8 | 2,687.4 1,359.2 7,135.8
=
2 Figure 5.4: Composition of General Government Expenditure in 2010
<
U Capital Trans:ers
(%) 32.9% 6.6% Others
o /”/_ 1.2%

Recurrent
59.3%

5.3.3 Consolidated Fiscal Balance and Financing

The fiscal operations of general government resulted in a primary deficit of &760.1 billion
(2.6 % of GDP), and an overall notional deficit of :41,235.0 billion (4.1 % of GDP), compared
with §994.7 billion (3.9 % of GDP) in 2009. The deficit was financed, largely, by domestic
borrowing from the domestic banking system and the non-bank public.

54 FEDERAL GOVERNMENT FINANCES

5.41 OveradllFiscalBalance and Financing
The current balance in 2010 reflected a deficit of 820.2 billion, or 0.1 per cent of GDP,
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compared with a surplus of &515.0 billion, or 2.0 per cent of GDP in the preceding year.
Similarly, the primary balance recorded a deficit of i689.8 billion, or 2.3 per cent of GDP,
relative to a primary deficit of :558.2 billion or 2.2

per cent of GDP in 2009. The overall fiscal . .
operations of the Federal Government resultedina 1€ overall fiscal operafions of fhe
notional deficit of X1,105.4 billion, or 3.7 per cent of [€deral Government resulied in- a
GDP, compared with the deficit of 8810.0 billion, or N°flonal defici of #1,105.4 billion, or
3.2 per cent of GDP, recorded in 2009. The deficit =/ PEr cent of GDP, compared with
was within the West African Monetary Zone (WAMZ) the deficit of #4810.0 b’”fon' or 3.2 per
primary convergence criterion target of 4.0 per cent of GDP, recorded in 2009.

cent, notwithstanding the deterioration, when

compared with the position in the preceding four years. The overall budget deficit was
financed mainly from domestic sources.

Figure 5.5: Fiscal Deficit (per cent of GDP)
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5.4.2 Federal Government-Retained Revenue

The Federal Government-retained revenue increased to N3,089.2 billion, from #2,643.0
billion in 2009. Analysis of the revenue showed that

the share of the Federation Account was &1, 830.9 )
billion, or 59.3 per cent of total; the VAT Pool "€ Federal Government refained
Account amounted to N81.1 bilion (2.6%); the rg\{enue mcreased. TO .#3'089'2
Federal Government Independent Revenue share billion, from #42,643.0 billion in 2009.
was ®&153.6 bilion (5.0%); the excess crude

accounted for, )464.1 billion (15.0%), while 'others' accounted for the balance of &559.5
billion (18.1%).
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Figure 5.6: Composition of Federal Government-Retained Revenue in 2010
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Figure 5.7: Federal Government Revenue and Expenditure
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5.4.3 Total Expenditure of the Federal Government
The estimated aggregate expenditure of the Federal Government increased by 21.5 per
cent to :)4,194.6 billion in 2010. As a proportion of
GDP, total expenditure increased slightly to 14.2
" per cent, from 13.7 per cent in the previous year.
Government increased by 21.5 per The non-debt expenditure increased by 18.0 per
cent over the level in 2009. Total debt service
payments amounted fto &415.6 billion,
representing 9.9 per cent of the total expenditure, or 1.4 per cent of GDP.

Aggregate expenditure of the Federal
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Figure 5.8: Composition of Federal Government Expenditure in 2010
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5.4.3.1 Recurrent Expenditure
AT N3,109.4 billion, recurrent expenditure expanded by 46.1 per cent over the level in 2009
and accounted for 74.1 per cent of total expenditure. As a percentage of GDP, recurrent
expenditure increased to 10.5 per cent, from 8.4 per cent in 2009. Most components of
recurrent expenditure increased relative to their
levels in the preceding year. Interest payments
increased by 65.1 per cent and the goods and Recurent expendifure expanded
services component increased by 48.7 per cent. Py 46.1 per cent over fthe Jevel in
Analysis of the goods and services component, at 2009 and accounfed for 74.1 per
N2,546.2 bilion (81.9 % of total), shows that cenfoffotalexpenditure.
personnel cost and pensions amounted to &1,564.0
billion and overhead cost was 8982.3 billion. Furthermore, interest payments®, at &415.6
billion (13.4 % of total) or 1.4 per cent of GDP, was up from 1.0 per cent in 2009, comprised,
R39.9 billion for external services and N375.8 billion for domestic services and transfers fo
the Federal Capital Territory (FCT)/'others' accounted foriR147.5 billion (4.7 % of total) .

Figure.5.9: Economic Classification of Recurrent Expenditure in 2010

Interest Transfers
Payments \ 4.7%
13.4%

Goods & Services
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*This includes interest payments on ways and means.
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Figure 5.10: Recurrent Expenditure & Personnel Cost (per cent of GDP)
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The functional classification of recurrent expenditure showed that the outlay on
administration increased by 54.4 per cent to 41,267.1 billion and accounted for 40.8 per
cent of the total. Similarly, tfransfer payments increased by 38.1 per cent to &878.0 billion
and constituted 28.2 per cent of the total, reflecting, largely, the significant increase in
domestic debt charges in 2010. Expenditure on economic services, at &413.0 billion,
accounted for 13.3 per cent of total recurrent expenditure. Within the economic sector,
agriculture, tfransport, communications and roads/construction collectively absorbed
30.9 per cent. The expenditure on social and community services sector accounted for
17.7 per cent of totalrecurrent expenditure.

Figure 5.11: Functional Classification of Federal Government Recurrent
Expenditure in 2010
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5.4.3.2 Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure declined by 23.3 per cent to&883.9 billion, or 3.0 per cent of GDP, and
accounted for21.1 per cent of the total. As a proportion of Federal Government revenue,
capital expenditure was 28.6 per cent, exceeding the stipulated minimum target of 20.0
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per cent under the WAMIZ secondary convergence criteria. Analysis of capital
expenditure showed that outlays on economic services accounted for 8H412.2 billion, or
46.6 per cent of the total, compared with 43.9 per cent in the preceding year. Within the
economic services sector, manufacturing, mining/quarrying, agriculture/natural
resources, transport/communications and roads/construction absorbed 88.0 per cent.
Public investments in social and community

servicesincreased by 22.1 percenfabove thelevel cqpitql expenditure declined by
in the preceding year and accounted for 16.7 per 53 3 per cent to §883.9 billion, and
cent of the fotal. Within the social and community -counted for21.1 and 3.0 per cent
services sector, outlay on education increased by ¢ t5tql expenditure and GDP,
102.6 per cent toN87.8 billion while that of health fell respectively.

by 33.4 per cent to :&35.0 billion. As aratio of capital

spending, expenditure on education and health

constituted 9.9 and 4.0 per cent, respectively, compared with 3.8 and 4.6 per centin 2009.

Figure 5.12: Functional Classification of Federal Government
Capital Expenditure in 2010
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BOX 5: IMPLEMENTING PERFORMANCE-BASED BUDGETING IN PUBLIC SECTOR
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT IN NIGERIA
Overthe past one and a half decades, governments around the world have been
attempting to establish a results-oriented budgeting or performance-based
budgeting (PBB) in their public sector financial management. The reform process
was predicated on the belief that public sector accountability and transparency
should focus on the quality of government expenditure, rather than the quantum
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of expenditure. The approach infroduces rules and norms that make it
appropriate for public representatives (executive/legislature) and managers
(public servants) to concentrate on outcomes and outputs, rather than inputs and
procedures.

In the emerging economies of South Africa, Malaysia, Singapore and in
developed countries, such as Australia and those of the Organization for
Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), PBB has been adopted in
budgetary reforms to transform public budgeting system from an input and output
orientation to an output and outcome orientation, thus infroducing a resulfs-
oriented accountability into public organizations.

The approach was designed to address the weaknesses in the budgeting process
and ensure transparency and accountability in spending by the MDAs. The system
integrates an annual performance plan indicating the relationship between
programme funding levels and expected results, based on visible achievements
of executed projects within the time-frame specified in the budget. The approach
represents a clear departure from the past, where budget preparation was not
linked with outputs and deliverables and leading to poor implementation in most
sectors as results were always below targets. Furthermore, PBB formally establishes
spending targets (appropriations) and performance targets, which, together,
form the basis for monitoring performance throughout the budget cycle.
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In the light of global experience with budget reforms, the Federal Government
commenced budgetary reforms in fiscal year (FY) 2003 with a gradual movement
away from the line-item budgeting to contemporary techniques of budgeting. By
FY2005, the Federal Government had instituted the Fiscal Strategy Plan (FSP) and
embraced the Medium Term Fiscal Framework (MTFF), both of which were
underscored by the legal framework established by the Fiscal Responsibility Act of
2007.The FSP documents the fiscal stance of government in the medium-term and
outlines the MTFF on a rolling basis. By FY2008 the Federal Government had
progressively embraced a budgetary system which incorporates performance-
based elements as a component of the public financial management reforms
(PFM).

As it is being implemented, PBB as an essential component of PFM, places greater
emphasis on fracking the tangible deliverables achieved by the Ministries,
Departments and Agencies (MDAs) in terms of measurable outfputs and
outcomes. Key performance indicators (KPIs) were set for the MDAs against which
progress on project completion was measured. In addition, policies, projects and
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goals were linked with outputs and deliverable targets in large-spending MDASs on
an ongoing basis.

The adoption of the results-oriented budgeting approach in PFM was expected to
deliver the following benefits when fully integrated into Nigeria's fiscal landscape:

Justify the need for more resources in the budgetary process;

Improve MDASs' ability to present performance assessment and results;
Improve MDAS' ability o channelresources to high priority sectors;

Align MDAs' data collection andreporting with results;

Foster MDAs' ability to make decisions, based on customer-focused,
outcome-oriented information;

° Enable MDAs to clearly align budgets and their execution within its purpose
and priorities;

Elicit accountability from public office holders; and

Ensure transparency in public sector financialmanagement.

In order to facilitate a complete migration to PBB, the infrastructural support has
been almost fully installed. In this regard, the Business Process Review (BPR) and
Charts of Accounts (COA) have been completed and revised. During the period,
the performance indicator (Pl) database and detailed project formulation
documentation/checklists were being developed. Finally, the process of
implementing the Government Integrated Financial Management System (GIFMIS)
platform, with World Bank (WB) assistance, was ongoing and expected to come on
stream by early 2011.

5.5 STATE GOVERNMENTS' FINANCES’

5.5.1 OverallFiscal Balance and Financing

Provisional data on state governments' finances Provisional data on state
(including the FCT) indicated a decline in the governments' finances (including
overall deficit from#186.2 billion, or 0.7 per cent of FCT) indicated a decline in the overall
GDP in 2009, to &132.1 billion, or 0.4 per cent of deficit to 0.4 per cent of GDP, down
GDP in 2010. The deficit was financed largely from 0.7 percentof GDPin2009.
through borrowing from the DMBs.

"The provisional data are from the CBN survey returns from 36 states and the FCT.
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Figure 5.13: State Governments' Revenue (Naira Billion)

Stabilisation

Excess Crude
Fund Revenue
VAT 1.6% 18.5%
10.1%
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5.1%
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Generated Federation
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Revenue

15.3% 49.4%

552 Revenue
Totalrevenue of the state governmentsincreased by 5.7 per cent toi2,739.4 billion, or 9.3
percent of GDP, compared with &2,590.7 billion or 10.3 per cent of GDP in 2009. The
analysis of the sources of revenue indicated that allocations from the Federation Account
(including 13.0% Derivation Fund) was #&1,353.7 billion, or 49.4 per cent; the VAT Pool
Account was &275.6 billion, or 10.1 per cent; Internally Generated Revenue (IGR) was
R420.5 billion, or 15.3 per cent; the Stabilisation
Account was &42.5 bilion, or 1.6 per cent; the
Total revenue of the state Excess Crude Accountsharing (including budget
governments rose by 5.7 per cent to augmentation and foreign exchange rate gains)
#2,739.4 billion, or9.3 percentof GDP.  totalled &506.7 bilion or 18.5 per cent; and
grants/others amounted to &140.4 billion, or 5.1
per cent.The IGR fell below the levelin 2009 by 8.8
per cent. In terms of tax efforts, measured as the ratio of IGR to total revenue (IGR/TR),
Lagos state ranked the highest with 60.7 per cent, followed by Rivers and Kwara states,
with21.7 and 21.6 per cent, respectively, while Bauchistate rankedlast with 2.8 percent. In
terms of the state governments' effort at improving internally-generated revenue, Ondo
state ranked top, with an increased IGR/TR ratio from 1.2 per cent in 2009 to 5.5 per cent,
followed by Kebbi and Kwara states in the second and third positions, respectively.
Overall, the consolidated IGR/TR ratio of the state governments declined from 17.8 per
centin2009 to 15.3 percent.
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Table 5.2: State Governments’ Revenue

State Governments’ Revenue Share in Overall GDP
2009 20101/ 2009 2010
ltem Amount | Share (%) | Amount | Share (%) % %
(N Billion) (N Billion)

Federation Account 2/ 973.8 37.6 1,353.7 49.4 3.9 4.6
Excess Crude Revenue 3/ 708.6 27.3 506.7 18.5 2.8 1.8
VAT 229.3 8.9 275.6 10.1 0.9 0.9
Internally Generated Revenue 461.2 17.8 420.5 15.3 1.8 1.4
Stabilisation Fund 29.7 1.1 42.5 1.6 0.1 0.1
Grants & Others 188.1 7.3 140.4 5.1 0.8 0.5

Total 2,590.7 100.0 2,739.4 100.0 10.3 9.3

1/ Including FCT
2/ Including 13% Derivation Fund
3/ Including Budget Augmentation and Foreign Exchange Rate Gains

5.5.3 Expenditure

Total expenditure of the state governments .

increased by 3.4 per cent to&2,871.5 billion, or 9.7 The total expenditure of the state
per cent of GDP. A breakdown showed that, at governmepfs grew by 3.4 per cent fo
R1,437.0 billion or 4.9 per cent of GDP, recurrent #2.871.5billion, or9.7 per cent of GDP.
expenditure was 0.8 per cent higher than the

levelinthe preceding year and accounted for 50.1 per cent of the total.

Figure 5.14: State Governments' Expenditure (per cent of GDP)
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ATH1,339.0 billion, or 4.5 per cent of GDP, the capital expenditure was 4.3 per cent above
the level in 2009 and accounted for 46.6 per cent of the total. Similarly, extra-budgetary
expenditure grew by 43.1 per cent and accounted for 3.3 per cent of the total
expenditure.

Analysis of spending on primary welfare sectors indicated that expenditure on education
increased by 3.0 per cent from the level in 2009 to §241.3 billion and accounted for 8.4 per
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cent of total expenditure. Similarly, expenditure on health and agriculture rose by 0.9 and
37.6 percent, respectively, relative to theirlevels in 2009 to &151.1 billion and &218.5 billion.
However, expenditure on water supply and housing fell by 22.5 and 24.6 per cent,
respectively, relative to their levels in 2009 to &R77.4 bilion and &R54.5 billion. On the whole,
aggregate expenditure on primary welfare sectors amounted to &742.7 billion, or 2.8 per
centof GDP, and accounted for25.9 per cent of total expenditure.

Figure 5.15: State Governments' Expenditure in Key Sectors for
2010 (per cent of Total Expenditure)
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Figure 5.14: State Governments’ Expenditure in Key Sectors for 2010
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5.6 LOCAL GOVERNMENTS' FINANCES®

5.6.1 OverdllFiscal Balance and Financing
Provisional data on local governments' fiscal operations indicated a surplus of :52.5 billion,
compared with asurplus of 1.8 billion in 2009.

*The provisional data are from the CBN survey returns from 774LGAs.
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Figure 5.17: Local Governments’ Revenue & Overall Balance
(Per cent of GDP)
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5.6.2 Revenue

Totalrevenue of local governments was#1,359.2 billion, indicating anincrease of 27.1 per
cent from the level in 2009. The sources of the

revenue comprised allocations from the

Federation Account (K716.0 bilion), VAT (N189.1 1€ fotal revenue of Jocal
billion), IGR (N26.2 bilion), grants/'others' (36,3 9OVEMments was #1,359.2 billion,
bilion), stabilization fund (N12.6 billion), state "dicalinganincrease of 27.1 percent.
allocation (&12.7 billion), excess crude revenue

sharing (including refund from FG & SG) (N280.5 billion), budget augmentation (78.7
billion), and foreign exchange rate gains (7.1 billion).

(18]
O
<
<
<
e
|-
<
L
=
Z
-4
L
>
o)
V)
a
<
<
>
O
"
o)
o.
-
<
O
(%]
T

Table 5.3: Local Governments’ Revenue

Local Governments’ Revenue Share in Overall GDP
2009 2010 2009 2010
ltem Amount | Share (%) Amount Share (%) % %
(' Billion) (N Billion)

Federation Account 529.3 49.5 716.0 52.7 2.1 2.4
Excess Crude Revenue 145.0 13.6 280.5 20.7 0.6 1.0
Budget Augmentation 131.7 12.3 78.7 5.8 0.5 0.3
Exchange Rate Gain 28.4 2.7 7.1 0.5 0.1 0.02
VAT 157.4 14.7 189.1 13.9 0.6 0.6
Internally Generated Revenue 26.1 2.4 26.2 1.9 0.1 0.1
Stabilisation Fund 11.4 1.1 12.6 0.9 0.05 0.04
State Allocation 19.7 1.8 12.7 0.9 0.1 0.04
Grants & Others 20.3 1.9 36.3 2.7 0.1 0.1

Total 1,069.4 100.0 1,359.2 100.0 4.3 4.6
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5.6.3 Expenditure

At R1,356.7 billion, total expenditure of the local governments was 27.1 per cent above
the level in 2009, and represented 4.6 per cent of the GDP. A breakdown indicated that
recurrent outlays, stood at |823.7 bilion or 60.7 per cent, while capital expenditure
amounted to&R533.0 billion, or 39.3 per cent of the total.

Figure 5.18: Local Governments’ Expenditure (per cent of GDP)
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A further breakdown of recurrent expenditure
The expenditure of the local showed that personnel cost was &316.5 bilion,
governments was 27.1 per cent While overhead cost and the consolidated fund
higher than the level in 2009 and charges/others amounted to R395.0 bilion and
represented 4.6 per cent of the GDP. R112.2 bilion, respectively. Analysis of capital
expenditure by function revealed that the share of
administration was #&78.8 billion, economic services
(N247 .2 billion), socialand community services (’183.3 billion), and transfers (’23.7 billion).
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BOX 6: THE SOVEREIGN WEALTH FUND (SWF)

Generally, a Sovereign Wealth Fund (SWF) is a special purpose investment fund
created and owned by the general government for macroeconomic purposes.
The fund is commonly established from balance of payments surpluses, official
foreign currency operations, proceeds of privatisation, fiscal surpluses, and
receipts from commodity exports, amongst others. SWF offers various economic
and financial benefits which include savings for inter-generational fransfers,
reduction of boom and burst cycles, greater portfolio diversification, promotion of
prudent fiscal management, and responsible asset management. SWF could
facilitate a more efficient allocation of resource from commodity surpluses, and
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enhance market liquidity. Finally, SWF would help to strengthen domestic policy
frameworks by ensuring manageable liquidity in the system. Funds are set aside
and invested on behalf of the nation for inter-generational equity. However, SWFs
are being criticised on the ground that they unduly expand governmentrole in the
international financial market andrestrict the free flow of global capital.

Countries that have created SWFs include the United Arab Emirates (US$ 627
billion), Algeria (US$56.7 billion), Libya (US$70 billion), Kuwait (US$202.8 billion),
Venezuela ( US$0.8 billion), Saudi Arabia (US$439.1 bilion) and Iran (US$23.0
billion). Other countries that have had substantial investment through SWFs are
Norway (US$512 billion) and China (US$826.0 billion) 1.

Since the discovery of crude oil deposits in the late 1950s, there have been several
afttempts to put aside some of the surplus receipts from crude oil price exports. In
2004, efforts were made, through the creation of the ECA, to save for the future
and stabilise any budget deficit that could arise from oil price shocks. In 2010, the
Nigerian government commenced the process of establishing a SWF, aimed at
safeguarding the country's resources for future generations and building a robust
institutional framework for a strong fiscal policy and prudent management of
excess crude earnings. A draft bill on the fund had been submitted to the National
Assembly for necessary legislation and the proposed fund had been seeded with
US$1.0 billion of capital. With this development, the ECA would gradually transform
into the SWF.

Source: Sovereign Wealth Fund Institute, December 2010. www.swfinstitute.org/fund-ranking'

5.7 CONSOLIDATED FEDERAL GOVERNMENT DEBT

The consolidated Federal Government debt stock, as at 31st December 2010 was
5,241.7 billion, or 17.8 per cent of GDP, compared with&3,818.5 billion, or 15.1 per cent of
GDP in 2009. Analysis of the debt showed that the domestic component constituted 86.8
per cent and the external 13.2 per cent. The increase reflected, largely, the substantial
borrowing through the issuance of FGN Bonds and treasury bills to finance projects and
the settlement of confractual obligations. Consequently, the stock of FGN Bondsrose from
R1,974.9 billionin 2009 to#2,901.6 billion and accounted for 63.7 per cent of the total, while
freasury bills grew from &797.5 billion in 2009 to &1,277.1 billion and accounted for 28.1 per
cent of the total. At end-December 2010, external debt outstanding increased by 16.8 per
centto US$4.6 billion (M689.8 billion), while the domestic componentincreased by 41.0 per
centfromitslevelin 2009.

109

L
9
Z
<
<
T
| -
prd
L
=
Z
o
LI
>
O
V)
(&)
Z
<
>
O
—l
o)
o
<
)
(%)
(e



(18]
O
<
<
<
e
| -
Z
L
=
Z
-4
L
>
o)
V)
(a]
<
<
>
O
'
o)
o.
—l
<
)
(%]
T

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Figure 5.19: Consolidated Public Debt Stock (per cent of GDP)
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5.7.1 Domestic Debt

The stock of Federal Government domestic debt at end-December 2010 was 4,551.8
billion, representing an increase of 41.0 per cent over the level in 2009. The development
reflected the substantial borrowing through the issuance of FGN Bonds and treasury bills.
The banking system remained the dominant holder of the outstanding debt instruments
with, 67.9 per cent, and the non-bank public accounted for the balance of 32.1 per cent.
Disaggregation of the banking system's holdings indicated that &2,605.0 billion, or 84.2 per
cent, was held by the DMBs and DHs, and #487.5 billion, or 15.8 per cent by the CBN and
the Sinking Fund.

Analysis of the maturity structure of the domestic debt showed that instruments of two (2)
years and below accounted for2,850.7 billion or 62.6 per cent, followed by instruments of
two (2) tofive (5) years at501.7 billion, or 11.0 per cent; those with tenors of between five
(5) and ten (10) years totalled &481.1 billion or 10.6 per cent, and tenors of over ten (10)
years at#718.3 billion, or 15.8 percent.

Figure 5.20: Composition of Domestic Debt Stock by Holders in 2010
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5.7.2 External Debt

At US$4.6 billion, Nigeria's external debt grew by 16.0 per cent over the level at end-
December 2009. The rise reflected the drawdown of additional multilateral loans by the
Federal Government, amounting to US$713.3 milion. Of the total external debt
outstanding, the share of multilateral institutions was US$4.2 billion and accounted for 92.1
per cent, while 'others' totalling US$0.4 billion accounted for the balance.

5.7.3 DebtService Payments and Debt Sustainability Analysis

Total debt service payments’ stood at#407.4 billion, or 1.4 per cent of GDP and comprised
R53.3 billion, or US$0.35 billion for external and &354.1 billion for domestic debt. The
external debt service comprised amortization (principal repayment) of &38.0 billion, or
71.4percentand actualinterest payments of i415.3 billion, or 28.6 per cent. Domestic debt
service indicated that amortization stood at 8334.7 billion, or 94.5 per cent, while interest
paymentwas i1 9.5billion, or 5.5 per cent of the total.

The analysis of debt sustainability revealed that the 7/, 4 analysis of Nigeria's debt
deblt STOCK/GDP rq’rio remained low relative to the SUSTOinCJbi’ify revealed that at 17.8
moxmum infernational threshold of 30.0'|oer cent, per cent, the debt stock/GDP ratio
though it weakened from 15.4 per cent in 2009 t0 o mained low relative to the
17.8 per cent in 2010. At 169.7 per cent, the debt maximum international threshold of
stock/revenue ratio, which shows the quantum of 30.0 percent of GDP.

total revenue required to redeem the total debt

stock, worsened in 2010, compared with 144.3 per

cent in 2009. The debt service/revenue ratio improved from 20.5 per cent in 2009 to 13.2
per cent in 2010, implying that a lower proportion of the total revenue was devoted to
interest/principalrepayments during the year.

°This represents actual debt service payments by the Debt Management Office which may differ from the figuresin
the Federal Governmentfinances table thatindicates contribution to the external creditors' fund.
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Table 5.4: Debt Service Payment (Naira billion) and Debt Sustainability Indicators (per cent)
International

Indicators Thresholds 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
External Debt Service - 831.04 | 117.21 9.03 17.38 15.3
w (Interest Payments)
O Amortization - External )
> Debt 34.50 11.39 46.16 46.46 38.0
< Domestic Debt Service
> (Interest Payments) - 166.84 185.37 232.98 271.34 19.47
— Amortization - Domesfic - 55.73 67.26 23829 | 207.36 334.7
— Debt
E Total Debt Service - 1,088.11 381.23 526.46 542.54 407 .4
E Total Debt/GDP 30 11.8 12.5 11.6 154 17.8
e
E Total External Debt/GDP 30 2.4 2.1 2.0 2.4 2.4
8 Total Domestic Debt/GDP 40-60 9.4 10.4 9.6 13.1 15.4
(D Total External Debt/Export 100 6.0 53 44 85 6.2
(%) : ) . ) )
(a] Total Debt 20-25
= Servico/Revenue (%) (Ma.25) 23.3 13.9 10.5 20.5 13.2
: Total Debt/Revenue (%) 150 113.8 111.3 88.0 144.3 169.7
(@) Source: Debt Management Office
o
o.
-
<
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CHAPTER SIX

REAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS

(~he economy was vibrant as growth in domestic oufput was robust and broad-
J based in 2010,due to sound economic management policies and vast economic

reforms. The real Gross Domestic Product (GDP), measured in 1990 basic prices,
grew by 7.9 per cent, compared with 7.0 per cent in 2009. Growth in 2010 was atfributed,
largely, to the performance of the non-oil sector, which grew by 8.5 per cent,
complemented by a significant increase in oil sector output. Sectoral analyses showed
that agricultural output grew by 5.7 per cent, building and construction by 12.2 per cent,
the services sector by 11.9 per cent, and wholesale and retail frade by 11.2 per cent.
Industrial output grew by 5.3 per cent. This was attributed, largely, fo the implementation
of the Federal Government amnesty programme which precipitated increased crude oil
production and increased government funding of critical infrastructure. The output of
solid minerals, as well as manufacturing, also expanded. Inflationary pressure moderated,
but remained above the single digit. Various government programmes and policies on
improving the state of critical infrastructure and availability of credit to the real sector also
impacted positively on growth. Challenges to the real sector in the period under review
remained principally poorinfrasfructure, the most serious of which was inadequate power
supply.

6.1 DOMESTIC OUTPUT

Provisional data from the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) showed that the Gross
Domestic Product (GDP), measured at 1990
constant basic prices, was estimated at N775.4
billion in 2010, indicating a growth rate of 7.9 per
cent. This exceeded the 7.0 per cent recorded in
2009 and the average annual growth rate of 6.7
per cent for the period 2006 2010, but lower than
the target growth rate of 10.0 per cent for the year.
As in previous years, agriculture accounted for the
greatest share of the GDP growth rate, as it
contributed 2.4 percentage points, followed by
services with 2.1 percentage points; wholesale
and retail frade contributed 2.0 percentage
points; and building and construction 0.2
percentage point. Industry as a group made a positive contribution of 1.1 percentage
point, compared with a 0.4 percentage point contribution in 2009. Growth in GDP

The Gross Domestic Product (GDP),
measured at 1990 constant basic
prices, was estimated at #&775.4
billion in 2010, indicating a growth
rate of 7.9 per cent. This exceeded
the 7.0 per centrecordedin 2009 and
the average annual growth rate of
6.7 per cent for the period 2006 2010,
butlower than the target growth rate
of 10.0 per centforthe year.
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reflected, largely, the sound and stable monetary and fiscal policies, as well as the
favourable weather conditions which boosted agricultural output. Other drivers of growth
included anincrease in crude oil production throughout the year, stability in the price and
supply of petroleum products, the successful implementation of the Federal Government
amnesty programme, huge investment in infrastructure by government, building and
constfruction activities across the country and continued expansion in the
telecommunications sub-sector.

Figure 6.1 GDP Growth Rate (2006-2010)
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Table 6.1: Sectoral Growth Rates of GDP at 1990 Constant Basic Prices (per cent)

Activity Sector 2006 2007 2008 2009 1/ 2010 2/
1. Agriculture 7.4 71 6.3 5.9 57
Crop Production 7.5 7.3 6.2 5.8 5.7
Livestock 6.9 6.9 6.9 6.5 6.5
Forestry 6.0 6.1 6.1 5.9 5.9
Fishing 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.2 6.0
2. Industry -2.5 -2.2 -3.4 2.0 53
Crude Petroleum -4.5 -4.5 -6.2 0.5 4.6
Solid Minerals 10.3 12.8 12.8 12.1 12.3
M anufacturing 9.4 9.6 8.9 7.9 7.6
3. Building & Construction 13.0 13.0 13.1 12.0 12.2
4. Wholesale & Retail Trade 15.3 15.2 14.0 11.5 11.2
5. Services 9.2 9.9 104 10.8 11.9
Transport 6.9 7.0 7.0 6.8 6.7
Communications 32.5 28.5 34.0 34.2 34.5
Utilities 4.9 4.9 3.7 3.2 33
Hotel & Restaurant 12.9 13.0 12.9 11.9 12.0
Finance & Insurance 5.0 5.0 4.8 4.0 3.9
Real Estate & Business Services 11.3 11.4 11.4 10.6 10.4
Producers of Govt. Services 5.9 5.9 6.0 5.9 57
Comm., Social & Pers. Services 10.6 10.6 10.7 9.8 9.9
TOTAL (GDP) 6.0 6.5 6.0 7.0 7.9
NON-OIL (GDP) 9.4 9.5 9.0 8.3 8.5
1/ Revised

2/ Provisional

Source: National Bureau of Statistics (NBS)
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Table 6.2: Sectoral Contribution to Growth Rates of GDP at 1990 Constant Basic Prices (percentage points)

Activity Sector 2006.0 2007.0 2008.0 2009 1/ 20101/
1. Agriculture 3.1 3.0 2.8 25 24

Crop Production 2.8 2.7 2.4 2.2 2.1
2. Industry -0.7 -0.6 -0.5 04 1.1

Crude Petroleum -1.1 -1.0 -0.9 0.1 0.7
3. Building & Construction 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2
4. Wholesale & Retail Trade 21 23 23 2.0 2.0
5. Services 14 1.6 1.7 1.8 2.1

Communication 0.5 0.6 0.7 1.0 1.3
TOTAL (GDP) 6.0 6.5 6.0 7.0 7.9
NON-OIL (GDP) 9.4 9.5 9.0 8.3 8.5
1/ Revised

2/ Provisional
Source: National Bureau of Statistics (NBS)

Non-oil GDP grew by 8.5 per cent in 2010, compared with 8.3 per cent in 2009. The
performance was driven, largely, by agricultural production which grew by 5.7 per cent,
aftributable to the favourable weather conditions, improved supply of inputs, and the
impact of various government intervention programmes and policies. Other drivers of
growth in non-oil GDP included building and construction, services, and wholesale and
retail frade, which recorded growth rates of 12.2, 11.9 and 11.2 per cent, respectively. In
the services sub-sector, communications recorded the highest growth rate of 34.5 per
cent, buoyed by the sustained liberalisation and expansion of telecommunications
services. In 2010, industrial output grew by 5.3 per cent. This development was attributable
mainly to the effective and successful implementation of the Federal Government
amnesty programme, which paved the way for an increase in crude oil production,
stability in the price and supply of petfroleum products, as well as huge government
investment in critical infrastructure development. Other government programmes and
policies in support of the real sector, especially small- and medium-scale enterprises, also
impacted positively on growth. Solid minerals and manufacturing output grew by 12.5
and 7.6 percent, respectively.
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Figure 6.2: Sectoral Share in GDP
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Figure 6.3: Growth Rate of Major Sectors of Non-oil GDP
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Sectoral analysis indicated that the agricultural sector contributed the largest share of
40.9 per cent to real GDP in 2010, compared with 41.7 per cent in 2009. The share of
industry and crude oilin GDP declined from 20.8 and 16.3 per cent, respectively in 2009, to
20.3 and 15.8 per cent. The confributions of solid minerals and manufacturing
components of industry remained insignificant. Services as a group contributed 18.1 per
cent to the GDP, of which communications, finance and insurance, utilities and transport
accountedfor4.6,3.6,3.2and 2.7 percentage points, respectively.

Figure 6.4: Contribution to Growth Rate of Non-oil GDP
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Provisional data showed that real domestic demand at 1990 purchasers' price (GDP by
Expenditure approach) fell by 6.2 per cent and stood at #&525.2 billion in 2010, compared
with &560.0 billion in 2009. Private consumption was &193.7 billion, while government final
consumption expenditures totalled &254.1 billion in 2010, compared with &264.1 billion
and N215.6 billion, respectively in the preceding year. This indicated a decrease of 26.7
per centinreal private consumption expenditure and an increase of 17.9 per centinreal
government consumption expenditure. Realinvestment (gross fixed capital formation) fell
by 3.6 per cent, while net exports grew by 150.1 per cent, in real terms. The increase in
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government consumption was attributed mainly to government's huge investment in the
power sector and other critical infrastructure, while the decrease in private consumption
resulted from the impact of the low level of credit to the economy, particularly to the
private sector, exacerbated by the dip in the capital market occasioned by the global
economic and financial crises, and the double digit inflation recorded during the year. As
ashare of aggregate demand, private consumption constituted 36.9 per cent.

Figure 6.5: GDP (Expenditure Approach) at 1990 Purchasers'
Price
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6.2 AGRICULTURE

6.2.1. Agricultural Policy and Institutional Support

Government intervention in the agricultural sector was informed by the need for national
food security to ensure sustainable access to, and availability and affordability of good
quality food for all Nigerians. Other objectives of government included the production of
agricultural raw materials for the industrial sector and the export market, promotion of the
value-chain approach in the agricultural sector, enhancement of farm income and
reduction of poverty.

Government vigorously pursued the establishment of agro-processing centres and export
crop handling through a Public-Private Partnership (PPP) arrangement, This was informed
by lessons of experience from past programmes that had over-emphasized production
and the impact of the global food crisis of 2007 and 2008. To this end, 17 integrated large
scale rice processing mills in 12 states of the Federation were at various stages of
completion. The states are: Adamawa, Anambra, Bayelsa, Benue, Ebonyi, Enugu, Kano,
Kebbi, Kwara, Niger, Ogun and Taraba. When operational, the mills would significantly
boost local capacity to produce high quality processed rice. In addition, the
establishment of 6 export crop handling, preservation and conditioning cenfres
commenced in Cross River, Enugu, Gombe Kaduna, Kebbi and Nasarawa states.
Furthermore, the construction of 8 agro-processing centres commenced in existing grain
silo complexesin Benue, Cross River, Jigawa, Gombe, Kwara, Niger, Ondo and Oyo states.
In addition, the establishment of 2 agro-processing estates commenced in Bakura and
Maradunin Zamfara state for the production of edible flour, milledrice and vegetable oil.
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Government continued to provide support to farmers under the Fertilizer Market
Stabilization Programme. The Federal Government provided the sum of :§22.30 billion as its
25 per cent subsidy contribution to the procurement and distribution of 200,000 tonnes of
fertilizer to the states and the FCT, valued at &89.31 billion. This represented the highest
provision in any single year since the inception of the fertilizer subsidy programme in 1999.
However, as a long-term strategy to cut import dependence, there were renewed
emphasis on partnering with local ferfilizer manufacturers and blenders to produce
suitable blends of fertilizer for the country, as well as promote the use of organic fertilizers to
complement the inorganic ones.

The Nigerian Country-Stat Project was launched on September 16, 2010 to address the
perennial problem of the absence of areliable agricultural database for the country. The
Project was sponsored by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, in collaboration with the
Food and Agriculture Organization (FAQ).

The Guaranteed Minimum Price Scheme (GMPS), instituted in 2008 to encourage farmers
and stabilize food prices, was sustained. A total of 63 licensed buying agents were
engaged nationwide while the sum of &18.76 billion was spent on the purchase of assorted
grains and garri for storage under the Strategic Grains Reserve Programme. Besides the 12
functional silos, with a combined capacity of 300,000 tonnes, additional ones were being
constructed across the country to bring the national storage capacity to 1,350,000 fonnes.

In the fisheries sub-sector, activities were focused on achieving self-sufficiency in fish
production, through the improvement of the means of production, processing, storage
and marketing. Some major achievements recorded included: the rehabilitation of 5
modern fish hatcheries and fingerlings production centres at Olupona (Osun State), Tiga
Dam (Kano State), Gubi Dam (Bauchi State), Mando (Kaduna State) and Umuna-Okigwe
(Imo State). Government also established fish feed and fingerlings production centres
nationwide; 12 cage fish culture development centres in all the geo-political zones;
ornamental fish production centres in Imo, Edo, Ogun and Rivers States and; shrimp
production centres in Ekiti, Nasarawa and Oyo States. The design and construction of the
Lokoja boatyard and the model fish feed mill in lbadan at &35.0 million was also
undertaken. In addition, there were sensitisation workshops on fish farming and fish seed
certificationin all 36 states and the FCT.

Access to affordable credit continued to receive attention as the CBN monitored and
encouraged the disbursement of funds under the &200 bilion Commercial Agricultural
CreditScheme (CACS). Asat end-December 2010, the Bank hadreleased96.81 billion to
11 participating banks for disbursement to 86 projects/promoters (including 18 state
governments).

In order to further improve the lending environment in the agricultural sector the CBN, in
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collaboration with other stakeholders, initiated the Nigerian Incentive-based Risk Sharing
System for Agricultural Lending (NIRSAL).
Specifically, the objectives of NIRSALincluded the following:

. Stimulate innovations in agricultural
lending; To further improve the lending
EnCOUI’Clge bOnklending fo TheseCTOr; environment in the agricu”’ure
Eiminate state dependency by banks for sectorthe CBN, in collaboration with
deployingloanable funds to agriculture; other stakeholders, initiated the
into agriculture; and Sharing System for Agricultural
¢ Build a business approach to lending to the
sector and motivate banks to share in the
risk.

The Rural Finance Institution Building Programme (RUFIN) commenced operations during
the year. The Programme has the potfential of
impacting positively on the capacity of rural
financial institutions to meet the credit
requirements of rural farm communities. The
programme was being implemented in 12
selected states through a loan of US$27.2 million
from IFAD, a grant of US$0.5 million from the Ford
Foundation and counterpart funding from the
Federal Government and the participating states.

The increase in agricultural
production was propelled, largely, by
the favourable weather conditions
and the sustained implementation of
various agricultural programmes
initiatedin 2009.

6.2.2 Agricultural Production

At255.9 (1990=100), the provisional aggregate index of agricultural production increased
by 5.7 per cent, compared with the 6.8 per cent increase in 2009. The growth was,
however, below the national sectoral target of 8.0 per cent. The increase in agricultural
production was propelled, largely, by the favourable weather condition and the
sustained implementation of various agricultural programmes initiated in 2009.

6.2.2.1 Crop Production

The output of staples grew by 5.7 per cent, compared with the 6.2 per cent growthin 2009.
Similarly, the output of cash crops increased by 7.2 per cent, relative to the level in the
preceding year.
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Table 6.3: Growth in Major Crop Production (per cent)

Crop 2009 2010 Crop 2009 2010
Wheat 7.8 Plantain 7.9

Sorghum 8.1 Potatoes 99

Rice (Paddy) 9.1 Yam 920

Maize 9.1 Beans 920

Millet 9.7 Cassava 24

Soya Beans 100 Palm Oil 11.1

Rubber 2.5 Cocoa 72

The crops sub-sector sustained its impressive performance on account of the favourable
weather conditions in most parts of the country and the continuation of various
government programmes initiated in 2009. One of such initiatives is the identification of,
and targeted intervention in, thirteen (13) strategic crops by the Federal Government.
Consequently, cassava output grew by 6.9 per cent while paddy rice production
increased by 4.0 per cent overthe levelin 2009.

6.2.2.2 Llivestock

Livestock production increased by 6.4 per cent, compared with the 6.8 per centincrease
in the preceding year. The development was attributed to the measures taken to control
livestock diseases, especially the deadly Avian Flu, and improved access to credit.
Further analysis showed that poultry and beef production increased by 19.5 and 8.9 per
cent, respectively, when compared with the growth ratesin 2009. This was as aresult of the
support provided to expand the livestock value chain, including the establishment of
modern abattoirs and sanitary sale outlets across the country.

6.2.2.3 Fishery

Fish output increased by 7.0 per cent from its level in 2009 to 759,163 tonnes. This was,
however, lower than the estimated national demand of 1.5 million tonnes, but reflected
the impact of the various efforts by government towards improving activities in the value
chain of the sub-sector.

6.2.2.4 Forestry

Forestry production increased by 4.9 per cent to 165.1 million cubic metres, but was lower
than the 5.9 per cent recorded in 2009. The increase was attributed to the sustained
demand for wood products. The Forestry Research Institute of Nigeria (FRIN) continued to
intensify efforts in the supply of improved breeder seedlings to replace the harvested tree
stocks in order to sustain wood production. Challenges faced by the sub-sector in 2010
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included inadequate and untimely distribution of fertilizers, dearth of processing and
storage facilities and aninefficient transportation infrastructure.

6.2.3 Agricultural Prices

The prices of most of Nigeria's agricultural export commodities were higher in 2010 when
compared to the previous year. The overall index, computed in US dollar terms, stood at
727.7 (1990=100), representing an increase of 26.9
per cent over the level in 2009. Cocoa and palm oil
recorded the highest price increases of 46.9 and
31.4 per cent, respectively over the levels in 2009.
The increase in the price of cocoa was attributed,
largely, to the relatively strong demand brought
about by a cut in output, arising from bad weather conditions in some producing
countries, the spread of crop diseases, smuggling activities in some producing countries,
the fear of a supply shortage in 2011, and currency fluctuations'®. Coffee, soyabean,
cotton and coprarecorded price increases of 5.6, 6.2, 20.9 and 9.4 per cent, respectively.
In naira terms, the all-commodities price index increased by 29.2 per cent to 10,347.7
(1990=100) in 2010. The prices of cocoaq, cotfton, palm oil, coffee, copra and soya beans
recordedincreased of 46.9,20.9,31.4,5.6,7.2and 6.0 per cent, respectively.

Available data indicated that the
domestic prices of most
commoditiesincreased.

Available data indicated that the domestic prices of most commodities increased,
ranging from 1.6 per cent forrubber to 72.3 per cent for wheat. The increase in prices was
aftributed to the high cost of farm inputs and increased demand from agro-processors,
industrial users and neighbouring countries.

Figure 6.6: Average Prices of Selected Cash Crops
(Naira per Tonne)
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BOX 7: RECENT CBN INITIATIVES TO BOOST REAL SECTOR ACTIVITIES

The real sector plays strategic roles in an economy, particularly in a developing
economy such as Nigeria. First, the sector produces and distributes tangible goods
and services required to satisfy aggregate demand. Its performance is a gauge or
an indirect measure of the standard of living of the people. Second, the
performance of the sector can be used to gauge the effectiveness of
macroeconomic policies. Third, a vibrant real sector, particularly the agriculture
and manufacturing sub-sectors, creates more linkages in the economy than any
other sector, and thus, reduces the pressure on the external sector. Fourth, it builds
capacity and generates employment andincome.

The sector has, however, grossly underperformed as a result of various constraints.
The major constraints were poor access to credit the high cost of credit,
inadequate power supply and other infrastructural challenges. The constraint of
credit has been further exacerbated by the impact of the global financial crisis on
the economy, as the pool of loanable funds shrank significantly. Against this
background, the CBN and the Federal Government initiated measures to boost
creditto therealsector. These initiativesincluded the following:
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200 Billion Commercial Agricultural Credit Scheme (CACS)

The Scheme was established in 2009 by the CBN, in collaboration with the Federal
Ministry of Agriculture and Water Resources (FMA&WR). The objective of the
Scheme was to promote commercial agricultural enterprises in Nigeria. The
Scheme was funded through the issuance of FGN Bonds worth :200 billion. The first
tranche of &100 billion was raised and passed on to participating banks for on-
lending to farmers. All the 24 banks in the country were expected to participate in
the administration of the Scheme, but only 11 banks have been involved so far. By
end- December 2010, the CBN had released the sum of N96.81 bilion for
disbursement to 86 projects/promoters, including 18 state governments.

200 Billion Small and Medium Scale Enterprises Guarantee Scheme (SMECGS)

The 200 Billion Small and Medium Scale Enterprises Guarantee Scheme (SMECGS)
was established by the CBN in 2010. The main objectives of the Scheme were to:
fast-track the development of the SME/manufacturing sector of the Nigerian
economy, set the pace for the industrialisation of the economy; and increase
access to credit by promoters of SMEs and manufacturers. The Scheme provides
guarantees on loans by banks to the sector in order to absorb the risks that had
inhibited banks from lending to the real sector.

The activities covered under the Scheme include manufacturing and the

122



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

agricultural value chain, private educational institutions, and the processing,
packaging and distribution of primary products. Beneficiaries would be SMEs with
assets not exceeding :R300 million and a labour force of 11 to 300 staff. A maximum
amount of &#100 million would be guaranteed which could be in the form of working
capital, term loans for refurbishment or equipment upgrade or expansion, and
overdraft. The lending rate would be the prime lending rate of the banks. The
guarantee covers 80 per cent of the said amount and is valid up to the maturity
date of the loan (with maximum tenure of 5 years). All deposit money and
development banks are eligible to participate in the Scheme. By end-December
2010, two applications, valued N7.5million and &100 million each had been
approved for NERFUND, Abuja and the Nnewi branch of FBN, respectively.

200 Billion SME Restructuring/Refinancing Fund

The CBN established the Fund forre-financing orre-structuring of banks' existing loan
portfolios to the manufacturing sector and SMEs. The Fund was sourced from the
K500 billion debenture stock issued by the Bank of Industry (BOI). Its main objective
was to enhance access to credit by manufacturers and improve the financial
position of the DMBs. All the DMBs and DFls, excluding BOI, would participate in the
Fund. Facilities under the Scheme would include long-term loans for the acquisition
of plant and machinery, and re-financing of existing lease and working capital. The
loan amount for asingle obligor would be a maximum of 1.0 billion in respect of re-
financing orre-structuring, with aninterest rate of 7 per cent payable on a quarterly
basis.

The expected economic benefits of the Scheme would include the creation of an
additional 7,195 direct jobs and substantial indirect employment for suppliers of
inputs, marketers and distributors of products; enhanced capacity utilisation from
2510 29 per cent; areductionin the cost of fund, as well as a favourable cash flow to
beneficiaries.

The sum of &199.67 bilion had beenreleased to the BOl by the CBN, out of which the
sum of &/197.59 had been disbursed to the participating banks for restructuring or
refinancing of loans to 539 eligible projects as at end-December, 2010. A sectoral
breakdown of the amount disbursed is shownin Figure 6.7 below.
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Figure 6.7: Sectoral Analysis of Disbursment of the SME
Restructuring/Refinancing Fund

. Paper/Allied Products ICT Agro Allied
Textile/Leather 8.94% 2.40% 6.04% Solid Minerals

4.33% Oil&Gas \ /-5-35%
Transportation 4.25%
1.03%

Hotel/Tourism
0.57%

Engineering&Constructi
on

Pharmaceutical 22.76%

5.14%

=300 Billion Power and Aviation Intervention Fund

The CBN set aside &300 bilion to stimulate credit to the domestic power and
troubled airline industries. The main objective was to refinance existing loans and
leases and provide working capital for the power and aviation sectors. Borrowing
under the Scheme would attract a concessionary interest rate of 7 per cent (1.0%
BOI as management fee and 6.0% to participating banks), payable on a quarterly
basis, including all charges. The Fund is being managed by BOI, with the Africa
Finance Corporation as the technical adviser. All commercial banks and
Development Finance Institutions (excluding BOI) have been enlisted to
participate in the Scheme.
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Companies in the power sub-sector wishing to participate in the Scheme must
have been dulyregistered andinvolved in the electricity power supply value chain,
which include power generation, fransmission, distribution and associated
services. Also, eligible projects could be promoted by the private or public sector or
a combination of both, and be properly structured, either as a profit-oriented
business concern or a public service so long as on the condition that contracted
cash flows or financing support is provided to ensure repayment of both principal
and inferest, in addition to ensuring long-term viability. With regard to aviation
projects, any airline duly incorporated under the Companies and Allied Matters
Act (CAMA) 1990 and operating in Nigeria would eligible to apply for the facility.

By end-December, 2010, 16 and 5 applications valued #147.54 billion and &37.62
billion for the aviation and power sectors, respectively, had been received,
processed and awaiting approval/disbursement by the CBN. In addition, 3
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applications valued #5.85 billion were being processed for aviation projects while
15 applications valued &47.68 bilion were being similarly processed for power
projects. The total value of applications being processed was &238.71 billion. It was
expected that the balance of :116.28 billion would be committed by the end of the
first quarterin 2011.

The Nigerian Incentive-based Risk Sharing System for Agricultural Lending (NIRSAL)
The Nigerian Incentive-based Risk Sharing System for Agricultural Lending (NIRSAL),
was an initiative of the CBN, in collaboration with various stakeholders, to
simultaneously address, in an integrative manner, the risks and capacity
bottlenecks inherent in the agricultural value-chain. NIRSAL is a demand-driven
credit facility, rather than the current supply-driven funding. It would adopt a value
chain approach to lending. Banks would be free to choose which part of the value
chain they would like to patronise. It would build the capacity of the banks to
engage and deliver loans; reduce counterpart risks facing banks through
innovative crop insurance products; reward performance in agriculfural lending;
and would be managed with performance-based incentives. The Scheme would
also pool current resources in CBN's agricultural financing schemes and other
investors' funds and transfer them to the five components of the programme that
would be managed outside of the CBN. The existing agricultural support
frameworks, such as CACS, ACGS, ACSS and NAIC, etc, would be assessed,
modified and integrated into five components of NIRSAL as follows: Risk Sharing
Facility (RSF), Insurance Component (IC), Technical Assistance Facility (TAF), Bank
Incentive Mechanism (BIM), and Agricultural Bank Rating System (ABRS).
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6.3 INDUSTRY

6.3.1 Indusirial Policy and Institutional Support

The need to diversify the resource base of the economy, especially away from the oil and
gas sector, and increase the confribution of other sectors to gross domestic output,
among others, defined the policy thrust of 2010. Particularly, several initiatives were
pursued to reposition the industrial sector to play its pivotal role in the economy. The
Ministry of Petroleum gave unfettered access to low pour fuel oil (LPFO) to manufacturers
at concessionary prices.

The Federal Ministry of Commerce and Industry set up a committee to develop a 10-year
National Strategic Industrial Development Master Plan that would ensure increased
employment and enhance output from the sector. The committee, at the end of 2010,
had finalised consultations with stakeholders and developed an Industrial Sector Specific
Action Plan (ISSAP). The Plan documented the various needs of the industrial sub-sector
and idenfified actionable processes that would serve as inputs to the broader objectives
of the Vision 20:20: 20 proposals.
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The Ministry also took wide-ranging steps to stem the boftlenecks associated with the
importation of industrial inputs, particularly raw materials and infermediate goods, with
the intention of reducing cost per unit of input. One of the key actions was the
establishment of a task force on trade facilitation to enforce compliance with multilateral
and regional decisions, prune down the numerous check points in border areas, and
harmonise the activities of allgovernment agenciesinvolvedin foreign trade.

The Federal Government unveiled a power sub-sector reform agenda. The reform is
premised on the notion that private sector participation would break the vicious cycle of
poor power supply in the country. In August 2010, the Roadmap for the Power Sector
Reform was launched to fast-track the implementation of the Electricity Power Sector
Reform Act, whichwas enactedin 2005. The Roadmap aims to deregulate the generation
and distribution segments of the market. Consequently the PHCN would be unbundled
info six autonomous generation companies and eleven distribution companies. Each
company would be individually licensed, while government, through, the Transmission
Company of Nigeria (TCN), would control the segment. The gas-fired generation
companies would be privatised through the sale of atf least 51 per cent of governments
equity stake. Operators of the hydro-generation companies would be granted long-term
concessions. In the distribution companies, 51 per cent of government equity stake would
also besold.

In the cement sub-sector, the Federal Government, through the Federal Ministry of
Commerce and Industry, confinued to pursue the policy of backward integration, with
the objective of growing local productive capacity and conserve foreign exchange on
imports. As part of the measures, the Ministry revoked all unutilised cementimport licences
issued between 2002 and 2008, while new licences were issued to companies that had
demonstrated a visible commitment to local production of cement, effective between
July and end-December2010.

In the agro-allied sub-sector, the National Sugar Development Council, in conjunction
with Bank PHB, the CBN and the Nigerian Agricultural Insurance Corporation (NAIC),
continued the disbursement of input loans and credits o members of 40 outgrower
associations. The Bank of Industry approved 58 billion to 675 small enterprises to increase
the utilisation of raw materials, increase export potentials, deepen banks' credit delivery
process, through cooperative lending and group guarantee arrangements. The Federal
Ministry of Commerce and Industry collaborated with the Common Fund for Commodity
(CFC) for the provision of prototype cassava processing plants, and one of which is
located in Lafia, Nasarawa state. The Nigerian Palm Qil Project also benefited from the
US$4.6 billion grant to Nigeria and Cameroun to improve production, through the
acquisition ofimproved management capacities of small producers.

In 2010, the Federal Government, through its agencies and parastatals inaugurated
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several financing schemes to unlock the potfentials of the industrial sub-sector. Such
packages included the 100 Billion Textile Intervention Fund, the 1200 Billion Commercial
Agriculture Credit Scheme, the =300 Billion Power and Aviation Intervention Fund, the
&200 Billion Refinancing/Restructuring Facility for the manufacturing sector, and the &200
Small and Medium Scale Enterprises Credit Guarantee Scheme. At end-December 2010,
the restructuring/refinancing facility had been fully drawn down, and the textile fund had
facilitated the re-opening of two textile firmsin Kaduna and Kano states.

6.3.2 Industrial Production

The index of industrial production, estimated at 121.5 (1990 = 100) increased by 2.8 per
cent over the level in 2009. This was driven by the increase of 1.4 and 1.8 per cent in
manufacturing production and mining indices, respectively.

Figure 6.8: Index of Industrial Production 2006-2010 (1990 = 100)
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6.3.2.1 Manufacturing

The index of manufacturing production, estimated at 93.7 (1990=100) rose by 1.4 per cent
above the level of 2009, while the average capacity utilisation rate of the manufacturing
sub-sector also showed aslightimprovement, from 55.4 per centin 2009 to 55.5 per centin
2010. The increase was attributed, mainly, to the improved performance in the cement
sub-sector.

Figure 6.9: Index of Manufacturing Production and Capacity Utilisation
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6.3.2.2 Mining

6.3.2.2.1 Crude Qil

The Nigerian Local Content Policy Bill was passed by the National Assembly and
consequently signed into law in April, 2010. The major objectives of the Nigerian local
contentpolicy are as follows:

. Promote the addition of value to the localeconomy;

Increase local participationin the oiland gas sector;

Buildlocal capacity on the back of ongoing projects;

Increase linkage to othersectors of the nationaleconomy; and

Generally grow local content by 70.0 per cent.

* & o o

The mechanisms put in place to enhance the Nigerian local content included a project-
specific local content plan and the employment
of competent and qualified local contractors to
provide technical and non-technical services
and support. Other measures include investing in
the training of Nigerians to participate in higher-
level activities, as well as investing in the provision
of office space, logistics, accommodation, computing systems and other business-
support infrastructure, goods and services - all of which would be purchased locally to
augment other equipment procured internationally.

The increase in manufacturing was
attributed mainly, to the performance
in the cement sub-sectfor.

b. Crude Oil Production and Prices

i. Production

Nigeria's aggregate crude oil production, including condensates and natural gas liquids,
averaged 2.13 million barrels per day (mbd), or 777.45 million barrels in 2010, compared
with 1.82 mbd or 664.3 million barrels, in the preceding year. This represented a 17.0 per
cent increase relative to 2009. The development was aftributed to the success of the
Federal Government's amnesty programme, which brought relative peace to the Niger-
Deltaregion and paved the way forimproved oil production.

Aggregate export of crude oil was estimated at 1.68 mbd, or 613.2 million barrels,
comparedwith 1.37 mbd, or 500.1 million barrelsin the preceding year.

ii Prices

The average spot price of Nigeria's reference
The average spot price of Nigeria's crude, the Bonny Light, (37° API), stood at US$80.81
reference crude, the Bonny Light per barrel in 2010, compared with the preceding
(370 API), stood at $80.81 per barrelin year's average of US$62.08 per barrel, an increase
2010, compared with the preceding of30.2 per cent. The average prices of other crude
year's average of $62.08 per barrel, streams, such as the West Texas Infermediate (WTI)
anincrease of 30.2 per cent. at US$79.12; UK Bren at US$79.75, and Forcados at
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US$80.88 exhibited a similar trend as the Bonny
Light. The average price of OPEC's basket of 11
crude streams also increased by 26.8 per cent to
US$77.45 per barrel in 2010. The development was
duetothe globaleconomicrecovery.

The increased crude oil production
was attributed to the success of the
Federal Government's amnesty
programme, which brought relative
peace to the Niger-Deltaregion.

Figure 6.10: Bonny Light Monthly Prices in 2009 and 2010
(USS per barrel)
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i Refinery Utilisation
The volume of crude oil refined domestically was estimated at 6,996,486.0 tonnes, up from
the 2,887,815.0 tonnes processed in 2009.

6.3.2.22 Gas

New cost regimes for gas-to-power and gas-to-industry were infroduced to ensure
sustainability of gas supply to the power plants, as well as ensure that the manufacturing
sectorwas effectively coveredin the gas supply arrangement.

a. Gas Production

The volume of gas produced increased by 39.7 per cent to 58,005.96 MMm3, above the
level in 2009. Of the total, 76.7 per cent was utilised, while the balance was flared. About
48.9 per cent was sold to industries, such as the Power Holding Company of Nigeria
(PHCN), cement and steel companies, as against 36.4 per cent in 2009, while 15.1 per cent
was sold to the Nigeria Liquefied Natural Gas (NLNG). Gas converted to natural gas liquids
and gas lift accounted for 3.8 and 3.3 per cent, respectively, while the oil companies used
7.1 percentasfuel gos.
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Figure 6.11: Gas Production and Utilisation (2006-2010)
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6.3.2.2.3 Solid Minerals

a. Institutional Support for the Sector

As part of efforts to support the solid minerals sub-sector, the Federal Government, in 2010,
established a “Solid Minerals Development Fund”, as provided for in the Nigerian Mining
Act of 2007, to boost mining operations. Government also put in place numerous
incentives for foreign investors in the industry, as well as a favourable tax regime: a three-
year tax holiday for new companies, a 10 per cent reduction in the capital gains tax, a5
per cent reduction in companies' profit tax, as well as infernationally competitive fiscal
incentives enshrined in the law. The Ministry of Solid Mineral Development and the
Nigerian Geological Survey Agency (NGSA), in collaboration with the World Bank created
a data base, produced maps, reports and publications through national surveys. The
Metallurgical Inspectorate and Raw Materials Development Department (MI&RMD) was
established to regulate the operation of metallurgical industries by ensuring that
metallurgical raw materials and products produced in the country meet international
standards and comply with environmental regulations.

As part of the overall development initiative for the sub-sector, particularly curbingillegal
mining, especially in gemstones, the Federal Ministry of Mines and Steel Development
organized artisanal minersinto co-operative groups.

b. Solid Minerals Production

Provisional data showed that aggregate output of solid mineralsincreased by 7.8 per cent
to 48.3 million tonnes. The development was accounted for by increased production of
limestone, gold, lead/zinc and cassiterite marble. However, the production of other
minerals, such as barites, clay, iron ore, laterite and columbite declined.

6.3.3 Electricity Generation
The total installed electricity generation capacity stood at 8815 Mega Watts in 2010, an
increase of 4.1 per cent over the level in 2009. The composition of the electric power
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systemremained as follows: 1,938.4 MW of hydro-power (22.0 per cent) and 6,876.6 MW of
thermal power (78.0 per cent). The Power Holding Company of Nigeria (PHCN)
accounted for 74.6 per cent of the total installed capacity, while the IPPs accounted for
the remaining 25.4 per cent.

The performance of the power generating plants showed an increase of 7.1 percentage
pointin capacity utilisation, as their average capacity utilisation rose from 26.7 per centin
2009 t0 33.8 percentin2010.

Fig. 6.12: Nigeria's Power System Composition in 2010
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At2,981.9 mega-watts perhour (Mw/h), total electricity generationincreased by 32.08 per
cent above its level in 2009. The increase was attributed to an increase in gas supply to
thermalstations.

Figure 6.13: Electric Power Generation
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6.3.4 Energy Consumption

The aggregate energy consumedin 2010 showed animprovement, compared to 2009. At
179.1 (1990=100), the index of energy consumption rose by 2.8 per cent, compared witha
decline of 1.9 per centrecorded in 2009. In absolute terms, aggregate energy consumed
stood at 19.1 million tonnes of coal equivalent (tce) in 2010, from 18.3 million tce in the
preceding year, representing a 4.9 per cent fall. The improvement in aggregate energy
consumption was attributed to the increase in natural gas supply (by 143.6 percent).

6.3.4.1 Petroleum Products Consumption

The total volume of petroleum products consumed was about 7,758.25 million litres
compared with the level of 8,379.65 million litfres in 2009, representing a decrease of 7.4 per
cent. A breakdown by product showed that Premium Motor Spirit (PMS) had the highest
figure of 6,594.17 million litres (85.0% of total). This was followed by Automotive Gas Oil
(AGO), with 722.74 million litres (9.3% of total), Dual Purpose Kerosene (DPK, with 406.25
million litres (5.2%), and Low Pour Fuel Oil (LPFO), with 35.09 million litres (0.5%).

6.3.4.2 Electricity Consumption

At 2,383.08 mega-watts per hour (Mw/h), total estimated electricity consumption
increased by 15.6 per cent above the 2,060.71 Mw/h in 2009. The development was
aftributed to enhanced generation and improvement in the fransmission and distribution
infrastructure. Residential consumption accounted for 57.3 per cent of total electricity
consumption, while commercial and street-lighting, and industrial consumption
accountedfor26.1 and 16.6 per cent of the total, respectively.

Figure 6.14: Electricity Consumption
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6.3.4.3 Hydropower Consumption

At 3,582,840 tce, hydropower consumption in 2010 declined by 2.5 per cent, compared
with the level in 2009. The development was attributable to a fall in electricity generated
at the Shiroro plant, which fell by 49.0 per cent to 1,156,320.0 mwhin 2010, compared with
2,267,195.8 mwh in 2009. The performance of the Kainji and Jebba plants, however,
improved with generation increasing by 22.0 and 14.6 per cent, respectively.
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6.3.4.4. Coal Consumption

Estimated aggregate coal consumption remained low at 500.5 tonnes of coal equivalent.
The stagnation in coal consumption is a reflection of the shift of industrial consumers to
more environmentally friendly sources of energy.

6.3.5. Industrial Financing

6.3.5.1 Nigeria Export-Import Bank (NEXIM)

The Nigeria Export Import Bank (NEXIM) approved thirty-five (35) applications, valued at
)21,651.40 million, under its main facilities to various beneficiaries. The share of the various
facilities were as follows; total local input facility 89,943.36 million, direct lending facility
R7,390.30 million, the guarantee facility received §&4,017.74 million, while the stocking
facility got 8300.0 million. In the export support services, total availments amounted to
§6,880.80. Out of this amount, stocking and direct lending facilities got #1,600.00 and
:1322.94, respectively. The local input facility and the start-your-own-business facility
received &750.0 million and #0.70 million, respectively. The guarantee facility had the
highest allocation of i3,207.16 million.
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A sectoral breakdown of the disbursement showed that the services sector received the
highest amount of #4,227.31 million, or 54.56 per cent of the total, the agriculture sub-
sectorfollowed with 23.23 per cent while the manufacturing and solid minerals sub-sectors
got20.07 and 2.14 per cent, respectively.

Figure 6.15: Sectoral Distribution of NEXIM's Credit in 2010

2% 23%

6.4. TRANSPORTATION AND COMMUNICATIONS
6.4.1 Airline Services

6.4.1.1 Policy and Operational Environment

The airport modernization project which commenced two years ago contfinued with the
commissioning of the Total Radar Coverage of Nigeria (TRACON) built at the cost of
US$66.5 million. The Akanu lbiam International Airport, Enugu was reopened after
rehabilitation. In addition, approval was given by the Federal Government to re -model
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the Murtala Mohammed International Airport, Lagos; the Nnamdi Azikiwe International
Airport, Abuja; the Port Harcourt International Airport, Port Harcourt; and the Aminu Kano
International Airport, Kano to international standards at a total cost of N90.0 billion. Also, a
N50 billion intervention fund was established to boost the operations of domestic airlines.

The Federal Airports Authority of Nigeria (FAAN),
On August23, 2010, the United Stafes,  Nigerian Airspace Management Authority
FAA, granted Nigeria aviation (NAMA) and the Nigerian Civil Aviation Authority
Category 1 status. This allows (NCAA) continued to enforce international
Nigerian carriers fo fly directly fo the standards for passenger safety, for which a
US, while Arik Air was also issued a US- - security sensitization seminar for agents of foreign
FAA Operator Cerfification to gilines and a ministerial conference on civil
operate directflightsto the US. aviation security was held during the year. The

United State's Federal Aviation Agency (FAA)
granted the Aviation Category 1 Status to Nigeria. This allows Nigerian carriers to fly directly
to the US, while Arik Air was also issued a US-FAA Operator Certification to operate direct
flights to the US.
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6.4.1.2 Domestic Airlines

The operations of airlines on the domestic route improved in 2010. The number of
passengers airlifted increased by 12.8 per cent from 9.5 million in 2009 to 10.7 million. Also
aircraft movement increased by 8.0 per cent from 188,649 in 2009 to 203,710in 2010. The
development reflected increased competition, improved government funding and
greater public confidence in the sector. The performance of the sector was further
enhanced by inftensified efforts at the rehabilitation and replacement of obsolete
infrastructure in the sector by the Federal Government, in order to achieve full
implementation of the International Civil Aviation Organisation's Standards and
recommended practicesin the various areas of air fransportation.

6.4.1.3 Foreign Airlines

The operational performance of airlines on the international routes was impressive in 2010,
as the number of passengers airliftfed on the routes increased by 7.1 per cent to 3.2 million,
compared with 3.0 million in 2009. International aircraft movement also increased by 7.9
per cent from 32,643 aircrafts in 2009 to 35,214 in 2010. The development could be
aftributed fto political and economic stability in the country and the result of government's
effort at attracting investorsinto the country.

6.4.2 Railway Services

The Nigerian Railway Modernisation Project, which was resuscitated in 2009, continued in
2010. Ongoing rehabilitation projects included the upgrade of the outstanding 22km of
the 257km AjaokutaWarri standard gauge; the 640km JeblbaKano axial line; the 221km
ZarioKaura Namoda rail line; the culvert and drainage works at the AkerriMinna,
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KadunaKano and KanoChallowa sections. Work on the 488km Lagos-Jebba track
rehabilitation, confracted to China Civil Engineering Construction Corporation (CCECC),
alsorecorded significant progress.

The Nigerian Railway Corporation (NRC) Mass Transit service moved 1.4 million passengers
in 2010, compared with 1.09 million in 2009. The Corporation received 25 new C25-EMPD
locomotive engines between February and

September from General Electric (GE), Brazil af the 1,4 Nigerian Railway Modernization
cost of US$76.2 milion to boost mass transit Project which was resuscitated in
operations in the country. Also, it secured a US$200 2009 continuedin 2010.

million loan to refurbish its dilapidated rail network.

Consequently, the intra-city mass fransit frain

services of 11 trains per day in Lagos and Kano started, with plans to extend the same
facility to Port-Harcourt, Jos, Maiduguri and Enugu. The NRC also finalised arrangements
for the commencement of a cement freight frain from Larfarge Cement Company at
Ewekoro and Lakatabu to Lagos and other parts of the country.

6.4.3 Maritime Services

There were remarkable improvement in the activities in the maritime sector in 2010. This
was attributed to the successful implementation of the Federal Government Port Reform
Programme aimed at making Nigerian ports favourably competitive, with other ports in
the world. The Federal Government pursued key maritime programmes in the areas of
safety, security, marine environment protection and human development. Also, a
number of specialintervention projects were implemented to increase maritime activities,
including, the establishment of the Maritime Policy Advisory Group (MAPAG) and
constitution of the Ministerial Task Force on Wreck Removal.

The Cabotage Vessel Finance Fund (CVFF) established in 2003, generated over 13 billion
from the maritime sub-sectorin 2010, while 285 vessels were registered by the Nigerian Ship
Register Office, bringing the totalto 1,371 with a gross tonnage of 1,966,285.7in 2010.

The cargo throughput handled in Nigerian ports increased by 12.0 per cent from
66,908,322 metric tonnes in 2009 to 74,910,284 in 2010. General cargo shipment increased
by 10.4 percent from 8,196,251 metric tonnes in 2009 to 9,047,030, while crude oil shipment
increased by 41.0 per cent over the 101,622,957 metric tons in 2009. The increase in cargo
throughput reflected the regular dredging/maintenance of the channels that allowed for
bigger draught vessels with large volume of cargo into the Nigerian ports.

The improved performance in the sector was reflected in the average turnaround time of
vessels for all the ports, which declined to 5.9 days from 6.7 days in 2009, while the average
waiting time of vesselsin all ports dropped to 27.4 hours, from 50.4 hours in 2009. In the same
vein, dollar revenue generated and collected stood at $592.2 million and $457.8 million,
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respectively, indicating a growth of 15.3and 9.8 per cent over 2009, respectively.

Ship traffic at Nigerian ports increased in 2010. Available data show that the number of
ocean going vessels completed in 2010 stood at 4,962, reflecting an increase of 79.0 per
cent. The total gross tonnage of the ocean going vessels increased by 20.1 per cent to
108,621,872, compared with 97,796,560 in 2009. Coastal vessels that called at the ports in
2010increased by 26.1 per cent over 2009 to 21,950, while the gross tonnage of the coastall
vessels grew by 18.6 percentto 6,818,827in 2010.

6.44 Communications
The communications sector sustained its growth driven mainly by the Global System of
Mobile Communications (GSM).

Table 6.4: The Nigerian Telecommunications Market Statistics

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
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No. of Active Fixed Wired/Wireless Lines(‘000) 1,673 1,580 1,308 1,481 1,050
No. of Active Digital Mobile Lines (million) 32.32 55.24 62.99 73.10 87.29
No. of National Carriers 2 2 2 2 2
No. of Operating ISPs 117 117 83

No. of Active Licensed Fixed Line Operators 26 29 20 22

Number of Licensed Mobile Operators 4 4 9 8 8
Teledensity 24.18 29.98 45.93 53.23 63.11
Cumulative Investment ( US$ million) 8,150 11,500 | 12,000 @ 18,000

Source: Nigerian Communications Commission (NCC)

As at end-December 2010, the combined subscriber strength of the telecommunications
sub-sector had increased by 18.5 per cent, over its
December 2009 level, to atotal of 88,348,026 active
lines (1,050,237 fixed wired/wireless and 87,287,889
mobile lines). Consequently, the feledensity
increased from 53.23 lines per 100 inhabitants, as at
December 2009, to 63.11 lines per 100 inhabitants.
This exceeded the International
Telecommunication Union (ITU) minimum standard of 1:100. In addition, the output of the
sub-sector grew by 34.9 percentin 2010 and accounted for 4.6 per cent of the GDP. Other
developmentsin the sub-sectorincluded the launch of compulsory SIM card registrationin
May 2010.

The communications sector
continued sustained growth driven
mainly by the Global System of
Mobile Communications (GSM).

136



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Figure 6.16: Trends of Total Connected Lines and Teledensity

100,000,000 o= -+ == re=m+r e s e mm e e s e s e s e o 70)
80,000,000 f-------- s
= 50
60,000,000 f-------- 0
40,000,000 |
- 20

2 S B
0,000,000 2
° — 0

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

B 1 Fixed Wired/Wireless Mobile e Teledensity (Right Axis)

The commercial services of Glo-1 and Main-one broadband cables were launched to
reduce the cost of satellite bandwidth and provide quality service in telecommunications
and related fields. The leading Indian telecommunications company, Bharti-Airtel took
over Zain Africa the parent company of Zain Nigeria. Furthermore, pursuant to ifs
privatisation programme, the Federal Government continued its efforts to secure
investors' interest in the purchase of the Nigeria Telecommunications (NITEL) and its
subsidiary, Mobile Telecommunication (MTEL) to reposition NITEL.
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6.5 CONSUMER PRICES

Inflationary pressures moderated in 2010 though the rate remained above the single digit.
The composite Consumer Price Index (CPl) was revised, based on the Nigeria Living
Standard Survey (NLSS) 2003/2004 with the new base period as November 2009. Also, a
new sub-index, the Imported Food Index, was included in the revised CPl. The weight
assigned to foodin the CPlbasket wasreduced from 63.8t0 50.7 per cent.

The all-items composite CPl was 114.2 (November

2009=100) in December 2010, compared with 102.2 nflationary pressure moderated in
in the corresponding month of 2009. This 2010 though the rate remained
represented a year-on-year headline inflation rate  above the single digit.

of 11.8 per cent, which was 2.1 percentage poinfs

below the rate in December 2009.The

development was attributable to a number of factors, including an increase in
agricultural production, a decrease in the prices of staples, relative stability in the supply
and prices of petroleum products, seasonal effects, and the re-basing of the CPI.

The inflation rate, on a year-on-year basis, which stood at 14.4 per cent in January 2010,
wentup to 15.0in April, before assuming a downward trend to 13.6 per cent by the end of
the third quarter and 11.8 per cent at end-December 2010. Further analysis indicated that
the urban headline inflationrate (year-on-year) increased from 9.3 per centin 2009 to 10.7
per centin December 2010. However, the rural inflation rate fell from 16.6 to 12.7 per cent
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during the same period. The inflation rate at the end of the year exceeded both the
national and the WAMLZ single-digit inflationrate targets.

Table 6.5: Annual Headline Inflation Rates (Year-on- Year) (per cent)
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

January 10.7 8.0 8.6 140 144
February 10.8 7.1 8.0 14.6  15.6
March 120 5.2 7.8 144 148
April 12.6 | 4.2 8.2 13.3 15.0
May 105 46 9.7 132 129
June 85 | 64 120 1 11.2 | 14.1
July 30 48 140 ' 11.1 [ 13.0
August 3.7 4.2 124 1 11.0 | 13.7
September 6.3 4.1 13.0 104 13.6
October 6.1 4.6 147 11.6 13.4
November 7.8 5.2 148 124 12.8
December 8.5 6.6 15.1 1139 11.8
Average 8.4 5.4 11.5 | 12.6 138

Figure 6.17: Trends in Inflation in 2010
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In the same vein, the 12-month moving average headline inflation rate, which was 12.5
per cent at end-December 2009, rose to 13.7 per cent in 2010. The year-on-year food
inflation rate, which stood at 15.5 per cent at end-December 2009, went up by 0.4
percentage point in January 2010. It declined to 13.0 per cent in May, rose again to 14.1
per centin October, before declining to 12.7 per centin December 2010. Thus, food price
increase was the major driver of inflation.
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Figure 6.18: Trends in Inflation (Composite, Core and Food) in 2010
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The core inflation (all-items, less farm produce) on a
year-on-year basis, which stood at 12.1 per centin
January, increased to 13.2 per cent by March 2009, rverofinflafion.
It went from 11.7 per centin May to 13.2 per centin

Octoberand closed at 10.9 percentin December2010.

Food price increase was the major
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6.6 THESOCIALSECTOR

6.6.1 Demography

The 2006 population and housing census put Nigeria's population at 140,003,542, with an
annual growth rate of 3.2 per cent. The country's population was, therefore, estimated at
158,802,674 in 2010 and the total labour force was projected at 67,039,103 in 2010. In
fulfiiment of its mandate to provide the nation with accurate and reliable demographic
data, the National Population Commission conducted the 2010 Internal Migration Survey
(IMS) in all states of the Federation and the Federal Capital Territory.

6.6.2 Unemployment

Available estimates showed that the national unemployment rate in 2010 was 21.1 per
cent, compared with 19.7 per cent in 2009. When the unemployment stafistics was
disaggregated, itrevealed that almost half of 15 24 year olds that were unemployed lived
in the urban areas. The rise in the unemployment rate was largely attributed to the
increased number of school graduates with no matching job opportunities, a freeze on
employment in many public and private sector institutions, as well as the slow
disbursement of the capital budget by the Federal Government.
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Table 6.6: Labour Statistics, 2006-2010

2006 2007 2008* 2009* 2010*
Total Population 140,003,542 | 144,483,655 149,107,132 153,878,560 158,802,674
Total Labour Force 58,933,891 61,249,485 62,946,096 64,960,371 67,039,103
Total Employment! 50,886,826 52,326,923 53,807,775 55,529,624 57,306,572
Total Unemployment 8,047,065 | 8,922,562 9,204,515 9,499,059 9,803,029
Unemployment Rate
(%)? 12.3 12.7 14.9 19.7 21.1

Source: National Bureau of Statistics

1/TheLabour force consists of the number of people aged 15 and over who are employed (that is, those who
currently have jobs) and unemployed (that is, those who do not have jobs, but who are actively looking for work).
Individuals who do not fall into either of these groups, such as retired people and discouraged workers, are not
included in the calculation of the labour force.

2/The International Labour Organization (ILO) defines 'unemployment' as the proportion of the labour force which
was available for work but did not work for at least one hourin the week preceding the survey period. However, the
definition used in this Report is that of the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Nigeria. The NBS defines
unemployment as 'the proportion of the labour force that is available for work but did not work for at least 39 hours
inthe week preceding the survey period'.

*Staff Estimates
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CHAPTER SEVEN

EXTERNAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS

(~he external sector was under pressure, with the overall balance of payments (BOP)
J and international investment position (lIP) in deficit. The development was
reflected in the depletion of external reserves, huge import bills, rising external
debts, increased repatriations of investment income, declining foreign direct investment
(FDI) inflows, as well as the weak global economic recovery. The overall BOP deficit
represented 6.0 per cent of the gross domestic product (GDP,) while the current account
surplus narrowed from 8.0 per cent of GDP in 2009 to 1.5 per cent. The surplusin capitaland
financial account reduced by 6.1 percentage point to 1.8 per cent of GDP in 2010. These
developments, notwithstanding, there was a rebound in the oil sector, occasioned by
remarkable improvements in crude oil production and international prices. The
resurgence was driven by renewed oil demand by Nigeria's major trading partners,
following global recovery, as well as the relative stability in the oil-rich Niger Delta region.
Crude oil production rose from an average of 1.82 million barrels per day (mbpd) in 2009 to
2.13 million mbpd. Similarly, the price of Nigeria's reference crude (Bonny Light 370 API)
and the average volume of exports grew by 30.7 and 22.6 per cent, respectively. External
debt stock remained at a tolerable level though up by 16.0 per cent to US$4.6 billion. The
stock of external reserve fell by 23.7 per cent to US$32.4 billion, representing 7.2 months of
importsin 2010, which exceeds the West African Monetary Zone (WAMZ) requirement of 3
months. The external sectorremained fragile due fo the continued dependence on the oil
sector and the un-competiveness of the non oil sector. Movement in exchange rates was
relatively stable throughout the yearin allsegments of the foreign exchange market.

7.1 BALANCE OF PAYMENTS

7.1.1  Major Developments

The BOP position showed lower surpluses in both the current and capital and financial
accounts, which reflected the lingering impact of
the global economic and financial crises. Despite
the rise in crude oil prices at the international
market, the surplus in the current account declined
from &1,958.5 billion in 2009 to &370.8 billion due to
high import bills and increased income repatriation by non-resident investors. The value of
crude oil export rose by 32.0 per cent to &9,666.1 bilion (US$65.1) billion as a result of
increased global demand for crude oil and surging prices. The deficit in the services and
income account (net) widened by 17.4 and 30.0 per cent, respectively, while net tfransfers
increased by 8.1 per cent. The capital and financial account, which recorded a lower

The pressure on the external
accounts persisted.
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surplus of :8443.4 billion, or 1.8 per cent of GDP relative to &1,954.8 billion in 2009, was driven
by the increased portfolio investment and other
investment (asset), which moderated the reduced
foreign direct investment (FDI) and rising external
debt. The overall balance of payments deficit of
)1,491.5 billion, or 6.0 per cent of GDP, was
indicative of the continued pressure on the sector.
The pressure was reflected in the depletion of
external reserves, huge import bills, rising external
debfts, declining foreign direct investment (FDI),
increased repatriation of investment income as
well as weak global economic recovery. The stock of external debt increased by 16.0 per
centto US$4.6 billion, butremained sustainable.

The pressure was reflected in the
depletion of external reserves, huge
import bills, rising external debfs,
increased repatriation of investment
income, declining foreign direct
investment (FDI) inflows as well as
weak globaleconomic recovery.

Figure 7.1: Balance of Payments (per cent GDP)
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7.2 THE CURRENT ACCOUNT
The current account surplus declined sharply by 81.1 per cent to &370.8 billion despite
increased earnings from crude oil exports. The developmentreflected, largely, the growth
in import bills, deteriorating services and income
accounts. The frade (goods) balance decreased
The current accountsurplus declined fom o surplus of 83,773.3 billion in 2009 to N3,030.4
sharply by 81.1 per cent 1o #370.8 yjjion, The surge inimport bills was fraceable fo the
bilion (US$2.5 million), reflecting the  finyncing of the power sector and other economic
growih in import bills and worsening infrastructure, as well as consumer goods imports.
services andincome accounts. The deficitin the services account widened by 17.4
per cent, driven by increased overseas fravels,
freight charges and education expenses abroad. The deficit in the income account (net)
expanded by 30.0 per cent, due to increased repatriation of dividends, coupled with
lower earnings on external reserves. Current transfers (net), which comprised mainly
workers' remittances, increased by 8.1 per cent to3,008.7 billion.
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Table 7.1: Summary of the Provisional Balance of Payments Statement 1/

N’ billion US$’ billion

2007 2008 2009 2/ 2010 3/ 2007 2008 2009 2/ 2010 3/
CURRENT ACCOUNT 3,478.4 3,328.2 1,958.5 370.8 27.9 28.3 13.3 2.5
Goods 4,749.9 5,438.8 3,773.4 3,030.4 38.1 46.2 25.6 20.4 "’_’
Exports (fob) 8,309.8 10,161.5 8,356.4 11,035.8 66.6 84.2 54.8 71.6 2
Imports (fob) 35599 47227 | 45830  -8,005.4 285 40,1 310 53.9 —
Services(net) -2,126.8 -2,621.1 -2,453.7 -2,879.7 -17.1 -22.3 -16.7 -19.4 E
Credit 181.6 268.3 330.2 460.6 1.5 2.3 2.2 3.1 O
Debit -2,308.4 -2,889.4 -2,784.0 -3,340.3 -18.5 -24.5 -18.9 £2215 —
Income(net) 11,4782 17850 21447 27887 19 152 146 1838 g
Credit 322.6 278.8 139.3 147.0 2.6 2.4 1.0 1.0 1T
Debit -1,800.8 -2,063.7 -2,283.9 -2,935.7 -14.4 -17.5 -15.5 -19.8 (a)
Current transfers(net) 2,333.5 2,295.4 2,783.5 3,008.7 18.7 19.5 18.9 20.3 oz
Credit 2,352.4 2,358.4 2,852.6 3,082.2 18.9 20.0 19.4 20.8 O
Debit -18.9 -62.9 -69.0 -73.5 -0.2 -0.5 -0.5 -0.5 5
CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL T
ACCOUNT -1,354.2 -992.7 1,954.8 443 .4 -10.9 -8.4 13.3 3.0 ;)
Financial account(net) -1,354.2 -992.7 1,954.8 443.4 -10.9 -8.4 13.3 3.0 —
Assets -2,706.6 -2,142.2 249.1 988.3 -21.7 -18.2 1.7 6.7 <
Direct investment (Abroad) -109.2 -124.7 -227.1 -137.1 -0.9 -1.1 -1.5 -0.9 E
Portfolio investment -231.9 -560.5 -122.4 -167.9 -1.9 -4.8 -0.8 -1.1 (T}
Other investment -1,238.3 -1,260.7 -965.2 -2,174.9 -9.9 -10.7 -6.6 -14.7 ;
Reserve assets -1,127.2 -196.4 1,563.7 1,491.5 9.0 -1.7 10.6 10.0 (VN ]
Liabilities 1,352.3 1,149.5 1,705.7 1,431.7 10.8 9.8 11,958.0 9.6
Direct investment (in
reporting economy) 759.4 971.5 1,273.8 905.7 6.1 8.3 8.7 6.1
Portfolio investment 332.6 157.2 70.9 556.6 2.7 1.3 0.5 3.8
Other investment liabilities 260.41 20.84 360.94 -30.62 2.09 0.18 2.45 -0.21
NET ERRORS AND OMISSIONS -2,124.1 -2,335.5 -3,913.3 (814.18 -17.0 -19.8 -26.6 -5.5
Memorandum ltems:
Current Account Balance as
% of G.D.P 16.8 13.7 7.9 1.5 16.8 13.7 7.9 1.5
Capital and Financial
Account Balance as % of
G.D.P -6.6 -4.1 7.9 1.8 -6.6 -4.1 7.9 1.8
Overall Balance as % of G.D.P 5.5 0.8 -7.7 -6.0 5.5 0.8 -7.7 -6.0
External Reserves - Stock (US
$ million) 51,333.2 53,000.4 42,382.5 32,339.3 51,333.2 53,000.4 42,382.5 32,339.3
Number of Months of Imports
Equivalent 21.6 15.9 16.3 7.2 21.6 15.9 16.3 7.2
External Debt Stock (US$
million) 3,654.0 3,720.0 3,947.3 4,578.8 3,654.0 3,720.0 3,947.3 4,578.8
Effective Central Exchange
Rate (N/S) 124.8 117.8 147.3 148.5 124.8 117.8 147.3 148.5
Average Exchange Rate
(N/S) 125.8 118.5 148.9 149.7 125.8 118.5 148.9 149.7
End-Period Exchange Rate
(N/$) 118.0 132.6 149.6 150.7 118.0 132.6 149.6 150.7

1/ The conversion of BOP purposes was based on the mid-point or the effective central exchange rate
2/ Provisional
3/ Overall balance mirrors the movement in external reserves
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7.2.1 The Goods Account

At N3,030.4 billion, the goods account (fob) surplus adjusted for balance of payments
(trade balance) decreased by 19.7 per cent, accounted for solely by the 74.7 per cent
increase in import bills,as the receipts from gross exports (crude oil, gas and non-oil
exports) rose by 32.1 per cent. Further analysis revealed that both export volume and the
price of crude oil increased in 2010. This was due to relative stability in the Niger Delta
region and the favourable developments in the international oil market. The volume of
crude oil production and exportimproved from an average of 1.82 and 1.37 mbpd in 2009
to 2.13 and 1.68 mbpd, respectively. Similarly, the price of Nigeria's reference crude
(Bonny Light 370 API) increased on an annualised basis from an average of US$62.1 per
barrel in 2009 to US$80.81. The oil and non-oil components of unadjusted merchandise
trade (imports and exports) increased by 40.0 and 60.1 per cent to &12,773.2 billion and
]6,929.1 billion, respectively. Although, the oil sector component continued to dominate
total frade, its share decreased from 67.8 per cent in 2009 to 64.8 per cent. The degree of
openness of the economy, as measured by the total trade/GDP ratio was 66.8 per cent,
comparedwith 53.4 per centin 2009.

Figure 7.2: Value of Imports, Exports and Trade Balance
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7.2.1.1 Imports: Cost and Freight (c&f)
At N8,666.6 bilion, total imports unadjusted for balance of payments, increased
significantly by 69.8 per cent as aresult of higher domestic demand for consumer goods fo
meet production gaps, industrial raw materials
. . L and capital goods for the oil sector activities, and
Total imports increased significantly L .
. . . the ongoing infrastructure development projects.
reflecting higher domestic demand . . .
] . A breakdown of imports, using returns by Deposit
for consumer goods, industrial raw . .
terials and ol d Money Banks' (DMBs) on foreign exchange
mareras and capital gooas. utilization, revealed that industrial imports
accounted for 22.0 per cent of the total, oil (19 per
cent), financial (19 per cent), manufactured goods (14 per cent), food products (13 per
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cent), business services (5 per cent), transport (4 per cent), agricultural sector imports (1
percent), and others (3 percent).

(a) Import by End-User

The analysis of aggregate imports by end-users showed that the share of consumer goods
increased by 1.8 percentage points to 43.4 per cent, reflecting the gap in domestic
industrial output, particularly in the manufacturing sub-sector. In the consumer goods
category, the bulk of imports was durable goods with a share of 67.8 per cent while the
non-durable goods took the remainder.

Figure 7.3: Imports by Major Groups in 2010
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The share of capital goods and raw materials in total imports, however, decreased by 1.5
percentage points to 56.1 per cent. Within the group, raw materials (chemicals) and
capital goods (spare parts and agricultural machinery) accounted for 27.9 and 72.1 per
cenft, respectively.

(b) Non-oil Imports by Country of Origin

Available data revealed that industrialised countries remained the dominant source of
imports to Nigeria and accounted for 35.0 per cent of the total. This was followed by Asia
(excluding Japan) with a share of 30.7 per cent,
while 'others' accounted for the remainder. On
country basis, China accounted for the highest
share of 16.9 per cent, followed by the USA, the UK,
India and Germany with 9.9, 5.0, 4.8 and 4.6 per
cent, respectively. Further analysis revealed that
imports from Africa as a group recorded the lowest
share of 2.7 percent.

Available data revealed that
industrialized countries remained the
dominant source of imports to Nigeria
and accounted for 35.0 per cent of
total, up from 34.6 per centin 2009.
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Figure 7.4: Non-Oil Imports by Origin in 2010
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7.2.1.2 Exporis: Free on Board (fob)

Aggregate exportreceipts, at&11,035.8 bilion rebounded, with a growth of 32.1 per cent.

The development reflected increased demand by Nigeria's major trading partners,
notably the United States of America and the

The value of total exports grew by United Kingdom, whose economies experienced

32.1 per cent in 2010 to &11,035.8 some recovery during the year as well as higher

bilion reflecting increased demand international prices of crude oil. Complementary
to the above was the improvement in domestic oll

production as it increased by 17.0 per cent to 2.13

mbpdin 2010. The bulk of the export proceeds was
accounted for by crude oil (87.6 per cent) while gas and non-oil exports accounted for 8.8
and 3.6 per cent, respectively. The value of gas exports was &973.3 billion, while non-oil
exports (including estimates for unrecorded trade) stood at396.4 billion.

by Nigeria's major trading partners.

[a] Direction of Oil Exports

All Nigeria's major trading partners increased
The USA remained the largest single their share of crude oil imports relative to their
importer of Nigeria's crude oil, Pafronage in 2009. The development was

accounting for 54.8 percent of the total. affributable to the global recovery and the
severe winter conditions experienced in the

year. The USA was the largest importer of
Nigeria's crude oil (30.1 per cent), followed by India (18.3 per cent), Brazil (10.0 per cent),
Equatorial Guinea and Indonesia (5.3 per cent each) aswell as Spain (4.6 per cent).

[b] Non-oil Exports

The value of non-oil exports increased by 37.1 per cent to &396.4 billion, attributed to
improvements in production, processing and packaging of Nigeria's semi-manufactured
and agricultural products for oversea markets. Despite this development, the non-oil
export subsector performed dismally, accounting for 3.6 per cent of the total. The factors
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that influenced non-oil performance included poor infrastructure, policy slippages and
volatility in commodity pricing.

Further analysis of the performance of non-oil exports by product showed that semi-
manufactured goods, agricultural produce, solid minerals, and manufactured goods
accounted for 37.5, 35.7, 11.2 and 5.8 of total,
respectively. Other exports, which comprised
petroleum products, charcoal, scrap metals,
crafts, ammonia and cement/lime products
accounted for 9.8 per cent of total. The
agricultural produce category had an aggregate conftribution of 35.7 per cent and
comprised cocoa beans (13.0 per cent), rubber and cotton (5.0 per cent each),
fish/shrimp (2.2 per cent), and others (10.5 per cent). In the semi-manufactured category,
processed skins and furniture/processed wood contributed 27.8 and 3.3 per cent of the
total non-oil exports, respectively.

The value of non-oil exports increased
by 37.1 percent to :396.4 billion.

Figure 7.5: Non-Oil Exports by Product in 2010
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[c] Non-oil Exports to the ECOWAS Sub-Region

Aggregate non-oil exports to ECOWAS countries stood at US$226.0 million in 2010,
compared with US$189.9 million in 2009, indicating an increase of 19.0 per cent. Non-oil
exports to Ghana ranked the highest with US$81.0 million, followed by Niger, Togo, Benin,
Burkina Faso and Cote d' Ivoire with US$42.8 million, US$33.10 million, US$21.4 million,
US$19.4 million and US$16.5 million, respectively. Other ECOWAS importing countries from
Nigeria were Guinea, Senegal and Guinea Bissau. Major export products continued to be
tobacco, plastics, paint, rubber, footwear, plastic paint containers, and poly bags.

[d] Analysis of Shipment by Top 100 Non-oil Exporters
the value of the "Top 100 Non-oil Exporters” which represented 82.8 per cent of total non-
oilreceipts, was US$2,210.8 million. A ranking of the shipments by these exporters revealed
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that Olam Nigeria Limited was at the top position and accounted for 16.0 per cent of total.
This was followed by Bolawole Enterprises Nigeria Limited, while the third place went o
Unigue Leather Furnishing Company Limited. Their products included cofton linft,
fermented cocoa bean and goat skin leather, and were exported to Malaysia, The
Netherlands and ltaly, respectively.

7.2.2 The Services Account

The deficitin the services account (net) was unabated and, widened from &2,453.7 billion
in 2009 to N§2,879.7 billion. The persistent deficit was
fraceable to the dominance of the freight and
fransportation business by foreign carriers and the
increase in the volume of business and private
fravels abroad. Payments for transportation and
fravels increased by 36.1 and 14.4 per cent to
R1,011.6 bilion and N751.1 bilion respectively.
Under fransportation (net), the deficits in both passenger fares and freight charges rose by
155.0and 5.1 per centrespectively.

The deficit in the services account
(net) remained unabated and
widened from #2,453,7 billion in 2009
to#2,879.7 billion.

Analysis of the share of major components of services in net deficit in the account,
revealed that fransportation, fravels, insurance, construction and personal cultural and
recreational services widened, and represented 36.1, 26.1, 2.8, 0.7 and 0.3 per cent of
total, respectively. However, the shares of communication, financial services, computer
and information services, royalties and licence fees, government services and 'other’
business services allnarrowed.

Figure: 7.6 Percentage Share of Major Invisible Services
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Table: 7.2 Percentage Share of Maijor Invisible Transactions in Net Deficit

Items 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Transportation 22.2 19.6 21.9 323 36.1 N
Travel 135 198 298 227 261 E
Insurance Services 0.1 1.9 2.5 05 28 E
Communication Services 2.4 1.7 1.7 2.0 1.2 9
Construction Services 0.8 0.6 0.6 g
0.3 0.7 w
Financial Services 0.3 0.04 0.04 0.2 0.1 2
Computer and Information 2.7 1.8 1.8 1.2 0.6 (o)
Services O
Royalties and Licence Fees 1.3 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.2 v
Government Services 1.2 15.9 4.6 6.4 0.7 §
Personal, Cultural & Recreational  0.01 ' O 0 0.0 0.3 e
Services ;
Other Business Services 55.5 37.2 35.6 31.0 23.2 L

7.2.3 Thelncome Account

The outcome of transactions in the income account resulted in a higher net deficit of
R2,788.7 billion, compared with&2,144.7 bilionin 2009. The development was attributed to
out-payments in respect of dividends and distributed branch profits which increased by
27.8 per cent and the reduced earnings on external reserves. Despite the deficit in the
major sub-accounts, compensation on employees and interest income on debt netted
surplus positions of §22.2 billion and&82.0 billion, respectively.

7.2.4 CurrentTransfers

The surplus in current transfers (net) increased by 8.1 per cent to #:3,008.7 billionin 2010. The
inward transfers, at #&3,082.2 billion, exceeded the outward transfers of &73.5 billion. The
outward transfers reflect government expenses on foreign embassies, payments to
infernational organisations, and the remittances of foreigners resident in the country. The
inward fransfer was dominated by workers' remittances which accounted for 95.5 per
cent of totalinflows.
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Table 7.3: Current Transfers (Naira billion)

2009 2010
TOTAL INFLOWS (credit) 2,852.5 3,082.2
1.General government (grants, ODA, Technical 137.4 138.8

Assistance & gifts)
2. Other sector workers’ remittances and other fransfers  2,715.1 2,943 .4
in kind

TOTAL OUTFLOWS (debit) (69.0) (73.5)
1.General government (Payments to International (17.5) (25.3)
Organizations & other payments)

2. Other sector workers’ remittances and other transfers (51.5) (48.2)
NET CURRENT TRANSFERS 2,783.5 3,008.7

7.3 THE CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL ACCOUNT

The capital and financial account registered a lower surplus of :443.4 billion, or 1.8 per
cent of GDP, as against :1,954.8 billion or 7.9 per cent of GDP in the preceding year. The
development in the financial account was influenced by increased portfolio investment
(asset) and otherinvestment (asset), which moderated reduced foreign directinvestment
inflows and increased external borrowing. Net
foreign direct investment declined by 26.2 per
cent, representing reduction in capital inflow in the
form of equity and lower reinvested earnings by FDI
enterprises. The low performance of the FDI
account was attributable to the lingering
challenges posed by the poor state of
infrastructure and global economic uncertainty.
However, the rekindled investor confidence in the financial markets especially in the bond
and equity markets, resulted in a significant growth of 87.2 per cent in portfolio investment.
Portfolio investment (asset) and otherinvestment (asset) increased over theirlevels in 2009
by 296.8 and 37.2 per cent, respectively, indicating active participation of Nigerians in the
global financial market. The growth in other investment was driven by frade credit, other
sectors and currency and deposits. The stock of external reserve fell by 24.0 per cent to
US$32.3 billion.

The capital and financial account
registered a lower surplus of #443.4
billion, or 1.8 per cent of GDP, as
against #1,954.8 billion, or 7.9 per
centof GDP, in the preceding year.
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Figure: 7.7 Capital Importation by Country: 2010 (per cent)
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Inflows, according to economic sectors, showed that the stock market received a boost
with US$3,161.0 million for the purchase of shares, as against the capital reversals
witnessed in the wake of the global financial crisis, indicative of the renewed investor
confidence in the Nigerian capital market, following a series of reforms. Notably, the
market went through reforms which included a new management for the Nigerian Stock
Exchange, the enforcement of rules and regulations by the Security and Exchange
Commission (SEC) on the updating and rendition of financial reports, the strengthening of
the Nigerian Stock Exchange Arbitration Committee, and zero tolerance for market
infractions.
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Figure: 7.8 Capital Importation by Sector: 2010 (per cent)
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Capitalinflows to telecommunications, manufacturing, services and construction sectors
also increased but declined for banking, oil and gas, frading and transport sectors. As a
share of total flow, the capital market, banking, manufacturing and telecommunications
accountedfor52.7,15.2, 14.2and 8.0 per cent, respectively.
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Table 7.4: Capital Importation: Country and Sector Inflows (USS$ Million)

Country 2007 2008 2009 2010 Sector 2007 2008 2009 2010
United Kingdom 4,705 4,105 731 2,732  Banking 3,541 4,681 2,624 909
United States 1,850 4,950 3,296 1,241 Shares 2,612 3,424 1,479 3,161
South Africa 1,109 468 224 537 Financing 929 749 205 171
Mauritius 500 216 77 161 Telecommunications 777 717 336 479
Netherlands 157 154 186 0.1 Production/Manufacturing 563 504 294 854
Cyprus 141 83 64 45 Servicing 492 94 33 179
Switzerland 128 73 69 58 Brewery 151 - 60 25
Luxembourg 102 - 4 121 Oil and Gas 152 641 114 89
Germany 95 18 23 62 Trading 125 63 37 35
Denmark 87 213 - &) Construction 74 130 13 43
Sweden 85 22 10 90 Hotels 45 - - 2
China 11 36 139 9 Transport 14 14 50 6]
United Arab Emirates 33 151 18 75 Marketing 14 21 28 0
Ofthers 570 682 459 860 Others 84 133 27 44

COUNTRY INFLOWS 9,573 11,171 5,300 5994  SECTOR INFLOWS (TOTAL, 9,573 1,171 5,300 5,994
(TOTAL)

Analysis of capital importation into the economy, as captured from the DMBs' database,
revealed atotalinflow of US$5,994.2 million, comprised foreign directinvestment (12.2 per
cent), portfolioinvestment (65.6 per cent), otherinvestments trade credit, loans, currency
deposits and other claims (22.2 per cent). Foreign direct investment inflows declined by
78.1 per cent, accounted for solely by the fall in equity which offset the significant growth
in 'other' capital flows. Portfolio inflows improved remarkably as reflected in the growth of
equity, bonds and money marketinstruments. Of the total portfolio inflows of US$3.9 billion,
equity, money market instruments and bonds accounted for 75.8, 22.5 and 1.7 per cent,
respectively.Inthe "other” investment category loans which accounted for the bulk of the
inflows, increased by 71.4 per cent. Furtherreview of capitalimportationrevealed that the
highest inflow came from the United Kingdom (45.6%), followed by the United States
(20.7%), South Africa (9.0%). Mauritius (2.7%), Luxembourg (2.0%), Sweden (1.5%), UAE
(1.3%) and “others” (14.3%).
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Table 7.5: New Capital Inflows (US$' thousand)

NATURE OF CAPITAL 2007 2008 2009 2010
Foreign Direct Investment - Equity 4,243,535.0 | 4,597,675.3 | 3,305,678.3 668,350.9
Foreign Direct Investment - Other capital 38,037.1 63,605.9 20,719.3 60,602.2
Portfolio Investment - Equity 2,488,462.2 2,349,962.5 1,443,229.0 = 2,979,446.7
Portfolio Investment - Bonds 1,058,089.1 420,057.2 12,617.4 68,476.8
Portfolio  Investment - Money Market
Instruments 147,919.9 659,673.0 84,151.7 883,844.2
Other Investments - Trade Credits 82,719.9 15,000.0 7.915.1 154.9
Other Investments - Loans 1,501,392.2 2,735,581.5 816,670.0 1,399,457 .4
Other Investments - Currency Deposits - - 9,200.0 -
Ofther Investments - Other Claims 13,011.5 328,133.5 2,708.2 2,225.4
TOTAL 9,573,167.0 = 11,169,688.8 5,702,888.9 5,994,150.0

Oftherinvestment liabilities revealed that government's repayments of debt due declined
by 23.4 per cent, while fresh commitmentsin 2010resulted in anincreased debt stock, from
US$3.9 billion in 2009 to US$4.6 billion. The loans were additional disbursements from the
International Development Agency (IDA), the African Development Bank (AfDB), and the
International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD).

7.4 INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT POSITION (IIP)

Provisional Nigeria's net International Investment Position (lIP) revealed that Nigeria
recorded a higher deficit of US$11.0 billion, as

against US$0.7 billion in 2009, reflecting the 1he Nigerian International
continued pressure on the external sector as A |,yestment Position (IP) revealed
result of the lingered impact of the global financial th4t there was continued pressure
crisis. The lIP account revealed that the value of o the external sector as Nigeria
fotal foreign assets and liabilities amounted 1o ocorded o deficit of US$8.6 in 2010
US$83.7 billion and US$94.7 billion, compared with as against US$0.7 billion in 2009.
US$83.9 billion and US$84.7 billion in 2009,

respectively.

Further analyses revealed that assets abroad - direct investment, portfolio investment,
external reserves and “other” amounted to US$5.0 billion, US$12.7 billion, US$32.3 billion
and US$33.5 billion, respectively. Both direct and portfolio investment stock abroad
increased by US$922.9 million and US$941.9 billion in 2010. Compared with 2009, the total
official reserves decreased by 23.7 per cent to US$32.4 billion in 2010 and accounted for
38.7 per cent of Nigeria's total foreign assets.

The stock of liabilities, valued US$94.7 billion, was made up of direct investment, (US$60.3
billion) and portfolio investment, stocks and debt securities (US$18.1 billion). The surge in
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capital claims by the rest of the world on the economy raised Nigeria's liabilities to 48.4 per
centof GDP.

Figure 7.9: Assets and Liabilities: International Investment Position (IIP)
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7.5 EXCHANGE RATE MOVEMENTS

The exchange rate of the naira to the US dollar was relatively stable in 2010. The average
exchange rate of the naira at the WDAS segment
of the foreign exchange market in 2010 was
&150.30 per US dollar, a depreciation of 0.9 per
cent, compared with the levelin 2009. Similarly, at
the inter-bank market, the naira depreciated by
0.5 per cent to&R151.09 per US dollar. However, at
the BDC segment, the naira strengthened against
the US dollar by 5.6 per cent, compared with the level in 2009, to &153.06 per US dollar.
Consequently, the premium between WDAS/inter-bank and WDAS/BDC rates narrowed
from 1.0inter-bank and 8.6 per centin 2009 t0 0.5 and 1.8 per cent, respectively.

The premium between WDAS/inter-
bank and WDAS/BDC rates narrowed
from 1.0 and 8.6 per centin 2009 to 0.5
and 1.8 percent, respectively,in2010.
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Table 7.6: International Investment Position (IIP) of Nigeria (2006-2010) [Millions of dollars]
Type of Asset/Liability 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Net international investment

position of Nigeria 5,529.09 | 11,208.93 12,841.52 -723.97 -11,009.16 N
[
Z

Assets 60,495.21 | 77,498.53 88,463.64 83,928.45 83,668.50 [TT]

Direct investment abroad 624.48 1,506.42 2,564.69 4,118.29 5,041.17 E

Portfolio investment abroad 4,349 21 6,208.32 10,967.09 11,797.86 12,739.73 9

Equities 3,923.17 5,643.86 9,710.55 10,472.09 11,508.15 L

Money Market 426.05 564.47 1,256.55 1,325.78 1,231.59 E

Banks 426.05 564.47 1,256.55 1,325.78 1,231.59 o

Bonds - - - . S

Financial Derivatives - - - - =

Other foreign assets 13,223.40 | 18,450.63 21,931.49 25,629.80 33,548.34 8

Public Sector assets, excluding official reserves | 745.52 2,019.36 4,103.86 6,408.50 8,443.14 (7]

Banks 4,974.70 5,779.57 9,257.14 6,351.18 6,494.39 3:'

Deposits 7.475.67 10,059.95 17,616.49 17,060.91 24,484.88 4

Loans 1,050.92 1,167.69 1,459.61 1,824.51 2,069.69 ﬁ

Non-banks ;

Deposits L

Trade Credits 7.943.69 15,166.68 18,022.07 24,748.74 31,742.51

Nigeria official reserve assets 42,298.11 | 51,333.15 53,000.36 42,382.49 32,339.25

Liabilities 54,966.12 | 66,289.60 75,622.12 84,652.42 94,677.66

Direct investment 31,242.81 37,329.54 45,578.18 54,227.71 60,326.67

Portfolio investment 9,703.19 | 12,368.69 13,702.99 14,368.88 18,116.78

Equities 5,335.00 6.794.49 5,834.69 6,327.36 8,506.64

Money Markets 293.49 441.41 1,378.32 1,459.44 2,343.15

Banks 293.49 441.41 1,378.32 1,459.44 2,343.15

Bonds: 4,074.70 5,132.79 6,489.98 6,582.08 7.266.99

Gen. Government 4,074.70 5,132.79 6,489.98 6,582.08 7.266.99

Others - - - -

Financial Derivatives - - - -

Other Investments 14,020.12 | 16,591.37 16,340.95 16,055.83 16,234.20

Deposits: 8,888.23 | 10,589.46 10,589.46 9,762.66 9,312.08

Banks 5,613.00 6,464.23 6,190.55 5,777.15 5,551.86

Non-banks 3,275.23 4,125.23 4,398.91 3,985.51 3,760.22

Loans 8,744.90 8,719.56 9,550.78 10,534.50 11,827.53

Long Term

Gen. Government 4,046.20 3,533.20 3,507.20 3,707.12 4,429.25

Banks 1,084.46 2,468.71 2,244.30 2,586.05 2,492.87

Others 3,275.23 4,125.23 4,398.91 3,985.51 3,760.22
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Fig 7.11: Average Yearly Exchange Rate of the Naira per US Dollar
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The end-period exchange rate of the naira to the US dollarin 2010 at the WDAS segment of
the foreign exchange market stood at &150.66 per dollar, a depreciation of 0.7 per cent,
compared with the level in 2009. Similarly, at the
Inter-bank and BDC markets, the rate depreciated
by 1.5 and 0.6 per cent, compared with the level in
2009, to HN152.00 and ®156.00 per dollar,
respectively.

The exchange rate of the naira to the
US dollarwasrelatively stable in 2010.
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Fig 7.12: End-period Exchange Rate of the Naira per US Dollar
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7.6 The Nominal Effective Exchange Rate (NEER) and the Real Effective Exchange
Rate (REER)

The average 13-currency Nominal Effective Exchange Rate (NEER) index increased by 0.9
per cent over the level in 2009 to 96.6 (May 2003=100) indicating a marginal loss of
competitiveness of the naira. In contrast, the average 13-currency Real Effective
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Exchange Rate (REER) index, declined by 6.3 per cent below the level in the preceding
year to 92.3in 2010. The development was due to a decline in the Consumer Price Index
(CPI) as the base year was revised from May 2003=100 to November 2009=100. The 13-
currency REER index opened at 94.97 and closed 5.0 percentage points lower at end-2010
as a result of relative increase in the CPI of the country's major trading partners. The
development was due to various fiscal and monetary measures deployed to promote
recovery in theireconomies.

Figure 7.13: Nominal and Real Effective Exchange Rate Indices
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Table 7.7: Nominal and Real Effective Exchange Rate Indices (May 2003=100)

December 2009 December 2010
%Change in
Monthly Annual Monthly Annual Annual
Index Average Index Average Average
NEER 98.91 95.73 97.20 96.57 0.9
REER 97.19 98.47 92.21 92.31 (6.3)
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CHAPTER EIGHT

INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL
INSTITUTIONS

he 2010 Spring and Annual Meetings of the Bretfon Woods Institutions (BWIs)

focused on the pace of global economic recovery, frade flows, reforms of the

BWIs and the IMF's mandate. Members welcomed the steps taken fo enhance the
IMF's lending toolkit as part of the efforts to strengthen global financial safety nets and the
establishment of the Precautionary Credit Line (PCL) to meet the diverse needs of its
members At US$72.9 billion, the World Bank Groups' commitment to various projects in
2010 increased by 24.0 per cent, compared with US$58.8 billion in 2009. Nigeria signed a
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Namibia, on the holding of political and
diplomatic consultations, fo aid the exchange of views on bilateral, regional and
international issues of mutual interest. At the continental level, the African Heads of State
and Government discussed and agreed fo take necessary actions aimed at attaining the
Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) 4, 5 and 6; mobilised adequate resources for
integrated health programmes of up to 15.0 per cent of national budgets; and urged
member countries to continue to speak with one voice. At the sub-regional level, the
Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) Technical Sub-Committee on the
Abuja 2020 Roadmap on the Single Currency Programme, assessed progress on the
implementation of the road map and sfressed the need for monitoring institutions (the
ECOWAS Commission, the West African Monetary Agency (WAMA), the West African
Monetary Institute (WAMI) and the West African Bankers Association (WABA)) to intensify
efforts on their assigned responsibilities in order to achieve a single currency in the
ECOWAS Sub-region by 2020.

8.1 THEINTERNATIONAL MONETARY SYSTEM

8.1.1 The Group of Twenty-Four (G-24) and the IMF/World Bank Annual Meetings

The 2010 Meetings of the Inter-Governmental Group of Twenty-Four (G-24) under the
Bretton Woods Institutions (BWIs) , the Board of Governors of the World Bank Group and the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) discussed, amongst others, global economic and
financial developments, frade, reforms of the BWIs, and the IMF's mandate. The Ministers
and Governors at the IMF/World Bank Group meetings:

" Observed that the pace of global economic recovery had weakened and had

become more uncertain since the Euro Area sovereign debt problem became
more severe in April, 2010;
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" Noted that while most developing economies had contfinued to maintain their
growth momentum, reflecting strong fundamentals and robust macroeconomic
frameworks, the recovery in advanced economies remained sluggish, with some
of them facing a vicious circle of weak sovereign balance sheets, high
unemployment, lack of consumer confidence, and continued fragile financial
sector;

" Called on the IMF to strengthen the monitoring of surging capital flows, as well as
consider options for mitigating associated risks and the strengthening of the
Fund's bilateral and multilateral surveillance for the uncovering of vulnerabilities in
large advanced economies;

" Agreed to complete the Fourteenth General Review of Quotas by January 2011,
to help bring about a shift of at least 5 percentage points from advanced
economies to Emerging Markets and Developing Countries (EMDCs);

" Urged countries that have not yet ratified the 2008 quota and voice reform to do
SO;
" Welcomed the steps taken to enhance the IMF's lending toolkit as part of the

efforts to strengthen global financial safety nets and the establishment of the
Precautionary Credit Line (PCL) to meet the diverse needs of its membership;

" Noted that International Development Association (IDA) had been a pivotal
instrument in the support of low-income countries and called for an ambitious
replenishment of IDA-16, as well as the establishment of a permanent instrument
to assist low-income countries to cope with external shocks, through an IDA Crisis
Response Window; and

. Constituted a 3rd Constituency for Africa at the World Bank that comprised South
Africa, Nigeria and Angola.

8.1.2 TheInternational Monetary Fund (IMF)

The IMF's outstanding global credit increased to SDR 60.4 billion at end-December 2010,
from SDR 42.3 billion at end-December 2009. This comprised the General Resources
Account (GRA) disbursements (SDR 55.6 billion) and the Poverty Reduction and Growth
Facility Exogenous Shocks Facility (PRGF-ESF) disbursement (SDR 4.8 billion).

8.1.3 The World Bank Group

The World Bank Group committed US$72.9 billion in fiscal year 2010, representing an
increase of 24.0 per cent over the US$58.8 billion in 2009. The International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development (IBRD or World Bank) and the International
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Development Association (IDA) fogether committed US$58.7 billion in loans and grants to
its member countries. A further breakdown indicated that out of this amount, IDA
committed US$14.5 billion and IBRD US$44.2 billion.

The International Finance Corporation (IFC) committed US$12.7 billion and mobilised an
additional US$5.4 billion for private sector development in developing countries, out of
which US$4.9 bilion was channelled through IDA to member countries. The Multilateral
Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA) issued US$1.5 billion in investment guarantees for
19 projects in developing countries. This represented a US$0.1 billion increase over the
US$1.4 billion newissuesin 2009.

8.1.4 International Commodity Organisations

8.1.4.1 The CocoaProducers’ Alliance

The 73rd General Assembly and Council of Ministers Meeting of the Cocoa Producers'
Alliance (COPAL) was held from September 20-24, 2010 in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. The
meeting, among others:

o Constituted a committee to shortlist candidates for the position of Secretary-
Generalof COPAL;

o Noted with concern the gap in the cocoa value chain and considered it
detrimental to the producers and, therefore, adopted the use of supply strategies
to enhanceincome to producers;
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o Requested the Government of Malaysia to prepare and circulate for
consideration a conceptnote forremedial action; and

o Directed the Secretariat to respect the budget in all ramifications and to forward
the budget drawdown to the Internal Auditor on a quarterly basis.

8.1.4.2 The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC)
The organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) held three meetings, two
ordinary (156th and 157th) meetings and one extraordinary (158th)in 2010.

The 156th ordinary meeting was convened on March 17, 2010 at the Organization's new
Headquarters' in Vienna. The meeting reviewed oil market developments, in particular
supply/demand projections, as well as the outlook for 2010, and noted that, while the
global economy was clearly rebounding from the preceding year's recession, with
continued positive signals coming from the manufacturing and services sectors, serious
threats remained. The downside risks included: the mounting and potentially
unsustainable public debtin most advanced economies; degrading fiscal position which
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might lead OECD governments to tighten fiscal and monetary policies despite rising
unemployment; weak demand; persistent global imbalances; and rising protectionism.
The meeting further noted with concern that, although world oil demand was projected
toincrease marginally during the year, the rise could be offset by the expectedincreasein
non-OPEC supply. The meeting therefore decided to retain the current oil production
ceiling.

The 157th meeting of OPEC was held on October 14, 2010, amidst growing crises in
Ecuador, a member country. The meeting observed that, whilst economic recovery was
underway, there was still considerable concern about the magnitude and pace of the
recovery, especially in the major industrialized countries of the OECD. The meeting noted
that, while there had been some easing of the overhang in crude oil stocks, market
fundamentals remained weak, refinery utilization rates were low and product inventories
had risen considerably. Analysis of important market drivers revealed that the market was
well supplied. Consequently, the meeting retained the current production levels, but
reaffirmed its determination to ensure reliable supply to the market, at reasonable and fair
prices, supported by an adequate level of spare capacity.

The 158th Extraordinary Meeting of OPEC was convened in Quito, Ecuador, on December
11, 2010. The meeting reviewed the oil market outlook, including the overall
demand/supply projections for 2011 and agreed to maintain the current oil production
levels. Member Countries acknowledged their commitment to individually agreed
production allocations, as outlined in the Oran Agreement of December 2008, and
reiterated their readiness to rapidly respond to any developments that might jeopardize
oil market stability and Member Countries' interests. The Conference further renewed its
callon other oil producers/exporters to cooperate with the Organization in its endeavours
to secure oilmarket equilibrium.

8.1.5 Bilateral Relations

8.1.5.1 The Central Bank of Nigeria/Bank Negara Malaysia Agreement

The Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Nigeria undertook a study tour of Malaysian
financialinstitutions from March 22 26,2010, at the end of which it signed a Memorandum
of Understanding with Bank Negara Malaysia, to share expertise and exchange relevant
information in the areas of banking supervision, small and medium enterprises (SMEs),
microfinance, islamic finance, monetary policy, development finance institutions,
external reserve management, institutional arrangement for financial crisis management
and resolution, foreign exchange administration, performance management and
corporate strategy, leadership development and talent management.

8.1.5.2 Nigeria-Cameroun Joint Commission
The 5th Session of the Nigeria-Cameroun Joint Commission was held in Abuja from
November 23-24,2010.The meeting:
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" Reviewed the relation between the two countries and expressed satisfaction with
the outcome of the Green Tree Agreement;

" Called for the speedy implementation of all pending Cooperation Agreements
between the two countries for the mutual benefit of the citizens of the two
countries;

" Agreed to implement the various recommendations on posts,

telecommunications, and funds tfransfer adopted at a meeting in October 2009;

. Noted the concernsraised by Cameroun about the prohibition of some imports by
Nigeria and the inability of some Camerounian goods to enter the Nigerian market
due to lack of NAFDAC certification and agreed to explore areas where
exemptions on import prohibition can be made for Camerounian exports. It was
also agreed that NAFDAC and its Cameroonian counterpart should meet and
agree on protocols on product certification;

" Entered into a Framework Agreement on electricity interconnection which would
cover the institutional framework for planning, coordination, financing and the
realisation of electricity interconnection between the contracting parties. The
Camerounian side agreed to supply electric power from the Lagdo Dam on River
Benue to Adamawa state in Nigeria;

. Agreed that the Free-Trade Zone Authority of Nigeria should provide necessary
information at the Nigerian Embassy in Yaounde to enable Cameroonians know
the steps to follow in applying for space at any of the Free-Trade Zones in Nigeria;

. Agreed to conclude a new trade agreement by the first quarter of 2011 between
both countries, which would provide for the establishment of a joint trade
committee that would address bilateral economic relationsissues; and

. Expressed satisfaction with the progress so far made in the construction of the
Bamenda-Manfe-Abakaliki-Enugu highway which was being financed by the
African Development Bank (AfDB).

8.1.5.3 Nigeria - Namibia Joint Commission

The 4th Session of the Nigeria-Namibia Joint Commission was held in Abuja from
September 22 - 23, 2010. At the end of the session, a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) on the holding of political and diplomatic consultations was signed by the two
nations. The MoU committed each country to allowing regular diplomatic consultationsin
order to exchange views on bilateral, regional and international issues of mutual interest.
The Joint Commission considered, among others, economic, infrastructure and socio-
cultural matters, as well as diplomatic, defence and legalissues.
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8.2 REGIONAL INSTITUTIONS

8.2.1 The African Union (AU)

The 15th African Union (AU) Summit of Heads of State and Government, with the theme,
"Maternal, Infant and Child Health and Development in Africa” was held from July 25-27,
2010, in Kampala, Uganda. On the sidelines of the summit, were the 13th Summit of Heads
of State and Government of the African Peer Review Mechanism, the 23rd Summit of the
NEPAD Implementation Committee and the Joint Heads of State and Government
meeting on climate change.

During the Summit, the leaders:

. Agreed to take necessary actions in various member states aimed at attaining the
MDGs 4, 5 and 6, including the launching of a campaign on accelerated
reduction of maternal mortality in Africa (CARMMA), the mobilisation of adequate
resources for infegrated health programmes of up to 15 per cent of national
budgets, the sharing of best practices within regions, and regular evaluation and
reporting of progress achieved by member states;

" Extended the accelerated action towards universal access to HIV/AIDS,
tuberculosis and malaria servicesin Africa (the Abuja Call) to 2015 to coincide with
the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs);

" Welcomed the efforts deployed by the AU and the regional economic
communities/regional mechanisms for conflict prevention, management and
resolution (RECs/RMs), with the support of the international community, tfowards
the full operationalisation of the African Peace and Security Architecture, in
particular the Continental Early Warning System (CEWS) and the African Standby
Force (ASF);
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" Reiterated its commitment to the vision of gradually fransforming the African Union
Commiission into the African Union Authority in order to strengthen the institutional
building processes of the African Union and to accelerate integration of the
continent;

" Reaffirmed the Ezulwini Consensus and the Sirte Declaration on the Reform of the
United Nations Security Council containing the African common position, called
for its infensive promotion, and stressed the need for Africa to continue to speak
with one voice; and

" Decided that the theme of the summit in July 2011 would be "Accelerating Youth
Empowerment for Sustainable Development”.
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8.2.2 Joint Annual Meetings of the African Union (AU) Conference of Ministers of
Economy and Finance and the Economic Commission for Africa (ECA)
Conference of African Ministers of Finance, Planning and Economic Development

The 2010 Joint Annual Meetings of the African Union (AU) Conference of Ministers of

Economy and Finance and the Economic Commission for Africa (ECA) Conference of

African Ministers of Finance, Planning and Economic Development was held in Lilongwe,

Malawi from March 25-30, 2010. In attendance were Ministers of Finance, Planning and

Economic Development and Governors of Central Banks from African counfiries. The

Ministers Conference was preceded by the meeting of experts which was held from

March 27-28,2010.

During the meeting, the members:

¢ Reviewed recent economic and social developments in Africa as presented by
the ECA;
* Noted that the global economic crisis had taken a heavy toll on economic

activity, employment and social conditions;

. Noted that the overall objectives of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs)
would be compromised unless bold steps were taken towards high, sustainable
and employment focused growth;

. Recommended that countries should draw lessons from the experiences of others
and adopt policies and strategies that would promote backward and forward
linkages between sectors, pursue regional integration and move away from total
dependence on commodity exports;

* Expressed concern that the positive growth achieved in most African countries in
2009 had not franslated to any significant improvement in employment creation
and poverty reduction, and therefore stressed that monetary policy should go
beyond the price stability objective, to include support for growth and
employment generation;

¢ Concluded that inadequate infrastructure and limited access to finance and
other supporting services were major constraints to the development of the
private sector which should play a pivotalrole ininvestment and job creation;

. Urged governments to allocate more resources to sectors that could generate
employment and help reduce poverty, such as agriculture and rural
development. They noted that good political and economic governance was a
major prerequisite for growth andjob creation; and
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¢ Agreed on the need for promotion of domestic resource mobilisation, economic
diversification, internal policy harmonisation among ministries and agencies o
enhance efficiency and effectiveness in mainstreaming employment in
development plans and programmes.

8.2.3 African DevelopmentBank (AfDB)

The 2010 Annual Meetings of the African Development Bank (AfDB) Group was held in
Abidjan, Cote d'lvoire on May 27, 2010. At the meeting, the President, Donald Kaberuka
noted that the AfDB had helped member countries to overcome the effects of the global
financial crisis by providing necessary support to enable them substantially grow the
private sector, and to fill the gap left by donors involved in key infrastructure projects.
Furthermore, the meeting:

. Approved its 6th General Capital Increase, and the 12th replenishment of the
African Development Fund (ADF); and

. Created two new constituencies, raising the number of board chairs from 18 to 20.

8.2.4 The Developing Eight(D-8)

The 7th Summit of the D-8 Heads of State and Government was held in Abuja, Nigeria, from
July 4 - 10, 2010. The Central Bank of Nigeria hosted the D-8 Central Bank Governors'
Meeting as part of the 7th D-8 Summit. At the meeting, leaders of member nations of the
Group of 8 (D-8):

. Declared theirinterest to pursue and boost a viable South-South cooperation, with
aview to enhancing greater economic growth and globalisation;

. Agreed that in an increasingly globalised world, the D-8 model of cooperation
would provide a viable form of South-South cooperation, hence the resolve to
broaden and strengthen this cooperation in order to develop the economies and
also empower member countries to participate more actively in the process of
globalisation;

. Recognized the role of governments as catalysts and enablers of economic
growth, but noted that the D-8 cooperation must essentially be private-sector
driven;

. Stressed that intfra D-8 investments were essential for deepening the economic

relationship among member states and, therefore, resolved to take immediate
measures to encourage, facilitate and promote foreign direct investment (FDI) in
priority areas;
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. Directed the D-8 Commission to explore ways and means of establishing a D-8
Investment Fund and identify investment opportunities in the member countries,
including the proposal by Iran to establish the D-8 Joint Investment Fund (JIF);

. Endorsed the report of the 12th and 13th sessions of D-8 Council of Ministers and
welcomed the prioritisation of activities of the D-8 roadmap in the areas of trade,
agriculture and food security, industrial cooperation and small and medium scale
enterprises (SMEs), tfransportation, and energy and minerals; and

. Agreed on boosting collaborative efforts on capacity building, fransfer of
technology, development of alternative fuels, renewable sources of energy, and
peaceful uses of nuclear energy for power generation.

8.2.5 The Association of African Central Banks (AACB)

8.2.5.1 The Ordinary Meeting of the Bureau of the AACB

The Ordinary Meeting of the Bureau of the Association of African Central Banks (AACB)
was held at the Headquarters of the Central Bank of West African States in Dakar, Senegal,
February 22 - 24, 2010. The meeting assessed the status of implementation of the decisions
taken by the Assembly of Governors at its 33rd Ordinary Session held on August 21, 2009 in
Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo and reviewed the progress made on the
African Monetary Cooperation Programme (AMCP). The Governors welcomed the
continued cooperation with the African Union (AU) within the framework of the Joint
Committee charged with drafting a strategy for the establishment of the African Central
Bank (ACB).

The 34th Annual Meeting of the AACB was held in Dakar, Senegal, August 16-20, 2010. The
meeting was attended by 39 member countries of the AACB, with Nigeria's delegation
headed by the Central Bank of Nigeria's Governor, Mallam Sanusi Lamido Sanusi. The
meeting called on African central banks to fully assume theirroles of financialregulation to
prevent possible crises in the future. The meeting also noted that there was a pressing
need for Africa's central banks to work for the creation of an efficient device for the
regulation of financial systems.

8.2.6 The Steering Committee of the African Central Bank

The Steering Committee of the African Central Bank commenced operations at its office
in Abuja, Nigeria on June 14, 2010. The Committee was chaired by the Governor, Central
Bank of Nigeria, Mallam Sanusi Lamido Sanusi and comprised a team of five Consultants
from AU member countries. Its roles and functions were contained in the Memorandum of
Understanding (MoU), signed in Washington, DC on April 24, 2009 between the African
Union Commission and the Government of the Federal Republic of Nigeria. These
included working out the modadlities for the establishment of the African Central Bank. As
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at December 2010, the Committee had developed a fairly large data base and literature
for conducting astudy on the need for asingle currency in Africa.

8.3 SUB-REGIONALINSTITUTIONS

8.3.1 The Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS)

The Second meeting of the Technical Sub-Committee on the Economic Community of
West African States (ECOWAS) Single Currency Programme was held in Accra, Ghana
from July 21 -22,2010. The meeting was convened by the ECOWAS Commission to assess
progress on the implementation of the Abuja 2020 Roadmap on the ECOWAS Single
Currency Programme. The meeting was attended by representatives from the ECOWAS
Commission, the UEMOA Commission, the West African Monetary Institute (WAMI), the
West African Monetary Agency (WAMA), the West African Bankers Association (WABA),
the Central Bank of West African States, the Bank of Ghana, and the central banks of The
Gambia, Guineaq, Liberia, Sierra Leone and Nigeria.

Progress reports were presented by the four monitoring institutions namely, the ECOWAS
Commission, WAMA, WAMI and WABA. After extensive discussions of the monitoring
institutions' progress report towards a single currency in the ECOWAS Region, the
Committeerecommended as follows:

i) That ECOWAS Commission:
. Continue contacts with the authorities of Cape Verde to ensure that its National
Coordinating Committee (NCC) was established as soon as possible;

. Build the cost of living index in each member country into the salaries of
Macroeconomists and Bilingual Secretaries;

. Urge each member countries to supplement the financing of NCC activitiesin the
country; and

. Provide more information on the challenges of implementing VAT in The Gambia
and Liberia to facilitate the adoption of VAT in both countries.

ii) That WAMA:

J Work with WAMI and the BCEAO on the study on the harmonisation of monetary
policy frameworks in the ECOWAS Region. This would include the terms of
reference (TOR) for the consultant to undertake the study as well as reviewing and
finalising the consultant's report before its submission to the technical sub-
committee.

jii) That WABA:
o Work with WAMA, WAMI and the BCEAO to finalise the document on quoting and
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trading of national currencies and forward the document to the technical sub-
committee; and

. Intensify efforts o make the WAMZ payments system infrastructure compliant with
that of the UEMOA zone.

iv) That WAMI:
. Bring on board WAMA and the BCEAO into the coordination of capital account
liberalisationin ECOWAS member states.

8.3.2 The West African Monetary Agency (WAMA)

The 2010 statutory meeting of the West African Monetary Agency (WAMA) was held in
Dakar, Senegal from November 23-25, 2010. The meeting of the Committee of Governors,
which was held on November 25, was preceded by the Joint Technical Committee
meeting from November 23-24, 2010. The Committee:

. Noted that public expenditure by member countries remained a major challenge
to regional integration. Nonetheless, the meeting observed that although there
was need toreduce expenditure, capital expenditure should not be affected due
toitsimplications for output and employment;

. Underscored the importance of financial sector integration in ECOWAS, and
observed the need for the process to begin with all the relevant components at
the national level. Member countries were urged to remove all impediments to
integration at the nationallevelin order to facilitate aregion-wide integration;
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. Decided that the College of Supervisors in the WAMZ countries should be
embraced by the UEMOA zone so as to foster region-wide financial sector
integration and collaborative oversight; and

. Consulted and agreed that Nigeria should retain the Chair of the Committee,
pending the restoration of stability in Guinea.

8.3.3 The West African Institute for Financial and Economic Management (WAIFEM)

The Board of the West African Institute for Financial and Economic Management
(WAIFEM) was unable to meet in 2010. However, WAIFEM executed thirty one (31) training
and capacity building programmes in the year. The activities consisted of ten (10) courses
and workshops, as well as missions conducted under debt management department,
twelve (12) by macroeconomic management department and nine (?) by the financial
sector management department. Eight hundred and fifty-seven (857) senior/executive
level officials from central banks, core economic ministries, public and private sector
agencies participatedin the various programmes.
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In terms of participation by user institutions, central banks accounted for 381 or 44.5 per
cent, core economic ministries 164 or 19.1 per cent, while other public sector agencies
and private sector organisations accounted for 51 or 6.0 per cent. Regarding gender
distribution, there were 693 or 80.9 per cent male and 164 or 19.1 per cent female
participants at the WAIFEM fraining programmesin 2010.

WAIFEM relocated to its permanent administrative block, following the completion of its
renovation by the Central Bank of Nigeria. In 2010, the Board of Governors of the Institute
recruited Dr. Johnson Asiama from the Bank of Ghana as Director, Macroeconomic
Management Department and Mr. Euracklyn Williams from the Bank of Sierra Leone as
Director, Administration and Finance.

The Management of WAIFEM also recruited staff for the positions of Senior Programme
Manager (Financial Sector Management Department), Programme Managers
(Macroeconomic and Debt Management Departments), an Internal Auditor and a
Research Officer.

In its efforts to remain the centre of excellence in capacity building, WAIFEM, signed
Memoranda of Understanding (MoU) with the following institutions:

(i) The Cenftre for Research on Political Economy (CREPOL), based in Dakar, Senegal.
The MoU allowed the two Institutions to collaborate in the areas of training,
research, advisory services, advocacy, policy debates, exchange of information
and data, as well as staff exchange and sabbaticalleave; and

(ii) The West African Monetary Institute (WAMI), Ghana, for capacity building.

The Institute also received technical support from the World Trade Organization (WTO), the
Economic Commission for Africa (ECA), the World Bank and the IMF. It opened discussions
with the African Growth Initiative of the Brookings Institute in Washington, D. C., USAwith a
view to accessing funds to support WAIFEM's research activities, as well as other areas of
collaboration.
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Appendix A1 APPENDIX

Balance Sheet
As at 31st December, 2010

‘Ii,
Note 2010 2009 =z
N' Million N' Million g
Assets: =
<
External reserves 2 4,953,779 6,191,163 ",—’
Holdings of Special Drawing Rights 3 384,833 352,465 —
Nigerian Government Securities 4 272,829 317,269 <
Loans and advances 5 320,163 387,549 6
Investments 6 107,191 88,584 Z
Other assets 8 475,647 464,700 <
Fixed assets 9 208,192 159,182 Z
6,722,634 7,960,912 T
Liabilities:
Deposit accounts 10 4,145,816 5,088,242
Central Bank of Nigeria instruments 11 105,878 50,800
Notfes and coins in circulation 12 1,378,135 1,181,828
International Monetary Fund allocation of
Special Drawing Rights 14 384,870 388,982
Other financial liabilities 15 515,345 666,914
6,530,044 7,376,766
Capital and reserves:
Share capital 18 5,000 5,000
General reserve fund 19 83,477 71,854
Fixed assets revaluation reserve 20 57,069 63,143
Foreign currency revaluation reserve 21 14,070 379,982
Reserve on fund managers'investments 22 32,974 64,167
192,590 584,146
Liabilities and Equity 6,722,634 7,960,912
’ﬂ[/f?};'—'i—" Governor 24 February 2011
T\\;QX‘\ AT Director 24 February 2011
\%?L; ~Y —4 .
p = o Director 24 February 2011

M«'—%-L— Director of Finance 24 February 2011

g

The accounting policies on pages 174 to 180 and the notes on pages 181 to 199 form part of these financial
statements.
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APPENDIX Appendix A2

A

Income Statement
For the Year ended 31st December, 2010

(7¢]
=
=
[TT] Notes 2010 2009
= N'Million N'Million
-
< Interest income 23 106,742 158,850
-~
(7¢)
— Interest expense 24 (33.,921) (22,665)
<
6 Net Interest Income 72,821 136,185
4
< Realised gain on foreign currency 21 354,712 449,704
Z
(T Other operating income 25 134,648 123,132
562,181 709,021
Provision for bad and doubtful debts 26 (206,400) (412,295)
Operating Costs 27 (298,685) (256,913)
57,096 39.813
(Net charge)/Write back to provisions 17 (10,603) 4,050
Surplus available for appropriation 46,493 43,863
Appropriation:
Transfer to general reserve fund 19 11,623 10,966
Transfer to Federal Government of Nigeria
under S.5 (3) of the Central Bank of Nigeria
Act 2007 16 34,870 32,897
46,493 43,863

The accounting policies on pages 174to 180 and the notes on pages 181 to 199 form part
of these financial statements.
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Appendix A3 APPENDIX

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year ended 31st December, 2010

(%]
=
&
Notes 2010 2009 E
N’ Million N’Million L
Cash flow generated from operating activities E
Net Cash utilised by from operating activities 28 (1.127.,029) (634,070) ‘I,—’
—l
<
Cash flow (utilised by)/generated from investing ()
activities Z
<
Purchase of fixed assets (58.567) (32,340) Z
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 12 30 L
Deposit for shares (5.493) (10,186)
Purchase of promissory notes of Transnationall
Corporation of Nigeria Plc - (63,000)
Increase in Investment (Note 6) (18,667) -
Net investment in Government bonds 44,440 (44.862)
Net cash utilised by investing activities (38.2795) (150,358)
Cash flow utilised by financing activities
Surplus paid to the Federal Government of Nigeria (39.712) (6,239)
Net cash utilised by financing activities (39.712) (6,239)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,205,014 (790,667)
Balance at the beginning of the year 6,543,628 7,334,295
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1.205,01¢) (790,667)
Balance at the end of the year __ 9338612 6,543,628
The balance at the end of the year is analysed as
follows:
Bank balances 5,218,256 6,469,430
Sundry currencies 120,356 74,198
5,338,612 6,543,628
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Appendix B1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following significant accounting policies were adopted by the Bank in the
preparation of its financial statements and have been consistently applied:

a. Basis of presentation

These are the financial statements of the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN or the Bank), a body
corporate established by the Central Bank of Nigeria Act of 1958 as amended by the CBN
Act No. 7 of 2007. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the valuation of certain fixed assets and comply with the
accounting policies set out below:

b. Consolidation

Subsidiary undertakings, which are those companies in which the Bank, directly or
indirectly, has an interest of more than half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to
exercise control over their operations, have not been consolidated. These entities are not
consolidated because their activities and accounting policies are different from those of
the Bank. Such entities are accounted for aslong-term investments.

Cc. Foreign currency activities

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in Naira, using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Differences arising at the dates of seftlement are
recognizedin the income and expenditure account.

At the balance sheet date, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
converted to Naira, using the closing rate except where a balance is to be settled at a
contracted rate, then that rate is used. All differences arising on conversion are taken to
the income and expenditure account, except differences on long-term foreign currency
monetary items which are deferred and taken to the income and expenditure account
on asystematic basis over the remaining lives of the monetary items concerned.

d. Externalreserves
Gold reserves are held for long-term purposes and are not being tfraded. It is carried at
cost.

External reserve balances at year-end are converted intfo Naira in accordance with the
policy in “c" above. All gains and losses realized on external reserve balances are
recognized as follows: revaluation gains and losses on reserves due to the Federal
Government of Nigeria (FGN) are for the account of the FGN and, consequently, all
translation profits and losses are transferred to the respective deposit accounts of the FGN:
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Revaluation gains and losses on externalreserve balances of the Bank are transferred to its
Foreign Currency Revaluation Reserve Account.

e. Loans andreceivables

The following assets have been classified as loans and receivables for the purposes of
assessing their recoverability: loans and advances; amounts due by liquidator of
distressed banks; and other assets.

A specific credit risk provision is established to provide for Management's estimate of
creditlosses as soon as the recovery of an exposure is identified as doubtful. This provision is
made foreach account thatis not performing in accordance with the terms of the related
facility. The basis is as follows:

Interest and/or principal outstanding Classification Provision
forover

90 days butless than 180 days Sub-standard 10%
180 days butless than 360 days Doubftful 50%
360 days and over Lost 100%

In addition, a provision of 1% is made for all performing risk assets to recognize losses in
respect of risks inherent in any credit portfolio. The 1% provision is applicable to only loans
and advances.

Provisions for losses on doubftful receivables are recognized in the income and
expenditure account.

When aloanis deemed not collectible, itis written off against the related provision forloan
losses and subsequentrecoveries are credited toincome.

Risk assetsin respect of which a previous provision was not made are written directly to the
income statementwhen they are deemed to be not collectible.

In addition to the above basis, Management subjectively makes provisions for loans on
the basis of their assessment of the likelihood of recoverability of the facility, and/or risks
inherentinsuch facilities.

f. Investment securities
The Bank's investments in securities are categorized into: long-term investments and short-
terminvestments.
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(i) Long terminvestments
Long-term investments are equity and debt held by the Bank over along period of time to
earnincome.

Long-term investments are carried at cost. When there has been a permanent decline in
the value of an investment, the carrying amount of the investment is written down to
recognize the loss. Such areductionis charged to the income statement. Reductionin the
carrying amount isreversed when there is an increase, other than temporary, in the value
of theinvestment, orif the reasons for the reduction no longer exist.

(ii) Nigerian Government Securities

Nigerian Government Bonds represent debt instruments issued by the Federal
Government of Nigeria (FGN) in which the Bank has invested. These bond issues are
normally underwritten by the Bank and the investments arise as a result of crystallization of
its underwriting commitment.

Treasury bills of the Federal Government of Nigeria are inifially recorded at cost and
subsequently measured at amortized cost.

Treasury bonds and development stocks are initially recorded at cost, plus the incidental
cost of acquisition and subsequently measured at amortised cost. A decline in value is not
taken into account unless it is considered to be permanent. Where a permanent decline
in the value of such bonds and development stock are deemed to have occurred, the
carrying amounts of these bonds are written down torecognize the loss.

Interest earned on investment securities is reported as interest income. Dividend received
isreported as dividendincome.

g. Fixed Assets
All items of fixed assets are inifially recognized at cost. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Subsequent measurement Fixed assets at historical cost

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognized as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. Repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the income and expenditure
account during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciationis calculated on a straight line basis to write down the cost/valued amounts
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of fixed assets to theirresidual values over their estimated useful life at the following rates:

Land and Buildings 2.0%
Motor Vehicles:
Buses 12.5%
Cars 20.0%
Lorries 10.0%
Plant and equipment
Air conditioners, generators and water pumps 15.0%
Currency processing machines 10.0%
Furniture and Fittings 20.0%
Computersoftware/hardware 33.3%

Costs related to fixed assets under construction or in the course of implementation are
disclosed as capital work-in-progress. The attributable cost of each asset is fransferred to
the relevant category immediately the asset is put into use and then subjected to
depreciation.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying
amount. These are included in the income and expenditure account for the year.

h. Borrowings (loans)
Borrowings are recognized initially af theirissue proceeds net of fransaction costsincurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost.

Interest paid on borrowings is recognized in the income and expenditure accounts for the
yearon a prorata basis.

i Currency in circulation
Currency issued by the Bank represents a claim on the Bank in favour of the holder. The
liability in respect of notes and coins in issue at the balance sheet date is stated at the
nominal value of the currency.

j- Central Bank of Nigeria instruments
Central Bank of Nigeria instruments comprise Promissory Notes and Open Market
Operations Bills.

Central Bank of Nigerian Promissory Notes represent short- to medium-term debt
instruments issued by the Bank to commercial banks assuming net liabilities under the
Purchase and Assumption distress resolution programme for banks which could not meet
the minimum capitalrequirement forlicensed banks.
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Promissory Notes are recognized at the face value of the instrument.

Open Market Operations Bills represent short-term debt instruments of the Bank issued o
commercial banks as a liquidity management tool. They are recognized at cost less any
unamortized premiums/discounts.

Interest paid on these instruments is recognized in the income and expenditure account
fortheyear.

k. Retirement benefits

The Bank operates a defined benefit plan and a contributory retirement savings scheme
as required by the Pension Reforms Act of 2004. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan
that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement,
usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and
compensation. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Bank and
the employees pay fixed conftributions into a separate entity. The Bank conftributes 15% of
basic salary, housing and transport allowances of the qualifying employees while the
employees contribute 7.5% on the same basis towards the pension plans.

For the defined benefit plan, the employer's obligation is calculated periodically by
independent actuaries, using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash
ouftflows, using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominatedin the
currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating
to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial deficit arising from adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are to be
amortised systematically over a period of not more than three (3) years.

For defined contribution plans, the Bank pays contributions to privately administered
pension fund administrators on a monthly basis. The conftributions are recognized as
employee benefit expense in the income and expenditure account. The Bank has no
legal or constructive obligation to pay further confributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

l. Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present obligation, whether legal or
constructive, as aresult of a past event for which it is possible that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
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i Internal Currency insurance
This provision is accumulated to cover possible losses that could arise on
currency stock held within the Bank and in fransit. The provision is determined as
premium payable to provide insurance cover over suchlosses.

ii. Contingency/Guarantees
Contingency/Guarantees provision are determined on the basis of experts'
valuation (where applicable) and/or the best estimate by Directors of the Bank
of the probable resourcesrequired to meet the Bank's present obligations, if and
when they crystallise.

iii. Self-insurance schemes
The Bank operates self-administered insurance schemes through duly
constituted trustees for all potential losses for currency in tfransit and in vaults and
forreplacement and major repairs for its fleet of vehicles. Annual appropriations
are made, based on past experience.

These schemes are fully funded and managed independent of the Bank's operations.

m. Sale andrepurchase agreements

The Bank has entered info repurchase agreements as part of its monetary policy activities.
Securities purchased under agreements to resell are recorded under the heading “Loans
and Advances” asloans and receivables. Securities sold under agreement to repurchase
are disclosed asreverse repurchase agreementsincludedin deposit accounts.

The underlying Securities purchased under repurchase agreements are not recorded by
the Bank. Likewise, underlying securities sold under repurchase agreements are retained
inthe books of the Bank.

The differences between the purchase and sale prices are freated as interest and
recognized on an accrual basis.

n. Appropriations

In accordance with Section 5(2) of the Central Bank of Nigeria Act No.7 of 2007, the Bank
makes an annual appropriation representing one-quarter of the operating surplus of the
Bank forthe yearto a generalreserve fund.

All remaining surplus after the statutory appropriation to the general reserve fund is
payable to the Federal Government of Nigerian on a semi-annual basis. This is in
accordance with section 5(3) of the Central Bank of Nigeria Act No. 7 of 2007.
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o. Cashflow
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise sundry
currency balances and bank balances with foreign banks.

p. Revenuerecognition
Interestincome and expenses are recognised on a fime proportion basis, taking account
of the principal outstanding amount and the rate over the period to maturity.

Interestincome and expenses are recognised in the income and expenditure account for
allinterest-bearing instruments on an accrual basis. Where the instrument is deemed to be
non-performing, interest income is suspended and recognized on a cash basis. Interest
income and expense include the amortization of any discount or premium or other
differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its
determined amount at maturity.

Fees and commissions, where material, are amortized over the life of the related service.
Otherwise fees, commissions and other income are recognized as earned upon
completion of therelated service.

Dividends are recognized when the right toreceive payment is established.

Other revenue arising from the provision of services to clients is recognized on an accrual
basisin accordance with the substance of the relevant transaction.

q. Currency issuance and management expenses

Note-printing and coin-minfing expenses include ordering, printing, minting, freight,
insurance and handling costs. These costs are recorded as prepaid expenses and
subsequently released to the income and expenditure account when the currency is
delivered to the Bank.
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Appendix B2

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year ended 31st December, 2010

1. General Information

The Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN or the Bank) is the apex regulatory authority of the
banking system in Nigeria .It was established by the Central Bank of Nigeria Act of 1958, as
amended by the CBN ActNo7 of 2007. It commenced operationson 1 July 1959.

The issued capital of the Bank is wholly owned by the Federal Government of Nigeria .The
principal objectives of the Bank are to ensure monetary and price stability, issue legal
tender currency in Nigeria, maintain externalreserves to safeguard the international value
of the legaltender currency, promote a sound financial systemin Nigeria, act as banker to
the Federal Government and Federal Government Parastatals, and provide financial
advice to the Federal Government of Nigeria.

2. Externalreserves
2010 2009
N Million N' Million
Convertible Currencies (see notes2 a
and 2b) 4,953,737 6,191,121
International Monetary Fund Reserve
franche 23 23
Gold 19 19
4,953,779 6,191,163
(a) Convertible currencies comprise:
Current account with foreign banks 821,585 725,240
Time deposits and money employed 1,872,343 2,699,809
Domiciliary accounts 469834 630,965
Other foreign securities 1,669,619 2,060,909
Sundry currencies and travellers' cheques 120,356 74,198
4,953,737 6,191,121

Included in convertible currencies is an amount of N2,046.62 million, (2009 N2,568.71
billion), which represents the Naira value of foreign currencies held on behalf of customers
in various foreign accounts for letters of credit transactions and other purposes. The
corresponding liability for thisamountisincluded in deposits. (see note 10b)
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2010 2009
N Million N’ Million
(a) Convertible currencies are further
analysed by Currency
United States Dollar 4,064,423 5,306,668
British Pounds Sterling 193,191 195,832
Euro 688,903 680,299
Japanese Yen 4,230 2,448
Others 2,990 5,874
4,953,737 6,191,121
3. Holdings of Special Drawing Rights
At 1 January 352,465 156
Additional holdings - 355,863
Acquisitions during the year 34,274 7
Interest earned in the year 992 306
Charges for the year (1,034) (513)
Revaluation (1.864) (3.354)
At 31 December 384,833 352,465
4. Nigerian Government Securities
Nigerian Treasury Bills 44,169 1,900
Nigerian Treasury Bonds 228,651 252,314
Nigerian Development Stocks 9 25
Promissory notes - 63,030
272,829 317,269

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

The CBN invested in Nigeria Treasury Bonds with coupon rates of 5% - 12.5%. The last
Treasury bond will mature on 15 October 2024. The Bank as directed by the Federal
Government through a refinancing arrangement purchased promissory notes issued by
the Federal Government of Nigeria to Union Trustees in respect of loans granted to
Transnational Corporation of Nigeria Plc. by a consortium of banks (represented by Union
Trustees Limited). The promissory notes, with an interest rate of 8.28%, were converted to
Federal Government Bonds on 22 September2010.
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APPENDIX
5. Loans and advances B2

Overdraft balances & short - ferm

advances 263,571 184,225
Staff loans 5,165 3,203 2
Loans to DMBs on Commercial E
Agricultural Credit Scheme (Note 15) 95,606 43,333 s
Advances to Federal Mortgage Bank —
of Nigeria 9 9 s
Ofther loans 12,794 17,174 (7]
Long-term loans (see 5(b)) 603,319 637,000 :('
980464 884,944 O
Provision for loan losses (Note 5a): (660,301) (497,395) Z
320,163 387,549 <
<
(1 8
2010 2009 %
N' Million N' Million (=
5a Movement in provision for loan losses (@)
[
(%)
L
At 1 January 497,395 85,559 5
Eliminated through forebearance (36,940) (24,594) Z
460,455 60,965
Provision for the year 199,846 436,430
At 31 December 660,301 497,395

Overdraft balances and short-term advances

Overdraft balances represent lending to customers and are collateralized by Treasury Bills
and Federal Government Bonds.

Otherloans

Other loans represent accommodation to distressed and liquidated banks. These have
been fully provided for.
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AR 2010 2009
N’ Million N’ Million
5b Long term loans:
w At 1 January 637,000 7,127
E Addition in the year 3,694 667,000
L Repayments during the year (435) (12,533)
E Eliminated through forbearance (36,940) (24,594)
I<_t 603,319 637,000
&
—l
<_t Details of benefitting banks and amounts granted by CBN:
O
E Afribank Plc 50,000 50,000
Z Bank PHB Plc 70,000 70,000
= Finbank Plc 50,000 50,000
% Intercontinental Bank Plc 100,000 100,000
- Oceanic BankPlc 100,000 100,000
9 Societe Generale Bank Ltd 3,258 -
9, Spring Bank Plc 60,000 60,000
e Union Bank Plc 120,000 120,000
o Wema Bank Plc 50,061 87,000
< 603,319 637,000

Except for Societe Generale Bank Ltd., long term loans represent Central Bank of Nigeria's
7 years special intervention support to under-capitalized deposit money banks at an
interest rate of 3.25% per annum as at 31 December 2010. (2009: 8% per annum). A
provision of 100% has been effected in the financial statements as at 31 December 2010
for the loan balance. As at 31 December 2010, the Assets Management Corporation of
Nigeria (AMCON) had been established and had acquired some of the toxic assets of
these banks.
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6. Investments

Investments in subsidiaries and associates:
Abuja Securities & Commodity Exchange
Africa Finance Corporation

Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria
Bank of Industry

National Economic Reconstruction Fund
Nigerian Agricultural Cooperative and Rural
Development Bank

Nigeria Deposit Insurance Corporation

Nigerian  Security  Printing and  Minting
Company Plc (NSPMC)

Nigerian Export Import Bank

6% Perpetual Debentures in Nigeria  n Export
Import Bank

Other Investments:

Agricultural Credit Guarantee Scheme Fund
Federal Mortgage Bank of Nigeria

Nigerian Interbank Settlement System

Provision for diminution in value of investments

7. Amount paid out in respect of the following
distressed banks

African Express Bank
African International Bank
All States Trust Bank
Assurance Bank

City Express Bank

Gulf Bank

Hallmark Bank

Lead Bank

Trade Bank

Provision for doubftful balances

Percentage
Holding
%
51
42
50
40
33

40
60

77
40

40
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2010 2009
N' Million N' Million
408 408
57,958 57,958
250 -
2,708 2,708
100 100
4,027 4,027
1,380 1,380
13,390 13,250
25,000 6,723
1,250 1,250
106,471 87,804
1,200 1,200
60 60
53 53
1,313 1,313
107,784 89,117
(593) (533)
107,191 88,584
663 930
2,300 -
15,922 15,922
4,475 4,475
5,372 5,181
6,108 5,662
2,979 1,886
3,821 4,979
7,303 8,103
48,943 47,138
(48,943) (47,138)
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The Bank entered info Purchase and Assumption arrangements with the Nigeria Deposit
InsuranceCorporation (NDIC) and some banks over private sector deposits and certain
capital assets of some distressed banks in liquidation. Accordingly, the Bank issued
promissory notes for the net liabilities assumed. See Note 11 for the liability in respect of the
promissory noteissued.

8. Other assets

Due from Agricultural Credit Guarantee Scheme

Fund 711 1,176
Accrued interest receivable 13,805 26,593
Accounts receivable 29,738 33,302

Deposit for shares (NSPMC, BOI, Islamic Liquidity
Management Corporation, Malaysia and

AMCON) (Note (8a) below) 20,625 15,132
Sundry receivables (Note (8b) below) 415,484 390,929
480,363 467,231
Provision for doubtful balances (4,716) (2,432)
475,647 464,700

8a. Deposit for shares represents deposits made by the Bank in respect of equity of the
Nigerian Security Printing and Minting Company Plc. (N10.19 billion), bank of Industry
(N4.95 billion), Islamic Liquidity Management Corporation, Malaysia (N743 million) and
Asset Management Corporation of Nigeria (N4.75 billion). The shares have not been
allotted asat 31 December2010.

8b. Sundry receivables are further analysed as:

Deferred interest and prepayments 8,292 2,584
IMF Quota 402,747 382,422
Cheques in clearing 3,522 2,405
Others 923 3,518

415,484 390,929
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9. Fixed Assets APP:§DIX
Land & Plants & Furniture Computers Motor Capital Total
buildings equipment & fittings vehicles work in
progress
NM N'M N'M N'M N'M N'M N'M —
2010: Z
Cost/valuation: g
At 1-January 79.001 27,042 2,191 5,881 4,021 77,709 195,845 E
Additions - 5,192 270 2,352 1,146 49,607 58,567 <
Disposals - - - - (25) - (25) ‘lz
Transfers in/(out) - - - - - - - —
Adjustments - (11.,743) (457) (808) (3,058) - (16,066) <
At 31-December 79,001 20,491 2,004 7,425 2,084 127,316 238,321 6
Accumulated E
depreciation:
At 1 January 8,444 19.076 1,880 5,432 1,831 - 36,663 Z
Charge for the year 2,022 946 367 694 261 - 4,290 b
Transfers - - - - - - - %
Disposals - - - - (25) - (25) ]
Adjustments - (8.283) (392) (745) (1.379) - (10.799) O
At 31-December 10,466 11,739 1,855 5,381 688 - 30,129 -
Net book value 68,535 8,752 149 2,044 1,396 127,316 208,192 ‘Iﬁ
5
During the year, the Bank conducted a fixed asset verification exercise and effected Z

adjustments as deemed necessary. Fully depreciated assets are carried at nominal
values.

In 2003, the Bank reinstated items of fixed assets that had been previously written off.
Accordingly, all assets except motor vehicles and the Head Office building were valued
by Messrs Onakanmi and Partners, Supo Ojo and Co, Ora Egbunike and Associates, Bello
and Co, Adamu Muhammed and Partners, OlatoyeOgundana and Partners, Dosu
Fatokun and Co, and Mohammed and Co. The assets were valued as at 31 December
2002 on either open market basis assuming a willing seller and an able buyer or
depreciated replacement cost basis where market information was not available.
Subsequent additions have beenincorporated at cost
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APPE;«DIX 9. Fixed Assets Cont'd

2009:

Cost/valuation: N'M N'M NM N'M N'M N'M N'M
At 1 January 66,317 19,559 2,006 6,194 2,706 69,262 166,044
Additions 969 2,124 261 33 1,278 27,675 32,340
Disposals - - - - (21) - (21)
Transfers in/(out) 11,366 2,898 - - - (14,264) -
Adjustments 349 2,461 (76) (346) 58 (4.964) (2,518)
At 31-December 79,001 27,042 2,191 5,881 4,021 77,709 195,845

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 7.340 9,183 1,783 5,120 1,191 - 24,617
Charge for the year 1,900 2,434 29 355 364 - 5,082
Disposals - - - - (18) - (18)
Adjustments (796) 7.459 68 (43) 294 - 6,982
At 31-December 8,444 19,076 1,880 5,432 1,831 - 36,663
Net Book Value 70,557 7,966 31 449 2,190 77,709 159,182

10. Deposit accounts

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2010 2009
Government deposits: AN’ Million N’ Million
-Capital/settlement accounts 1,703,128 2,267,979
-Domiciliary accounts 469,834 630,965
Other Accounts (see (a) below) 1576,786 1,937,743
Financial Institutions:
-Current/settlement accounts 302,527 165,952
-Bank’s reserve accounts 93,541 85,603
4,145,816 5,088,242
10a. Other accounts are further analysed as
follows:
FGN PPT Naira funding account 508,898 973,760
Special reserve account 627 622
FGN excess crude oil proceeds (Naira funding)
account 273,347 178,210
Letters of credit consolidated account 314,653 283,905
FGN (External creditors) funding account 42,767 88,345
NNPC/ NAPIMS cash call account 6,353 6,353
Deposits for Naira draft account 2,832 2,953
Monetary policy stabilization account 4,618 4,618
IMF Securities Account 397.373 379,484
Sundry accounts 25318 18,793
1,576,786 1,937,743
10b. Foreign currency deposits held on behalf of
customers for letters of credit transactions and
other purposes are analysed below:
Domiciliary accounts 469,834 630,965
Other accounts 1,576,786 1,937,743
2,046,620 2,568,708
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2,046,620 2,568,708 B2
11. Central Bank of Nigeria instruments
Central Bank of Nigeria Promissory Notes (see
11(a))
At 1 January - 19,343
Issues during the year 4,030 6,708
Redemption in the year (2,993) (25,924)
Accrued interest 91 (127)
At 31 December 1,128 -
Open Market Operations - CBN bills (see 11(b)):
At 1 January 50,800 607,725
Issued during the year 270,750 254,491
Redemption during the year (216,800) (811,4146)
At 31 December 104,750 50,800
Total Central Bank of Nigeria Instruments 105,878 50,800

(a) The CBN issued Promissory Notes to Ecobank Nigeria Plc. and United Bank for Africa Plc
as part of a Purchase and Assumption Arrangement over the private sector deposits and
certain assets of African International Bank Limited and Hallmark Bank Plc (Ecobank
Nigeria Plc), City Express Bank Plc (United Bank for Africa Plc). The Promissory Notes have
tenorsof 1 2yearsand carry couponrates of 4.2%-4.6%.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Central Bank of Nigeria Bills represent bills of the Bank issued to commercial banks as a
liguidity management tool. These instruments have tenors ranging from 7 days 365 days
and carry discountratesranging from 1.1%- 8.6% per annum.

2010 2009
N' Million N' Million

12. Notes and coins in circulation
Notes 1,376,993 1,180,686
Coins 1,142 1,142

1,378,135 1,181,828
13. Employment benefit liabilities
Defined benefit scheme:
At 1 January - 40,163
Contributions - 2,345
Provision for actuarial deficit - 22,280
Remittances/Transfers to trustees - (64,788)
At 31 December - -
Defined contributory scheme:
At 1 January - -
Contributions 4,345 43
Remitted to frustees (4,345) (43)

At 31 December - -
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The Bank operated a non-contributory defined benefit pension scheme (Legacy scheme)
for existing pensioners and staff. The scheme was funded by contributions of 50% of the
employees' annual salary and certain allowances. An actuarial valuation is conducted by
qualified independent actuaries and any resulting deficit recognized in the income and
expenditure statement.

In accordance with the Pension Reform Act of 2004 and following approval from the
National Pension Commission, the Bank introduced confributory defined benefit and
defined conftribution schemes (both referred to as the hybrid scheme) to replace the
legacy scheme. The hybrid scheme allowed members of the legacy scheme to elect to
either continue with the defined benefit scheme or join a defined contribution scheme.
For members electing to join the defined confribution scheme element of the hybrid
scheme, the balance due to them under the defined benefit scheme was determined
and remitted to a pension fund administrator chosen by the member. Subsequent to 31
December 2007, new employees of the Bank would join the defined contribution scheme
element of the hybrid scheme.

Under the terms of the hybrid scheme, the Bank contributes 15% of basic salary, housing
and fransport allowances of qualifying employees, while the employees confribute 7.5%
on the same basis. Conftributions to the hybrid scheme are remitted to pension fund
administrators through deposit accounts maintained by trustees of the scheme. An
actuarial valuation of the defined benefit element of the hybrid scheme is conducted by
qualified independent actuaries and the Bank has agreed to make good any deficit
arising from the actuarial valuation.

The defined benefit element of the hybrid scheme was actuarially assessed
independently by the firm of Alexander Forbes Consulting Actuaries and HR Nigeria
(Consultants and Actuaries) as at 31 December 2009 and actuarial surpluses of N20.06
billion and N37.20 billion were respectively established against the deficit of N8%.12 billion
for the year ended 31 December 2008. The sum of N44.56 billion, representing 50% of the
actuarial deficit, has been charged to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2008 while N 22.28 billion, representing 25% of the deficit, has been charged to
the financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2009, in line with
accounting policy. The balance of N22.28 billion representing 25% of the deficit is no
longer required to be charged to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010 as the board approved the discontinuance of the non-confributory
deficit pension scheme on 31 December 2009.

The trustees maintain a deposit account with the Bank with respect to conftributions and as
at31 December 2010, the balance was N2.13 million (2009: N157.89 million).

As at 31 December 2009, the Bank approved the discontinuance of the hybrid scheme
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and its substitution with defined confribution scheme to forestall any future actuarial
deficit going forwardinrespect of the remaining employees.

2010 2009
N’ Million N Million
14. IMF Allocation of Special Drawing Rights
At 1 January 388,982 31,769
Additional allocation - 357,213
Revaluation 4112 -
At 31 December 384,870 388,982

Special Drawing Rights (SDR) are issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to
member countries and represent allocations available to member countries in managing
and meeting their sovereign payment obligations. The IMF calculates the daily value of
the SDR in terms of the United States of America (US) Dollars by reference to a valuation
basket of four currencies (USD, GBP, Euro & Japanese Yen). The applicable interest rate on
SDRis set at the weekly interest rates on the basis of a weighted average of interest rates
on the short-ferm instruments in the markets of the currencies included in the SDR
allocation basket.

15. Other financial liabilities

NM NM
Interest payable 408 172
Accrued charges 83972 45,428
Surplus payable to  the Federal Government of
Nigeria (Note 16) 28,352 33,194
Sundry payables 155,685 351,795
Payable to DMO on Commercial Agricultural
Credit Scheme 200,000 200,000
Bank of Tokyo-Commodity loan 1 1
Other provisions (Note 17) 46 927 36,324
515,345 666,914

The Bank, on 6 March 2009, obtained the approval of the Federal Government to mobilize
the sum of N200 bilion through the issuance of Federal Government Bonds for
disbursement to Commercial Agric Farmers as part of CBN's developmental role in the
economy. In that regard, the CBN signed an MoU with the DMO to source and issue the
said bond at the rate of 10.14% which is the average of the marginal rates for the three-
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year bond from March to July 2009. A total of N95.6 billion (Note 5) out of the said amount
has been paid by the Bank to the DMBs for disbursement to the farmers, as at 31

December2010.

4 16. Surplus payable to Federal Government of
E Nigeria
S N'M N'M
— At 1 January 33,194 6,536
S Transfer from income and expenditure account 34870 32,897
2 Paid during the year (39.712) (6,239)
<_t At 31 December 28,352 33,194
O
pa
< 17. Other provisions
= At 1 Additional At 31
L January Provision December
= N’ Million N’ Million N' Million
= 2010:
9 Contingency (see (a) below) 31,890 - 31,890
19} Internal currency insurance funds
— (see (b) below) 4,434 - 4,434
(@) Agricultural credit fund (see (c)
Zz below) - 10,603 10,603
At 31 December 36,324 10,603 46,927
2009
Contingency 32,234 (344) 31,890
Internal currency insurance funds 7,800 (3,366) 4,434
Agricultural credit fund 340 (340) -
At 31 December 40,374 (4,050) 36,324
(a) Contingency provisions represent provisions in respect of probable legal
obligations (note 29a).
(b) The Bank makes provisions for Internal currency insurance, based on the premium

that would be payable to external insurers had they been engaged. Losses
incurred are indemnified against these provisions.

(c) The Agricultural Credit Guarantee Fund was set aside to provide guarantees to
third party lenders on behalf of participating agricultural enterprises. Amounts
provided were based on the guarantees issued by the Bank. Following the
creation of the Nigerian Export-Import Bank (NEXIM), this function was fransferred
out of the Bank. No additional provisions have been made in the current year.
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2010 2009 ARFEIoX
N Million N’ Million
18. Capital
Authorised share capital 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid up:
At 1 January and 31 December 5,000 5,000

Section 4(1) of the Central Bank of Nigeria Act No 7 2007 gave approval to the increase in
authorized capital of the Bank from N5 billion to N100 billion. S4 (2) provides that all the
capital of the Bank shall be subscrioed and held only by the Federal Government of
Nigeria.

19. General reserve fund

At 1 January 71.854 60,888
Transfer from appropriation account 11,623 10,966
At 31 December 83,477 71,854

20. Fixed assets revaluation reserve

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At 1 January 63,143 63,143
Realised on disposal/verification exercise

carried out during the year (6.074) -
At 31 December 57,069 63,143

21. Foreign currency revaluation reserve

At 1 January 379,982 358,130

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation during the year (11,200) 471,556
368,782 829,686

Realized gain transferred to income and

expenditure account (354,712) (449,704)

At 31 December 14,070 379,982

The foreign currency revaluation reserve is used to record exchange movements on long-
term monetary assets of the Bank. Unrealised losses or gains on revaluation of these assets
are recorded in the account and upon realisation of the asset, the corresponding gain or
loss is fransferred to the income and expenditure account.
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B2 22. Reserve on fund managers’ investments 2010 2009
At 1 January 64,167 16,429
Movement during the year (31,193) 47,738
At 31 December 32,974 64,167

23. Interest income
Analysis by type

Time deposits and money employed 31,520 56,432

Federal Government Securities 33,995 27,801

Loans and advances 41,227 74,617
106,742 158,850

Analysis by geographical location:

Domestic 75222 102,418

External 31,520 56,432
106,742 158,850

24 Interest expense

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Central Bank of Nigeria Instruments 4,593 12,276

Interest on Treasury Bonds 2,608 3.927

Deposit Balances 3.660 1,218

Interest subsidy on Commercial Agricultural

Credit Scheme 23,060 5,244
33,921 22,665

All interest was paid locally

25. Other operating income

Fees 2475 2,953
Foreign exchange earnings 80,540 77,244
Commissions 26 149
Gain on sale of fixed assets 12 27
Realized gain on fund managers’ investments 37,734 -
Otherincome 13.861 42,759
134,648 123,132

26. Provisions
Loans and advances 199,845 436,430
Promissory notesissued 4,030 6,708
Contingent liabilities - 31,890
Investments 60 -
Other assets 2,465 2,315
Provision no longer required - (65,048)
206,400 412,295
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27. Operating costs B2
Currency issue expenses 57,931 57,091
Salaries and wages 51916 25,900
Gratuity 37,408 35,806
Other staff expenses 5,533 5,468 e
Pension costs 2928 23,417 Z
Administrative expenses 42,364 36,937 g
Banking Sector Resolution Cost Sinking Fund 50,000 - L
Donations 1473 209 <
Depreciation charge 4,290 5,082 5
Repairs and maintenance 8410 9,477 —
Consultancy fees 9814 4,388 <_t
Bank charges 386 298 O
Audit fees 200 140 <Zt
Directors'related expenses 307 530 =
Centres of excellence 1,229 2,716 e
Realised loss on fund managers’ investments - 49,454 w
Contribution to international conference center* 20417 - ,:'_:
Contribution to internal national security 4,078 - (o)
298,685 256,913 -
_ _— (%]
—
*The CBN, in conjunction with the Federal Government of Nigeria, will be constructing a g

world class centre suitable for hosting of international conferences.

28. Cash generated from operating activities

Reconciliation of surplus for year to cash

generated from operating activities: 2010 2009
Surplus before appropriation 46,493 43,863
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 4,290 5,082
Profit on disposal of fixed assets (12) (27)
Provisions 217,003 412,295
Redalised loss/(gain) on fund managers (37,734) 49,454
Realised gain on foreign exchange currency (354,712) (449,704)
Net cash (utilised)/generated from operating

activities (124,672) 60,963
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B2 Changes in working capital:

decrease on loans and advances (95,520) (276,358)
(Decrease)/Increase in foreign currency

revaluation reserve (11,200) 443,744
(Decrease)/Increase in fund managers’ reserve (31,193) 47,738
Decrease in other assets 100,911 342,451
Decrease in deposit accounts (942,426) 1,169,756
Increase/(Decrease) in Central Bank of Nigeria

instruments 55,078 (602,192)
Increase in notes and coin in circulation 196,307 26,778
Revaluation (loss)/gain on IMF allocation of SDR (4,112) 51,017
(Decrease)/Increase in other financial liabilities (270,202) 441,545
Cash utilised by changes in working capital (1,002,357) (695,033)
Cash utilised by operating activities (1.127,029) (634,070)

29. Contingent liabilities and commitments

(a) Legal proceedings
There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against the Bank as at 31
December 2010 with confingent liabilities of N3,154 billion (2009=N637.784 billion).
The Directors estimate that provision made for the contingent liability will be
adequate to meet any liability that may crystalise.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are also of the opinion that all known liabilities and commitments
which are relevant in the assessment of the state of affairs of the Bank have been
takeninto considerationin the preparation of these financial statements.

(b) Capitaland other commitments
2010 2009
N’ Million N' Million
Intervention funds 1,054,700 -
Capital Commitments 95,053 44,500
1,149,753 44,500

Intervention funds balance of N1,055 billion represents commitments made in
respect of Commercial Agricultural Credit Guarantee Scheme, Small and Medium
Enterprises Credit Guarantee Scheme, Power and Aviation Fund,
SME/Manufacturing Sector Intervention Fund and the Banking Sector Resolution
Cost Sinking Fund. The capital commitments are in respect of fixed assets and will
be funded frominternalresources.
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(a) Guarantees &
2010 2009

N’ Million N' Million

Deposit Money Banks 897,680 964,960

Discount Houses 42,160 19,500

Pension Fund Administrators 110,170 206,770

Foreign Banks - 814,375
1,050,010 2,005,605

The Bank during the year guaranteed local interbank balances and balances with other
financial institutions. Guarantees represent total exposure to the Nigerian Financial Sector
forforeign creditlines extended to deposit money banks.

30. Related party information

The Bank entered intfo banking transactions with related parties in the normal course of
business. These transactions include the sale and purchase of currencies, services, loans,
deposits, and foreign currency transactions.

Alltransactions withrelated parties were, however, carried out at arm'slength.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentationin the current year.
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Appendix B3

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE CENTRAL BANK OF NIGERIA

Report onthe Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Central Bank of Nigeria,
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December, 2010, the income statement, and
statement of cash flows for the yearthen ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, set out on pages 202 to 222.

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Statements
In accordance with the provisions of the Central Bank of Nigeria Act, the Board of

Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements which give a fair
presentation of the state of affairs of the Bank at the end of the year and its income and

expenditure.
Theresponsibilitiesinclude ensuring that:
R the Bank keeps proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable

accuracy, the financial position of the Bank and comply with the requirements of

the Central Bank of Nigeria Act;

ii. appropriate and adequate internal controls are established to safeguard its assets
and to prevent and detect fraud and otherirregularities;

iii. the Bank prepares its financial statements using suitable accounting policies
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates that are

consistently applied; and
iv. it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on a going concern
basis.

The Directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been
prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent

judgments and estimatesin conformity with the Central Bank of Nigeria Act.
The Directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a fair presentation of the

state of the financial affairs of the Bank and of itsincome and expenditure and cash flows.
The Directors further acceptresponsibility for the maintenance of accountingrecords that

may be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements, as well as adequate
systems of internal financial control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that the Bank will not remain

agoing concern for atleast twelve months from the date of this statement.
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THEBOARD OF DIRECTORS BY:

Sanusi Lamido Sanusi, CON Stephen Oronsaye, CFR
Chairman Director
24" February 2011 24" February 2011
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Auditors' Responsibility

Ourresponsibility is fo express an independent opinion on the financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Audifing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the Bank's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statementsin order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Bank's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
Directors, aswell as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Bank on pages 171 to 197 for
the yearended 31 December 2010 have been properly prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies set out on pages 174 to 180 and complies with the provisions of the
CentralBank ActNo. 7 of 2007.

O Ehs Witk TN H | o Ceshas
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants
Abuja, Nigeria Lagos, Nigeria

28 February 2011 28 February 2011
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APPENDIX C

GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMS

Approvalin Principle: Thisrefers to the grant of aninitial permit/permission to any financial
institution, pending the time it would meet the necessary requirements for operation to
qualify it foraformallicence.

Balance of Payments (BOP): These are records of economic transactions between the
residents of a country and the rest of the world during a given period of time. The major
components of a BOP are the current account, the capital account and the official
seftlement balance. The current account comprises transactions arising from the sale or
purchase of goods and services and unrequited transfers, while the capital accountis the
record of assets and financial fransactions. The official setflement account is used to
equalise any imbalance that may exist in the current and capital accounts so that all the
BOP accountssumto zero.

Balance of Payments Position: see Foreign Exchange and Balance of Payments Position
Bank Credit is a major determinant of the money supply and it embraces the amount of
loans and advances given by the CBN as well as deposit money banks to economic
agents. Thisis the banking system credit fo the economy which can be broken down into
bank credit to government and the private sector.

Capital Expenditure: Payment for non-financial assets used in the production process for
more than one year. Loan amortisation (capitalrepayment)isincluded.

Cost of Capital is the cost incurred in securing funds or capital for productive purposes.
The cost includes interest rate, legal, administrative and information search charges. This
means that cost of capitalis likely to be greater than orequal tointerest rates onloans.

Cost of Funds: This refers to net expenses incurred in raising funds, including a reasonable
profit margin. The expenses include the interest on deposits, reserve requirements and
otheradministrative expenses, as a proportion of total funds borrowed.

Credit Risk: Credit risk arises from potential that an obligor is either unwilling to perform an
obligation, or its ability to perform such an obligation is impaired, resulting in loss to the
Bank. In addition to direct accounting loss, credit risk should be viewed in the context of
other economic exposures which include opportunity costs, transaction costs and
expenses associated with non-performing assets over and above the accountingloss.

Debentures are fixed interest-bearing securities. They are usually of two types, debenture
with floating charge and debenture with fixed charge. Debenture holders are creditors to
the company ratherthan owners.
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Debt Stock/GDP: This measures the level of domestic indebtednessrelative to the country's
economic activity.

Discount House is a financial institution devoted to trading in government secondary
instruments (treasury bills and certificates and other eligible instruments). The discount
house submits bids from authorised dealers, including its needs for OMO instruments, to the
Central Bank and facilitates the payments and settlement of the fransactions.

Distressed Banks: These are banks with problems relating to illiquidity, poor earnings and
non-performing assets. The exireme case of distress is referred to as insolvency, which
implies that a bank's liabilities are more than its assets.

Dutch Auction System (DAS): This is a method of exchange rate determination, through
auction, where the bidders pay according to their bid rates. The ruling rate is arrived at
with the last bid rate that clears the market where the authorities elect to operate asingle
exchangerate.

Equity Price Risk:Equity price risk is the risk to earnings or capital resulting from adverse
changesin the value of the equity-related portfolios of a financial institution. The price risk
could relate to changes in the overall level of equity prices or price volatility that is
determined by firm specific characteristics.

Exchange Rate: Thisis the price of one currency in terms of another.

External Assets: These are the reserves held by the monetary authorities, as well as the
banking and non-bank public, in foreign countries. Thus, external assets comprise the
externalreserves and the private sector holdings of foreign exchange.

External Reserves: These are portions of foreign exchange receipts saved by the
monetary authorities for the purpose of enhancing the creditworthiness of the economy,
protecting the international value of the domestic currency, and financing temporary
shocks in the balance of payments. Reserves are held in the form of monetary gold, the
reserve position at the International Monetary Fund (IMF), Special Drawing Rights (SDRs),
and foreign bank balances.

Federation Account: This is an account opened by the Federal Republic of Nigeria into
which all revenues of the Federation are paid for eventual distribution to all tfiers of
governmentin Nigeria.

Fiscal Deficit refers to the excess of expenditure over revenue of government. Itis usually
assessed by ifs size in relation to the hominal Gross Domestic Product (GDP). The fiscal
deficits may be financed in various ways external borrowing and internal borrowing
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(banking system and non-bank public). It is inflationary when financed by the banking
system, especially the central banks.

Fiscal Operations: This refers to government financial transactions involving the
collection, spending and borrowing of government for a given period.

Fixed Deposit Rate: When deposits are for a fixed period of time, say 90 or 180 days, the
interest rates paid are called fixed deposit rates. They normally attract higher interest
rates; early withdrawals may attract interest penalties.

Foreign Exchange: Thisis a means of international payments. Itincludes the currencies of
other countries that are freely acceptable in effecting international transactions.

Foreign Exchange and Balance of Payments Position: The foreign exchange positionis the
difference between foreign exchange receipts and foreign exchange disbursements. If
receipts are higher than disbursements, there is a net inflow or an accretion to reserves.
On the other hand, if receipts are lower, there is a net outflow and the reserves would be
depleted. The balance of payments position is the difference between the receipts by
the residents of one economy from the rest of the world and the payments by these
residents to the rest of the world. An excess of receipts over payments shows a balance of
payments surplus, while the reverse represents a deficit. When foreign exchange receipts
and payments are adjusted for valuation changes in reserves, the net position would be
identicalto the balance of payments position.

Foreign Exchange Risk: Foreign exchange risk is the current or prospective risk to earnings
and capital arising from adverse movements in currency exchange rates. Foreign
exchange risk may also arise as a result of exposures of banks to interest rate risk arising
from the maturity mismatching of foreign currency positions.

Government Expenditure:Payment or flow of financial resources out from government.
High-powered Money: sce Monetary Base

Inter-bank Interest Rate: This is the rate that applies to fransactions among banks, mostly
forovernight and other short-term funds.

Interest Rate is the price of money. It is the opportunity cost of holding money and the
return for parting with liquidity.

Interest Rate Risk:Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions,
which are subject to interest rate adjustments within a specified period. Interest rate risk is
usually assessed from two perspectives: the earnings perspective which focuses on the
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impact of variation in interest rate on accruals or reported earnings, and the economic
value perspective which reflects the impact of fluctuations in interest rates on the
economic value of afinancialinstitution.

Interest rate risk also includes risks associated with the term structure of interest rates and
basis risk.Basis risk is also known as spread risk and it arises when a bank prices its assets and
liabilities using different interest rate basis. On the other hand, risks associated with the
term structure of interest rates are also known as the yield curverisk. The impact of shiftsin
the yield curve on earningsis evaluated using stress tests.

Internal Balance: This refers to a state of convergence between domestic output and
absorption or expenditure. When output is identical with expenditure, internal balance is
considered to have been achieved and the rate of inflafion is expected to be stable. The
achievement of the savings-investment identity is also viewed as internal balance.
Monetary and fiscal policies and external debt management measures are usually
applied to achieveinternalbalance.

Key Risk Indicator: A key risk indicatoris arisk item that has been assessed to be important,
given dll relevant factors. This indicator is used to monitor exposure to risks and could be
quantitative or qualitative in nature. It should be forward-looking in order to serve as an
effectiverisk mitigant.

Liquidity Ratio: Thisratiois defined as the ratio of total specified liquid assets to total current
liabilities andreflects the liquidity position of a bank.

Liquidity Risk: Liquidity risk is the potential loss to a bank, arising from either its inability to
meet its obligations as they fall due or to fund increases in assets without incurring
unacceptable costs or losses. Liquidity risk should not be seen in isolation, because
financial risks are not mutually exclusive and liquidity risk is often ftriggered by
consequences of other bankrisks, such as credit, market and operations risks.

Market Capitalisation is the market value of a company's issued share capital. It is the
product of the current quoted price of shares and the number of shares outstanding. The
termis also used as a performance indicator of the capital market.

Maximum Lending Rate: Thisrefers to the rate charged by banks for lending to customers
with alow creditrating.

Minimum Rediscount Rate: Thisrefers to the amount thatis charged by the CBN forlending
to banksin the performance of its function of lender of last resort and also as a signal of the
desired direction of monetary policy.
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Monetary Base (or High-powered Money or Reserve Money) comprises certain liabilities of
the CBN and includes currency with the non-bank public and total bank reserves. The
main sources of monetary base are the net foreign assets of the CBN, net claims on
government, claims on government, claims on deposit money banks, and other assets
(net) of the CBN.

Money Supply(or Money Stock) refers to the total value of money in the economy and this
consists of currency (notes and coins) and deposits with deposit money banks (DMBs). For
purposes of policy, there are two variants of money supply in Nigeria M1 and M2. M1 isthe
narrow measure of money supply which includes currency in circulation with the non-
bank public and demand deposits (current accounts) at the deposit money banks. M2is
the broad measure of money supply and includes M1 and savings and time deposits at
the DMBs. Savings and time deposits are also called quasi-money. M2 measures total
liguidity in the economy. Excess liquidity is the amount of liquidity over and above the
optimumlevel of liquidity, determined by the levels of output and prices.

Net Foreign Assets (NFA) consfitute the foreign exchange holdings of the CBN and the
deposit money banks, after netting out the claims of foreigners. Changes in NFA should
reflect developments in the balance of payments. A deficit in the balance of payments
would lead to a decrease in foreign asset holdings and ultimately the money stock. A
surplusin the balance of payments produces the opposite effect.

New Issues are securitiesraised in the primary market for the first time.

Nominal Exchange Rate: The nominal exchange rate is the price of one currency relative
to another. The real exchange rate is the nominal exchange rate deflated by changesin
relative prices.

Nominal Interest Rate: Thisis the actual rental value paid for the use of money or credit. It
includes the effects of inflation and uncertainty.

Offer for Sale is an offer by shareholders to sell existing shares to the public. The sale is
effected usually through stockbrokers and does not affect the capital base of a
company.

Offer for Subscription is an invitation by a company to the public to subscribe to new issues.
Thisincreases the capital base of the company.

Open Market Operations involve the discretionary power of the CBN to purchase or sell
securities in the financial markets in order to influence the volume of liquidity and levels of
interest rates which ultimately would affect money supply. When the CBN sells financial
instruments, the liquidity (excess reserves) of the banking system reduces. This restricts the
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capacity of banks to extend credit orinduce monetary expansion. On the other hand,
when the CBN purchases such instruments, it injects money into the system and banks'
ability fo expand creditis enhanced.

Operational Risk: Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems, or from external events. Operationalriskis present
in virtually all banking tfransactions and activities.

Other Assets (net) is the other assets of CBN, deposit money banks less (their) other
liabilities.

Preference Shares are shares of companies on which dividends must be paid before any
othershares.

Prime Lending Rate: This is the interest rate applied to loans made to customers with the
highestrating. Foreach bank, thisrate also represents the minimum lendingrate.

Prudential Guidelines: These are guidelines and practices which all licensed banks are
required to adhere to in reviewing and reporting their performance, particularly in the
areas of credit portfolio classification and disclosure; the provision for non-performing
facilities and interest accrual; the classification of other assets; and off-balance sheet
engagements.

Real Exchange Rate: This is the nominal exchange rate deflated by change in relative
prices. See also Nominal Exchange Rate

Real Interest Rate: This is the nominal interest rate adjusted for expected inflation. In
orderto encourage savings, realinterestrate is expected to be positive.

Recurrent Expenditure: Expenditure on goods and services (other than capital assets)
usedin the process of production within one year. Interest onloansisincluded.

Required Reserves are a fraction of commercial and merchant banks' money held for the
purpose of backing up their deposit operations and partly to control the level of liquidity in
the economy. They are made up of cash reserves and liquid assets and specified in the
form of ratios. The cash reserves ratio is the percentage of deposit money banks' cash
deposits with the CBN in relation to their total demand, savings and time deposits. The
liquidity ratiois the percentage of banks' liquid assets to their total deposits liabilities.

Reserve Money: see Monetary Base

Reserve Requirement refers to the proportion of total deposit liabilities which the deposit

205



APPENDIX
c

(%)
=
oz
=
(]
=
O
=
[T
(72
(T8
®)
>
o
<
(7]
%
O
r
U)

206

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

money banks are expected to keep as cash in vaults and deposits with the CBN. The CBN
can control the money stock by varying the requirement as desirable. Usually, banks keep
reserves over and above the legal requirement for safety. The cash ratio requires the
deposit banks to keep a certain proportion of their total deposit liabilities in cash balances
with the CBN, while the liquidity ratio stipulates the proportion of total deposits o be keptin
specified liquid assets, mainly to safeguard the ability of banks to meet depositors' cash
withdrawals and ensure confidence in the banking system. The CBN also has powers to
callforspecial deposits from banks for the purpose of controlling liquidity.

Rights Issues are shares offered to companies' existing shareholders in proportion to the
number of shares held and usually at below the market price to make the offer attractive.

Savings Deposit Rate: The savings deposit rate is the amount paid by banks for funds
withdrawable afterseven days' notice. Thisrestrictionis, however, seldomly applied.

Total Reserves: Thisis the sum of requiredreserves and excessreserves.

Vault Cash: Deposit money banks keep “petty cash” in their vaults for emergency
transactions before they can access their accounts with the CBN. The amount so kept is
called vault cash.

Ways and Means Advances constitute a portion of credit by the CBN to government.
These are temporary loans to government to bridge shortfalls in revenue. Statutorily, the
CBN must not give more than 12.5 per cent of government's currentrevenue.

Yield Curve: Shows the relationship between the rate of interest and the time to maturity
of different financial assefts.
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Appendix D APPENDIX
Policy Circulars and Guidelines Issued in 2010

1. BANKING SUPERVISION

S/N ' Reference No. Name of Circular Date Issued
1. BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/001 Re Publication of interest rates 6/1/2010
2 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/004 Minimum Information to be Disclosed in Financial 18/1/2010

Statements for the Year ended December 31, 2009

3 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/005 Review of 26 Resident Examiners Programme of the | 21/1/2010
Central Bank of Nigeria

4 BSD/DIR/GEN/FCL/02/008 Update of Lending to all Tiers of Government and 4/2/2010
their Agencies

5 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/066 Review of the Prudential Requirements of 1% 9/2/2010
Provision of Non-Performing Loans

6 BSD/DIR/GEN/FCL/02/017 Templates for Reports on Non-Performing Loans and | 9/2/2010
Group Proprietary Institutions as at December, 2009

7 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/007 Failure to Banks to Update Records— Threat to Anti- 21/2/2010
Money Laundered Programme

8 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/010 Guidelines on the Issuance and Treatment of 30/3/2010
Bankers' Acceptance and Commercial Papers
9 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/011 Reconciliation of Monthly Bank Returns (MBR) to 1/4/2010

Audited Financial Statements
10 | BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/015 The Need for Banks to Develop and Implement a 30/4/2010
Risk-Based Pricing Model

POLICY CIRCULARS AND GUIDELINES

11 BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/016 Re: Monthly Submission of Credit Portfolio 30/4/2010
Classification by Banks
12 | BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/014 Data Exchange Agreements with at Least Two 7/7/2010

Licensed Credit Bureaus in Nigeria
13 | BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/015 The Need for Banks to Develop and Implement a 7/7/2010
Risk-Based Pricing Model

14 | BSD/DIR/GEN/FFT/02/089 Disbursement of the Proceeds of Foreign Funds 7/7/2010
Transfer

15 | BSD/DIR/GEN/NPG/04/001 New Prudential Guidelines for Deposit Money Banks | 8/7/2010

16 | BSD/DIR/CBGIR/2010/02 CBN Scope, Conditions & Minimum Standards for 16/7/2010
Commercial Banks Regulations No. 2010

17 | BSD/DIR/SBG/2010/03 Review of Guidelines for Specialized Institutions 16/7/2010

18 | BSD/DIR/MBG/2010/05 CBN Scope, Conditions & Minimum Standards for 9/8/2010
Merchant Banks Regulations No. 02,2010

19 | BSD/DIR/SIG/2010/06 CBN Scope, Conditions & Minimum Standards for 9/8/2010
Specialized Institutions Regulations No. 03, 2010

20 | BSD/DIR/GEN/UBN/03/061 Re: repeal of Universal Banking and Regulation for 8/9/2010
Transitional Arrangement for Existing Banks

21 CBN/Securities and Exchange Commission Approved | 1/10/2010
Rules on Margin Lending

22 | BSD/DIR/GEN/BOD/04/060 Document for Board of Directors’ Meeting 21/10/2010

23 | BSD/DIR/RBG/2010/08 Regulation on the Scope of Banking Activities & 9/11/2010

Ancillary Matters, No. 3, 2010

24 | BSD/DIR/CIR/RSB/2010/05 Supervisory Framework for Banks and Other Financial | 23/12/2010
Institutions in Nigeria

25 | BSD/DIR/GEN/CIR/04/009 Re: Extension of the CBN Guarantee of Placements 31/12/2010
With Bonus by the Pension Fund Administrators from
March 31, 2010 to December 31, 2010
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FINANCIAL POLICY & REGULATION DEPARTMENT

S/N | Reference No.

1.

2.

FPR/DIR/CIR/AML/CFT/01/001

FPR/DIR/GDL/01/002

FPR/DIR/CIR/AML/CFT/01/002

FPR/DIR/CIR/CFP/Vol.1/003

FPR/DIR/CIR/FXM/01/004

Name of Circular

The Circular informed Stakeholders of the
Gazetting of the AML/CFT Regulation. The
Circular also m\Mandated Deposit Money Banks
to Comply with the Provisions of the Regulation.
The Circular Listed the Various Names Associated
with a Terrorist Group (AQI) and Required Banks
to Render Returns upon Discovery of any Related
Account within their Institutions.

This Circular Required Banks to Forward all
AML/CFT Returns to the Director, Financial Policy
& Regulation Department.

The Circular Directed Banks to Review their
Processes for Handling exited Staff Matters and
to Issue Favourable/Adverse Clearances within
60 days of the date of receipt of the request for
clearance.

This Policy Listed the Terms/Conditions for the
Grant of Liquid Asset Status to State
Governmental Bonds.

The Circular informed Stakeholders of the
Revocation of the Licences of Class ‘A’

Bureaux De Change

FINANCIAL MARKETS DEPARTMENT

S/N  Reference No.

1.

2

3.

S/N | Reference No.
1.

2

3

w

FMD/FED/CIR/GEN/01/082/10

Name of Circular

Guidelines for Granting Liquid Asset Status to
State Government Bonds

Revised Guidelines for the Operation of the
Foreign Exchange Market: Wholesale Dutch
Auction System

TRADE AND EXCHANGE DEPARTMENT

028

029

Name of Circular
Deadline for Rendition of Returns through eFASS

Process Flow for Marking up the Master Certificate of Capital

Importation (CCI) on Nigeria GDRs

030

Re: Monetary, Credit, Foreign Trade and Exchange Policy

Guidelines for Fiscal Year 2010/2011

032

Appointment of Citibank, Standard Chartered Bank and Access

Bank Plc as Designated Banks for the Collected of NEDD Fees
under the Nigeria Export Supervision Scheme (NESS)

036

Re: Liberalisation on Unconfirmed Letters of Credit

Specified Currencies for Transaction in the Foreign Exchange

038 Market

Date Issued
5/5/2010

17/6/2010

8/7/2010

15/7/2010

9/9/2010

02/11/10

Date Issued
12/8/2010

29/12/2010

Date Issued
9/6/2010

24/6/2010

28/6/2010

23/9/2010

24/11/2010
22/12/2010
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4. BANKING AND PAYMENTS SYSTEM DEPARTMENT APPEDND'X
S/N | Reference No. Name of Circular Date Issued
1. The Circular made Clarifications on the Policy of N10 million 4/1/2010

Maximum cap for single Cheque Payment as follows:

e Cheques (to include Bank Drafts and Manager Cheque)

e In-House Cheques Drawn by all Classes of Account
holders of the same Bank and or Branch

e Across-the-Counter Cash Withdrawals with Cheque by
Customers of Banks

e Dividend/Interest Warrant

e All Classes of Cheques Issued Prior to the Take-Off Date of
the Policy with Value Higher than N10 Million, but yet to
be paid after January 1, 2010. Cheques in this Category
were Allowed to be Presented within Two Weeks from
January 4, 2010.

2 Circular on Accreditation of Cheque Printers : 1/3/2010
The Circular Notified the Public that the CBN has Approved the
Accreditation and Re-accreditation of 14 Cheque Printers Under
“Nigeria Cheque Printer Accreditation Scheme” (NICPA)

3 Standards and Guidelines on Automated Teller Operations in 04/2010
Nigeria:

e No ATM Owner of Acquirer shall Discriminate Against any
Card Scheme or Issuer
e ATM Complaints to be Responded to within a Maximum
of 72 Hours from the Date of Receipt the Complaints
e PIN Change shall be Provided Free of Charge Throughout
the Entire Value Chain
e The ATM Downtime (Due to Technical Fault) is not more
than Seventy-Two (72) Hours Consecutively and Helpdesk
Contacts should be Adequately Displayed
e Al ATM Surcharges are to be fully Disclosed to Customers
e Every ATM shall have Cameras which shall View and
Record all Persons using the Machines and every Activity
at the ATM. Where the User of an ATM Blocks His Image
for Camera Capture, the ATM shalll be Capable of
Aborting the Transaction.
e Liability Shifts in the Event of ATM Fraud is Provided.
4 Nigerian Uniform Bank Account Number (NUBAN) Standards: 19/8/2010
-The Proposed NUBAN is a 10-digit Bank
Account Number format, with the Following
Structure:
999999999 - Account Serial Number
9 - A Check Digit constructed to support a
Modulus Check, which Enables the Presenting Bank fo Perform
Checks

POLICY CIRCULARS AND GUIDELINES

e The Check Digit is Derived from an Algorithm that
Operates on a Combination of the 3-Digit CBN-Assigned
Bank Code and the 9-Digit Account Serial Number.

e Every Bank is Required to Create and Maintain a NUBAN
Code for Every Customer Account (Current, Savings, etc)
in its Customers Records Database, and the NUBAN Code
should be the Only Account Number fo be used at all
Interfaces with a Bank Customer.

e The Bank Customer should be provided with only the
NUBAN Code Supplied by the Customer to the Relevant
Intfernal Account Number within the Bank’s Technology
System.

o Effective Date for the Implementation is 2 Months
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APPENDIX 5

o Circular on Interoperability and Interconnectivity of the Payments 25/8/2010

System Infrastructure in Nigeria:
The Circular stipulated that all Parties to the Nigerian Switching
Infrastructure shall ensure that:

o All Terminal Access Devices (POS and ATM etc) are
Configured to Accept and Process All Payment Cards
Schemes and other Electronic Payment Instruments that
are Acceptable in Nigeria on or before 1st December
2010.

e Their Switching Systems connect to the Nigeria Central
Switch and only One Other Private Switch of their Choice
as Determined by their Business Case. All Participants with
Multiple Connection to Private Switches are hereby given
fill December 1, 2010 to Terminate all multiple
Connections as appropriate.

6 Circulars on the Need to Combat Card Fraud: 30/8/2010
e No Debit Card should be Issued on an Account without a
Written Request from the Account Holder. Henceforth,
DMBs shall bear Liability for any Fraud Perpetrated with
the Use of Cards Issued without written Request from the

Account Holder, and such Card must be Delivered in
such a Manner that the Confidentiality of the Information
is not Compromised.

e DMBs should set and Implement Mandatory Daily Limits for
ATM Cash Withdrawals. All other related Transactions,
including POS and WEB Purchases should be Subject fo
Stringent Limits as Agreed and Documented between the
DMBs and their Customers. It is the Responsibility of the
DMBs to Ensure that the Agreements are Documented
and that such Limits are Embedded with the Card so as to
Automatically initiate a trigger when Limits are exceeded.

e The Use of 2nd Level Authentication for Internet
Transactions is now Mandatory for all Payment Cards. It is
the responsibility of the Issuer to Ensure that Transactions
Emanating from its WEB Merchants are Properly
Scrutinized and Operations are Permitted Only After 2nd
Level Verification.

e DMBs must Send SMS Alerts to the Telephone/emails
Addresses of Cardholders whenever there is a Debit
Transaction via Payment Card. Evidence of the Dispatch
of such Messages would be required in Cases of no
receipt of the Alerts by Account Holders as a Result of
Telephone Network Failures.

e Cardholders should be Provided with a Facility fo Block
their Accounts Immediately from their Mobile Phones
whenever the SMS Alert is received in Respect of
Suspicious Transactions so as to Prevent Further Fraudulent
Transactions from being Perpetrated.

e All Card Issuing Banks should deploy Fraud Monitoring
Tools that have the Capability fo Monitor the normal
spending frends of a Card Holder as ell as Automatically
Stop Abnormal Transactions that are Perceived to be
Fraudulent. The Block shall only be Lifted by Express
Instruction by the Card Holder.

e The Use of Temporary Staff, i.e Students on Industrial
Attachment/Vacation Job, NYSC Members and Contract
Staff for Card Management and Issuance/Distribution of
PIN Mailers should be stopped forthwith.

POLICY CIRCULARS AND GUIDELINES
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Circular on Compliance with Due Diligence in the Deployment of | 19/10/2010 APP%ND'X
Point of Sale (POS) Terminals:
The Circular Stipulated that the Deposit Money Banks should:
e Conduct Proper KYC on all their Merchants with POS
e Set Merchants Limits Based on the Volume of
Business/Commercial Activities
o Set Customer Limit Based on Card Class
e Instruct Merchants to Enforce Cardholder’s Identification
at the Point of Payment for Transactions above a Specific
Limit as Agreed Between the Bank and the Merchant.
Circular to All Approved Mobile Payments Scheme Operators: 13/12/2010
The Circular Stipulated that the Sixteen Mobile PaymentScheme
Operators should observe the following:
e A four-month, closed pilotrun in no more than four
Locations, one Urban Area and Three Rural Area
e The Pilot run should be imited to not more than 5,000
Participants and not more than 100 agents.
e Notf to commence Media Campaign during the Pilot Run.

POLICY CIRCULARS AND GUIDELINES
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Table 3
Currency in Circulation
(Naira billion)

[ [ ]
October | 2230 | 7432 | 9661

1/ Provisional
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Table 4
Money Supply and its Determinants
(Naira million)

Category Dec-06 Dec-07 Dec-08 1/ Dec-09 1/ Dec-10 2/
1.Domestic Credit (net) 714,205.7 2,688,236.5 4,951,860.2 7,903,792.1 8,962,973.1
(a) Claims on Federal Government (net) -1,936,615.7 -2,368,484.4 -3,107,688.6 -2,302,294.7 -740,728.1

By Central Bank -2,796,026.9 -4,074,422.8 -4,532,113.6 -3,731,603.8 -2,586,329.7
By Deposits Money Banks 859,411.2 1,705,938.5 1,424,425.0 1,429,309.2 1,845,601.4
(b).Claims on Private Sector 2,650,821.5 5,056,720.9 8,059,548.9 10,206,086.7 9,703,701.2
By Central Bank 41,532.1 236,025.2 260,148.8 538,210.1 588,914.9
By Deposits Money Banks 2,609,289.4| 4,820,695.7| 7,799.400.1 9.,667,876.7, 9.114,786.3
(i) Claims on State and Local Governments 3/ 80,652.4 87,753.4 149,765.1 310,324.3 369,809.8
By Central Bank 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
By Deposits Money Banks 80,652.4 87,753.6 149,765.1 310,324.3 369,809.8
(ii) Claims on Non-Financial Public Enterprises 13,249.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
By Central Bank 13,249.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

By Deposits Money Banks

(iii) Claims on Other Private Sector 2,656,919.7 4,968,967.3 7,909,783.& 9,895,762.5 9,333,891.3
By Central Bank 28,282.7 236,025.2 260,148.8 538,210.1 588,914.9
By Deposits Money Banks 2,528,637.0 4,732,942.1 7.649,635.0 9.357,552.4 8,744,976.4
(2) Foreign Assets (net) 4/ 6,307,859.3 7,266,512.1 8,550,430.3 7,593,321.& 6,303,633.0
By Central Bank 5,603,376.8  6,570,263.7 7,270,807.4 6,522,239.5  5,169,300.2
By Deposits Money Banks 704,482.4 696,248.4  1,279,622.9 1,071,082.3 1,134,332.8
(3) Other Assets (net) -2,994,163.5 -4,144,922.1 -4,335455.% -4,729,736.1 -3,777,890.9
Total Monetary Assets 4,027,901.7 5,809,826.5 9,166,835.2 10,767,377.& 11,488,715.2
Quasi-Money 5/ 1,747,252.7¢  2,693,554.3 4,309,523.1 5,763,511.2 5,954,260.5
Money Supply 2,280,648.9% 3,116,272.1 4,857,312.2 5,003,866.6 5,534,454.¢
Currency Outside Banks 650,943.6C 737,867.2 892,675.6 927,236.4 1,082,185.2
Demand Deposits 6/ 1,629,705.3 2,378,404.9 3,964,636.7 4,076,630.1 4,452,269.¢
Total Monetary Liabilities 4,027,901.7 5,809,826.5 9,166,835.3 10,767,377.& 11,488,715.2

GROWTH RATE OVER THE PRECEDING DECEMBER

Credit to the Domestic Economy (net) -69.1 276.4 84.2 59.6 13.4
Credit to the Private Sector 32.1 90.8 59.4 26.6 -4.1
Claims on Federal Government (net) 7/ -732.8 -22.3 -31.2 25.9 64.2
By Central Bank -1259.0 -45.7 -11.2 17.7 30.7
Claims on State and Local Governments 47.9 8.8 70.7 107.2 19.2
Claims on Non-Financial Public Enterprises 440.9 -100.0 0.0 0.0
Credit to the Other Private Sector 31.1 94.3 59.2 25.1 -4.8
Foreign Assets (net) 53.9 15.2 17.7 -11.2 -17.0
Other Assets (net) 16.8 -38.4 -4.6 -9.1 20.1
Quasi-Money 60.4 54.2 60.0 33.7 3.3
Money Supply (M1) 32.2 36.6 55.9 3.0 10.6
Broad Money (M2) 43.1 44.2 57.8 17.5 6.7
NOTES :
1/ Revised.

2/ Provisional.

3/ For the purpose of monetary and credit survey, credit to government sector refers strictly to Federal
Government and excludes state and local governments.

4/ External assets and liabilities were converted into naira at the official rate on the balance sheet date, except
holdings purchased at the AFEM.

5/ Quasi-Money consists of Time, Savings and Foreign Currency Deposits of Commercial and Merchant
Banks excluding Takings from Discount Houses.

6/ Demand Deposits consist of state, local and parastatals deposits at the CBN; state, local and private sector
deposits as well as demand deposits of non-financial public enterprises at Commercial and Merchant banks.

7/ In 2002, the increase reflected the substantial draw down on Federal Government deposits with the CBN.
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Table 8
Summary of Community Banks/Microfinance Banks' Activities
(Naira million)

P I R B
e IR R I R
Advances

sy | e || som | s |
s osmoscmnan | oo || aavw | zas |
¢ omcomnan | oo | | seom | sowor |
R R I

Note: /1 Revised
/2 Provisional
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Table 9
Discount Houses' Statement of Assets and Liabilities
(Naira million)

9 Cashonhond | os| s s o7

i) Overcrafts _-ﬂ-m
OTHER LIABILITIES 12,261.4 16,548.0 27,222.4 27,758.8
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Summary of Assets and Liabilities of Finance Companies

ltem

1 Cash and Cash ltems

2 Investments

3 Due from other Finance Companies

4. Loans and Advances

5. Fixed Assets

6. Other Assets

Total Assets

1.Capital and Reserves

2. Share Deposits

3. Due to other Finance Companies

4. Borrowings

5. Other Liabilities

(Naira million)

2006 /1 2007 /2
4,220.70| 3,820.10

8,755.10112,756.0C
9.293.40|11,458.9C
23,845.80/26,779.1C
4,341.30]| 3,687.60
3.861.80| 7,302.90
54,318.00 65,804.6C
11,185.60 14,856.7C
185.8 0
127.4 156.7
34,647.10 39,948.5C

8.152.10/10,842.7C

Total Liabilities 54,298.0C 65,804.6C
1/ 77 Finance companies out of 112 reported

2/ 81 Finance Companies out of 112 reported

3/ 56 Finance Companies out of 113 reported

4/ 75 Finance Companies out of 114 reported

5/ Provisional

2008 /3
5,965.3

34,442.3

21,791.9

50,387.8

6,881.4

14,711.5

134,180.1

25,201.6

0.0

7,108.9

83,132.9

18,736.8

134,180.1

2009 /4 2010 /5
112,642.0 2,741.0

31,613.2  9,202.8
24,7427 74,437.6
41,111.8 61,133.6
7,490.0 17,644.1
15,830.5 20,453.5
120,900.8 185,612.6
14,237.8 48,317.6
0.0 0.0
8,1740 4,458.9
81,199.6 107,506.9

17,289.4 25,329.2

120,900.8 185,612.4
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Table 11
Value of Money Market Assets
(Naira million)

1/ revised
2/ provisional
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Table 12
Treasury Bills: Issues and Subscriptions
(Naira million)

I A
| November | 1250000/ 00| 894700  35530.0|
Total | 15090700 37900 7961100/  649170.0|
I S A
| Jamvary | 11s0000/ 00l 714000  43600.0|
Morch | 1380000 00l 974000  40600.0|
Moy | 1151066/ 00 1063000 72700.0|
jJuy | 1051105 00l  624000|  42600.0|

Total | 13041824| 271590900 11247000,  655500.0/
I O
Moy | 8vasi5| 00| 28701.8]  60749.7]
goty | 601105 00l 301045  30008.0

I ) A
Morch | 80000 00l 415100 384900
Moy | 1202200/ 00| 954300/ 247900
gty | 125300/ 00l 830300/ 423300
September | 917600/ 00 544400/ 373200
November | 1202200/ 00 746400/ 455800
Totat | 13925400/ 300 9568700  435640.0
I A N
Jonuory | 1498300/ 00| 1405900 92400
March | 650000/ 00| 549600 ____ 10040.0|
Moy | 1002200/ 00l 935300/ 66900
goty | 2509100 00| 1856400/ 652700

1/ Includes Discount houses,Government parastatals, Savings type institutions etc.
Note: With the commencement of universal banking in January 2001,
the dichotomy between banks was removed.
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Table 13
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Holdings of Treasury Bills Outstanding
(Naira billion)

2006
February
April
June
August
October
December

2007
February
April
June
August

October

2008
February
April
June
August
October
December

2009
February
April
June
August
October

December

854.8

815.0

785.3

7153

715.3

701.4

675.1

732.6

716.9

705.9

625.9

574.9

574.9

574.9

500.6

471.9

471.9

53.0

14.5

40.5

20.5

3.5

24.5

2!

.6

3.9

6

1

9

5

(0]

4

4

0.00

23.4

1

1
3.8
5

7

4

587.1

627.2

580.7

525.3

541.1

520.6

521.2

547.2

647.7

663.2

615.8

551.4

7

4
(0}
0.
0.
0.
5.
2.
3.
6.
8.
7.
0.
.0
3
1.
1.

525.5

519.7

7
574.9 3 495.3

446.7

382.7

352.4

404.4

376.3

4171

539.6

650.3

644.8

214.7

173.3

164.2

169.6

160.7

156.3

December .
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Average Tenor Average Yield

Table 14
Open Market Operations
Total Amount
Period Bids Sold
(N’ Million) (N’ Million) (Days)
2006
January 38,600.0 26,100.0 40.0
February 360,100.0 200,000.0 93.0
March 182,600.0 149,000.0 115.0
April 211,500.0 189,900.0 95.0
May 159,500.0 133,400.0 205.0
June 254,300.0 197,200.0 309.0
July 416,700.0 343,100.0 146.0
August 225,370.0 168,690.0 235.0
September 56,600.0 56,600.0 146.0
October 232,930.0 217,930.0 63.0
November 30,500.0 25,000.0 82.0
December 101,500.0 101,500.0 ?1.0
Total 2,270,200.0 1,808,420.0 1,620.0
Average 189,183.3 150,701.7 135.0
2007
January 0.0 0.0 0.0
February 68,200.0 80,100.0 50.0
March 216,900.0 227,100.0 71.0
April 50,300.0 80,100.0 100.0
May 62,400.0 100,100.0 48.0
June 14,000.0 563,500.0 74.0
July 170.0 82,200.0 57.0
August 37,750.0 304,500.0 86.0
September 0.0 461,000.0 99.0
October 19,500.0 528,700.0 77.0
November 24,000.0 570,000.0 106.0
December 134,200.0 585,300.0 223.0
Total 627,420.0 3,582,600.0 991.0
Average 52,285.0 298,550.0 82.6
2008
January 0.0 148,300.0 229.0
February 0.0 174,770.0 265.0
March 0.0 210,350.0 206.0
April 10.0 291,650.0 160.0
May 24.0 205,530.0 168.0
June 0.0 439,200.0 160.0
July 0.0 760,080.0 171.0
August 0.0 101,460.0 194.0
September 0.0 0.0 0.0
October 0.0 0.0 0.0
November 0.0 0.0 0.0
December 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total 34.0 2,331,340.0 0.0
Average 2.8 194,278.3 ~ 129.4
2009
January 68,540.0 20,290.0 2.0
February 0.0 0.0 n/a
March 71,000.0 42,000.0 2.7
April 128,150.0 95,150.0 4.3
May 77.,100.0 39,250.0 4.0
June 126,850.0 57,800.0 5.1
July n/a n/a n/a
August n/a n/a n/a
September n/a n/a n/a
October n/a n/a n/a
November n/a n/a n/a
December n/a n/a n/a
Total 471,640.0 254,490.0 18.1
Average 78,606.7 42,415.0 3.6
2010
January 0.0 0.0 0.0
February 0.0 0.0 0.0
March 0.0 0.0 0.0
April 280,500.0 120,000.0 186.0
May 116,942.0 40,000.0 130.0
June 200.0 2,000.0 44.0
July 0.0 0.0 0.0
August 0.0 0.0 0.0
September 70,250.0 24,000.0 79.0
October 2,000.0 2,000.0 181.0
November 47,250.0 29,500.0 240.0
December 99.181.0 53,250.0 148.0
Total 616,323.0 270,750.0 1,008.0
Average 51,360.3 27,000.0 84.0

(%)

10.9
11.3
9.6
8.2
7.2
11.2
1.

0.0
0.0
0.0

2.4
1.2
0.0
0.0
5.1
8.6
10.0

37.1
0.0
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Table 16
Market Capitalisation of Quoted Companies: Equities
(Naira thousand)

FINANCIAL

2,198,156,504.9 | 6,903,133,644.4 | 4,079,523,775.3 | 2,455,225,199.6

Managed Funds

Other Financial Institutions

Mortgage | 452500000 | 542023863 | 248508145
Breweries 4443029318 | 5696141515 | 472,657,8363 | 599,067,028.7

Chemical & Paints

Industrial and Domestic Products

Healthcare

COMMERCIALS

Computer & Office Equipments

SERVICES

Real Estate

Airline Services

Hotel and Tourism

Aviation | | 17400000 |  1,740,000.0
Leasing | 48600000 | 66600000 | 4,161,544.4

Media | 00| 264800000 | 77083978

Total 5,120,943,219.6 | 10,293,187,216.7 | 6,957,453,501.0 | 4,989,385,147.5

Source: NES
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Table 17
Value Index of All Common Stocks Listed by Sector on the Nigerian Stock Exchange
(1984 = 100)

AGRICULTURE

Banking

Insurance

Real Estate Investment Trust

10346 17422 15388| 8307
| 100/ 83

MANUFACTURING 96930 116957 60713 66418

Building Materials

Food, Beverages & Tobacco
Packaging

Textiles

Automobile & Tyres
Commercial / Services
Footwear

Petroleum (Marketing

Construction

Engineering Technology

Printing & Publishing

Maritime

Road Transport

Information, Communications
& Telecommunications

The Foreign Listing

Source: NES

22| sl 259 90
| ws| w7 a8

I R R

10153| 1665 12359 6835

766 | 6839 -11.67| -46.02
A S R =)
56| 520 481 9.4
552|640 1538 -79.0.
270|497 40| -60.7]
| w34 -5

----14.6
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Table 18
Federation Account Operations
(Naira billion)

e L
rotsfoniGsupoceeds || |
B R R R R

Ofthers

1/ Provisional

2/ As contained in memorandum items

3/ Includes Education Tax and Customs levies
Source: Federal Ministry of Finance

231



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Table 19
Federally Collected Revenue Distributions
(Naira billion)

Federaly Collected Revenue (Nef) | 2942 | 31942 | 35311 | 24317
EchongeRateGon | ool _oo| 00| s
Distbved asfolows ||
EcessCude | gwo|  ame| 11069 | 124
| Less RetundiioLocorGovemmens | 00| 00| 00| o0
| Ado: Refond fom FederaiGovernment | 00| 00| 00| o0
Share of Dif iw. Fovisonal Disibuon and ActuclBudget | 61| ani|  e78 | ina
CFederalGovernment | 00|  wse| 2nes | s
locoiGovenment | oo| 5| s8]  1ioa
EchangefoteGon | 00| 00| 00| 7
SioteGovermest | oo| oo| 00| 3
gmpemaon | oo oo 00|

1/ Provisional
Source: Federal Ministry of Finance
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Table 20
Summary of General Government Finances
(Naira billion)

Tofal Revenve (Gross) | 48557 | 9973 | 102545 | 73072 |
I R N R R
Cless
RevenuefiomNon-OilSowces | 10607 |  1e071 | 1ems | 2394
| bolances in Special Accounts for he PreviousYear | - | | | ]
OTALREVEWOE | awsa | smia | 7503 | 62633
tomaecenomRe | az07 | ssaa | 7saas | 72880
Goodsssevices | 1ss7 |  2sey | 3sesa | asel1 |
henson | gs| g0l sz | 294
CoptalEBxpenditee | 1aoa1 | 17579 | 29792 | 28000 |
wooc e | a0 e | s3]
' Ofmers (incl.sub. govt exhabudgetary exp) | 10ms | a3 | 03 | es7
overausaaNcE | amy| e sy (947
ANaNoNG | 3| w0 | w2 | w7
cewsnkngFond | Rl s |

1/ Provisional
Source: Federal Ministry of Finance
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Table 21
Summary of Federal Government Finances
(Naira billion)

FEDERAL GOVERNMENTRETANED REVENUE | 19372 | 207 | 31934 | 26430
Cloonrecowryfomsiares | - | | |
I I R R R
I A A R R
eewon | oz | e | ws | s
Cnerestpoymens | s | 237 | w2 | s
vamses | s | s | w2e | 22
Comes |
solonce of Revenve and Expendtore: | | | |
I N A R R
owigninen ||| ey
Ceommgsgem | - | s | a9 | s

Deposi Money Bonks | s 1756
Privatization Proceed - 23| - 70

1/ Provisional
2/ Includes FGN balances of special accounts
Source: Federal Ministry of Finance
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Table 23
Functional Classification of Federal Government Capital Expenditure
(Naira billion)

womwsmanon | ws2| =] o] o]
wconomesemvezs | awa|  weal  swa| sl
vonwmngsuomng | 73| s 27| o)
Cvowg | ze| sl ss| .|
T I N R R
I N R R
N R e R
I I I .
s | w3 mo|  ws| o2
copagepemens | - | - | | |
S T R R R
Ccomgences | - | | | |
hetldnglovestosFoes | - | | |
R R e R

1/ Provisional
Sources: Federal Ministry of Finance and Central Bank of Nigeria
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Table 24
Summary of State Governments' and FCT Finances
(Naira billion)

N
_BudgefAugmenfafion | - - | .| 278
Shareof VAT | 106 1444|1981 293
Y Y —
 RecurentBxpendifwe | 843 12174 15056 14261
| Exva-Budgefary Expenditure 4/ | 1085 439 403 667
CumentBalance§/ | s494 8480 14292 11646
Y N —
(Bdemalloons | - 59| 383 80
(Otherfunds | el wa| 7)) 160

18,709.6 24,665.2

1/ Provisional and comprises 36 states and FCT

2/ Gross Statutory Allocation

3/ Includes contribution to external debt fund and other deductions at source

4/ positive (+) sign connotes surplus while negative (-) sign connotes deficit

Sources: State Governments' Ministries of Finance and Office of the Accountant-General of the Federation's reports
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Table 25
Functional Classification of State Government Recurrent and Capital Expenditure
(Naira billion)

Tofal Expenditore | 1,587.7 | 21161 | 3,107.8 2,776.9

C. EXTRA-BUDGETARY EXPENDITURES

1/ Provisional and comprises 36 states and FCT
Source: State Governments' Accountants- General and OAGF
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Table 26

Summary of State Governments' and FCT Finances (State-By-State, 2010Y)

(Naira billion)

Lse | wal aws esm om| sss s - | s
B Y ) % NP [N O R P
sban | il am e oz e 23 w2 - | )
ene | w0l s s oz a3 a3 02| s s
o commer | syl as sy om| se o | ]
Gieeni oy am ae om| sa 2 -
Galm sl as0 as om| sa 2 as| | s
Gscombe | ma  au am om| su  ss 52 om | s
Gokee | wmeas ar ow e a2 |
ke | o are sw o sas s - |
e ma s so om sm  na s am or s
s boswowe | o4l s ars om| seo el | )
logn | aa  se se x| ey iz - | 2 e
lown | a2l s s om eor sel |
koo | sas|  aop sa o2 sse e | i )
e aen e s oz e 3 - | ae iz e
P P P P S [ S I I Y
I N o ) s L (v O N P

1/ Provisional

2/ Gross allocation.

3/ Positive (+) sign connotes decrease while (-) sign connotes increase in funds.
Source: State Governments' and FCT Abuja Accountants- General's Reports.
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Table 26 Cont.
Summary of State Government and FCT Finances (State-By-State, 2010 ¥)
(Naira billion)

B Y Y VP (P B P B
S T B L B BV SV PP R P B

cecme ws s s me r am ws e gon e e o
e P B S P SV B (P B U R
T e o B B e B (P B S
B T L BV B PRI B PP R Y
Gme s o we w e es mi gon o o o s

B e P B S P By e (R R R AP R
e wa we am as wa e o o e e
e wma s ou s me oy a2 e
o s ) [ o S S B B [
B ) ) 3 P v S St PP B
S B Y SV S () Y B B B I T R

1/ Provisional

2/ Gross allocation.

3/ Positive (+) sign connotes decrease while (-) sign connotes increase in funds.
Source: State Governments' and FCT Abuja Accountants- General's Reports.

240



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

(c1ost)

$10}09§ Pa}03Jas Uo aInjipuadx3y D4 PUD ,SUSWUISA0S) 3D}

eLIOSIN JO Jueq [ENUS)) PUE d0URUI] JO AISTUIA [BIOP2,] :90IN0S

[BUOISIAOI] /]

€0°6€€°L 00°LEV°L

(uoling paON)

LT 3I9pl

09°120°€

0£'GSY’L

€9°605°L

FANLIANIdXT TVIOL

BuisnoH

ainynouby

uoyponp3

241



Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Table 28
Summary of Local Government Finances
(Naira billion)

a3 sm3  1am0 10604

1/ Provisional: Consisting of 685 returns from the Annual Survey and 89 were provisional data

2/ Gross
3/ Includes N8.0 billion refunded by States and FIRS & NCS to LGs in 2010

4/ Includes Closing Balance
Source: Federal Ministry of Finance, Office of the Accountant General of the Federation,

CBN/NBS/NCC 2010 Collaborative Survey and Staff Estimates
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TABLE 30
Consolidated Debt of the Federal Government
(Naira billion)

2,207.9 2,600.7 2,813.5

Domestic Public Debt (end - Period)

Composition of Debt N I I R
i Treasury Bills 695.0 574.9 471.9 797.5
i Development Stocks 07 06 05 05
v Special FGN Bonds 166.8 178.4 mm
i Banking System 1,218.4 1,703.6 1,771.5 1,882.5

b. Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) 882.9 1,482.2 1,274.6
2 years and below 897.1 709.8 952.0 1,421.4
5-10 years 194.0 252.9 406.1 294.7

1/ Provisional
Source: Debt Management Office and Central Bank of Nigeria
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Table 31
External Public Debt Outstanding

m Us §' Milion o NBilen

(o) ParBonds | 00| 00| 00| 00 00| 00| 00| 00|
_[o] Promissory Notes | 5090 | 00 | 00 | 00| 653 | 00| 00| 00

Tofol Debt Outstanding | 35445 | 3542 | 37204 | 39473 ssa7 | asi1 | asz | swoa

us § Milion  NBWen

Motioteral | a2 | 3928 | 3s06 | 2605 |  sos | ars | 310 | s
C@EB. | 10| 39| 19| 00 o5 | 02| 00| 00|
I I N N [ 1 | |
! | | ] | [ ] | ]
I N I N I I B

Total

1/ Provisional

2/ Includes Non-Paris Bilateral and Commercial debts

3/ Includes Non-Paris Bilateral, Non-Paris Commercial and Oil Warrants
Source: Debt Management Office, The Presidency, Abuja.
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Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Gross Domestic Product at 1990 Purchasers' Price
(Expenditure Approach)
(Naira billion)

COMPONENT

Domestic demand
Private Consumption Expenditure
Government Final Expenditure
Gross Fixed Capital Formation

Increase in Stocks

Net Export of Goods and Non-Factor Service
Export of Goods and Non-Factor Services
Less Import of Goods and Non-Factor Services

Gross Domestic Product (At 1990 Purchaser's Price)

1/ Revised
2/ Provisional
Source: National Bureau of Statistics (NBS)

Gross Domestic Product at Current Purchasers' Price

2006 2007
535.7 681.6
354.5 378.0
117.7 224.6
63.4 79.0
0.1 0.1
70.4 -48.6
238.1 210.3
167.7 258.9
606.2 633.0
Table 35

(Expenditure Approach)

(Naira billion)

COMPONENT 2006
Domestic demand 14,664.5
Private Consumption Expenditure 11,834.6
Government Final Consumption Expenditure 1,283.4
Gross Fixed Capital Formation 1,546.5
Increase in Stocks 1.5
Net Export of Goods and Non-Factor Service 4,043.8
Export of Goods and Non-Factor Services 8,066.0
Less Import of Goods and Non-Qil Services 4,022.2

2008 1/

556.4
248.3
234.5

73.6

0.1
91.3
301.6

210.3

647.8

2007 2008 1/

20,226.5 | 20,941.1

15,682.9  15,756.2
2,608.6 | 3,134.2
1,935.0 2,050.8

1.6 1.7
7128  3,722.5

7,063.1 | 9,837.3
6350.3 6,114.8

Gross Domestic Product (At Current Purchasers' Price) 18,709.8 20,940.9 24,645.3

1/ Revised
2/ Provisional
Source: National Bureau of Statistics (NBS)

2009 2/

560.0
264.1
215.6

80.3

0.1

34.1
211.1
177.0

594.2

2009 2/

25,120.8
18,859.6
3,213.2
3.048.0

1.8
102.6
7,766.2
7,663.6

25,225.1

2010 2/

525.2
193.7
254.1

77.4

0.1

85.3
235.2
150.0

610.6

2010 2/

25,812.7
17,539.0
4,265.9
4,007.8

1.9
3,683.4
13,441.3
9.757.9

29,498.0 .
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Table 36
National Income at Constant Market Prices
(Naira billion)

1. Gross Domestic Prodet | | | |
| ! [ |

3. Net National Income (Market prices) | 564.1  619.5 623.7 549.0

1/ Revised
2/ Provisional
Source: National Bureau of Statistics (NBS).

250

Table 37

Index of Agricultural Production by Type of Activity
(1990=100)
Crops 195.3 208.4
bl Othe oD 9 98.9
Fishe! 190.7 201.7
Adgaregate 200.1 212.8
1/: Revised

2/: Provisional
Source: Derived from data compiled by National Bureau of Statistics
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Table 38
Estimated Output of Major Agricultural Commodities
('000 Tonnes, Except Otherwise Stated)

Crop Production 104,555.8 | 109,354.4 | 109,303.8 | 112,902.1 130,574.08| 139,315.13/149,442.19 | 158,679.29
9.9730 |10,4717| 89499| sg775.1 12708.90 13,450.12

Othercrops | 84532 | 84467 8869.0 94215 '~ 10,103.50 10,713.53| 11,325.25 11,999.10
oo | oo | 1185 1180 ims

Livestock Prodycts | | | |  3,455.52] 3,647.33| 3,858.44| 4,119.27
_ GootMeat | | |
I D R
em | s om
I R D

Source: National Bureau of Statistics
1/ Revised
2/ Provisional
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Table 39
Indices of Average World Prices (c.i.f) of Nigeria's
Major Agricultural Export Commodities
( Dollar-based, 1990=100)

Palm Oil

All Commodities

Source: Public Ledger and Financial Times (London)

Table 40
Indices of Average World Prices (c.i.f) of Nigeria's Major Export Commodities
(Naira-based, 1990 = 100)

Palm Oil

All Commodities 2,521.3

Source: Public Ledger and Financial Times (London)
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Table 42
Index of Industrial Production
(1990=100)

1/ Revised

2/ Provisional

Sources: Computed from data obtained from National Bureau of Statistics (NBS); C.B.N. Surveys; N.N.P.C.;
Federal Ministry of Power and Steel; and Ministry of Solid Minerals Development.
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Table 48
World Crude Oil Production and Consumption
(Million Barrels Per Day)

Crudes

o
~o

TOTAL NON -OPEC

I
)
[N
o
&)
w
w
o

H 15 .‘.

31.82
49.55
36.60

NON - OECD

w
o >
w
o
w
N .
N
~
o~

19
@

Exports

Source: Reuters
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Table 49
Analysis of Average Spot Prices of Selected Crudes Traded at the International Oil Market
(US Dollar per barrel)

UK Brent

West Texas
Intermediate (WTI

Forcados

Source: Reuters

Table 50
Composite Consumer Price Index
(November 2009 = 100)

Imported Food component was introduced in 2009

ics (NRS)

Source: National Rurean of Stat s {(NBS)
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Table 51
Urban Consumer Price Index
(November 2009 = 100)

Al-ttem | 747 | 83 | 928 | 1014

Miscellaneous goods & Services

‘Source: National Bureau of Statistics (NBS)

Table 52
- Rural Consumer Price Index
(November 2009 = 100)

Al-ltem | 724 | 754 | 82 | 1028 |

Miscellaneous goods & Services
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Table 53
Balance of Payments
(USS' million)

. Credt | 254 | 1251 | 3920 | 1909

. cedt | - | - - | -

 cew

(276.5) (208.9) (1.020.0) (395.2)

(53.5) (603 (679 429)

(177.1) (201.2) (223.6) (188.2)
oewr
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" Table 53 Cont.
Balance of Payments
(USS' million)
. Ceat | - | - | - - |
. Cedt | - | - | - -]

(391.6) (321.3)
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Table 53 Cont.
Balance of Payments
(USS' million)

CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL ACCOUNT (19,540.0) (10,854.7) (8.428.2) 13,273.5
10600 | - | - | -

| Copiaifonses | oeso0| - | .|
 CeedGoverwent | toeso0| - | |
 Oersecr | |
Acauisiion/dsposal of nonproduced, nonfnassets | - | - | - |

| Assets | (221218)  (216942)|  (18188.1)|  1,691.4

| lobliestodrectivesios || | |
 Omercapio |
. licbilfiestodirectinvestors | | | [
 lglem

 otmerimvestment | (s25a4)|  (09250)  (07089)  (6:553)
oo [ en| s8] @ois)|  (26)
 Mencfoyauthories | |
. OtherAsets | | |
. MomefayGold |
| ResenvePosifonsinthefond | | | |
 OmerClams |

Claims on direct investors [ R B
___ Porffoliolnvestment | 28256 | 26655 13343 481.7

Short-term
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Table 53 Cont.
Balance of Payments

(USS' million)
| oftherinvestment liabilities | (15,791.5) | 2087.2 | 176.9 __ 2,450.9
| shottem | - | - | - -
| Monefaryauthoriies | | | |
 shottterm | - - | - |
| MonefayaAuthority | | | - | - |
| Other Liabilities -monetary authority SDRallocation | | 24107

OverallBalance as%ofGD.P | 96 | 55| 08 |  (77)]
Debt enice Due o5 % o Brpors o Goods ond Nen FactorSemies), - | - | - | - |
1/ Provisional

2/ Revised

Source: Central Bank of Nigeria
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Table 54
Balance of Payments
(Naira million)

CURRENT ACCOUNT 4,698,047.1 3,478,374.8 |  3,328212.2 | 1,958,490.5
73246806 | 83097583 | 10161490, | 83563856
Exports fob 7,324,680.6 8,309,758.3 10,161,490.1 8,356,385.6

| Trading Partner Adjustment | (346231.0) | (560959.6) | - | - |

cew

Computer & information services (22,578.6) (25,104.1) (26.333.4) (27.716.8)
@55 | s | pswsaa | @
I N N R R
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Table 54 Cont.
Balance of Payments
(Naira million)
< e A T
. cedt | - | - . | -

(12,133.9) (5,148.8) (46,118.2) (47,318.2)
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Table 54 Cont.
Balance of Payments
(Naira million)

. Credit | 13579836/| - | - | -
_ Copifdlfransfers | 13579836 | - | - | -
T GenewGoverment | vswemae| - | - |
~ Ofhersector | - | - | - -
~ Acauisfon/diposal of ronproduced, norfnossets - | - | - |
I R R R R R

__liobiifiestodrectinvestos | - | - | - | - |
. Ofhercopital | - | - - -
___liobiifiestodrectinvestos | - | - | - | - |
. longtem | - | - | - | -
_____ Otherinvestment | (797,497.2)| (1,238,248.0)| (1,260,724.8) |  (965,163.2)
_ Monefaryouthories | - | - | - | -
_ OherAsets | - | - | - | -
. MomefeyGod | - | - | - -
_ ResevePosiforsinthefond | - | - | - | -

Other Claims -1 - [ - [ - |
Direct Invesment in reporting econom 624,520.7 759,380.4 971,543.8 1,273,815.8

______ Climsondiectinvestos | - | - | - | -
______ Porffoliolnvestment | 3602915 | 332547.8 |  157,1572 | 70,9385 |

Short-term 18,454.5 110,351.4 11,946.5
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Table 54 Cont.
Balance of Payments
(Naira million)

_ shotten | | . -
_ Morefaryauthorifies | . . - .
. shotten | - -
_ MonefayAuthoity | . . -

Current Account Balance as % of G.D.P -ﬂl
9l 55 | o8 | qn |

1/ Provisional
2/ Revised
Source: Central Bank of Nigeria
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Table 55
Balance of Payments Analytical Presentation (US$ million)

Oil and Gas 56,396.2
Non-oil 1,047.7

 Uveoest | ey | sy | [
. Tae | 188 | 251 | 526 | 6084
C FmalSevees | @2 | ks [ w0 | s
________RoyaliesandLicensefees | . | . | - | -
| Pewmaameleesdsenees | . | .
T Roasewees | @9 | ey | @y | 0
 Romesmileemerees | @o | man | se | pwn
Cweomeey | ueas | aes | ogsises | (eswn
_____Investmenthcome | 16982 | 2369 | 22389 | 8060 |
| oteSeos | s | omemr | wat | saws
T otseos | e | wn | ey | @
CAPALANDFNANGALACCOWNT | qesan | wossn | pawsy | isams
ol w0 | - [
. Ooebit
e | men | omss | osmes | mmat
Pooiomesmen | amse | zess | taas | i

NET ERRORS AND OMISSIONS (17,304.5) (17,025.8) (19,829.1) (26,572.1;

I
CurtentAccoutBalcesseolGOP | a3 | s | mg | g
_Overall Balanceas%ofGOP | 96 | 5 | 08 | (17 |
NomberofMonthsof mportsEquvlent | @9 | ;e | e | s
' Debt Service Due as % of Exports of Goods and Non Factor Services | . | . | . | .
CnegoBchangorao®s | | mss | mes | sy

1/ Provisional
2/ Revised
Source: Central Bank of Nigeria
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Table 56
Balance of Payments Analytical Presentation (Naira million)

CURRENTACCOUNT | 46980474 | 34783748 | 3382122 | 19584905 |
. Nomoil | 1335050 | 1992679 | 247,830 | 2891526 |
e ey | e | aamswn | ovwes
. Unrecorded(TPAd) | (#62810) | (s09898) | - [ . |
e T e | wewe | owwis | woans
T | 23695 | 268409 | 674386 | 896050 |
 Conmncslnsewes | soms | awes | s | swso
| Regliesaleemsefees | .|
C eowombessosevees | - [ . |
Incomefnety | (5019993) | (14782026) | (17849468) | (2144670.7) |
Debit (833,230.6)

Investment Income
Curenttransfersnety | 22897019 | 2333585 | 22954421 | 2783524 |
Cotalacoountio) | gmems | . | |
____ Copital Transfers(Debt Forgiveness) | 37e836 | - | - | -
_ CTenss - |\ - - | -
 Assets | (2807604 | (27065645 | (142231) | 2490807 |

CumntAccomBamcess®otGOP | s | e | wr | ag
| Overall Balanceas%ofGODP | 9 | s | 08| (1) |
NomberofMontrsof mpors et | as | s | wme | w1
DtSeniceDuo s ool Exports of Goode anaWon actorSevees | - | - | .|
| AverageExchangeRate(N$) | 187 | 158 | 185 | 1489 |

1/ Provisional
2/ Revised
Source: Central Bank of Nigeria
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Table 59

Central Bank of Nigeria Annual Report - 2010

Non-Oil Imports by Country of Origin (c&f)

Cotediore | - | - | - | -
Nger | -0 - - | -
Egyet | - - | 199912 191306
Oters | - | - | - | -
Malaysa | - | - | 104752 189033
Toiwan, Province of Chinal - | 31,2284  29.9488| 590282
Others | 281237.9| 9514056 1099.915.2| 1.317.439.6
Tokey | - | - | 154633 285639
feland | - | 47.8692]  339001| 351636
Greece | - | - | 274410 141062
Agentina | - | 17.1532]  159910|  13599.1
SaudiAobia | - | 211704 - | 113790
Newzealond | - |  156480|  132978| 178727

Fniond [ - | - | - [ 168729
Polnd | - | - | - | 121948
Cypros | - | - | - | 10187
tatvia [ - - 88187 -
TOTAL 2,397,836.3 3,143,725.8| 3,803,072.7| 4,038,990.2
1/ Provisional

2/ Revised

The figures include estimates made for informal imports - shuttle trade
Source: Central Bank of Nigeria

28 24 77 27
00 00 03 05
00 10 08 15
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Table 60

Direction of Crude Oil Exports

WRAGUAY | - ||| 030
PURIORCO | 40| 5929| 4572 999
SUB-TOTAL: SOUTH AMERICA 68081 | 72174 | 61582 78963
TRNDAD&TOBAGO | - | - | 0| -
VRGNSLAND | |
SWIZERLAND | 99| 7| - | -
WRKEY - |- |- 9%
SWEN |- | - | 9| a0
JAPAN | essy| 3076 1000|950
KOREA | 50| 2706 - | -
CHNA | 1030| 538| - | 8415,
SNGaPORE | aob| - | - | -
sREAL - |

ITALY

MOROCCO - - ]

BENNREPUBLC | - | - | . | 3y

68917 | 137,943
817,388 | 791,827 | 724,480 | 769,195

1/ Provision

2/ Revised

32080121 39531214 41382193 26364722
S R R A1)
| BAA5965| 6414333 7439176 | 7515937
SR R A7
(N N I
79m3|  ssa3| - |-
- 190162
| s 38073
| assve| el - | -
8268 40806 - | 820034
a0l - | - |-
[ T N
| 992444 9034065 9313360 10600622
(N N I
e 3204

553,397.4
6,538,465.5 |

623,640.0
7,256,604.3 |

832,524.2
8,751,759.4 |

1,312,9775
7,321,425.8

Source: Compiled from monthly returns on Crude Oil Exports by NNPC and Crude Oil Mining and Prospecting Co.
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Table 62
Top 100 Non-Oil Exporters in Nigeria in 2010

2 Bolawole Enterprises Nig. Limited 123,109,683.69 Good Fermented Nigerian Cocoa Beans Netherlands
(2010 Crop)

20 Mahaza Company Limited 22,665,909.00 Finished Leather Italy

32 Akeem & Kamoru (Nig) Limited 14,283,588.80 Nigeria Cocoa Beans Netherlands
34 Kanotan S. A. Limited 13,766,200.44 Processed, Goat Leather TR Grade China (Hong Kong)

36 Stanmark Cocoa Processing Co. Limited 13,311,884.18 Cocoa Butter Netherlands
38 Enkay Indo-Nigerian Industries Limited 12,847,386.08 Nigeria Sesame Seeds
40 Kimatrai Nigeria Limited 12,203,452.80 Nigeria Processed Natural Rubber (NSR 10) Italy

42 The Okomu Oil Palm Company Plc. 12,075,280.34 Processed Natural Rubber - NOKO 10 United States of
America

44 AA-Kkayz Resources Limited 10,394,804.63 Melted Copper Ingot
46 Gongoni Company Limited 9,646,048.69 Insecticides & Cosmetic Products
48 Decent Bag Industries Limited 9,406,302.00 Assorted Polybags

50 Beta Glass Plc. 8,767,194.41 Empty (200ML) Fanta Splash Bottles
52 Nivik Investment Limited 8,540,081.00 Good Fermented Nigerian Cocoa Beans
54 Vital Products Limited 7,947,295.00 Vitali Tomato Paste (140GMS) Sachets
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Table 62 Cont.
Top 100 Non-Oil Exporters in Nigeria in 2010
SN Expoter FOB Value (USD) Exported Products Destination
56 Ayafa Concepts Limited 7,695,517.01 Processed, Sheep Skins Leather Italy
57 Sapele Integrated Industries Limited 7.311,067.48 Nigerian Specified Rubber (NSR 10) Spain
58 Hakan Agro Nigeria Limited 6,740,406.00 Nigerian Hibiscus Flower Mexico
59 Vakorede Nigeria Limited 6,684,584.10 Nigerian Sesame Seeds China
60 Nure International Nigeria Limited 6,400,000.00 Good Fermented Nigerian Main Cocoa Canada
Beans (Crop 2009)
61 B & B Leather Limited 6,020,159.44 Nigerian BWS Goats & Sheepskins Finished China (Hong Kong)
Leather
62 AlS Trades and Industries Limited 5,683,449.40 Nigerian Sesame Seeds (Crops 2010) Turkey
63 Standard Plastics Industry (Nig) Limited 5,585,412.16 Assorted Eva Slippers Niger
64 Olokun (Pisces) Limited 5,519,655.00 Frozen Shrimps Tiger, Pub & Sole Fillets France
65 ORC Fishing & Food Processing Limited 5,499,525.00 Various Processed Shrimps Netherlands
66 Precise Saviour Industries Limited 5,359,098.82 Copper Wire Bars, Remelted Brass & India
Aluminium Ingots
67 Loquat Classic Nigeria Limited 5,240,843.84 Hibiscus Flowers (New Crop 2010/2011) Mexico
68 Bissma Commodities Nigeria Limited 5,163,673.00 Nigeria Sesame Seeds (New Crops Turkey
2010/2011)
69 Osse River Rubber Estates Limited 4,868,082.38 Standard African Rubber (SAR 20) Spain
70 Chi Limited 4,830,021.90 Nigeria Premium Quality Colour sorted Seeds = China (Taiwan)
71 De United Foods Industries Limited 4,827,450.00 Noodles Chicken Flavour (Regular 70g) Ghana
72 RGM Industries Limited 4,791,503.14 Nigerian Processed Wood Products (Iroko) China
73 Prosel Ultimate Limited 4,776,479.00 Good Fermented Nigerian Cocoa Beans Netherlands
74 New Star Metal International Limited 4,720,655.20 Aluminium Alloy Ingot India
75 Araromi Rubbers Estates Limited 4,598,683.51 Standard African Rubber (SAR 20) France
76 Spintex Mills (Nigeria) Limited 4,525,039.82 Cotton Yarn NE 20/1 OE Weaving Raw White = Portugal
77 Lela Agro Industries Limited 4,508,337.50 P.P. Woven Sacks Burkina Faso
78 Cadbury Nigeria Plc 4,344,724.56 Confectionary Ghana
79 Multi-Trex Investments Limited 4,146,079.27 Nigerian Pure Prime Pressed Cocoa Powder | Netherlands
80 Unilever Nigeria Plc 4,135,587.87 OMO Multiactive Supper and Sunlight Ghana
Detergent Powder
81 Aphropia Industries Limited 3,982,197.60 100% Leather Goods Spain
82 United Nigerian Texfiles Plc 3,647,263.77 Other Prinfing Processed Woven Fabrics of Benin
Cofton
83 Standard Footwear (Nigeria) Limited 3,465,398.60 Assorted Beachcombers Sudan
84 Banarly (Nigeria) Limited 3,446,289.45 Frozen Shrimps & Crab Claw/Clusters Portugal
85 International Polymer Systems Limited 3.,350,592.00 Nigerian Crumb Rubber - TSR 20 United Kingdom
86 Dangote Agrosacks Limited 3,140,632.00 Printed Cement Sacks (S50 X 69CM) Ghana
87 Waterside Rubber Estates Limited 3,138,366.45 Standard African Rubber (SAR 20) Poland
88 ASCA Bitumen Company Limited 3,134,098.00 Bulk Bitumen 60/70 Chad
89 Cement Company of Northern Nigeria Plc. 2,999.340.00 Cement Niger
90 Mainstream Trading & Investment Limited 2,945,280.00 Good Fermented Nigerian Cocoa Beans Netherlands
91 LBM Overseas Nigeria Limited 2,877,436.56 Nigerian Cleaned Sesame Seeds Japan
92 Guinness Nigeria Plc 2,795,440.48 Malta Guinnes Bottles Ghana
93 FIN Cocoa Processors Limited 2,777,078.00 Nigerian Cocoa Cake Spain
94 Kolorkote Nigeria Limited 2,773,065.73 Prepainted Aluminium Colis Benin
95 Tower Aluminium (Nig) Plc 2,762,206.83 Alloyed Long homogenised 6063 Aluminium | Kenya
Billets
96 JOFEC Limited 2,693,542.60 Ngerian Raw Cocoa Beans (Crop 2010) Netherlands
97 Fullmark Commodities Limited 2,657,765.00 Nigerian Gum Arabic Basngladesh
98 AFCOTT Nig PLc. 2,646,000.00 Soya Meal (DE-Oiled Cake) Cameroon
99 Sino PP Woven Bag (Nig) Limited 2,536,120.00 PP Shopping Bags Cameroon
100 Nigerian Bag Manufacturing Co. Limited 2,525,589.00 PP Woven Valve Bags formosa & Georgia United States of
Gulf America
Total 2,210,829,419.67
Other 110,124,978.27
Exports
Grand Tota 2,320,954,397.94
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Table 64
International Investment Position of Nigeria
[USS' million]

|/ | ] [ ] |
Direct investment abroad  302.00 | 624.48 1,506.42 2,564.69 4,118.29

Other Capital -1 - { -] - | - |
Equity Securities 254662 | 392317 | 564386 |  9710.55 | 10,472.09

General Government I I R R R
Other Secior I R R R R

| ondsandMoles | oo0| o000 000 oo 000
 GemewGovemment | - | | |
 Ohersecor ||
C Memetay Aoty | - | - ||
CfnancaiDemames | - | - | | |
C GewwGovemment | - | |
 otersector | .|
 GewGovemment | | | |
C Mewtayaunony |- |
. shottterm | | | |
. tongteemm | | | |
engtem
T eoa e
| Resenerosoninthefond (Ml | | | | |
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Table 64 Cont.
International Investment Position of Nigeria
[USS' million]

Direct investment in Reporting Econom m
 GenealGovernment | - | . | . | . | .
_ MonefayAuthoity | - | . | . | . | .
_ FinanciolDervatives | - | . | . | . | . |
 GenealGovemment | - | - | . | . | .
_ TodeCredit | . | . | . | .
_ otersectr | | | |
 MorefayAuthorty | . | | . | . | .
. shortern | |
. shortern | - | . | | .
 GeneralGovernment | - | . | . | . |

Other Sector - - - - -
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Table 65
International Investment Position of Nigeria
[Naira million]

- ] | | [ |
Direct investment abroad 39,347.58 80,102.05 177,712.37 339,975.31 616,013.82
Other Capital I T T B B
Equity Securities 331,798.79 503,224.70 665,805.87 1,287,230.18 1,566,414.85

Genewl Government | | | |
Other Sector - ! -1 -1 - | - |

 eondsondNoles | - | ||
~ GenewlGowemment | - | - | .| |
 Ohersectr ||
 Weetanyadhory |- |
 Froncilbemvoives | | | [
 GenenlGowenment | - | | [
otersectr | .|
| GenerdlGoverment | - | - | . | - | .
. MonetaryAuthority | - | - | - | - | -
. shotttern | - | - | - | - -]
 lnglem | [
 lnglem |
o eod
| ResemePosfonmhefondive | - | | | |
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Table 65
International Investment Position of Nigeria
[Naira million]

__Direct investment in Reporting Economy |
__ GeneralGovenment | - | - | - | - | -
__ OterSector | - | - | - | - | -
_ MomefayAuthority | - | - | - | - -
_ FnoncialDerivafives | - | - | - | - | -
_ GenerlGovenment | - | - | - | - | -
_ Othersectr | - | - | - | - | -
_ TadeCreadit | - | - | - - -
__ GeneralGovernment | - | - | - | - | -
___ Otrersectr | - | - | - | - | -
_ MorefayAuthorty | - | - | - | - -
_ shotteen | - | - - | - | -
_ shotten | - | - - | - | -
_ GereralGovenment | - | - | - | - | -

Ofher Sector
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